

Rautaki Hanganga o Aotearoa

New Zealand Infrastructure Strategy

11

ALL IN

2022 - 2052



Te Kāwanatanga o Aotearoa New Zealand Government

Disclaimer

This publication responds to a statutory requirement.

Te Waihanga has taken reasonable care to ensure information in the publication is accurate and complete and that any opinions given are fair and reasonable. However, the use of information contained in this publication is at your own risk, and Te Waihanga is not responsible for any adverse consequences arising out of such use. We disclaim any express or implied warranties in relation to such information and opinions to the maximum extent permitted by law.

Any view, opinion, finding, conclusion or recommendation of an external party (including experts, researchers, parties providing feedback and surveyed respondents) is strictly that of the party expressing it. Its views do not necessarily reflect the views of Te Waihanga.

It is recommended that you seek appropriately qualified independent advice on any matter related to the use of this publication. If you enter into any transaction subsequent to reading this publication, you do so entirely in reliance on your own judgement and enquiries, and without reliance on any statements, warranties or representations made to you or to any other person by Te Waihanga or on our behalf.

This document is printed on Sumo Coated, an environmentally responsible paper, produced using Elemental Chlorine Free (ECF), FSC® certified, Mixed Source pulp from Responsible Sources, and manufactured under the strict ISO14001 Environmental Management System.

Designed and published by New Zealand Infrastructure Commission, Te Waihanga ISBN 978-0-473-61597-0 For comment, questions or further information contact: phone: +64 4 889 7500 or email: info@tewaihanga.govt.nz

Crown Copyright ©







Te Kāwanatanga o Aotearoa New Zealand Government

New Zealand Infrastructure Commission (2022). Rautaki Hanganga o Aotearoa 2022 - 2052 New Zealand Infrastructure Strategy. Wellington: New Zealand Infrastructure Commission / Te Waihanga.

Except for any logos, emblems, trademarks, figures, or photography, this copyright work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 New Zealand licence. In essence, you are free to copy, distribute and adapt the work, as long as you attribute the work to the original author, which is the New Zealand Infrastructure Commission/Te Waihanga and abide by the other licence terms. Attribution should be in written form and not by reproduction of the Te Waihanga, Public Service Commission or New Zealand Government logos. Please note that neither the Public Service Commission emblem nor the New Zealand Government logo may be used in any way that infringes any provision of the Flags, Emblems and Names Protection Act 1981 or would infringe such provision if the relevant use occurred within New Zealand.



Foreword Kupu takamua

Message from the Chair

Infrastructure can have a long lifespan. Many of the dams and bridges built by our forebears are with us today and still have a role in shaping the way we live.



Their decisions, their labour and their foresight have built us a strong foundation. A large proportion of our electricity is renewable thanks to our hydroelectric power stations. We can travel and move goods to even the most remote parts of the country, often across challenging geography. We have water networks, schools, hospitals and much more.

We might not always realise it, but this infrastructure is vital to our quality of life. It's also at the heart of our economy, powering our industries, providing high-quality jobs and helping us to share ideas and information so that we can trade with the world.

It's a legacy that we have a duty to look after, and to maintain and replace when necessary so future New Zealanders benefit too. Unfortunately there are too many examples of our failure to do this, whether it's burst waterpipes or congested roads. We now find ourselves facing hard decisions about how we keep up with the increasing demands of a growing population, so we leave an equally valuable legacy to future New Zealanders.

Success means building on that foundation with more infrastructure to support our economic and social aspirations, as well as making full use of the infrastructure we already have. It means looking to what the future will bring, preparing for challenges like climate change and making the most of the opportunities offered by new technology. It also means anticipating the shocks and stresses that come with life on these volatile islands: the earthquakes and volcanic eruptions and the increasing risk of storms and rising seas due to climate change.

These choices and decisions come with a price tag. Our infrastructure represents some of our longestlived assets and they're also our most expensive. We have to spread these costs fairly, both across and within generations, so that those who are benefiting are paying. At the same time, we can use the way we pay to manage demand and get more efficient use out of our existing infrastructure, such as through charges for using our busiest roads at peak times.

We can't do any of this if we continue to look at our infrastructure only as parts, as transport or energy or water. It requires a system-wide approach, one recognising that those various parts work together. It requires a rigorous and systematic assessment of trade-offs to get the most out of the resources we have. And it requires coordination and collaboration across institutions in the public and private sectors.

This strategy takes that wider view, setting a vision for the future of our infrastructure and setting out tangible steps for progress. It's an important step towards a future that provides the high quality of life and environment that our forebears hoped for us. It's an important step toward building a New Zealand that thrives.

Dr Alan Bollard CNZM

Board Chair

2

He Pānui nā te Heamana

l ētahi wā, he roa kē te wā e tū pūmau ai ngā hananga. E tū tonu ana te nuinga o ngā pāpuni me ngā arawhiti i hangā ai e ō tātouu mātua tūpuna, ā, he whakaaweawenga tonu tō aua mahinga ki te āhua noho e whai nei tātou

Nā runga i ā rātou whakatau, me tā rātou whakapau kaha, tae atu ki tā rātou matakite mai kua whakatakotoria he tūāpapa pakari. Mai kore ake i ā tātou punahiko wai he whakahōu te nuinga o tā tātou hiko. E āhei ana i a tātou te haere me te neke rawa ki ngā wāhanga mamao rawa o te motu, he ahakoa te takoto o te whenua. He whatunga wai, kura, hohipera hoki ā tātou me te maha noa anō hoki o ngā tukuora.

Tēnā pea, kāore tātou i te whai whakaaro ki tēnei i ngā wā katoa, engari, he tino wāhanga nui tō te hanganga ki te tautoko i te kounga o tō tātou ora. Kei te manawa o tō tātou ōhanga te hanganga, e whakakaha ana i ō tātou rāngai, e whakarato ana i ngā mahi tino teitei te kounga, ā, e āwhina ana hoki ki te whakawhitiwhiti whakaaro me ngā korero e taea ai e tātou te tauhokohoko ki te ao.

He waihotanga tēnei kua riro mā tātou hei tiaki, hei whakaū, hei whakakapi hoki i ōna wā e whai painga ai anō hoki ngā uri whakaheke o Aotearoa nei. Ko te mea pōuri ia, inā te mahi a ngā tauira kua ngere tātou ki te whai i tēnei, mai i te kōwhā o ngā paipa wai tae atu ki ngā ara kī puru ki ngā motokā. Ināianei, kua tau ki a tātou ngā kōwhiringa whēuaua mō tā tātou whakatutuki i ngā matea o te taupori e tupu ake nei, e waiho ai e tātou he waihotanga tino wāriu ki ngā uri whakaheke o Aotearoa nei.

Ko te tikanga o te angitu ko te hanga hanganga anō ki runga i taua tūāpapa hei tautoko i ō tātou wawata ōhanga, papori anō hoki, me te whakamahi tika i ngā hanganga kua oti kē te whakatū. Arā, ka mate tātou kia arohāngai ake te titiro ki te anamata, me te whakarite anō ki ngā wero pērā i te hurihanga o te āhuarangi me te whai tika i ngā āheinga e whakaratongia ana e ngā hangarau hōu o te wā. Nō reira, me matakite e tātou ngā oho me ngā pēhanga ka kitea i runga i ēnei motu hohe nei: arā, ngā rū whenua me ngā hūnga, tae atu hoki ki ngā tūraru āwhā e piki tonu ake nei, me ngā moana e kake ake nei ko te hurihanga o te āhuarangi te take.

He utu tō ngā kōwhiringa me ngā whakataunga. He tauira o ētahi o ō tātou rawa ora wā roa tō tātou hanganga, whaihoki, he tino nui hoki te utu. Me matatika tā tātou toha i ngā utu, arā, ki ia whakatupuranga, kia utu ai te hunga e whai pai ai. Whaihoki, ka taea e tātou te whakamahi i te utu hei āwhina ki te whakahaere i te whao me te whakamāia ake hoki i te whakamahinga o te hanganga e tū ana i tēnei wā, hei tauira, ko te whakatau utu mō te whakamahi i ngā ara oreore rawa i ngā wā keokeonga.

Kāore e taea e tātou tētahi o ēnei te mahi mehemea ka titiro tonu tātou ki tō tātou hanganga hei wāhanga motuhake, arā, te ikiiki, te ngao rānei, te wai rānei. Me tiro whānui kē ki te punaha katoa, me te mārama tonu e mahi orua ana aua wāhanga katoa. E tika ana kia whāīa he aromatawai pākaha, nahanaha hoki o ngā tukunga e tika rawa atu ai te whakamahinga o ngā rawa e wātea ana. Ā, e matea ana te rurukutang ame te mahi ngātahitanga i roto i ngā whakahaere, tūmatanui mai, tūmataiti mai.

Nō reira, ko tā tēnei rautaki he whai i taua tirohanga whānui, e whakarite ana i te whāinga mō te anamata o tō tātou hanganga me te whakarite hoki i te pēwheatanga mō te whanake ki mua. He hīkoj tino whakahirahira tēnei ki te anamata, he mea whakarato i te kounga tino teitei o te ora me te taiao i tūmanakotia ai e ō tātou mātua tūpuna kia riro mai ki a tāgtou. He hīkoi whakahirahira tēnei ki tētahi Aotearoa e momoho ana.

Dr Alan Bollard CNZM

Heamana o te Poari

Message from the Chief Executive

Te Waihanga was established to improve New Zealanders' lives through better infrastructure.

This is no small task. 30 years from now up to 1.7 million new kiwis will call New Zealand home. Our climate is changing, technology is evolving, congestion is growing and this generation faces a 75% chance of a catastrophic earthquake on the Alpine Fault during their lifetime. Decades of underinvestment have accrued a large infrastructure deficit. A strategy of building our way out of the deficit and the predicted growth would mean nearly doubling the proportion of GDP we invest in infrastructure annually.



The purpose of this work is to develop a strategic response to the many challenges we face. This means looking at the infrastructure system as a whole: users, regulators, planners, investors, insurers, builders, asset owners, iwi and communities. In a world of converging networks and complex needs, understanding the interdependencies and optimising the system across all sectors is our focus.

High guality investing is critical, but we also need to extract more value from existing assets. This means encouraging people to change travel patterns through congestion pricing and rewarding those who conserve water or produce less waste. Within our cities, planning restrictions prevent people living in areas already well served by infrastructure, which reduces housing supply. Achieving net-zero carbon emissions by 2050 is one more good reason why we need a planning system that is up to the task.

A fit-for-purpose public service that can move at the pace required to meet policy commitments, stay ahead of technology shifts and scale up investment is essential. It needs to be empowered to apply pricing strategies and potentially unpopular behaviour-change policies in a fair and transparent manner. It needs to provide politicians with a range of built and non-built solutions to well-defined problems to enhance the quality of decision making.

We also need a world-class construction sector. Construction labour productivity lags behind the rest of the economy and the cost of building infrastructure has risen much faster than consumer price inflation. Our labour shortage is acute, now the worst since 1975. By 2024, we will need around 118,000 more construction workers. The industry tells us certainty is critical. Painting a clear picture of planned investment is important and addressing the politicisation of infrastructure decision-making is essential. This will give the construction sector the certainty it needs to invest in training, technology and innovation to improve productivity.

Over the past two years, we have been listening and learning as we developed this Infrastructure Strategy. More than 20,000 people shared their views on infrastructure issues and aspirations through our Aotearoa 2050 survey. We consulted publicly and met with iwi and stakeholders, as well as our local government reference group and Te Ao Māori testing panel. These conversations haven't finished. This strategy is a living document that we will update every five years.

Working with the sector to implement these recommendations will allow us to build a better New Zealand, one where our infrastructure drives higher living standards, contributes to a strong economy, enables our culture and society to thrive, and protects our environment. A New Zealand we're all proud to call home.

Ross Copland

Chief Executive

He Pānui nā te Toihau

He whakapai ake i te oranga o ngā uri o Aotearoa mā te hanganga pai ake te take e tū nei Te Waihanga.

Ehara tēnei i te tūmahi iti noa. Hei te 30 tau ki mua nei 1.7 miriona tāngata anō ka kī ko Aotearoa te ipukarea. E huri haere ana tō tātou āhuarangi, e whanake tonu ana te hangarau, waihoki e tupu tonu ana te popoketanga o ngā rori, ā, he 75% te tūponotanga ka pā tētahi rū whenua takerehāia i te Alpine Fault i roto i te 50 tau e tū mai nei. I roto i ngā ngahurutau, i runga i te matapiko ki te whakangao pūtea, kua piki ake te tarepa hanganga. Ki te whai tātou ki te whakamahi i te hanganga hei whakatika i te tarepa, me tāpara e tātou te nui o te riterite o te tapeke wāriu hokonga ā-tau e whakangao pūteatia ana e tātou ki te hanganga.

Ko te whāinga o tēnei mahi he whakawhanake urupare rautaki ki ngā take huhua e arohia ana e tātou. Nō reira, me arohaehae e tātou te pūnaha katoa: arā, ngā kaiwhakamahi rātou ko ngā kaiwhakarite waeture ko ko ngā kaimaherehere ko ngā kaihaumi ko ngā pakihi inihua ko ngā kaihanga ko ngā tāngata whai huarawa ko ngā iwi ko ngā hapori. I tēnei wā o te ūngutu haere o ngā whatunga me ngā matea matatini, ko tō mātou aronga ko te mārama ki ngā taupuhipuhinga me te whakatika i ngā pūnaha huri noa i ngā rāngai.

He mea nui taioreore kia eke te kounga o ngā mahi whakangao pūtea, engari, me nui hoki ngā hua i ngā huarawa o tēnei wā. Me whakatenatena ngā tāngata kia tīnihia te momo ikiiki e kawe ana i a rātou ki te mahi mā te whakarite utu popoketanga, waihoki, me hoatu he moni whakapati ki te hunga e tiaki ana i te wai, e whakaheke iho ana rānei i te nui o ngā para. I ō tātou tāone nui, ko ngā herenga maherehere e aukati ana i ngā tāngata i te noho ki ngā rohe kua whai hanganga, ā, ko te tukunga iho o te aukatinga ka iti iho ngā whare wātea ana. Ko te whakatutuki i ngā whāinga tukuwaro hei te tau 2050 tētahi tino take anō e whai tikanga ana kia whai tātou i tētahi pūnaha e taea ana ngā mahi te whakatutuki.

E whai take ana kia whakatūria tētahi rāngai tūmatanui e taea ana te tere huri ki te whakatutuki i ngā herenga kaupapa here, me te tū rite mo ngā whakawhanaketanga o te hangarau, me whai pūtea hoki mo te whakangao moni. Me whakamana tēnei kia hāngai tonu ki ngā rautaki whakarite utu, ā, tērā te tūpono me whakamahi i ngā kaupapa here hoki kāore pea te makiu e mariu i runga i te tika me te pono. Me hoatu ki ngā kaitōrangapū i ētahi rongoā kua hangaia, kāore anō rānei kia hangaia, hei whakapiki ake i te kounga o ngā whiriwhiringa.

Ka mutu, me whakatū e tātou tētahi rāngai hanganga e mihia ana e te ao. Engari, e takamuri tonu ana te whakaputaranga o te rāngai hanganga ki muri rawa i te ōhanga katoa, ā, kua tere ake te piki ake o te utu o te hanganga whare i te utunga rawa kiritaki. Ko te korenga o ngā kaimahi tētahi tino take, ā, ko nāianei te wā kino rawa atu nō te tau 1975. Hei te tau 2024, tōna 118,000 kaimahi anō ka matea. He mea tino nui kia nui ake te whakamanawatanga. He mea nui kia mārama kehokeho he aha kei tua i te awe māpara mō te whakangao pūtea i oti ai te whakarite mā tētahi whakaraupapa mahi mātanga, ā, he mea whai take kia arohia te whakatōrangapūtanga o te tukanga whakatau hanganga. Mā te pērā ka nui ake te māia o te rāngai hanganga ki te whakangao pūtea ki te whakangunguc, ki te hangarau, me ngā auahatanga hei whakapai ake i te whakaputaranga.

l roto i ngā tau e rua ki muri nei, kua whakarongo mātou, kua ako hoki i tā mātou whakawhanake i tēnei Rautaki Hanganga. Neke ake i te 20,000 tāngata i tāpae whakaaro mai ai ki ngā take hanganga mā tā mātou rangahau Aotearoa 2050. I whakaatu kōrero mātou ki mua i te aroaro o te makiu, i tūtaki hoki ki ngā iwi me ngā rōpū whai pānga, tae atu hoki ki tō mātou rōpū tautoko ā-kaunihera me te paewhiri whakamātautau Māori. Kāore anō kia ngā kōrerorero kia mutu noa. He tuhinga ora tonu te rautaki, ā, ka whakamōhoutia e mātou i ia rima tau.

Mā te whakapūmau i ngā marohi kei roto ka āhei i a tātou te hanga i tētahi Aotearoa pai ake, tētahi motu mā ana hanganga e teitei ake ai te kounga o te āhua noho o te katoa, e takoha ana ki tētahi ōhanga pakari, e whakaahei ana i tō tātou ahurea me tō tātou papori kia momoho, kia tiakina hoki tō tātou taiao. Arā, e whakahīhī ai tātou te kī ko Aotearoa tō tātou kāinga.

Ross Copland

Toihau

Infrastructure for a thriving **New Zealand**



Overview

Tirohanga whānui

Our infrastructure lays a foundation for the people, places and businesses of Aotearoa New Zealand to thrive.

New Zealand's infrastructure faces a historic period of deep and intergenerational change. Historic, because many of the challenges we face are new and uncertain; deep, because it impacts all parts of our society; and intergenerational, because the effort must be sustained, not over months and years, but over decades.

It's hard to think of an activity that doesn't use infrastructure. We commute to work on transport networks that have been constructed and maintained by generations of New Zealanders. These same networks carry the goods that stock our supermarket shelves with food. These supermarkets are powered by electricity produced by power stations built decades ago. This electricity also charges phones that connect to a network of cell towers, which bring us closer to the world and to each other.

Te Waihanga exists to look across these connected networks of infrastructure in a holistic and coordinated way. This strategy takes this more holistic view of the infrastructure system. It also takes a long-term view, recognising that the needs and aspirations we have for our society and therefore, our infrastructure, are constantly changing.

Our infrastructure must adapt to our changing needs and aspirations.

The New Zealand of 2050 will be a very different place to live from the New Zealand of today. Within the next three decades our cities could be home to 1.7 million new people, roughly the size of another Auckland. Our regions will face considerable change too, with some parts of New Zealand growing, while others will need to adjust to declining populations. No matter where we live, technology will continue to bring us closer together, altering our expectations of how we connect to each other and the way we work.

Infrastructure can help us to protect the environment.

New Zealand has committed to a net-zero carbon emissions economy by 2050. This requires a major energy transition and levels of investment in new infrastructure not seen since the 1970s. Our aspirations for healthy and readily available drinking water and clean waterways requires adequate investment in wastewater treatment plants and other infrastructure. Investment in recycling and resource recovery infrastructure can enable a shift to a society where waste is reduced or not even produced at all. Our growing cities can also be good for our environment. Bigger, denser cities where people live in smaller homes mean less electricity for heating, shorter car trips and more use of public transport, emitting less carbon into the atmosphere.

Infrastructure opens up many new opportunities, but there are also many challenges.

When built in the right place, transport infrastructure can help to improve productivity, raise wages, support new businesses and reduce disadvantage by connecting people with work and education. Digital technology is creating new business opportunities in regions. Making our infrastructure more

8

resilient and investing in resilience planning will enable us to recover faster from natural disasters (such as earthquakes and floods) as well as other shocks (like cyber-attacks), minimising their impacts on our society and economy.

But we're also facing many infrastructure challenges (see Figure 1) such as dealing with unaffordable homes, congested motorways and hospitals that desperately need upgrading. New Zealand is also experiencing historic workforce shortages that limit our capacity and capabilities across all stages of infrastructure planning and delivery and this is predicted to worsen. Unless we act, these challenges will grow, especially as our population increases. We also face the challenges of our warming climate, which will not only mean major changes in the way we do things, but also more unpredictable and extreme weather.

Figure 1: New Zealand's infrastructure challenge



The average Auckland commuter spends over **5 days in traffic** per year



\$90 billion to fix up water networks



115,000 more homes are needed to fix the current housing crisis



Electricity generation capacity needs to **increase by 170%**



New Zealand's population will grow to **6.2 million people** (or more) over 30 years



Half of population growth will be in **five major centres**

Source: Te Waihanga, data from Sense Partners (2021), Climate Change Commission (2021), Alpine Fault Magnitude 8 (2021), Statistics New Zealand (2021), WIP (2021), Simonson (2019)

We must act now and with urgency. In dealing with COVID-19, New Zealand has shown a responsiveness and agility that's among the best in the world. Overcoming the challenge for our infrastructure requires a similar, but more sustained commitment.

We must be smarter about how we plan, build and use our infrastructure.

We're building new infrastructure and more is planned for the future. We currently spend around 5.5% of gross domestic product (GDP) on building public infrastructure. This means that for every \$20 New Zealand earns, we spend around \$1 on infrastructure. This includes our roads, water networks, hospitals, schools and defence facilities (but doesn't include privately provided infrastructure like electricity generation and telecommunications). If we were simply to keep doing what we've always done and try to build our way out of current and future infrastructure challenges, we would need to spend almost double what we're spending now.



Responding to the challenges doesn't always mean building something new. Building infrastructure will still be an important part of the solution, but we also need to get better use out of our existing infrastructure. When we do build something new, there are changes we can make to get more value from what we spend. We must make better decisions about the projects we select and streamline delivery so that infrastructure is built more quickly and productively.

This strategy is focused on five objectives to achieve a thriving New Zealand.

Based on the case for change, we've developed five strategic objectives. These are the things we need to do as a nation to achieve the vision of a thriving New Zealand.

- 1. Enabling a net-zero carbon emissions Aotearoa through rapid development of clean energy and reducing the carbon emissions from infrastructure.
- 2. Supporting towns and regions to flourish through better physical and digital connectivity and freight and supply chains.
- 3. Building attractive and inclusive cities that respond to population growth, unaffordable housing and traffic congestion through better long-term planning, pricing and good public transport.
- 4. Strengthening resilience to shocks and stresses by taking a coordinated and planned approach to risks based on good-quality information.
- 5. Moving to a circular economy by setting a national direction for waste, managing pressure on landfills and waste-recovery infrastructure and developing a framework for the operation of waste-to-energy infrastructure.

As part of these objectives we need to strengthen partnerships with and unlock opportunities for Māori.

Transforming our infrastructure requires us to seize opportunities that will make the greatest impact.

These objectives will help us to shape a better future, but there are three areas that can have the greatest impact over the next 30 years in transforming New Zealand. These are:

- Leveraging our low-emissions energy resources.
- Planning for generations to come.
- · Better infrastructure through pricing.

Leveraging our low-emissions energy resources.

We can grow our low-emissions energy generation beyond what we need to meet our climate change commitments, creating economic export opportunities and high-paying jobs.

The potential

By harnessing our low-emissions energy resources alongside other complementary technologies like hydrogen, we could treble our annual electricity supply. If we harness these resources, we can attract energy-intensive industries to grow our economy, create higher paying jobs and improve our quality of life. This is good for us and it's good for the planet.

New Zealand has an abundance of low-emission energy potential. We have two to three times more commercially viable wind, solar, hydro and geothermal resources than the Climate Change Commission estimates will be needed to meet our net-zero carbon emissions commitment. Beyond meeting these commitments, unlocking a low-emissions economy could also provide much greater economic benefits for New Zealand.

To leverage our low-emissions energy resources we must have:

- The right regulatory settings to enable the development of large-scale clean onshore and offshore energy resources and the networks needed to connect them. For example, the planning system needs to enable the timely development of clean energy generation.
- Reliable supporting infrastructure: This requires an efficient expansion of supporting electricity and telecommunications networks and an efficient use of our gas and fuel networks.
- A skilled workforce: We need more scientists and researchers helping to improve energy conversion technology, particularly for our dairy-processing activities. We also need to retain our skilled oil and gas workers to make the most of gas (and its specialist infrastructure) as we begin to transition to cleaner alternatives, including offshore alternatives.

Planning for generations to come.

We need to overhaul the way we plan infrastructure to keep pace with our changing population and ensure there's enough quality, affordable housing in the right places, supported by well-functioning infrastructure. With long-term planning, we can build a legacy of great communities for generations to come.

We can transform the system so that we are able to meet demand for infrastructure when it is needed. This means taking a long-term approach, allowing for different levels of growth so we don't limit our future, and coordinating our infrastructure planning with the planning we do for our homes and communities so that the two work together.

We need to take a coordinated approach across government and in our communities:

- A resource management system that gives effect to national priorities: Reform is already underway and the replacement to the Resource Management Act (RMA) must perform the dual roles of protecting the environment and allowing for development. It must enable infrastructure providers to meet policy commitments, which could include decarbonisation, efficient transport networks, adequate competition in the supply chain, universal digital access and timely provision of social infrastructure.
- A long-term, flexible approach to regional planning: We need an approach to regional planning that allows for infrastructure to be built in the future and ensures that cities and regions have plenty of options for responding to demographic change and economic growth. It should also reduce uncertainty where possible, such as through a national population plan.
- Protecting areas for infrastructure decades allowing us to deliver more at a lower cost.
- affordability, reduced congestion and support for other social objectives.
- the period of time in which infrastructure assets deliver services.

The potential

An overhauled planning system would make it faster and cheaper to build new homes. Our communities will grow from the centre, with more people living closer to where they work so they can spend more time with their families and less time trying to get to work. When communities do spread outwards, it will happen at the same time as roads or public transport connections are built. More transport connections, as well as water networks, schools and other essential infrastructure will be part of new communities from the beginning. This will future proof quality of life for generations to come.

in advance: Instead of our current 'just-in-time' approach, we can identify and protect strategic infrastructure corridors to provide a pathway for the infrastructure that might be needed in the future,

Planning rules that are equitable and enable more housing and employment in the right places: We can make it easier to develop land within our towns and cities and for people to live and work where they want, at a lower cost. Planning rules can empower everyone through improved housing

Ensuring that the costs are fairly spread over time: We need funding and financing tools that reflect

Providing better infrastructure through pricing.

Changing the way we pay for our busiest roads, water services and other infrastructure can improve asset utilisation, reduce the time we spend in traffic, accelerate decarbonisation efforts, conserve water and allow us to lift the quality of infrastructure and give us greater choice in how we want to live.

Our transport and water infrastructure is stretched to capacity in many places. Too many of us are spending hours stuck in traffic and facing rates rises to pay for water networks that are struggling to keep up with the needs of our growing cities. While we're planning to build more, it won't be enough.

Changing the way we pay for things like roads and water use provides more choice and better shares the load, provided it's done in a fair and equitable way. By introducing prices for our busiest roads at peak times and charging just for the water we use, we can encourage people to prioritise their trips, move to lower-carbon travel and conserve water use.

The actions we need to take include:

- Pricing for quicker journeys: Charges and road tolling for the busiest roads at peak times will free up these roads, creating quicker trips for people who must drive, such as couriers, tradespeople and freight carriers.
- Better transport alternatives: Alongside better transport pricing, we need to improve transport alternatives such as public transport, walking and cycling to make it easier for people to change their behaviour to avoid prices and move to low-emissions transport options.
- Pricing to pay for water infrastructure: Charging to match the water we use will reduce costs for low users, encourage more careful use and reduce the need for costly new infrastructure.
- **Encouraging water conservation:** Alongside changes to water pricing, we need to make it easier for people to conserve water. For instance, we can make it simple and straightforward to install rainwater harvesting and promote toilet flushing with grey non-drinking water.

The potential

A pricing system that better reflects need and provides for options, spreads the load on our infrastructure more evenly. Using our busiest roads at peak times will come with a cost, but our car journeys will be quicker as a result. At the same time, there are better options, like rapid transit, walking and cycling, so we can save money and time by leaving our cars at home.

We don't have hefty increases in rates as our water networks don't face the same strain and we only pay for the water we need. If we take steps to save water, like using a rainwater tank to water the garden, we know it's going to save us money in the long-term.

We need a world-class infrastructure system to meet our aspirations for the future.

To deliver on our aspirations, we need a different approach to managing our infrastructure systems, processes and resources, including in the decisions we make and the people, capital and technologies we use. We must work towards best practice, better manage the resources we have and invest in outcomes that are fair for all New Zealanders. To achieve this, system-wide change is needed. Many of the changes will be small and incremental, but collectively they will contribute to the development of a world-class infrastructure system.

Making the best possible decisions provides the foundation. We need decision-making frameworks that ensure a relentless focus on selecting the infrastructure that will create the most value for New Zealand, and doing more with the infrastructure we already have. Good decision-making takes place within and must be supported by a fit-for-purpose funding and financing system that makes appropriate use of infrastructure pricing to manage demand.

The infrastructure system requires the right people, at the right time, with the right skills to achieve our aspirations and address the challenges ahead. Currently, we face a historic workforce shortage in all aspects of infrastructure planning, construction and delivery, which is predicted to worsen. The development of a credible infrastructure pipeline and list of priority projects will provide industry with more certainty to invest in worker training and retention. Improving workforce diversity and safety across the infrastructure sector must also be a priority.

Implementing good decisions requires a strategic and coordinated planning and consenting system that can respond quickly to our infrastructure needs. It also requires a bold approach to the adoption and use of technological and digital change across the infrastructure sector. This requires a greater focus on open data and the adoption of digital technologies to improve productivity and enhance infrastructure planning, delivery and operation. By streamlining our infrastructure systems and processes, we can make better decisions and implement them with the urgency needed to overcome our current challenges, as well as those we'll face over the

next 30 years.

Blueprint for action.

This strategy follows a blueprint for action. It begins by identifying our infrastructure challenges and opportunities, which provide the context for action. Beneath this sits our vision and principles, and across everything we do is the need to ensure te ao Māori has a part in all aspects of our infrastructure system. Through this framework, the strategy sets objectives for a thriving New Zealand, recommendations for how we achieve these and the results we can expect.



	Our P
Equitable	Aspi
What	H
	+
Objectives	-> Perfor
Enabling a net-zero carbon emissions Aotearoa Supporting towns and regions	Better decision Improving func Accelerating te

to flourish • Building attractive and inclusive cities Moving to a circular economy Strengthening resilience to shocks

Table of contents

	Foreword	2
	Overview	8
1.	Introduction	18
2.	Vision for infrastructure	26
3.	Case for change	30
4.	Blueprint for action	38
5.	Strengthening partnerships with and opportunities for Māori	40
6.	A thriving New Zealand: what we need to do	48
	6.1. Enabling a net-zero carbon emissions Aotearoa	54
	6.2. Supporting towns and regions to flourish	64
	6.3. Building attractive and inclusive cities	76
	6.4. Strengthening resilience to shocks and stresses	89
	6.5. Moving to a circular economy	98
7.	A world class infrastructure system: how we get there	106
	7.1. Better decision-making	109
	7.2. Improving funding and financing	121
	7.3. An enabling planning and consenting framework	134
	7.4. Accelerating technology use	142
	7.5. Building workforce capacity and capabilities	152
8.	What happens next	164
9.	List of recommendations	172
10.	Want to know more	192
	Glossary	198
	Te reo glossary	203
	References	204

List of figures

Figure 1:	New Zealand's infrastructure challenge	9
Figure 2:	The infrastructure layers	19
Figure 3:	Bringing together the many ideas for infrastructure	28
Figure 4:	How infrastructure supports New Zealand's people, places and businesses	28
Figure 5:	The challenge, the response	31
Figure 6:	Blueprint for action	39
Figure 7:	The many roles of Māori in our infrastructure system	41
Figure 8:	Weaving Māori objectives into the strategy	42
Figure 9:	Māori outcomes can be improved across our key infrastructure sectors	44
Figure 10:	Distribution of all population growth 2018 to 2048, by territorial authority	49
Figure 11:	Rate of population growth for the working age population 2020 to 2073	50
Figure 12:	Māori and non-Māori by age cohort, 2043	51
Figure 13:	Atmospheric CO2 (parts per million) and global temperature anomaly 1500 to 2020	52
Figure 14:	Digital twins are virtual, real-time models of infrastructure	53
Figure 15:	Contributions to reducing emissions (million tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent)	55
Figure 16:	Contribution to increased demand for electricity in 2050	55
Figure 17:	Historical and projected growth in electricity generation capacity, relative to GDP	58
Figure 18:	Potentially viable low-emissions energy resources	58
Figure 19:	Historical population growth compared with historical population projections	68
Figure 20:	Selected seaports, airports and road and rail connections	69
Figure 21:	Underserved broadband end users by quality	73
Figure 22:	Share of all commuting trips that cross local government boundaries 2001 to 2018	80
Figure 23:	Existing aspiration is a fraction of estimated demand in station catchment	83
Figure 24:	Earthquakes are a widespread challenge for infrastructure	89
Figure 25:	Total insured losses due to natural disasters from 1980 to 2020	90
Figure 26:	Satellite sea-level observations, change in sea level from 1993 to 2021	95
Figure 27:	Waste management hierarchy	100
Figure 28:	United Kingdom waste tax rate (per tonne) and tonnes of waste landfilled 1996 to 2016	101
Figure 29:	Better system components	107
Figure 30:	Decision-making hierarchy	116
Figure 31:	Multiple factors can drive the need for investment	124
Figure 32:	Time taken to consent wind farms in New Zealand	135
Figure 33:	Key statistics on the time and cost impacts of infrastructure consenting processes	136
Figure 34:	Information technology investments can provide value for money	149
Figure 35:	Construction labour shortages are at their highest since 1975	153
Figure 36:	Labour productivity, construction sector vs whole economy since 2000	153
Figure 37:	Split of recommendations by change response	165
Figure 38:	Split of recommendations by time period	168
Figure 39:	Split of recommendations by sector	169

List of case studies

Case Study 1:	Te Ahu a Turanga-Manawatū Gorge Bypass	45
Case Study 2:	Australia-ASEAN Power Link	59
Case Study 3:	Long-term values for the cost of carbon in the United Kingdom	60
Case Study 4:	Telehealth - reducing demand for physical healthcare infrastructure	72
Case Study 5:	Shared ownership of cell phone towers in rural New Zealand	73
Case Study 6:	Benefits of local government coordination in growing urban areas	80
Case Study 7:	How Stockholm implemented congestion charging	81
Case Study 8:	Transport and land use integration at the City Rail Link's Mount Eden Station	83
Case Study 9:	Using traditional knowledge to preserve information about natural hazards	96
Case Study 10:	Using waste plastic to fix roads in New Plymouth	102
Case Study 11:	Conversion of tyres into cement in Whangārei	103
Case Study 12:	United Kingdom Government's Major Projects Portfolio publication	115
Case Study 13:	International examples of infrastructure funds	130
Case Study 14:	Streamlining the consenting process for infrastructure after the Kaikōura earthquake	140
Case Study 15:	Street Bump: using smartphones to support more efficient road maintenance	144
Case Study 16:	Using digital shields to improve safety and productivity in the rail corridor	148
Case Study 17:	Wellington digital twin – connecting decisions and impacts	150
Case Study 18:	United Kingdom Major Projects Leadership Academy	157
Case Study 19:	Women in Trades, Ministry for Women	159
Case Study 20:	City Rail Link - Māori and Pacific peoples cadetships	160

List of tables

Table 1:	Examples of better use of existing infrastructure	34
Table 2:	Te Ara Kotahi (the Waka Kotahi Māori Strategy)	42
Table 3:	Core principles for infrastructure decision-making	111
Table 4:	Core principles for infrastructure funding and financing	123
Table 5:	Examples of recent infrastructure funds	129
Table 6:	Steps to improve the adoption and diffusion of technology	146
Table 7:	Digital technologies that can transform infrastructure industries	147
Table 8:	Three areas of greatest positive impact	166

How to read this strategy

Me pēhea e pānui ai i tēnei rautaki

This strategy sets out the actions New Zealand needs to take over the next 30 years to make sure our infrastructure system meets the challenges and opportunities that lie ahead. Here's what you will find in each section.

	Overview
	A high level view of the stra greatest impact in transform
	Introduction
Í	The importance of infrastruthe future.
6	Vision for infrastruct
	The vision for New Zealand support this vision.
	Case for change
=	The significant challenge o for meeting these challeng
	Blueprint for action
	Blueprint for action The strategy in a snapshot together.
	Blueprint for action The strategy in a snapshot together. Strengthening partne
6	Blueprint for action The strategy in a snapshot together. Strengthening partner A strategic approach to an unlocking opportunities an design, planning and deliver
	Blueprint for action The strategy in a snapshot together. Strengthening partner A strategic approach to an unlocking opportunities an design, planning and deliver A thriving New Zealar
	 Blueprint for action The strategy in a snapshot together. Strengthening partner A strategic approach to an unlocking opportunities an design, planning and delive A thriving New Zealar Five strategic objectives bo opportunities we have ider recommendations for char organisations need to program



Five cross-cutting themes that will build a better infrastructure system to support and enable the achievement of the strategic objectives. Each theme contains a number of **recommendations** for change, tagged to specific agencies and organisations and with timeframes for action.

The remaining sections share next steps, the complete list of recommendations, a list of further information and resources, as well as detailed end notes.

How to read this strategy Me pēhea e pānui ai i tēnei rautaki



ategy, with a focus on the areas that will have the ming New Zealand over the next 30 years.

ucture to our lives and why we need a strategy for

ure

d's infrastructure and the aims and principles that

our infrastructure system faces and the tools we have ges.

This shows how all of the elements of the strategy fit

erships with and opportunities for Māori

d recommendations for creating stronger partnerhips, nd incorporating mātauranga Māori into infrastructure ery.

nd: what we need to do

based on the infrastructure challenges and ntified. Each objective contains a number of nge, with information on which institutions or gress them and timeframes for action.

ructure system: how we get there

Introduction Kupu whakataki

37. A.2.

Looking south over Wellington City and CentrePort.



Infrastructure is made of layers of connected systems and networks.

These deliver the services we depend on like power, water, transport, healthcare and education. What's the common factor in all this infrastructure? It allows us to share resources so that we can be more connected, healthier, smarter and innovative. In doing so, it improves our lives in many ways and contributes to the wellbeing of all New Zealanders.

Figure 2: The infrastructure layers



Source: Te Waihanga, data from Schooling, Burgess, & Enzer (2020)

Infrastructure can be categorised in many ways.

One way is to think of it in terms of economic and social infrastructure and the natural environment (see Figure 2).¹

Economic infrastructure: This is our energy, telecommunications, transport, waste and water infrastructure.

Social infrastructure: This is our hospitals, schools, prisons, parks, libraries and community buildings.

Natural environment: There are interconnections and interdependencies between economic and social infrastructure and the natural environment.

Infrastructure has features that make it different from other goods and services.

These features relate to how infrastructure is made and how it's used. This affects how infrastructure is funded and how the organisations that provide it are structured and operate. All infrastructure sectors share these features to some degree:

- Infrastructure is intergenerational. With good maintenance, infrastructure assets may last for over a century.
- · Infrastructure investment is lumpy as it involves large up-front costs to develop and upgrade.
- Infrastructure can be interconnected and interdependent. For instance, a new water pipe can only supply a home with drinking water if it connects to other water pipes that link it to a water source. A hospital can't function without electricity and wastewater.
- Infrastructure often provides **shared services** to a large number of people. For example, when a residential power line fails, every home served by that line loses power.
- Infrastructure generates spill-over effects. For example, a new road or a passenger transport service can make an existing road quieter or busier. It may also help people to get to a hospital or to work more quickly.

We often think of infrastructure in terms of sectors, like transport, water, electricity, telecommunications, health, education and waste.

While infrastructure sectors have many features in common, there are some important differences. Telecommunications infrastructure and energy infrastructure are operated commercially, with funding sourced from charging consumers. Their investments are financed from private sources and independent regulators constrain their revenue and/or prices. In contrast, water, transport, education and health infrastructures are primarily operated as non-profit public entities and are funded primarily through taxes and rates or user charges set by local and central government.

Infrastructure is provided by both the public sector (central and local governments) and the private sector. This strategy speaks to all types of infrastructure, regardless of ownership. However, many of the recommendations in the strategy are targeted specifically at public infrastructure providers.

Why we need an infrastructure strategy

We need an integrated and holistic view of the infrastructure system.

New Zealand has a large number of organisations responsible for the many parts of the infrastructure system and lifecycle. To get the most out of our infrastructure, for both the present and the future, we need to look across the whole system, rather than just any one part. Unlike many countries, New Zealand has not had, until now, an organisation or strategy with this system-wide perspective.

This strategy takes this more holistic view of the infrastructure system. It also has a longer-term horizon. A 30 year horizon requires us to think about trends such as technology advancements, our changing climate and population change, and the impacts these will have on infrastructure decision-making over the coming years and decades.

A longer-term, integrated framework provides direction for planning and action.

This longer-term view focuses our attention on the opportunities and challenges for our infrastructure, both now and over the next 30 years. Trade-offs will inevitably be needed to get the balance right between what we can afford, what we expect our infrastructure to provide and the impacts it will have on our communities and our environment. We can't have everything. These trade-offs need to be guided by a framework that provides direction for planning and action.

The impact COVID-19 has had on infrastructure

COVID-19 has changed how we use infrastructure.

Infrastructure is constantly required to respond to a range of shocks and stresses. These are often unforeseen or unexpected. The most recent of these is the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic has forced us to rethink how we live our lives and how we use infrastructure to connect and get around.² Initially, the pandemic led to uncertainty in the infrastructure pipeline, with projects cancelled or delayed. Infrastructure was seen as an important channel for economic stimulus, with the government announcing numerous infrastructure programmes to sustain demand and support employment.

The first Alert Level 4 lockdown resulted in a sudden and abrupt change in usual patterns of commuting and working arrangements. Public transport usage declined substantially, leading to a funding squeeze for local and regional governments.³ Local government non-rates income, such as from council-controlled organisations, investments and dividends, were affected. In some cases, this resulted in reductions and deferrals in infrastructure spending.

Tourism patterns have changed dramatically and abruptly. The loss of international tourism has been estimated as having a significant drag on domestic output,⁴ with impacts on the accommodation, hospitality, transport, education and retail sectors. Domestic tourism has proved to be an important shock absorber for a drop in global demand. Despite this, the aviation sector has been severely impacted, with government assistance necessary.⁵

COVID-19 has highlighted challenges with supply-chain resilience and infrastructure workforce capacity and capability.

COVID-19 is a stark reminder of the importance of reliable, safe and efficient supply chains. Global supply chain disruptions have been common, with widespread impacts on global shipping and air freight.⁶ These have added to the cost of freight,⁷ increasing lead times and lowering inventory levels. Many of these impacts are expected to continue for some time.⁸ For many suppliers, traditional models of consumer shopping have been replaced with home delivery⁹, while consumer demand has shifted from domestic services (such as eating out at restaurants) to durable goods, that require importing.¹⁰

COVID-19 has affected the supply of materials and labour needed to deliver infrastructure. As a result, construction prices have risen rapidly and project schedules have been pushed out due to supply chain and work site disruptions. New Zealand has experienced its highest level of construction price inflation since well before the Global Financial Crisis, but it is not the only country to experience these issues.¹¹

Global supply-chains are more interdependent than ever. Raw materials and components may be shipped between countries multiple times to produce finished goods. By disrupting factory and port operations in many countries, COVID-19 has delayed shipments of goods, often leading to price increases for materials that are available and delays to projects while they wait on machinery and materials.

Availability of labour for infrastructure planning and delivery has also been challenging. New Zealand relies upon immigration to fill capacity and capability gaps, including specialist engineering and construction skills that are needed for complex projects. Restrictions on international travel during the COVID-19 pandemic has caused net migration to fall dramatically.¹² This has made it more difficult to complete projects and lift investment to address infrastructure challenges.

While these issues will be moderate in the medium-term, they highlight the importance of building resilient supply chains and ensuring that we are planning for future workforce capacity and capability needs.

For many sectors, the pandemic has stimulated an acceleration in the use of telecommunications as a substitute for traditional infrastructure services.

This has been most obvious in the health sector where 17 district health boards collectively experienced a 100-fold increase in telehealth consultations, to 34,500 per week in April 2020.13 Many education providers were moved online, as were many employees, showing how telecommunications infrastructure can provide an important substitute for physical proximity.

COVID-19 has had significant implications for infrastructure across many sectors. It's impacted shortterm patterns of infrastructure usage and there's considerable speculation about how patterns of land use may change and how we might use infrastructure differently in the future.^{14,15} From an infrastructure perspective, it's a reminder of the importance of a resilient, flexible and agile system.

This strategy takes a longer-term perspective to complement shorter-term investment in recovery, focusing on how we can better support resilience to shocks of this kind in the future.

What we've heard and learnt

We've read, listened to and thought about a lot of information in developing this strategy.

We've undertaken both a bottom-up, consultation-led approach and a top-down process, where we've learnt from the work of others, such as the Climate Change Commission, the Productivity Commission and the Resource Management Review Panel. We've also learnt from:

- 23,638 responses to and 8,500 comments on our Aotearoa 2050 survey.
- Better Future,¹⁶ including 178 from organisations.
- 119 organisations that responded to our Infrastructure Asset Owners Survey.
- Four meetings with iwi, as well as the University of Waikato's Te Kotahi Research Institute.
- Nine stakeholder workshops.
- 2020 Infrastructure New Zealand ReBuilding Nations conference.
- 80 stakeholder meetings.
- Te ao Māori testing panel.
- A local government reference group.

Our strategy and our recommendations draw on ideas from and work with all these sources. It also draws on the work of many institutions, organisations and academics from across our infrastructure system.

This is just the beginning.

The infrastructure system is complex and exists in a rapidly changing world. We need to be flexible and adaptable to change and understand the infrastructure implications. In recognition of this rapidly changing environment, the strategy will be revised at least every five years. It is the beginning of a much longer-term ongoing conversation with all New Zealanders.

1

• 721 submissions on Te Waihanga's consultation document, He Tūāpapa ki te Ora Infrastructure for a

Workshops at Te Waihanga's symposium, Infrastructure 2021: Looking Ahead¹⁷ (see Figure 3), and the



Vision for infrastructure 2 He tirohanga mō te hanganga

View from the Christchurch Bus Exchange toward Ao Tawhiti, Aotearoa New Zealand's first vertical school.

Infrastructure for a better future

The decisions we make about our infrastructure will shape the way we live for generations.

our infrastructure will help us to meet the challenges we'll face.

It looks at the role our infrastructure system has in our wellbeing, including its importance to our economy and our jobs. It places equal importance on its contribution to our society, culture and environment. There are few parts of our lives that don't rely on infrastructure.

The strategy also recognises Te Tiriti o Waitangi (the Treaty of Waitangi) as the constitutional foundation of Aotearoa, and it draws on concepts of te ao Māori to think about infrastructure from the broad perspectives of wellbeing (oranga), kaitiaki (guardianship and stewardship), integration, longevity and connection to place.

From this perspective, the vision for the strategy is:

Infrastructure lays a foundation for the people, places and businesses of Aotearoa New Zealand to thrive for generations.

E whakatakoto ana te hanganga i te tūāpapa o te ora o te tangata, o ngā wāhi, me ngā pakihi o Aotearoa kia ora rawa atu mō ngā whakatupuranga.

Infrastructure is a foundation for wellbeing.

This strategy sets a path to a 2050 where infrastructure continues to support wellbeing. We have a strong economy, options for how we get around, clean energy and access to health and education as our population grows and moves, and as technology changes. We're resilient to shocks and stresses, including those that climate change brings. Infrastructure plays its part in supporting these and other goals, offering a foundation for a thriving New Zealand.

The koru below (Figure 4) contains the many ways in which we expect infrastructure to support New Zealand's people, places and businesses through to 2050.

2

This strategy learns from the lessons of the past and looks to the future, planning ahead to ensure

"Ki te kahore he whakakitenga ka ngaro te iwi – without foresight or vision the people will be lost." -Kingi Tāwhiao Pōtatau te Wherowhero

Figure 4: How infrastructure supports New Zealand's people, places and businesses



Cui	dina	nrin	ain	
Gui	ung	hill	CIP	162

We've used three guiding principles to develop this strategy: equitable, aspirational and efficient.

Principle	Description	What it can mean
Equitable	We acknowledge that our generation holds the environment in common with other generations, past and future.	 Invest in long-lived infrastructure. Plan for cities that are multiples of their existing size.
	We promote development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.	 Use debt to distribute costs over time. Enable sustainable growth and mitigate the effects of climate change.
	We promote infrastructure that enhances wellbeing for all New Zealanders including the vulnerable.	 Infrastructure is paid for by those using it. Identify mitigations for vulnerable groups. There is diversity across infrastructure industries. Identify opportunities to empower Māori. Integrate land use and infrastructure to maximise access for all.
Aspirational	We utilise the smartest minds and look to international best practice to identify and optimise infrastructure solutions. We collaborate and coordinate across organisations and regions to get the best result for New Zealanders. We set aspirations that focus on improving wellbeing and enabling people to thrive.	 We aspire to: A net-zero carbon economy. 30-minute cities. Universal access to digital services. Zero landfill waste. Zero lives lost from natural disasters.
Efficient	We aim for maximum value with minimum wasted effort or expense. Our infrastructure decisions provide value for money. We draw upon compelling evidence to inform trade-offs for New Zealanders. We rapidly adopt and diffuse new technologies.	 Maximise the potential of existing infrastructure. Undertake rigorous cost-benefit analysis. Integrate economic, social and environmental objectives. Minimise waste and conserve resources. Build and disseminate the evidence base. Invest for resilience to shocks and stresses. Identify opportunities to drive productivity growth.

Source: Te Waihanga



zCase for change Hei tautoko i te panonitanga

Pedestrians crossing near the construction site of the Auckland City Rail Link.

The challenge

New Zealand's infrastructure faces many challenges.

For example, long-term trends such as climate change will have significant impacts on many parts of our infrastructure system. Our population is increasing and changing, and this will affect the quantity and quality of the infrastructure we need. And construction costs have been increasing, placing pressure on infrastructure budgets. We have an opportunity to overcome these challenges by taking a new approach to planning, delivering, maintaining, funding and financing infrastructure.

Figure 5 shows the areas where we'll need to do better if we are to achieve our vision for infrastructure. The orange section on the left shows the infrastructure challenges we face, while the blue section on the right contains the tools that enable change.

Figure 5: The challenge, the response



Source: Adapted from Sense Partners (2021)

We can't build our way out of every infrastructure challenge.

At present, we spend around 5.5% of gross domestic product (GDP) on public infrastructure. This includes our transport, water, hospital, education and defence facilities and excludes privately provided infrastructure like electricity generation and telecommunications.¹⁸ If we attempt to build our way out of current and future infrastructure challenges, it will cost around 9.6% of GDP over a 30-year period. This is equivalent to \$31 billion per year and almost double what we currently spend. This is caused by several factors, which are set out below.

Historical infrastructure deficit: New Zealand has under-invested in infrastructure in the past, which has lowered service quality and congested infrastructure. We also lack the infrastructure we need to support housing growth. We estimate that the new investment needed to meet this challenge would cost 0.7% of GDP every year over a 30-year period.

Demographic change and economic growth: New Zealand's infrastructure must evolve to serve a growing and changing population and economy. Our population is predicted to rise from 5 million to 6.2 million by 2048 (or 6.7 million under a high growth scenario), even after assuming that migration slows down.¹⁹ The nature of work and the nature of our workforce will continue to evolve.²⁰ An ageing population and regional differences in growth rates will also affect infrastructure use. Responding to these trends will require new roads, improved public transport systems and water systems for growing cities, freight and port infrastructure for growing economic activity, and trade and telecommunications infrastructure to connect us to each other and to the rest of the world. We estimate that the infrastructure needed to support population and economic growth would cost 1.8% of GDP every year over a 30-year period, in addition to the above need.

Improving infrastructure quality: We often expect more from our infrastructure than we did in the past. Improved infrastructure is fundamental to achieving goals such as reducing carbon emissions, providing safe drinking water, lifting environmental quality and creating built environments that improve the wellbeing of all New Zealanders. We estimate that addressing demands for improved infrastructure quality solely through new investment would cost 0.7% of GDP every year over a 30-year period, in addition to the above needs.

Adapting to climate change and recovering from earthquakes: We'll need to rebuild, strengthen, or relocate infrastructure in response to our changing climate and to recover from natural disasters, like floods and earthquakes. There is for example, a 75% chance that the Alpine Fault will rupture over the next 50 years, likely triggering an earthquake of magnitude 8 or higher.²¹ We estimate that adapting our infrastructure to climate change and repairing infrastructure after earthquakes will cost at least 0.2% of GDP every year over a 30-year period, in addition to the above needs.

Maintaining and renewing infrastructure: Our infrastructure comes with ongoing costs. For every \$100 we spend on new infrastructure, around \$60 must be spent on repairing and renewing worn-out infrastructure. We estimate that the cost of maintenance and renewals could be up to 4.6% of GDP every year over a 30-year period, in addition to the above needs.

Cost pressures: The cost of building infrastructure has been rising more rapidly than costs in other sectors of the economy. It's currently difficult for the construction industry to hire the skilled people it needs to meet increasing demands. We face competition for labour from an infrastructure boom in Australia, where wages are considerably higher. Uncertainty about future investment plans can reduce productivity growth by discouraging companies from investing in skills and machinery. Cost and schedule overruns on one project can worsen this by increasing financing costs and delaying other projects in turn. Costs are also driven by the increasing complexity of our projects and slow, costly and bespoke consent processes. Unless we address these root causes, these trends mean we'll have to spend more to get the same results. We estimate that these cost pressures will add 1.6% of GDP to our infrastructure costs every year over a 30-year period, in addition to the above needs.

The response

We have an opportunity to improve the way we plan, fund and deliver our infrastructure.

It won't be enough to simply keep doing what we've always done if we want to keep up with our expectations for life in New Zealand. While we'll need to invest and build more, this will only be one part of the solution. We can also be smarter in how we plan, deliver and use our infrastructure. We've identified four ways of achieving this:

- Make better use of infrastructure.
- Undertake better project selection.
- Broaden funding and financing options.
- Streamline delivery.

Make better use of infrastructure.

We need to make better use of both the infrastructure we already have and the new infrastructure we build. We can spread the load on our roads, water networks and other infrastructure through tools like education, regulation, pricing and design, which encourage people to use alternatives (such as public transport) or avoid using them at peak times.

This could mean improving bus services so there are fewer cars on our roads, using water metering to identify and fix leaks, or requiring flexibility in zoning policy so more houses are built in areas where there's already infrastructure in place.

More examples of how we can make better use of existing infrastructure are set out in Table 1.

Undertake better project selection.

that the infrastructure we do build will help solve the problems we face. We can:

- · Plan and prioritise the projects we're going to invest in as a country.
- Follow a robust business case process that means we choose the right projects.
- · Put frameworks in place to ensure we always test other options first, including solutions that don't require construction.

Our project selection process must be robust, replicable, transparent and deliver value for money.

Broaden funding and financing options.

New Zealand lacks a lot of the important infrastructure we need. To address this, we need to increase the amount that both the government and the private sector spend on infrastructure over the next 30 years. It will also mean using a broader range of funding and financing options, which could include:

- New funding tools.
- Making greater use of existing tools and debt funding.
- Using debt funding to ensure intergenerational equity.
- Considering alternative models that take greater advantage of private capital.

To create incentives to use both existing and new funding and financing tools to address our infrastructure challenges, we also have to consider the best structures for ownership and governance.

3

Infrastructure is too expensive to get wrong. We need to make better decisions so we can be confident

Funding represents all the money needed to pay for infrastructure. It comes from the community through users, taxpayers and ratepayers. In contrast, **financing** is about when we pay for our infrastructure. It could mean using cash surpluses now or borrowing from sources we need to repay later.

Streamline delivery.

The scale of our challenge means we need to get faster and more efficient at building infrastructure or else we'll always be on the back foot. Options for this include:

- · Improving our infrastructure institutions and governance to provide greater coordination and increase resilience.
- Investing in early-stage planning, for example spatial planning (see Section 6.2.3) and corridor protection (see Section 6.3.3), to speed up the processes for approval and buying land.
- · Partnering with Maori through a range of options including collaboration, co-design and co-governance.
- · Standardising procurement rules, using prefabrication and supporting the construction sector in training people and improving processes.

These are steps that can help deliver our infrastructure more quickly and improve the results, giving New Zealanders better services at a lower cost.

All these responses are needed to solve the infrastructure challenge.

Each response can make a big difference to solving New Zealand's infrastructure challenge, but the size of the problem is too large for any one action to be enough by itself. We'll need to use all four to make a difference.

Table 1: Examples of better use of existing infrastructure

Category	Health and education	Transport	Waste	Energy	Water
Design	Primary and preventative care Digitalisation of health services	Build houses close to work and amenity Integrated traffic and parking management	Product stewardship to reduce waste Second-hand stores	Energy efficiency measures (home insulation, double glazing) Generation close to load, including distributed energy resources	Reducing network leakage Rainwater harvesting
Educate	Health warnings on cigarette packages	Real-time information on travel speeds	Education to reduce recycling contamination	Energy efficiency technology demonstrations to the business sector (conducted by EECA	Behaviour change programmes to encourage conservation
Regulate	Covid-19 elimination strategy Speed limits and road policing	Convert parking to public transit Low emission zones in city centres	Banning hard to recycle products	Information disclosure regulations regarding generation "fuel" stocks	Water performance standards for appliances
Price	Cigarette tax	Congestion charging Discounted off-peak public transport fares	Increase waste levy	Real time spot market pricing Discounted off-peak pricing by electricity distributors	Volumetric water charging

Source: Te Waihanga

Infrastructure is about choices

We have choices in how we address the infrastructure challenge, but these involve making trade-offs.

Because we have limited resources with which to build, operate, maintain and renew infrastructure, we can't invest everywhere at once. Improving infrastructure in one area can mean leaving needs unmet in another. A careful prioritisation of investment is needed when deciding where, when and how much to invest.

When faced with options to manage congestion on an infrastructure network for instance, an operator may charge more at peak periods to spread the load across time and avoid the need for expensive new physical assets and ongoing operational costs. This is an example of a lever that makes better use of existing infrastructure. It can be an effective way to manage costs. For instance, Transpower estimates that without a peak-demand charge for electricity transmission, the scale of physical investment would need to be around 2-9% higher.²² Pricing strategies can be difficult to implement for public infrastructure however, meaning either lower service quality for communities (for instance, rising traffic congestion), or greater infrastructure investment, which comes at a cost to users or taxpayers.

In this way, decision-makers face choices between the appropriate response (better use of existing infrastructure, project selection, streamlined delivery and funding and financing) and the service quality that communities will experience. If we select bad projects, the funding required to address our infrastructure challenges may be higher. If we deliver projects inefficiently or slowly and don't make better use of existing infrastructure, service quality may fall. Depending on the nature, reach and network of infrastructure, these trade-offs can impact local communities, cities, entire regions or the whole country.

This strategy assumes that we'll need to improve how we use all four responses to maintain and increase the value we gain from infrastructure.

The broader policy environment

This strategy is consistent with the government's broader Economic Plan.

The government's broader economic strategy, called the Economic Plan, aims to tackle the long-term challenges facing the New Zealand economy to improve the wellbeing and living standards of all New Zealanders. It names four economic priorities and eight key shifts that are needed to build a more productive, sustainable and inclusive economy.²³ This strategy overlaps and is consistent with the following core principles of the Economic Plan:

- Grow and share New Zealand's prosperity more fairly: This strategy highlights opportunities to grow the economy and recommends system-wide change to increase infrastructure productivity and improve access for all New Zealanders.
- Transition to a clean, green, carbon-neutral New Zealand: This strategy focuses on the critical importance of enabling a fast-paced and sustained build of energy infrastructure to provide lowemissions energy. It also identifies key steps to making the right infrastructure choices and minimising carbon emissions from building new infrastructure.
- Support thriving and sustainable regions: This strategy emphasises that infrastructure plays a critical role in enabling the regions to play to their strengths. It identifies the challenges with regional infrastructure and recommends key steps to address them, with a particular focus on closing disadvantage by improving access to employment and social infrastructure, enhancing social cohesion and reducing living costs for those in more isolated locations.
- Deliver responsible government with a broader measure of success: Developing a world-class infrastructure system is a key focus of our strategy. In particular, it highlights the need for strong leadership and better decision-making.

The government has several policy reviews and reforms underway that will have big impacts on our infrastructure sectors.

These reviews and reforms will touch and affect most, if not all of New Zealand's infrastructure delivery in some way and are relevant to the implementation of this strategy. They're likely to affect the way infrastructure is consented, delivered, owned and governed.

Some of the key reforms are discussed below.

- Resource management reform: This major reform programme will change how infrastructure is planned, consented and delivered. It will for example, require regional spatial strategies, which will ensure a more integrated approach to land use and infrastructure planning.
- · Government Policy Statement on Housing and Urban Development: This reform places a spotlight on increasing affordable housing supply, including through the Urban Growth Agenda and Urban Growth Partnerships.
- Responses to climate change adaptation and mitigation: Key reforms include an Emissions Reduction Plan and a National Adaptation Plan, which both have a major focus on infrastructure.
- Three Waters Reform: New Zealand's three waters infrastructure is worth around \$64 billion.²⁴ This reform package proposes a major change to the ownership and governance arrangements for three waters and as a result, the way this core infrastructure is planned, delivered, maintained and operated.
- Review into the Future for Local Government: Local government is currently responsible for over \$140 billion of assets and a wide range of services, including infrastructure provision. The local government review is looking at options for effective local governance, including functions and roles, taking into account the government's broader reforms.²⁵

- offices. The reform envisions changes to health service delivery. For example, some health big campus developments.
- Emergency management reform: A broad, multi-year work programme of reform is underway Plan and the National Disaster Resilience Strategy.
- Digital Strategy for Aotearoa).

- transport revenue system to ensure it is fit for purpose and can meet future requirements.

Other government reforms and work programmes are noted in the relevant parts of this strategy. The strategy acknowledges and looks to build on the many reforms that are underway. It also recommends further government reforms and actions in several areas.

The impacts of these reforms on infrastructure are still evolving, but a key challenge will be ensuring they're consistent and coordinated from an infrastructure perspective. As the government's lead infrastructure advisor, Te Waihanga provides advice to the Minister for Infrastructure on many of these reforms.

3

Health and disability sector reform: The health sector oversees approximately \$24 billion of assets and is currently undergoing a major structural reform, with the 20 district health boards being amalgamated into a new national entity, Health New Zealand, operating from four regional services may be provided closer to where people live using digital technology and distributed services. This will encourage the use of smaller and repurposed buildings in the future, rather than

to deliver extensive change to New Zealand's emergency management system. This includes a review of the existing legislation under the National Emergency Management Agency's Regulatory Framework Review Programme (also known as the 'Trifecta Programme'). Changes proposed include enhancing the roles and responsibilities of those agencies covered by emergency management legislation. Work undertaken within the Trifecta Programme will align with the National Adaptation

Development of fit-for-purpose energy and digital strategies: The government is developing a number of strategies as part of preparations for a net-zero carbon emissions New Zealand by 2050, as well as other challenges and opportunities New Zealand will face in the next 30 years (including a

Supply chain strategy review: Workstreams are investigating new approaches to cooperation, regulation and investment to strengthen New Zealand's supply chain. The main drivers for change are decarbonisation, resilience to threats and events, productivity and innovation, and wellbeing.

Waste sector legislation and strategy review: This includes enabling a reduction of waste through a programme of targeted waste levies, end-of-life solutions for certain products, the phase-out of particular plastics, reducing construction and demolition waste and improving compliance, monitoring and enforcement. This matters to infrastructure because it will impact the future need for landfills.

Air navigation system review: Work is underway on a broad, first principles review focusing on settings in three key areas of the air navigation system; policy & regulatory, institutional and funding.

• Future of the transport revenue system review: This is a first principles review of the current land



This strategy sets a course for significant transformation across New Zealand. As our demographics, technology and climate are changing, our approach to infrastructure will also need to change. To achieve our ambition for New Zealand to thrive, the strategy's blueprint for action (Figure 6) sets five strategic objectives. We envision a New Zealand that's responding to the challenge of net-zero carbon emissions, where our cities and regions are attractive, inclusive and flourishing, our infrastructure is resilient to shocks and stresses and we're moving towards a circular economy.

We also propose five cross-cutting themes to lift the performance of our infrastructure system. New Zealand requires a different approach to managing its resources, including the way we make decisions and the capital, labour and technologies we use. We aspire to best practice, providing stewardship for the resources we have and investing in outcomes that are fair and recognise all New Zealanders. In making the transition, we recognise and respect Te Tiriti o Waitangi and look for opportunities to build strong, meaningful and enduring relationships with Māori. There's much at stake. If we get it right, we'll have the ingredients for a productive, sustainable and globally integrated economy, where New Zealanders are healthy, have access to opportunities and are able to protect the environment for future generations.

Figure 6: Blueprint for action



		Our P
Equitable		Asp
What		ł
Objectives	\rightarrow	Perfo
Enabling a net-zero carbon emissions Aotearoa		Better decisio Improving fun

 Supporting towns and regions Building attractive and inclusive cities Moving to a circular economy

 Strengthening resilience to shocks and stresses

Source: Te Waihanga

5 Strengthening partnerships with and opportunities for Māori

Te whakapakari i ngā pātuitanga me ngā āheinga mō ngāi Māor

Building strong, meaningful and enduring to ensure our infrastructure works for everyone.

The way Māori interact with infrastructure is growing and evolving.

Maori are users of infrastructure, relying on the services it provides to access work, recreation and education, as well as to run their businesses and provide opportunities for entrepreneurship. Māori are also investors, developers, partners, governors and owners (see Figure 7). For example, Te Ōhanga Māori (the Māori economy), is growing. It accounted for \$17 billion in production GDP (6.5%) in 2018.²⁶ Maori are also involved in building infrastructure, with 12% of the Maori workforce employed in the construction sector.27

Figure 7: The many roles of Māori in our infrastructure system

GOVERNANCE

OWNEF

USERS consumer | business

Source: Te Waihanga

In these different roles, Maori bring a depth of knowledge, experience and values that can expand the knowledge base of all infrastructure providers. Building mutually empowering relationships with Maori will enrich the knowledge of the entire sector and unlock opportunities for Māori.

Children playing in Te Oro, the Glenn Innes Community Centre. The name 'Te Oro' has been gifted to the centre by Ngāti Pāoa with the endorsement of Ngāi Tai ki Tāmaki and Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei.

We recognise and respect Te Tiriti o Waitangi. relationships with Māori is one of the foundations



A strategic approach is needed to build mutually empowering relationships.

These mutually empowering relationships must be based on agreed values and principles. We've drawn on those established in Te Ara Kotahi (the Waka Kotahi Māori Strategy)²⁸ as the basis for a proposed approach (see Table 2).

Table 2: Te Ara Kotahi (the Waka Kotahi Māori Strategy)

Ngā Uara - Values

5

Mātāpona - Principles

information flows both ways.

good faith.

our business.

work we do.

Huna Kore: We value a no surprises approach and

Auahatanga: We will focus on creativity and

Whakapono: We act with integrity and honesty.

Partnership: We will act reasonably, and in

Participation: We will encourage and make it

easier for Maori to more actively participate in

Protection: We will take positive steps to ensure

that Māori interests are protected as appropriate.

Recognition of cultural values: We will recognise

(customs) Te Reo Māori and kawa (protocols) in the

and provide for Māori perspectives, tīkanga

innovation to achieve better outcomes.

Rangatiratanga: We recognise and respect the individual autonomy and authority of Māori. We respect each other as partners and therefore value each other's aspirations, positions, roles and expertise.

Manaakitanga: We exercise care and the work we do should be mana enhancing and supportive.

Kaitiakitanga: We recognise that the environment is a taonga that must be managed carefully. We also recognise that Māori have a responsibility and obligation of care over their communities and environments.

Whanaungatanga: We foster meaningful and enduring relationships based on good faith, mutual respect, understanding and trust.

Te Tiriti o Waitangi: We recognise, respect and uphold the principles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi.

Mana o Te Reo Māori: Te Reo Māori is highly valued. We actively promote Te Reo Māori within the work we do.

Source: Adapted from Waka Kotahi (2020)

Three areas for action: partnerships, unlocking opportunities and incorporating mātauranga Māori.

Drawing on the Waka Kotahi framework, we've prioritised three areas for action:

- Creating stronger partnerships with Maori across infrastructure planning and delivery.
- Unlocking opportunities for Maori across the infrastructure system.
- Incorporating mātauranga Māori into infrastructure design, planning and delivery.

These weave into all aspects of this strategy (see Figure 8).

Figure 8: Weaving Maori objectives into the strategy



Source: Te Waihanga

Strengthening partnerships with Māori.

Across infrastructure planning and design, a partnering approach ensures that Māori values and aspirations are reflected in infrastructure projects from the beginning. This might involve deciding on the location of a hospital, recognising and supporting the potential for iwi investment, or understanding the way changes to a water network might impact the mauri of local waterways. In these ways and many more, partnering with Māori can ensure that a project has the greatest benefit for the community it's designed to serve, unlocking economic, environmental, social and cultural benefits.

Strengthening partnerships requires effective Share decision-making. engagement that starts early, uses best practice and is proportional to the issue, nature and strength of Maori interests. It must also recognise and provide for cultural heritage, identity and matauranga Maori. The development of a framework for building stronger partnerships during infrastructure planning and delivery is an important step in this process. The framework must be based on tikanga Māori, recognise that different partnership models will be appropriate for different types of infrastructure and must be consistent with an all-of-government approach. The development of this framework would be guided by a joint advisory group. This would need to be developed in a way that's consistent with other government partnership approaches currently being considered under various policy reforms.

We must provide the time and resources for partnerships, as well as proactive, clear and timely dialogue on the direction of infrastructure investment. Many iwi suffer from intense demands on their time, which is often given voluntarily, as they're invited to consult and partner in an increasingly complex environment. The government is currently leading major reform across water, health, and local government, as well as historic levels of infrastructure investment. This places a significant burden on iwi resources, time and personnel. At the same time, many government agencies and infrastructure providers vary in their understanding of engagement with Maori and their capabilities to do so. For these reasons it will be important to build the capacity and capabilities for a successful partnering approach throughout the infrastructure system, as well as within iwi. It needs to be built in a way that's sustainable and enduring. This work has started with the development of the Maori Crown Relations Capability Framework.³⁰

Unlocking opportunities for Māori.

Infrastructure can have a major impact on wellbeing, whether it's providing access to hospitals and schools, powering our workplaces or creating jobs in construction. However, we know that the outcomes for Māori in many of our infrastructure sectors are poor (see Figure 9) and that it's important to identify opportunities where infrastructure can have a role in improving Māori wellbeing. These opportunities include:

- Caring for the environment and supporting Maori to exercise kaitiakitanga (environmental stewardship/quardianship).
- Promoting employment opportunities^{31,32} (see Section 7.5).
- Improving diversity across the infrastructure workforce (see Section 7.5).
- Enhancing social wellbeing through access to infrastructure services. For example, through telecommunication and internet services that improve connectivity in places where Māori live, transport infrastructure that brings employment opportunities closer and education that improves economic opportunity.

Partnership principles approved by the government provide the following guidance.²⁹

- Build the relationship before focusing on the work.
- Plan together from the start.
- Value each party's contribution and knowledge
- Ensure outcomes are meaningful to all parties.
- · Be open, be flexible and accept risk.

- Establishing an effective process for partnership within regional spatial plans (see Section 6.2).
- · Identifying ways the infrastructure system can support an equitable transition for Maori, for example in the transition to clean energy required to deliver net-zero carbon emissions and informing a fair transition (see Section 6.1).
- Using procurement as a mechanism to unlock opportunities for Maori. For example, in 2020 the government announced that it would require mandated agencies to ensure that at least 5% of relevant contracts are awarded to Māori.
- Recognising and respecting Maori rangatiratanga while supporting iwi aspirations, plans and goals.

Figure 9: Māori outcomes can be improved across our key infrastructure sectors



1.4 million hectares freehold land with 60% considered underutilised.

The Māori economy:

Health:



Gap in life expectancy at birth of 7.5 years for males and 7.3 years for females between Māori and non-Māori.



Education: 19% Māori leave school with no qualifications versus 9% non-Māori.



Transport:

Housina:



8.7% of Māori are living in a household without motor vehicle access compared with 4.4% of non-Maori.

Māori made up 26% of those

living without shelter in 2018.

Telecommunications:

12.23% Māori have no

internet access versus

8.89% non-Māori.

Source: Climate Change Commission (2021), Statistics New Zealand (2021), Digital Public Service (2020), Tokona Te Raki Māori Futures Collective (2019), Ministry of Health (2019)

Incorporating mātauranga Māori into infrastructure design, planning and delivery.

Mātauranga Māori, the knowledge, skills and concepts developed by Māori over centuries of living in Aotearoa, has made important contributions to health, social policy and many other fields. However, the potential for matauranga Maori to contribute to the development of infrastructure is only just being realised within the sector. We can work to grow information and advice about how mātauranga Māori informs infrastructure planning, policy and delivery, as well as decision-making on infrastructure priorities.

Strengthening the matauranga knowledge base requires a research agenda. This can draw on best practice from previous projects (see Case Study 1). Building a strong evidence base of what works will support better strategy, planning and project delivery across the system.

~

STUDY

CASE

Engineering Cadet Emily Kang at the Parahaki Bridge site.

Te Ahu a Turanga: Manawatū Tararua Highway"

A major slip in April 2017 left State Highway 3 through Manawatū Gorge impassable. A new four-lane highway with shared use path is being built over the Ruahine Range, to provide a safe, resilient and efficient route between Woodville and Ashhurst. The project value is around \$620 million

In an historic 'first', Waka Kotahi have partnered with local iwi to form Te Ahu a Turanga Alliance. Iw partners include Rangitāne o Manawatū, Rangitār o Tamaki nui-a-Rua, Ngāti Kahungunu ki Tāmaki nui-a-Rua, Ngāti Raukawa ki te Tonga and Ngāti Kauwhata. This special partnership sets the project apart and has been seen as an approach to be replicated on future infrastructure projects.

Soon after the slip in 2017, Waka Kotahi sought to involve iwi in the project. The offer of partnership was extended and relationships were built with collaboration and time. Today, iwi partners are represented throughout the project: on the Alliance Board, an iwi specific forum (Iwi Working Group), a senior management (through the appointment of Kaiārahi, Kaikōkiri and Kaihāpai), at the operationa level with Kaimahi working on the design of the project and how it is constructed, and Kaitiaki working within the construction team.

Relationships have been respected and nurtured, with senior management within Waka Kotahi takin responsibility for championing the project and maintaining consistent contact with iwi to enable trusting relationships to be built. As the project ha proceeded, the mutual value of these partnership for the natural environment, the people and the project has been recognised.



d	• As partners, iwi made submissions on the Notice of Requirement for the highway alongside Waka Kotahi and helped develop the consent application, including several key management plans.
n. vi ie	• Each iwi was part of the selection process for the preferred construction consortium, interviewing the applicants and providing a recommendation to the selection panel.
ct	• Once the construction alliance was selected, iwi joined the Project Alliance Board and Alliance Management Team.
	 Iwi led the design and development of significant cultural design elements and have taken responsibility for cultural monitoring of all project works.
ce at a	The mauri of the Project has been strengthened through the application of project values founded in Mātauranga Māori, including initiatives based on the Te Whare Tapa Whā model of wellbeing and Whānau Ora.
1	While there'll inevitably be areas for improvement, the project is achieving positive outcomes for iwi that include:
g	 Skills and capability development within iwi across the range of project disciplines, including governance, management and delivery.
S S	• Significant cultural design elements across the project that will recognise and honour the relationship of mana whenua to the whenua and awa.
	 The development and implementation of cultural baselines to monitor the health of the Manawatū awa.
	· Business opportunities for iwi in both construction

and environmental management.

Recommendations

5

No.	What	How	Who
1	Strengthen partnerships with Māori across the infrastructure system of Aotearoa New Zealand CEM (\$ 2022-2031	 a. Undertake a 'State of Play' of current Māori engagement activity for infrastructure to help inform and educate readers on how infrastructure providers can engage and work with Māori in a way that works for Māori and infrastructure providers. b. Identify a lead government agency that will establish a Māori advisory group to develop a framework for strengthening partnerships with Māori in infrastructure planning and delivery. The framework should be based on Te Tiriti o Waitangi and tikanga Māori and consistent with an all-of-government approach. The advisory group should also consider the evolving role of Māori in the infrastructure system and options for ongoing governance and oversight of the framework. 	lwi, Te Waihanga, Te Arawhiti, Central Government, Local Government, Sector
2	Develop capabilities	Put in place a programme to develop capabilities and capacity for effective partnership that should:	lwi, Te Waihanga, Te Arawhiti,
	and capacity across the infrastructure system for effective partnerships with Māori	 Build specialist Māori infrastructure capabilities at the centre of government that can support agencies and Māori. 	Central Government, Local Government
		 b. Consolidate and enhance specific funding for the provision of technical support for iwi with infrastructure planning and delivery partnerships (agency or programme specific) 	Government, Sector
	CEM	specific).	
	Q 2022-2031	to create fixed-term secondment opportunities for iwi organisations.	
		d. Leverage procurement opportunities for Māori across infrastructure policy, planning, delivery, maintenance and research.	
3	Strengthen the Māori infrastructure evidence base	A collaborative multi-decade research agenda should be designed that:	lwi, Te Waihanga, Te Arawhiti,
		 Builds an evidence base exploring how infrastructure planning and delivery out to 2050 and beyond can help empower Māori and enable rangatiratanga. 	Central Government, Local Government
	() 2022-2050 b	 Builds and disseminates a programme of in-depth case studies from leading Māori infrastructure partnership projects. 	
		c. Investigates the use of an appropriate national framework for assessing the nationally agreed effects of infrastructure on cultural values (sometimes referred to as a cultural impact assessment, the mauri model or similar), as a supplement to the local, rohe-specific effects (determined on a project-specific basis by iwi and hapū).	
🕞 R	efer to Section 10	() Time	



Pou Tū Te Rangi at Britomart, Auckland, by Chris Bailey. Pouwhenua, carved wooden posts, mark territorial boundaries or places of significance.

6 A thriving New Zealand: what we need to do

Aotearoa ora rawa atu: Me aha tātou

Planning for a 30-year infrastructure horizon requires an understanding of major long-term trends. In developing this strategy, we've made assumptions about our population, our changing climate and the inevitable disruption that technological change will cause.

New Zealand is projected to grow by 1.2 million people over the next 30 years.³⁴

That's equivalent to the population of the South Island.³⁵ Like any projection, it comes with significant uncertainty. Our population will be determined by fertility and mortality rates and migration. The population size can also be impacted by policy settings and global events. Under a very high migration scenario for instance, New Zealand could have as many as 7.4 million people, an increase roughly equivalent to a new city the combined size of Auckland, Wellington and Christchurch.³⁶

Two-thirds of population growth is expected to occur in less than 3% of New Zealand's land area.³⁷

Our population is urbanising. The populations of cities are likely to increase significantly, placing pressure on existing infrastructure and demanding greater investment. Population growth will likely be concentrated in and around the surrounding areas of five major cities (see Figure 10): Auckland, Hamilton, Tauranga, Christchurch and Wellington. Queenstown, although relatively small, is projected to experience the highest rate of growth (1.6% per year), which will place pressure on existing infrastructure services. But it's modest in absolute terms. One year of growth in Auckland is equivalent to 30 years of projected growth in Queenstown.

In absolute terms, the most population growth will occur in Auckland. Our largest city is projected to account for 49% of all population growth, growing by around 648,000 people by 2048. Under a high-growth scenario, Auckland could grow by as many as 969,000 people by 2048.

The population of some parts of New Zealand will stay the same or shrink in the long-term. Strategies for managing decline may become more important for these areas. They may need to find ways to reduce the quality of services or even decommission infrastructure to manage the financial burden of maintaining underutilised assets.



Figure 10: Distribution of all population growth 2018 to 2048, by territorial authority



The growth of cities and the dominance of Auckland

Source: Te Waihanga, data from Statistics New Zealand (2021)

"Of New Zealand's 67 territorial authorities, starting about now and continuing through the 2020's and 2030's, 56 will experience population stagnation or decline" - Dr Paul Spoonley³⁸

New Zealand's population is generally ageing.

The median age of a New Zealander has risen from 26 in 1970 to 37 today. By the 2030's, half of our population is likely to be over 40 years of age. By the 2070's, the median age could have risen to 47. Driven by longer life expectancy and fewer children, the ageing of New Zealand's population will affect the infrastructure we need and where it will be needed. It will also have funding implications, particularly for those regions that experience low or declining rates of population growth.

For New Zealand as a whole, the number of people aged over 65 is expected to more than double, while the number of people under 15 years is expected to decline. For every person aged over 65, there'll be only 2.1 people aged 15 to 64 in 2073, compared to 4.2 people today (see Figure 11). We can, therefore, expect the proportion of the population earning an income to reduce.³⁹ This will affect both our ability to pay for infrastructure through income taxes and the capacity of our workforce to build and maintain infrastructure in the future. We may also see change in the types of infrastructure that are needed, with less infrastructure required for children and more infrastructure required to support an ageing population.

New Zealand's population is ageing

Figure 11: Rate of population growth for the working age population 2020 to 2073



Source: Te Waihanga, data from Statistics New Zealand (2021)

The Maori population is younger and growing faster than the general population.

National demographic trends aren't the same across all groups and ethnicities and this will have a range of infrastructure implications. Maori have different demographics to New Zealanders as a whole. Maori are younger and the rate of growth of their working age population is significantly faster than it is in other groups. This will for example, change workforce composition over time. The median age for Māori is 24, compared to 41 for New Zealand European/Pākehā (see Figure 12). The Māori population is comparatively concentrated in some less urbanised regions of New Zealand, including Northland and the East Coast, even though a quarter of all Māori in New Zealand live in Auckland.⁴⁰

Māori are younger and growing faster than the rest of New Zealand population

Figure 12: Māori and non-Māori by age cohort, 2043



Source: Te Waihanga, data from Statistics New Zealand (2021)

Our population is becoming more ethnically diverse.

Between the 2013 and 2018 censuses, the number of Māori, Asian and Pacific people rose as a proportion of the usually resident population.⁴¹ These trends are expected to continue, with the Asian ethnic groups projected to reach 1.2-1.4 million in 2038, and the Pacific ethnic group expected to rise to 530.000 to 650.000.42





6

Our climate is changing and will impact every aspect of infrastructure.

Climate change is already impacting on our weather. Our rainfall patterns are changing, weather events are getting more extreme and our sea levels are rising.⁴³ Global temperatures and carbon emissions are rising dramatically (see Figure 13).

Infrastructure will be impacted by climate change through both mitigation (actions to limit global warming and its related effects) and adaptation (the process of adjusting to current or expected climate change and its effects).

To limit our impacts on global warming, it's essential that we invest in infrastructure to achieve the 2050 target of net-zero carbon emissions. Similarly, we need to change the materials that are used in order to minimise the emissions arising from the building of infrastructure (embodied carbon) and reflect the true cost of carbon in infrastructure projects. Infrastructure issues related to mitigation are covered in Section 6.1.

To adjust to climate change, we'll need to reconsider where we build. The location of new infrastructure like roads, water pipes, hospitals and schools will all be impacted. Coastal areas, places prone to flooding and locations likely to experience increasingly severe droughts will face difficult decisions. These will include options ranging from sea walls to managed retreat. Infrastructure issues related to adaptation are covered in Section 6.4.

Global temperatures are rising dramatically

Figure 13: Atmospheric CO2 (parts per million) and global temperature anomaly 1500 to 2020



Source: Adapted from The 2 Degrees Institute (2022)

A technological transformation is underway globally and will affect all infrastructure sectors.

It's characterised by almost universal connectivity and immense computing power. It draws on the generation and use of vast amounts of data. The list of potentially transformative technologies is long and includes automation, artificial intelligence, augmented and virtual reality and digital twins. Technology has the potential to create major changes in how assets are managed, priced and funded, enabling asset owners to make better use of existing infrastructure. Digital twins, which are virtual, realtime models of infrastructure, have the potential to transform our thinking on how infrastructure sectors work together as a single system (see Figure 14). There's also an increasing need to identify and respond to cyber security risks facing infrastructure providers and users, as critical systems are increasingly being controlled by remote, automated systems that are vulnerable to new threats.



Figure 14: Digital twins are virtual, real-time models of infrastructure Source: Te Waihanga, data from Schooling, Burgess, & Enzer (2020)⁴⁴



6.1 Enabling a net-zero carbon emissions Aotearoa

E whakaahei ana i tētahi Aotearoa he kore-more tana tukunga waro

Climate change is the defining challenge of this century. Our infrastructure is a key part of the solution.

Our climate is changing rapidly. Global temperatures are rising faster than anticipated and unless serious change is made, we will exceed at least 1.5°C of warming this century.⁴⁵ New Zealand is committed to doing its part to help prevent this. The Climate Change Response Act 2002 was amended in 2019 to set three targets: net-zero carbon emissions by 2050, and biogenic methane emissions reduced below 2017 levels by 10% by 2030 and by 27 to 47% by 2050. These are challenging targets that require immediate and sustained action.

"The Government must pick up the pace. Aotearoa will not meet its targets without strong and decisive action now to drive low emissions technologies and behaviour change across all sectors. 2050 is not far away - particularly if you consider the life span of infrastructure, vehicles, buildings and people."

– Climate Change Commission⁴⁶

To meet our 2050 emissions targets, the Minister for Climate Change will set emissions budgets that will act as stepping stones to our long-term targets and emissions reduction plans that will set policies and strategies for meeting the budgets. Emissions reduction plans will include sector-specific emissions reduction plans and ways to mitigate the impacts that reducing emissions will have on people.

Achieving the above targets will also require industry and consumers to shift to new technologies like electric vehicles. We're in a fortunate position. Our hydro, wind and geothermal power stations already provide considerable low-emission electricity. We have abundant potential sources of energy, which can be harnessed to produce more clean electricity than needed to meet our net-zero carbon emissions

commitments. This would allow us to create sustainable high-wage jobs for New Zealanders by attracting new companies that produce energy-intensive goods and services.

At the same time, we'll need to reduce or manage the emissions we produce when we build and operate our infrastructure. The decisions we make about investing in infrastructure today need to consider properly the long-term cost of carbon. The way we plan for, build and operate infrastructure will need to change for the sake of the generations to come.

6.1.1. Context

Decarbonising the transport sector will be a significant challenge.

Transport makes up 38% of New Zealand's non-agricultural emissions, with most of these emissions arising from fossil fuels used to power vehicles.⁴⁷ Emissions from domestic transport have continued to rise in recent times. Biofuels, hydrogen and electrifying the transport system are likely to drive the decarbonisation of the transport sector, alongside increased levels of walking and cycling, mass public transport and mode-shift to reduce the carbon impacts of the domestic freight network. Emissions will still arise though, when the transport infrastructure and vehicles are built, although some of those emissions occur overseas and are not attributed to New Zealand.

Non-built solutions need to be considered, such as congestion charging to smooth traffic peaks. Local government must also encourage a greater use of public transport by making better use of existing urban space and increasing housing density in areas close to employment and other amenities. These mechanisms are only viable where options for public transport, walking and cycling exist. These issues are discussed further in Section 6.3, which focuses on building attractive and inclusive cities.

To achieve our 2050 target, large reductions in carbon emissions are needed over the next 30 years.

The reductions will primarily need to come from the transport, industry and forestry sectors, as shown in Figure 15.48

Most of the reductions in gross emissions are from the energy sector

Figure 15: Contributions to reducing emissions (million tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent)



Source: Te Waihanga, data from Climate Change Commission (2021)

We'll need to dramatically alter our energy sources and remove carbon emissions where possible. Currently, only 30% of the energy we consume is from low-emission sources.⁴⁹ This will need to increase to 86% by 2050.⁵⁰ Most of this is likely to come from a greater use of biomass and clean electricity like wind and solar.⁵¹ Clean electricity will likely be used to produce hydrogen to fuel heavy vehicles and to power the heating used in industrial processes (high-temperature process heat). Biofuels are also likely to be used directly to fuel heavy vehicles and medium-temperature process heat. Capturing and storing carbon emissions from using gas and coal may be another option if the technology becomes cost effective. Over the next 30 years our existing gas and petroleum infrastructure will need to be re-purposed to support these alternative energies.⁵²

Clean electricity will be key to reducing carbon emissions from transport, process heat and agricultural activities.

The percentage of electric vehicles in our light-vehicle passenger fleet is projected to grow from less than 1% to 93% by 2050.53,54 They're expected to account for more than half of the additional electricity we're going to need by 2050 (see Figure 16).55

Electric vehicles will account for a large portion of the increase in demand for electricity Figure 16: Contribution to increased demand for electricity in 2050



Source: Te Waihanga, data from Climate Change Commission (2021)



Over the next 30 years we'll need to build significantly more low-emissions electricity generation.

This is needed to cater for our growing population, the greater use of electric vehicles, agricultural activities that require electricity and process heat.^{56,57} Most of this low-emissions electricity will come from new solar and wind generation and with this come some challenges:

- · We'll need to prepare for times when quantities of wind and sunshine are low, particularly as this often occurs at the same time, in winter, when hydro-electricity generation is also low and demand for power is high.58
- · As our economy becomes increasingly reliant on electricity, we'll also become more reliant on the national grid. This means the consequences of natural disasters like earthquakes, volcanic eruptions in the Central Plateau and extreme weather events would be very high.⁵⁹

The electricity sector will still produce carbon emissions in 2050.

The operation of geothermal generation isn't carbon-free and gas-fired generation may still be needed to provide electricity when our wind, solar, geothermal and hydro generation can't meet demand.⁶⁰ There might also be some industrial processes, like steel and cement production, that require very high temperatures and switching to electricity would be overly costly. In cases like these, we'll need to explore options for offsetting these, such as by planting more trees and buying emission units from offshore.⁶¹

6.1.2. What we've heard

Our consultation asked people for their views on meeting the government's goal to have 100% renewable electricity by 2030. Submitters told us that setting targets for specific sectors, like transport and electricity, weren't useful because of the Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS). If we do want to set targets for individual sectors, the submitters suggested the '100% renewable electricity by 2030' target should be replaced with a broader renewable energy target.

We also heard that there's a need to focus more strongly on the role that the gas sector and its infrastructure can play in helping New Zealand transition to cleaner energy sources. Submitters also told us to focus more strongly on the role of gas in ensuring we have a secure source of electricity and a sufficient gas supply for industry until better options are available.

6.1.3. Strategic direction

Moving to a low-emissions energy sector

We need to grow our clean electricity generation significantly over the next 30 years. This will require rules and regulations that support this change, sustained investment and the right mix of infrastructure to ensure we have reliable and resilient sources of power.

Streamlined regulatory processes are needed to enable the development of new energy projects.

We need to streamline the consenting process to enable low-emission energy infrastructure to be built. There are three areas of focus.⁶²

Renewable energy zones: Councils could identify renewable energy zones in their regional spatial plans. These zones are areas that would be suitable for renewable energy infrastructure and where there would be fewer barriers to gaining resource consent. At the same time, transmission and distribution infrastructure will also be needed to carry the energy produced in renewable energy zones to homes and businesses. In most cases regulated or contracted revenue will be sufficient to cover Transpower's and the distributor's costs. When this isn't the case, innovative funding, financing or indemnity arrangements may be needed to strike a better balance between maintaining incentives for investors to make careful choices and reducing barriers to grid and network expansion. Similar arrangements may also be needed for other situations (outside of renewable energy zones) where Transpower or distributors may need to incur significant costs to provision for projected demand increases due to electrification of industry and transport.

Offshore wind farms: It's currently cheaper to develop wind farms on land than offshore. However, it's expected that offshore wind farms will be developed when technology improves and costs decrease. With this will come a need to balance their role in generating electricity with their impacts on the environment, as well as the importance of our coast to our economy, lifestyles and cultural values. Currently, we don't have a specific consenting arrangement for developing our low emission offshore energy resources. To make the best use of those resources, the government may need to specify and allocate rights to certain areas, known as development blocks. New Zealand already has experience in regulating offshore oil and gas exploration and, like Australia, we can use this experience to grow renewable energy.63

Distributed energy resources: Our regulations should and Employment Accelerating help with the uptake of low-emission distributed energy Electrification consultation.64 resources, which are smaller devices for generating or storing power, such as rooftop solar panels, wind turbines, batteries and demand management systems.⁶⁵ Transpower estimates that solar panels that are connected to local networks will provide about 9.1% of total electricity supply by 2050.⁶⁶ The Minister of Energy and Resources, the Commerce Commission, and Electricity Authority all have key roles in developing a regulatory environment that enables households and businesses to install these types of technologies. The connection of tens of thousands of distributed energy resources to local distribution networks will create some challenges for network operators. Electricity distributors will also face additional complexities from the electrification of transport. Electricity-sector regulators will need to continue monitoring distributors to ensure they can meet these challenges in their current structure, and if not, whether some should be merged to improve their capabilities and get better results. The sector already has some joint-venture and out-sourced management arrangements for operating these networks and more of these types of arrangements may be enough to manage the complexities they'll face in the future.

We need to invest more in clean electricity.

Our growing population and the need to phase out fossil fuels means we'll need to increase the amount of electricity we generate each year by up to 70% by 2050.^{67,68} New Zealand is fortunate to be embarking on this journey with an electricity system that in the past five years has generated 82% from low-emission sources. This will increase over the next five years.⁶⁹

"Around \$2 billion is currently committed to the construction of new renewables, equivalent to 8% of current total annual generation. We are confident that with this and further expected near-term investment, New Zealand will have around 95% renewable electricity generation in the next five years."

- Meridian Energy⁷⁰

56

6

"If we are to achieve our climate change targets and meet the environmental challenge of our generation, the future needs to be very different from the past. ... [this is] unlikely to happen fast enough with current policy settings. 3-7 years to consent and enable property access for a major project is simply too long if we are to meet electricity targets"

– Transpower, submission on **Ministry of Business Innovation**

Experience shows this is achievable. Relative to the size of our economy, we built at a faster pace between 1960 and 1990 than we'll need to over the next 30 years (see Figure 17). We now have better construction technology and wind and solar farms should be easier to build than the hydro dams we've built in the past. These newer technologies also have lower impacts on the environment than our hydro dams. Already, four new players have announced plans for large-scale solar farms in New Zealand and several others have expressed interest in building large-scale offshore wind farms.71,72,73,74,75

The scale of energy infrastructure needed to meet net-zero carbon emissions has been done before.

Figure 17: Historical and projected growth in electricity generation capacity, relative to GDP



Source: Te Waihanga, data from Electricity Authority (2018)

There will be challenges not faced in the 1960s, such as more stringent regulatory barriers to development. We also need to address the perennial challenge of 'dry year' risk.

We can leverage our low-emissions energy potential for economic advantage.

The Climate Change Commission estimates that to meet our net-zero carbon emissions target, we'll need to be generating an extra 30 terawatt-hours (TWh) of electricity a year (see Figure 18).^{76,77} But we have enough natural, clean resources like wind, solar, geothermal and hydro energy to generate much more than that. Even if we exclude offshore windfarms, we could generate enough power to not only meet our target but still have a surplus of 35 TWh, enough to supply about seven aluminium smelters of the same size as the Tīwai Point smelter. The surplus could be used to grow energy-intensive activities, with some of them better suited than others to achieving acceptable levels of energy security for households and other consumers. These potentially include hyperscale data centres⁷⁸ and the production of hydrogen or ammonia.⁷⁹ Attracting these activities to New Zealand would reduce global greenhouse gas emissions and create sustainable high-wage jobs for New Zealanders.

Abundant low-emissions energy resources are an economic opportunity

Figure 18: Potentially viable low-emissions energy resources

120

58



Source: Te Waihanga, data from Climate Change Commission (2021), Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment (2020)

An even faster pace is possible if it becomes commercially viable to build windfarms offshore.

The opportunity to expand our energy sector is just one example of ways in which the wider economy may evolve over the next 30 years. We have a small, dynamic economy, with sizeable international trade and investment flows, which could affect ETS prices and the gap between our actual emissions and our international climate commitments.⁸⁰ The way the government addresses these issues, for instance through international carbon markets, will be important for investor confidence in the energy sector and more widely, and this needs to be addressed sooner rather than later. The Government has work underway to address these issues.

Businesses will find it attractive to locate their energy-intensive activities in New Zealand when they can earn higher returns or face lower risks than they would in other countries. We should not need to subsidise them. We just need to compete by being smart about how we plan, build, operate and regulate our infrastructure. However, we need to act quickly. Other countries are quickly moving ahead of us to leverage their low-emissions energy resources (see Case Study 2 for example). To be competitive with Australia and other Asia-Pacific countries, we need to allow large-scale commercial developments (to reduce costs). Our infrastructure and regulatory policies need to be highly reliable. We also need to build supporting infrastructure in a timely and efficient way, as well as develop and retain a skilled workforce.

Australia-ASEAN Power Link

Australia is considering a 10-gigawatt solar farm and battery-storage system in the Northern Territory that would be larger than the capacity of New Zealand's entire electricity system (9.8 gigawatts in 2020).⁸¹ The privately funded project, which is currently seeking financing, is expected to cost AUD\$22 billion.

2

STUDY

SE

UA S

In addition to serving existing domestic energy demands, the solar farm could feed new sources of demand, like producing hydrogen for transport fuels and industrial processes and powering data centres and digital services. The proposal includes a 3,700-kilometre undersea transmission line from Darwin to Singapore that would supply up to 20% of Singapore's electricity demand and generate significant export revenue.⁸²

The project was included in the Australian Infrastructure Priority List in 2020. This has enabled permitting and coordination to be expedited.

We can support partnerships with and unlock opportunities for Māori in low-emissions energy production.

Maori are involved in energy production. A number of iwi are part of joint ventures in electricity generation and some also receive income as a result of geothermal generation on their land. Many have extensive interests in land, forestry (a source of biomass energy), geothermal and hydro resources. Māori are well positioned to be joint-venture partners in many forms of energy production and storage, such as investing in wind and solar generation schemes and in carbon capture and fossil-gas storage. Additional geothermal and hydro generation and storage, such as the proposed Lake Onslow pumped hydro storage scheme, are other possible areas for Māori investment.

Maori also have valuable knowledge to contribute to the development of the government's Emissions Reduction Plan and National Energy Strategy and a regulatory framework that can enable offshore lowemission energy generation and storage.



Increasing energy prices could affect low-income and disadvantaged New Zealanders.

New Zealand scored highly in energy equity against 128 other countries surveyed by the World Energy Council.⁸³ However, the transition to a low-emissions economy could disadvantage low-income consumers, those on fixed incomes such as older people and people with disabilities and health needs.⁸⁴ Petrol and gas prices are expected to increase significantly over the next 30 years⁸⁵ and the daily fixed charge for electricity is estimated to increase by more than 200% by 2050.⁸⁶ These increases would disproportionately affect low income New Zealanders and those who can't reduce significantly their use of petrol and diesel for transport and gas for cooking and heating.⁸⁷

Additional government support will be needed for those most disadvantaged. Some government initiatives are underway, such as programmes that offer low-income households education on how they can reduce their energy costs and a trial of renewable energy technologies for social and Māori housing.^{88,89} The government may need to offer support to some people to pay the upfront costs of improvements that will save energy over the long term. It may also need to help workers who were in fossil-fuel industries to retrain or relocate for new jobs. This would come under its Just Transitions programme of work.

Reducing the emissions produced by our infrastructure

Business cases should incorporate the long-term cost of carbon.

The long life of our infrastructure and the high costs of replacing or changing it can mean that the decisions we make today result in carbon emissions for years to come. For example, extending or improving the road network can result in emissions for several decades because it is too costly to replace petrol and diesel vehicles quickly with electric and hydrogen ones. When the cost of repurposing or replacing infrastructure is prohibitive, the investment is said to be 'irreversible'.^{90,91} Irreversible investment decisions need to include the cost of carbon over the life of the infrastructure, as highlighted in Case Study 3. Getting the price right is fundamental to driving infrastructure decisions that support a low-carbon economy. In February 2022, the New Zealand ETS spot price reached \$82.50 per tonne of carbon dioxide equivalent.⁹² ETS prices may need to be as high as \$232 per tonne by 2050 to drive decisions that hold global warming at less than 2°C.⁹³ The Climate Change Commission has recommended changes to the trigger prices in the ETS that would enable it to reach these levels by 2050.⁹⁴

CASE STUDY

Long-term values for the cost of carbon in the United Kingdom

The United Kingdom (UK) has an emissions trading scheme, but it recognises that emission prices produced by the scheme aren't appropriate for decisions that lock in carbon emissions.⁹⁵ Since 2009, the UK has used carbon values to assess policy proposals. These values are based on estimates of the costs to society of achieving carbon-emission targets. Like New Zealand, the UK recently adopted a target of netzero carbon emissions by 2050. To be consistent with its new target, the UK government has recently announced a new carbon value of £245 per tonne for 2021 and an intention to increase it



to £378 per tonne by 2050.⁹⁶ Converted to New Zealand dollars, these are equivalent to NZD\$475 per tonne and NZD\$733 per tonne respectively.⁹⁷

Both central and local government make decisions about investing in infrastructure based on business cases. These business cases should incorporate the expected future carbon-abatement costs, rather than current ETS prices, to inform better decision-making on which projects are worth investment. The cost of carbon used in business cases should be consistent with New Zealand's net-zero carbon emissions commitment and reflect projected changes in the cost of carbon over the next 30 years. Adopting a more realistic cost of carbon will also help encourage businesses to develop low-carbon materials and processes for constructing infrastructure.

Although carbon-emission impacts should be considered in all business cases, carbon impacts are often locked-in at the strategic planning stage. For example, often the locations and nature of infrastructure investment shape the urban forms of our towns and cities, which can lock in long-term behaviour and associated emission impacts for generations. Where feasible, carbon impacts should be considered at the strategic planning stage, such as when spatial plans are developed.

Consider whole-of-life emissions when making infrastructure decisions.

As we make decisions on the infrastructure in which we invest, we need to consider the whole-of-life carbon emissions associated with infrastructure in our business cases.

Carbon is created in the production of many construction materials including asphalt, cement, steel and aluminium. The heavy machinery used to build and decommission infrastructure also emits carbon. The production of cement and steel are amongst the largest carbon-emitting processes on earth. Per tonne produced, steel emits roughly 1.9 and cement emits roughly 0.8 tonnes of carbon emissions.⁹⁸ These embodied emissions can be very high in infrastructure projects due to the use of carbon-intensive materials.

After construction, there'll be ongoing emissions from the operations, maintenance and use of infrastructure. Emissions generated from operations, maintenance and renewal are referred to as operational emissions and can include the emissions from the energy used in a building.⁹⁹ Emissions from third parties using infrastructure are referred to as enabled emissions and can include the carbon emissions generated from driving on a road. Emissions can also arise when removing infrastructure, which we refer to as disposal emissions. Some infrastructure, such as a new hospital, can increase overall emissions. Other projects, such as wind farms, can decrease overall emissions.

A whole-of-life approach to carbon emissions looks at embodied, operational, enabled and disposal carbon emissions over the expected life of infrastructure. For projects that are intended to reduce carbon emissions, there'll usually be a net increase in emissions during the construction phase that will be outweighed by reductions during the operational phase.

Using a whole-of-life approach to emissions can help us make investment decisions that are consistent with net-zero carbon emissions targets and should be used for projects that reduce and increase carbon emissions. A full consideration of whole-of-life emissions can encourage non-built infrastructure solutions, less carbon-intensive infrastructure options and the use of low-carbon construction materials.¹⁰⁰

A government work programme is needed to identify and understand which construction materials and methods produce the least carbon and then review regulations, standards and codes to encourage their use.

6.1.4. Recommendations

No.	What	How	
4	Minimise lock- in of future emissions	Set a strategic direction in emissions reduction plans that requires public sector investment programmes to be compatible with our international commitments on carbon emissions.	Ministry for the Environment (MfE), Climate Change Commission
	🕞 ITN, SRC, LER	Measures to support this direction should:	
	O 2022-2026	a. Require that infrastructure policies and strategic plans take into account, where feasible, their implications for locking in carbon emissions.	
		 Include a full consideration of non-built solutions and decarbonising existing infrastructure in all business cases. 	
		 Require assessments of whole-of-life carbon emissions, including embodied, enabled, and operational emissions, in all business cases. 	
		d. Require the use of a cost of carbon compatible with international commitments on carbon emissions within all cost benefit analyses, outlined in the Treasury CBAx tool.	
		e. Measure the carbon impacts of different construction materials used in infrastructure projects.	
		f. Set a timetable for reviewing regulations, standards and codes to ensure they don't inhibit the uptake of low-carbon materials.	
		This should be cross-sector and reviewed regularly.	
5	Achieve net- zero carbon emissions at minimum cost	Develop clear and credible policies and mechanisms for offsetting any differences that arise between actual emissions and our international commitments on carbon emissions. In developing a National Energy Strategy, include measures that achieve net-zero carbon at minimum cost. These should:	MfE, Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment (MBIE), Commerce Commission, Electricity Authority
	LEE, TPM, LER	 a. Modify the renewable electricity target to focus on renewable _ energy. 	
	() 2022-2031	 Reduce barriers to the prudent expansion of transmission and distribution capacity where needed. 	
		c. Ensure the existing gas infrastructure can be redeployed when new alternatives become viable.	
		d. Progress efforts to remove barriers to local generation, storage and demand management activity, in particular ensuring distributors have reasonable access to the metering data they need to manage their networks safely and efficiently.	
Refer to Section 10 (S Time			

No.	What	How		Who	
6	Speed the build of low-emissions energy infrastructure to leverage	Streamline consenting of low-emissions e while meeting environmental objectives b	nergy infrastructure y:	MfE, MBIE	
		a. Strengthening existing Resource Manage direction for renewable energy generation			
	our abundant resources	b. Developing a streamlined approach to planning and consenting under the Natural and Built Environments legislation, which			
	G ARE, OCE, LER	could include tools such as environment consenting and development of renewal			
	() 2027-2031	c. Establishing an offshore regulatory frame develop low-emissions energy resources			
7	Ensure a fair, inclusive and equitable transition to a low-emissions economy	Target support to those disproportionately affected in the transition by:		Ministry of Social Development,	
		a. Providing additional financial support to disadvantaged consumers to assist them with the upfront cost of investing in energy-efficiency improvements.		MBIE	
	🕞 ITN, LER	b. Supporting retraining for displaced workers.			
	() 2022-2031	c. Involving Māori and iwi in the developme hardship initiatives.			
			GREFER TO Section 10	() Time	



6.2 Supporting towns and regions to flourish

Te tautoko i ngā tāone me ngā rohe kia tupu matomato ai

New Zealand's regions are distinct. Our infrastructure supports our towns and regions to play to their strengths.

New Zealand's regions are great places to live, work and visit. Each region has its own character and unique combination of natural environment, infrastructure and community. Lower house prices, roads that are free of congestion and a sense of community make the regions attractive to many people. They also offer job opportunities that are different to those in our cities, whether they're in the primary sector, in local businesses or involve remote working. These are some of the reasons for approximately 1.8 million New Zealanders, some 35% of the population, living in small cities, towns and rural areas outside the main urban areas.¹⁰²

However, some of these things that make our regions special, such as their smaller scale and remote locations, pose challenges for their infrastructure. For people living away from main centres, it can be hard to access employment and social infrastructure, like schools and hospitals. It can also be more expensive to maintain infrastructure when populations are smaller.

Like elsewhere in New Zealand, the infrastructure in our regions will need to adapt to meet the changes we'll face over the next 30 years. Some areas will need to manage decline. Others, buoyed by the potential of work from home, improving broadband and the high cost of urban housing, will experience growth. Wairoa in Hawke's Bay for instance, was projected to decline by 4% between 2013 and 2020, but instead grew by 8% as people were drawn there from other parts of New Zealand.¹⁰³ All regions will need to work to address climate change, but its impacts might be greater in some, such as those by the coast.

6.2.1. Context

New Zealand is a trading nation and the regions are our economic backbone.

In 2019, \$131 billion of goods left or entered New Zealand, with 79% by sea and 21% by air.¹⁰⁴ There were 14 million passenger movements through New Zealand's four main international airports.¹⁰⁵ As the home of important sectors like the primary sector and tourism, New Zealand's regions are the country's economic backbone. Prior to COVID-19, primary-sector products made up nearly 80% of all the goods we exported by value.¹⁰⁶ Tourism, New Zealand's largest export sector prior to COVID-19, contributed a further 20% of total exports. Access to local, national and international markets is critical to the success of not only our regions, but New Zealand as a whole.

Māori have strong connections to regional New Zealand.

For Māori, our regions can be whenua, a source of connection and identity. Māori are slightly more likely to live outside main urban areas than other New Zealanders and account for a large share of the population in regions like the Gisborne district (where 54% of the population is Māori), the Northland region (36% Māori), and the Opōtiki district (64% Māori).¹⁰⁷A large proportion of all New Zealand's marae are found in rural New Zealand. The Māori economy is embedded in the fabric of the regions and is dominated by land and a natural-resource-based primary sector, with 35% of the Maori economy arising from the primary sector.¹⁰⁸ Māori-owned businesses account for 16% of New Zealand's total primarysector output.109

Infrastructure supports the regions to play to their strengths.

Well-organised infrastructure networks are critical to enabling goods, services, people and knowledge to move both within New Zealand and overseas. Regional New Zealand will increasingly need rapid,

low-cost connections between regions and cities. Currently, the air services to our regions are infrequent and expensive. The rise of electric aviation and autonomous mobility solutions may help ease these pressures, boost competition and change the nature and economic viability of commercial regional air services. This technology is expected to become more common within the next decade,¹⁰ but to prepare for this, significant training and infrastructure preparation is required to support operations on existing runways.¹¹¹

The national networked infrastructure, like the road and rail network and electricity transmission lines, is largely located in regional New Zealand and forms long-distance connections across the country. Maintaining security of supply in often remote and geographically challenging parts of the country is important to all New Zealanders. Road and rail transport will remain fundamental to connecting our regions. However, digital and mobile connectivity are also becoming essential. Moving data and information will become increasingly important to the regions.

Providing infrastructure in the regions can be challenging.

- It can be difficult to pay for costly, large-scale investments in places with small populations.
- The costs of providing infrastructure services to dispersed populations can be high and made more challenging by New Zealand's geography.
- way infrastructure is currently funded.
- possibility of stranded assets, which a region can't afford to operate.
- that they need to adapt to climate change.

These difficulties can limit the viability of infrastructure services in some places. They might mean higher prices, lower service quality or even missing services. For example, public transport options can be limited or non-existent, recycling facilities may be sporadic, internet and mobile service coverage may be patchy and long distances may be travelled to jobs and recreation. Health, banking, education and recreational facilities can be impacted. This heightens the importance of transport and digital connectivity for social and economic wellbeing.

6.2.2. What we've heard

"Our smaller towns struggle to pay for infrastructure" was ranked as a 'very important' issue by 44% of respondents to the Aotearoa 2050 survey. Submitters on our consultation document told us that regional roads and freight networks were important for economic and social functions. However, they saw challenges with maintaining rural roads to provide ongoing access to communities and to meet economic needs, such as for freight and logging.

Submitters also recognised the role of population and economic growth in driving infrastructure needs. Telecommunications and digital infrastructure is important for ensuring access for everyone living in regional New Zealand, including those who are vulnerable and disadvantaged. It can complement and sometimes be a substitute for transport networks. Air access is also important, but regional air links are seen as expensive and sometimes infrequent.

6

To thrive, regional New Zealand needs good infrastructure. However, this can come with challenges:

· Ageing populations in many places increase infrastructure needs while reducing the number of working-age people who can help to pay for and operate infrastructure. This places pressure on the

Uncertainty about whether the population in a region will grow or decline can create uncertainty about how to pay the ongoing operational and renewal costs of infrastructure. This raises the

• Managing the impacts of climate change can be more difficult. For example, public transport might not be viable in small towns, and coastal communities may struggle to fund infrastructure, like sea walls,

6.2.3. Strategic direction

Accessing safe and reliable infrastructure

Safe and reliable infrastructure is fundamental to wellbeing but can be difficult to fund.

We need access to safe roads, health services, reliable electricity, mobile phone and internet services, and clean water. This can be more challenging outside cities, particularly in our more remote areas. But without these services, economic and social opportunities are limited and people face disadvantage.

Existing funding sources like rates are often not enough to provide the quality of infrastructure needed in regional New Zealand. Private enterprise is also unlikely to meet all these needs. This is particularly the case in areas where few people live, where incomes are low and where communities are marginalised. Poor infrastructure affects regional businesses by, for example, reducing opportunities to improve productivity and innovation. In the case of telecommunications and internet access, poorer communities may also be unable to pay for devices and access. This worsens inequity and disadvantage for these communities. While infrastructure alone can't remove the underlying causes of disadvantage, it can reduce the impacts by improving access to jobs, education, health and social services. This might be through transport connections like roads and rail links, for example, or through better digital connections.

Infrastructure standards should enable affordable solutions for rural **New Zealanders.**

For some rural communities, high infrastructure quality and design standards can create problems and even threaten their access to essential services. For smaller communities, the cost of meeting these standards can be too high when shared among only a small number of people.

This is a particular challenge for water supply. Up to 100,000 New Zealanders get their drinking water from very small suppliers, such as wells that serve a few households.¹¹² Almost 1,000 schools, marae and community facilities supply their own water.¹¹³ Without help, these suppliers may not be able to afford to meet new drinking-water standards.¹¹⁴

To help in cases like these, infrastructure standards should allow on-site solutions or low-cost infrastructure designs to be used when they're more affordable for users. For example, electricity distributors are required to supply power to remote users. They can do this by paying for on-site generation like solar panels or generators if they are cheaper options.¹¹⁵

When the government sets standards that apply to local governments and self-service infrastructure, it should ensure that those standards don't pose too-high costs on small communities or those who would struggle to pay. This could be achieved by sharing services among several communities or through subsidies for communities that would otherwise struggle to pay.¹¹⁶

Low-cost infrastructure alternatives are important in the regions.

Digital technology through for example, the use of online services, can offer alternatives to the services people need from infrastructure. It can mean that instead of using transport connections for work or study, people can work remotely online. Other alternatives can be local, small-scale solutions that avoid the large upfront costs often associated with big, centralised infrastructure. Examples are off-grid water systems and satellite broadband services, provided they can meet minimum service quality standards at lower or comparable costs. In the health sector, there are opportunities to move service delivery closer to the regions using digital technology, which allows the use of small and repurposed buildings.

The rise of electric aviation is one development that has the potential to change the economic viability of commercial regional air services,¹¹⁷ while also contributing to our net-zero carbon emissions target. While there's some uncertainty about the use of electric aircraft for long-haul travel due to battery sizes,¹¹⁸ electric aircraft for small regional flights is imminent and may be cheaper than the alternatives. Airlines are already investing in electric planes.¹¹⁹ Preparing infrastructure and developing the skills to maintain and operate electric planes will become a priority for infrastructure providers, particularly airports.¹²⁰ There'll likely be a role for the government to review regulatory frameworks and standards and identify

other network implications. Many of these issues should be identified or informed by the Air Navigation System Review being undertaken by the Ministry of Transport. There are other technologies that could also impact inter-regional connectivity including electric vertical take-off and landing aircraft e-VTOL, smaller drones and unmanned aircraft that can transport low-volume, time-sensitive goods, and the automation of existing aircraft. The aviation system will need to prepare for these technology changes, with likely implications for regulation, investment and safety standards.

Managing population decline will become a more common challenge in some areas.

It's likely that New Zealand will increasingly have to manage areas where populations are in decline. Of New Zealand's 67 territorial authorities, 56 are expected to experience flat or declining growth at some point in the next 30 years (using the median projection).¹²¹ These projections come with considerable uncertainty, however. Only 23 territorial authorities are forecast to grow in the next 30 years, with a high degree of certainty.¹²²

With a falling number of infrastructure users, it will be challenging to continue funding operational costs, particularly where the fixed costs of operation are high. For infrastructure that's commercial, some services will gradually reduce or be replaced with lower-cost alternatives, as has occurred with bank closures and internet banking.¹²³ For non-commercial infrastructure, the transition may be more difficult. Local authorities will need to find ways to reduce or even decommission infrastructure to manage the financial burden of maintaining underutilised assets.

Improving population certainty can help guide infrastructure decision-making.

New Zealand's population is expected to grow significantly in the next three decades (see Figure 10). We have the potential to gain significantly from this growth. However, if growth isn't adequately planned for or anticipated, it can create infrastructure problems that erode the benefits of growth and undermine public acceptance of a growing population. Volatility in population growth might place pressure on absorptive capacity.

Predicting population growth comes with a high degree of uncertainty, however. Historically, median projections have been both far below and far above experienced populations (see Figure 19). Because infrastructure is long-lived and often requires long lead times to be provided, expectations of growth trajectories are important for delivering the right infrastructure, in the right places, at the right times. The uncertainty of demand through changing population trends can also impact investment decisions. This is because, for infrastructure providers, a population growing more slowly than anticipated creates financing risk and a place that reaches a smaller total population than expected creates funding risk.

A long-term and stable National Population Plan should focus on reducing the uncertainty of future demand for long-lived infrastructure services at the national level, while respecting individual choices on where to live and work. It can also provide direction for regional spatial and infrastructure planning and support policies that shape growth across New Zealand.

6

"The link between depopulation and funding pressures should not be underestimated. [...] [As population falls the economic base from which to draw revenue falls. [...] Once started, population decline is near impossible to reverse. Yet, there is no guidance and few clear success stories of local communities that have downsized their assets. It's not uncommon for elected officials to take the view that if a local authority assumes or starts planning for decline they'll make it happen."

- Taituarā, Local Government **Professionals Aotearoa**

Predictions of future population are uncertain

Figure 19: Historical population growth compared with historical population projections



Securing and integrating freight and supply chains and services

Reliable transport networks are critical for the regional economy.

The efficient movement of freight into, out of and around New Zealand is critical to the economy and our international competitiveness. Reliable transport networks, including road, rail, ports, airports and inland freight hubs, all support our freight sector and provide connections to markets within New Zealand and overseas (see Figure 20). They're especially important for our regions, which produce the bulk of the goods sold overseas. There's also a clear link between infrastructure investment in a region's transport connections and its prosperity.^{125,126,127} Quicker travel times enable markets to become more integrated. As this occurs, regions benefit from lower prices and a greater movement of people, goods and services.

By 2052, the volume of freight moved around New Zealand is expected to increase by almost 40% (from about 280 million tonnes in 2017 to 2018, to nearly 400 million tonnes by 2052 to 2053).¹²⁸ As volumes grow, the issues already faced by our freight system will increase and worsen. We'll need to invest more in our transport network and ensure it works more efficiently to manage these increased levels of freight.129

The freight sector faces a number of challenges.

There's a degree of fragmentation in the freight sector. Freight and logistics services are provided by the private sector in New Zealand.¹³⁰ Most of the transport infrastructure that supports these services is owned or managed by central or local government entities.¹³¹ Improvements in these ownership and governance structures may be possible,¹³² to reduce bottlenecks that would otherwise result in a slower pace of planning and investment.^{133,134} The government also controls other levers that can impact the freight system, such as regulation. This fragmentation needs to be overcome so that we can make the best use of our national supply chain.

Other challenges for our freight sector include the following.

- change, earthquakes and cyber-attacks.
- · Adapting to pressures associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, such as reduced international air freight capacity, increasing costs and changes to distribution and storage models.^{135,136}
- The need to keep up with international trends for much larger volumes of freight and increased efficiency.¹³⁷ These include the digitisation and automation of supply chains and the introduction of bigger ships.
- eco-friendly products).138
- storing freight and increase traffic congestion affecting freight movements.¹³⁹

New Zealand's regions are







6

· The resilience of our supply chains to shocks and stresses, such as the need to adapt to climate

· The need to reduce freight-sector carbon emissions to meet our net-zero carbon emissions target, as well as the need to adapt to evolving consumer preferences (such as for locally produced and

· The impacts of population growth on our freight system. This could reduce the availability of land for

Lyttelton Port, Christchurch (4)

PrimePort TImaru 🕔

Source: Te Waihanga, data from Waka Kotahi (2021), Ministry for Primary Industries (2021), Land Information New Zealand (2021), World Port Source (2021)
A national freight and supply chain strategy is needed to provide direction for the transport network.

Central and local government and the private sector need to work together to develop a strategy that can better coordinate planning across the entire transport network and prioritise investment. The National Freight and Supply Chain Strategy, which is currently led by the Ministry of Transport, should look at all transport modes (land, air and sea) and the whole network and focus on removing barriers to freight movements on important routes. The strategy also needs to address the challenges facing the freight network and provide for competition and choice for freight users. The strategy would feed into regional spatial planning and build on existing transport and freight-related strategies and planning, including the New Zealand Rail Plan,¹⁴⁰ the Waka Kotahi Arataki 10-year view¹⁴¹ and regional strategies like the Auckland freight plan and the Western Bay of Plenty Urban Form and Transport Initiative.^{142,143}

Regional spatial planning will support our international and domestic trade.

We need to plan ahead for the roads and other transport connections we'll need to move freight, as it can be hard to build these once other development has occurred. Protecting and purchasing land early can help keep costs down and safeguard an efficient future network. Regional spatial planning is a tool for ensuring that the infrastructure needs of the freight network are part of the decision-making about how the land is used. These plans can also ensure that planning for freight infrastructure is part of economic, social and environmental strategies, supports Māori partnership and is consistent with Te Tiriti o Waitangi.



Regional spatial planning

Regional spatial planning is long-term, strategic planning for how land will be used in a region.¹⁴⁴ It gives infrastructure and planning institutions the means to engage and collaborate with each other, mana whenua, the private sector and communities. Spatial planning brings together key public services, physical and non-physical, across a defined area to identify how to respond to long-term service-delivery needs. While spatial planning can occur at a national or local scale, it's usefully applied at the regional level. Sound governance arrangements are needed for it to succeed.

Spatial planning is an opportunity to rethink how we plan infrastructure and services to keep pace with future population and economic growth. It uses 'place' as a framework for integrating and aligning infrastructure service provision.¹⁴⁵ Achieving it requires infrastructure providers, land-use planners and other stakeholders to develop shared frameworks for how cities and regions should grow and change over time. Spatial planning should cover issues like how we'll open up opportunities for homes and businesses to be built, how we'll meet the needs of future residents with infrastructure networks and social infrastructure like schools, parks and hospitals and how we'll manage natural hazards and protect areas with environmental or cultural significance.

Good spatial planning allows for a range of futures over an extended timeframe, such as future with faster-than-expected growth that could result in a city's population doubling or tripling in the long-term.¹⁴⁶ It addresses housing supply and affordability, manages pressure on infrastructure and provides for future economic activity and export activity, as well as rural lifestyles, particularly in regional areas. Spatial plans should avoid prescriptive rules about where people will live and work, in favour of taking a long-term view to identify, develop and build agreement on significant region-shaping future projects.¹⁴⁷ A spatial plan does not sit in isolation. It requires a range of supporting planning documents that are consistent with the plan, including district plans and infrastructure funding plans.

History shows that identifying and protecting future infrastructure networks is a crucial part of regional spatial planning. For example, the 1811 Commissioners' plan for New York City set out the street grid for all of Manhattan at a time when only a small portion was inhabited. That street grid is still used today. Barcelona's Cerdà plan looked at how the city could expand beyond its medieval city walls,¹⁴⁸ while Copenhagen's 1947 Finger Plan¹⁴⁹ laid out future transport networks and regional parks that have accommodated significant growth. These plans have adapted well to economic and population changes, of which some couldn't have been anticipated when they were first developed.¹⁵⁰ For example, allowing for wide, straight roads made it easy to build subway systems in New York and Barcelona.

Spatial planning should use a depth of evidence and data to inform regional growth and provides opportunities to apply new smart-city technologies. It should be supported by good information on how much growth infrastructure networks can manage and options for upgrading them. Digital twins can be applied to spatial planning to bring real-time data on asset condition and usage into the planning process and establish consistent data standards across regional spatial plans to ensure comparability throughout New Zealand.

Using technology to improve regional advantage and adapt to rapid change

Digital connectivity can transform regional New Zealand.

The long-term trend of increases in internet speed and coverage, as well as the falling cost of digital connections, provides opportunities for New Zealand's regions.

Digital connectivity can transform the way infrastructure services are provided in regional New Zealand, particularly in rural areas, by closing the disadvantage caused by distance. For example, where people in remote areas might have previously needed roads to connect to work, cellphones and internet access are an increasingly good substitute for a broad range of jobs.

Digital connection is essential for a wide range of economic, social and cultural connections including work meetings, online banking, remote learning, virtual health consultations and applying for government services like passports and car registrations. Case Study 4 highlights the benefits of telehealth, which can improve access to health services if people have good digital connectivity.

Over time, digital connectivity will likely become ever more fundamental. The importance of connectivity was recognised internationally in 2016, when the United Nations General Assembly passed a nonbinding resolution declaring internet access as a human right.¹⁵¹ The satellite technology required for universal access is increasingly available, meaning the biggest challenge in the future will be the affordability of access.



Telehealth - reducing demand for physical healthcare infrastructure

Telehealth has the potential to reduce demand for physical healthcare infrastructure through the following services:

- · On-demand virtual urgent care: A direct alternative to emergency department visits.
- Virtual office visits: A direct alternative to general practitioner consults.
- · Virtual home health services: Services such as patient and care giver education, physical therapy, occupational therapy, and speech therapy can all be delivered remotely.
- Tech-enabled home medication administration: Where patients can receive some drugs from home.

Telehealth and healthcare services at a distance are demonstrated across the three following emerging technologies with proven application:

 Artificial intelligence can enhance the quality of healthcare services, such as through

keeping people well, detecting disease early. diagnosing illness and providing optimised treatment options.

- The Internet of Things can increase the availability of data related to the performance, impact and monitoring of medical devices, individual health and health infrastructure. Devices and sensors can be implanted or worn to measure health performance, trigger alerts and send reports to medical professionals when issues are detected.
- Augmented reality (AR) and virtual reality (VR) increase the ability to deliver healthcare services at a distance, such as by conducting clinical appointments remotely.

The importance of telehealth services became apparent during the COVID-19 lockdowns, when 17 district health boards collectively experienced a 100-fold increase in telehealth consultations, to 34,500 per week. There's evidence that some of these effects have been sustained.¹⁵²

"The lack of accessible, affordable high-speed digital connectivity in rural areas remains a significant issue. It is an impediment to business, but it goes well beyond this; it is a significant barrier to maintaining vibrant rural communities."

- Agribusiness Agenda 2021 153

A national digital strategy will provide a pathway for quality digital access for all **New Zealanders.**

However, better technology comes at a cost and it's not always economically feasible for private providers to roll it out to parts of regional New Zealand without government support. Despite 86% of New Zealanders being connected to digital services, broadband quality varies across regional New Zealand (see Figure 21) and there are still significant gaps within rural communities.

Options for shared ownership of infrastructure (as illustrated in Case Study 5) and new technologies like broadband via satellite networks, may help to bridge

the gap.^{154,155} However, a national digital strategy is required, that sets out a path for universal access to quality digital services in areas where people live and work, and addresses issues of inequity and disadvantage. This is fundamental for the wider infrastructure system.

Shared ownership of cell phone towers in rural New Zealand

It can be challenging to provide telecommunication services to less populated rural areas because there may not be enough customers to pay for the required infrastructure. In response to this, a shared ownership model for rural cell phone towers has been used to increase network coverage in regional New Zealand.

STUDY 5

CASE

Crown Infrastructure Partners contracted the Rural Infrastructure Group, a joint venture between Spark, Vodafone and 2degrees, to provide essential network infrastructure. The three telecommunication firms were incentivised to work together in delivering new rural broadband and mobile services in 20 rural locations in New Zealand. The new sites provide high-speed

Broadband quality is variable across New Zealand

Figure 21: Underserved broadband end users by quality

6

- wireless broadband access to 1,600 rural homes, which makes significant headway in bridging the digital divide for rural New Zealand. The initiative was funded by the government's Rural Broadband Initiative phase two and Mobile Black Spots Fund programmes.
- These arrangements have removed barriers to market entry and industry collaboration and encouraged greater commercial competition. This has improved the affordability and availability of telecommunication services in rural areas and enabled more people to access digital services, with a greater number of people working, learning and running their own businesses from their rural homes.¹⁵⁶



Te Waihanga New Zealand Infrastructure Commission

6.2.4. Recommendations

No. What		How	Who
8	Improve efficiency and	In developing a long-term National Freight and Supply Chain Strategy, the government should:	Ministry of Transport (MoT)
	security of freight and the	a. Include airports, ports, road, rail and coastal shipping.	
	national supply	b. Ensure it is integrated, resilient and multi-modal.	
	chain FSE, NFD, NLR,	 Identify infrastructure needs and options to improve efficiency, sustainability and security. 	
	NSC © 2022-2026	 d. Assess the appropriateness of regulatory and market structures. 	
		e. Recommend reforms and investments that will enable the more efficient movement of freight, provide freight users with competition and choice.	
		 Build national freight and supply chain data capabilities for capturing and sharing data securely to improve efficiency. 	
		g. Investigate the development of a National Location Registry, where attribute information about physical pickup and delivery locations is digitally stored and accessible to authorised users, leveraging the recent experience of Australia. The registry should be sensitive to confidential information and privacy concerns.	
9	Reduce barriers to and costs of providing infrastructure services	In developing a National Digital Strategy, the government should:	Department of Internal Affairs (DIA), MBIE
		 a. Prepare New Zealand for realising the full benefits of a connected digital society and establishing regions where 21st century talent wants to live 	(011), 11012
	D PTC	b Fix digital black-spot areas and ensure universal access to	
	() 2022-2026	digital services and skills that remove the limitations of physical distance from major markets nationally and internationally.	
		 Leverage changing social and economic patterns arising from COVID-19 and rising urban house prices to support the development of regional areas. 	
		 Identify and set out a plan to resolve key telecommunication system resiliency issues. 	
		e. Identify options to improve trust in digital services and address digital privacy concerns.	
		Review standard infrastructure requirements for affordability across regions and infrastructure sectors. Broaden requirements to allow for on-site solutions and other low-cost design when similar service levels are possible.	
G R	efer to Section 10	() Time	

	No.	What	How
	10	Reduce	Establish a National Popula
		population uncertainties for infrastructure	a. Presents a likely population and identifies requisite su
		demand,	b. Provides direction for reg
		delivery	c. Identifies supporting polic
		🕞 AIP, GFI	and minimising the costs
		<u>()</u> 2027-2031	Regularly review and publis population projection accur
			Require local governments providers to test significant investment plans against hi
	11	Prepare for zero-emissions commercial	Prepare existing airport infr commercial electric flights a opportunities. Measures wi
		and unmanned aircraft	a. Develop the requisite trai for the maintenance of ele
		G EAF	 b. Prepare power and charge capabilities.
		() 2022-2041	c. Develop a network of cha airports so that alternative disruptions.
			d. Coordinate charging stan aircraft can utilise chargin
			e. Investigate export-ready maintenance training.
			f. Upgrade the aviation syst to cater for greater use of

		Wh	10	
lation Plan that:		Pro	oductivity	
ation pathway ove supporting polici	er the next 50 years es.	Commission, Stats NZ, MBIE		
egional spatial pla				
blicies required fo its of a larger pop ts of growth.	or New Zealand to oulation, while managing			
lish best-practic curacy.	e advice to improve			
ts and other pub nt infrastructure high, medium ar	lic infrastructure projects and nd low projections.			
frastructure for zero-emissions MoT, Civil and leverage wider export Aviation vill need to: Authority,			oT, Civil iation thority,	
raining for existin electric aircraft.	lines			
rging infrastructure networks and				
harging stations across New Zealand ives are available, in the case of service				
andards to ensure that a wide variety of Jing equipment.				
y applications, such as pilot and				
ystem and existin of unmanned air	g airport infrastructure craft.			
	Refer to Section 10		🕓 Time	



6.3 Building attractive and inclusive cities

Te hanga tāone ātaahua, whakakotahi hoki

New Zealand's cities are growing. Our infrastructure and planning policies make them attractive and inclusive places in which to live, work and play.

There are many ways to define a city. For this strategy, we use it to mean areas that are big enough to face 'urban' challenges like peak-time traffic congestion. In New Zealand, these places range in size from Queenstown to Auckland. Different places in and around cities may face different infrastructure challenges.

Today, 56% of the world's population lives in cities, a proportion that will increase to 68% by 2050.¹⁵⁷ People are attracted to cities by the many work, social and cultural opportunities they offer. In bringing people together, they are also centres of innovation and economic opportunity. The 300 largest cities in the world now account for nearly half of all global economic output.¹⁵⁸

For more than a century, most New Zealanders have lived in towns and cities.¹⁵⁹ In 2018, New Zealand's five largest cities and their satellite towns accounted for 64% of the population.¹⁶⁰ More than two-thirds of all population growth to 2050 is expected on just the 3% of the land that contains our cities.¹⁶¹

However, our cities face some major challenges. They can be congested, crowded, unaffordable and polluted. Addressing these challenges can unlock the potential of our cities so they can use less energy, provide higher wages and have greater productivity. It can even result in better health, greater social connection and improved community wellbeing for their residents.¹⁶² To leverage our cities for the benefit of all New Zealanders, we need world-class infrastructure that builds on the competitiveness of our cities, safeguards inclusivity, enables access and mobility, promotes the affordability of housing and ensures New Zealand has a place on the global stage.

Our cities need to be attractive and inclusive places in which to live.

- Attractive cities succeed in attracting migrants and retaining New Zealanders because they offer affordable housing, good access to jobs and education and good quality of life.
- · Inclusive cities offer opportunities for all, regardless of income, age, ethnicity, gender, disability status and other personal characteristics.

6.3.1 Context

76

Housing and land prices are high by international standards.

Auckland is now one of the world's most severely unaffordable cities, with a median house price that's 10 times the median household income.¹⁶³ All large and mid-sized New Zealand cities have median house prices well over five times the median household income. Since 2000, average house prices have guadrupled in Auckland and tripled in other large, fast-growing cities, including Christchurch, Wellington, Hamilton and Tauranga. Average rents have more than doubled in these cities.¹⁶⁴ Wages haven't kept up and New Zealanders now spend more and more of their incomes on housing.¹⁶⁵ There's also a housing shortage. This is affecting many New Zealanders, particularly Maori and Pacific peoples, who are less likely than others to own homes. The housing shortage also means that the most disadvantaged in our society are more likely than others to live in damp or mouldy homes, experience overcrowding and have poor health and wellbeing as a result.166,167,168

Many issues are holding us back from building new housing.¹⁶⁹ These include planning policies that limit the height and number of homes that can be built in some areas, insufficient water and transport infrastructure to support new homes, and difficulties gaining resource consent for new housing. Other barriers include inefficient building consent processes, challenges to accessing development finance, a building industry that can't keep up with demand and at present, hold-ups in the supply of building materials. Planning constraints are estimated to have increased land prices on the edges of our cities by over \$200,000 per section in Auckland and Queenstown and between \$90,000 and \$140,000 in Wellington, Tauranga, Hamilton and Christchurch.¹⁷⁰ The impacts are even higher in inner-city areas, where councils have historically set strict limits on development.¹⁷¹

Poorly performing infrastructure affects our economy and our quality of life.

The infrastructure problems in our cities can affect all of us. As a key contributor to delays in freight and business travel, road congestion in Auckland is estimated to be having direct and indirect impacts that are equivalent to 0.5% to 0.9% of the city's GDP.¹⁷² These are on top of the problems it's creating for the people who lose personal time while sitting in traffic and the stress this causes.¹⁷³ As the population of our cities increases, so will the pressure on road networks.

When infrastructure fails or performs poorly, it's often the disadvantaged who feel it most acutely since they have fewer options. Those with resources easily find alternatives. When energy networks are disrupted or water quality is compromised, they can afford off-grid alternatives like solar power and rainwater-collection systems. When congestion worsens, they can afford to live in inner-city locations. These options aren't available to people on lower incomes who can't afford to pay for alternatives. Infrastructure is also often poorly designed for people with disabilities.¹⁷⁴

Historically, the way we planned and built infrastructure also had impacts for Māori.¹⁷⁵ An example is the Ōrākei wastewater scheme, constructed in Auckland in 1914, which disposed of untreated sewage from Auckland's growing suburbs into the Waitematā Harbour.¹⁷⁶ Sewage outflows contaminated shellfish beds belonging to local iwi, Ngāti Whātua, which had unsuccessfully opposed the scheme.¹⁷⁷ The completion of the Mangere wastewater treatment plant in 1960 allowed the Ōrākei outflow to be closed, but still caused pollution in Manukau Harbour.

What's different about Auckland?

As it's New Zealand's largest city, Auckland's performance affects all of us.

- larger Australian cities.¹⁷⁸
- workers elsewhere in the country.¹⁷⁹
- the past.¹⁸⁰

Auckland also faces some significant challenges.

- increasing pressure on house prices elsewhere in New Zealand.¹⁸¹
- · Auckland has significant infrastructure issues, including traffic congestion, that make it infrastructure needed to keep up with the city's growth.

· Auckland is critical to attracting and retaining migrants and businesses, as it's the only New Zealand city that's big enough and has the international connections to compete with

Auckland's firms and workers contribute more to the economy than similar firms and

 Auckland pays as much or even more in taxes than it receives from the government. This is because it's received less government spending, per person, than most other regions in

• House prices and rents are extremely high and this is eroding the advantages of living in Auckland, encouraging professionals, skilled workers and others to move to Australia and

more difficult for people to access jobs and education.¹⁸² It's also expensive to fund the

6.3.2 What we've heard

"Our cities can't keep up with growth" was ranked as the sixth most important infrastructure issue facing New Zealand by respondents to the Aotearoa 2050 survey. During our consultation, we also received submissions in favour of:

- · Changes to urban planning rules.
- · Improvements to transport infrastructure in our cities.
- Congestion pricing (provided options or alternatives were available so that those on lower incomes would not be made worse off).
- · Lead corridor protection for infrastructure, which is where areas of land are protected from development so that they can be used for the infrastructure we know we'll need in the future.

Both the consultation and the Aotearoa 2050 survey revealed support for low-carbon transport options. Many submitters also supported telecommunications improvements.

The government currently has a number of reform programmes underway that will affect infrastructure in our cities. These include resource management reform, Three Waters Reform and the Review into the Future of Local Government. Some submitters expressed reservations about aspects of these programmes and asked for Te Waihanga to take a clear position.

We also heard support for addressing issues around housing supply and affordability and the need to consider housing, employment, water and transport in infrastructure planning.

6.3.3. Strategic direction

Taking a long-term approach to our infrastructure

We need long-term protection for future infrastructure networks as our cities grow.

By 2050, up to 4.8 million people will live in or near New Zealand's five largest cities.¹⁸³ To meet this growth, we need to plan for infrastructure networks before they're needed. Otherwise, it may be difficult, if not impossible, to provide them later. This increases the likelihood of future problems such as traffic congestion and a lack of good public transport options.

The preparation for future infrastructure should look at all the types of infrastructure and transport that will be needed. It should consider:

- · The potential for rapid transit networks in existing and future urban areas, even if they may not be needed in the near future.
- · How land can be adapted if needs change. For example, land that's protected for a long-term rapid transit corridor could either be used for a busway or rail line, or converted to other uses.
- · Designing street networks so they provide for current and future needs. For instance, street grids that distribute traffic across many routes may be better in the long-term than street layouts that feed all traffic into a small number of major roads.¹⁸⁴

It sometimes makes sense to invest in new infrastructure ahead of housing and commercial development in growing areas. However, this can be costly and financially risky. An alternative option is to identify, protect and acquire corridors of land and sites for future infrastructure. This ensures that land is available to provide infrastructure in the future, while also allowing for flexibility in how and when that infrastructure will be developed.

We need to remove unnecessary barriers to protecting land for future infrastructure. Resource management reform should make it possible to allow for flexibility in how infrastructure corridors can be used in future. The reform should also enable corridors to be designated well in advance of urban growth. Current legislation typically only provides protection for five years at a time, which drives up costs.

In addition, the Public Works Act 1991 requires infrastructure providers to buy land as soon as it's designated if the owner would experience hardship from the designation. The alternative is to lift the designation. A dedicated fund for buying corridors of land for future infrastructure needs, supported by a strong set of principles on how it can be used, is needed to make advance property purchases.¹⁸⁵

Integrating land-use regulation and infrastructure

Coordinated regional spatial planning will ease the pressure on infrastructure and housing as our cities grow.

Regional spatial planning is long-term, strategic planning for how land will be used in a region (see "Regional spatial planning" in Section 6.2). It requires infrastructure providers, land-use planners and other stakeholders to develop a shared framework for accommodating future population and economic growth while managing the impacts of growth on infrastructure and the environment. A good regional spatial plan should allow for alternative futures, such as population growth that's faster than expected, rather than tightly constraining growth.¹⁸⁶ It should be supported by good information on how much growth infrastructure networks can manage and options for upgrading them. It should also identify opportunities to optimise government landholdings, noting that there are already some existing initiatives in this space.¹⁸⁷ This will help to address housing supply and affordability and manage pressure on infrastructure.

Standardising the planning rulebook will provide greater integration between landuse planning and the provision of infrastructure.

The recent National Policy Statement on Urban Development requires councils in our largest cities to provide for housing growth, both 'up' through apartments and high-rise buildings in inner-city areas and around rapid transit stations and 'out' through new homes at the outskirts of cities.¹⁸⁸ This will enable more homes to be built throughout urban areas. There's a need to monitor progress and strengthen policy directions for resource and building consenting if required. One opportunity is the mandatory use of independent hearing panels to review plans for fast-growing cities.

There's also a need to use resource management reform to standardise some planning rules across councils, so developers have greater certainty and clarity. While the recent Medium Density Residential Standards have introduced some consistency, people seeking to build similar housing, business, or infrastructure developments in different council areas often face complex and varying rules.¹⁸⁹ Standardisation should focus on residential and business zoning or rules about transport and utilities where there are strong benefits to be gained from a consistent approach, rather than issues where local differences may be more important, such as water regulation. Each council should still have the chance to decide on the areas that are to be used for homes and those that are more suitable for business use.¹⁹⁰

Coordination between local governments is needed in growing urban areas.

An increasing number of people are living in one council area and commuting to work in another, as shown in Figure 22. For instance, the share of workers commuting across council boundaries in the Hamilton, Waikato and Waipā districts more than doubled between 2001 and 2018. There's an increasing need to coordinate transport infrastructure and public transport service planning between councils to ensure that cross-border journeys work well.¹⁹¹ Urban planning also needs to be coordinated to ensure that housing can be developed in the right places. Case Study 6 discusses some potential benefits of better coordination between local governments in growing urban areas. There's a need to review the boundaries and responsibilities of local governments to ensure these benefits are achieved.

6

Benefits of local government coordination in growing urban areas

The growth of our cities and changes in how people live, work and travel are placing increasing pressure on local government structures that were established over 30 years ago. There is a need for:

- Coordinated planning for transport infrastructure and public transport services across council boundaries so that travel across boundaries is seamless and bus routes (provided by regional councils) are supported with the right local road infrastructure (provided by territorial authorities).
- Coordinated urban planning policies across council boundaries to ensure that planning rules are consistent throughout the city and housing can be developed in the right places.
- Councils with the right capabilities and capacity to deliver regionally significant projects and the right incentives to collaborate to optimise the use of shared resources and infrastructure assets.

To illustrate why coordination is increasingly important, Figure 22 shows that the share of people commuting across council boundaries has risen significantly in New Zealand's five largest cities as they've expanded. As these trends continue, cities will become larger and more integrated across council boundaries in the future.

The number of commuting trips across local government boundaries has increased substantially

Figure 22: Share of all commuting trips that cross local government boundaries 2001 to 2018



Source: Adapted from Sense Partners (2021)

There are multiple ways to improve coordination and service provision. Realignment of council boundaries and roles may be beneficial in some instances, but it should not be seen as a 'one-size-fits-all' solution. The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) found that a reduction in the number of local government bodies is associated with faster growth in regional GDP per capita in urban areas,

but not in rural areas.¹⁹² This is most likely to reflect better coordination and service provision. The same relationship is observed in New Zealand.¹⁹³ Notably, Auckland, where local government was amalgamated in 2010, is the only region in New Zealand where per capita GDP growth was faster in the 2010s than in the 2000s.

Easing pressure on our infrastructure networks

Congestion pricing is the best way to improve access and mobility in New Zealand cities, but it needs to be fair for everyone.

A well-functioning urban transport system should enable mobility and access to jobs, education and other opportunities, ensure that people are safe while travelling and contribute to reducing carbon emissions. Different approaches are needed to achieve better outcomes in these areas.

In the past, transport agencies worldwide have attempted to reduce peak-hour traffic congestion by building or widening roads. This hasn't worked. Rather than improving travel times, it's tended to encourage more people to drive, causing more congestion and carbon emissions.¹⁹⁴ These effects can be seen on some of our recently widened urban motorways where journeys are still slow and unreliable.

Congestion pricing and road tolling have been proven to increase access and mobility by reducing excessive traffic congestion. They should be considered in cities where this is currently a problem or is likely to become one. Congestion pricing in Auckland is expected to reduce congestion at peak times by 8 to 12%, generating significant social and economic benefits.¹⁹⁵ The experience of congestion charging in the Swedish city of Stockholm highlights some of the potential benefits (see Case Study 7).

Congestion charging can also contribute to reducing carbon emissions.

Congestion pricing can be an effective way to incentivise residents towards low-carbon transport alternatives, by raising the cost of using a private vehicle relative to public transport and active modes. One recent study found that some congestion pricing schemes have had a significant impact, accounting for emission reductions of more than 10%.¹⁹⁶



How Stockholm implemented congestion charging

When it trialled congestion charging in 2006, the Stockholm urban area had nearly 2 million residents. Approximately 320,000 people were employed in the inner city and more than 210,000 commuted from outside the inner city.¹⁹⁷ Car users faced significant delays while crossing congested bridges into the inner city during peak hours.

A congestion charging scheme that charged all traffic entering the inner city was trialled from January to June 2006. The trial was considered a success and most Stockholm City residents voted in favour of making it permanent in a public referendum held that year. As a result, the charge was made permanent in 2007.

ш

ົ

V

6

Public support for congestion charges grew from 54% at the time of the referendum to 70% in 2011.198

Congestion charging has significantly improved the performance of Stockholm's transport network. Traffic volumes on its roads have dropped by 20%, as fewer people made unnecessary car trips and car and bus travel speeds improved.

The money collected through the scheme was used to fund the equivalent of NZD\$15 billion of transport projects in the city. These included a significant expansion of bus services to cope with the increased demand for public transport. This helped ensure fairness and reduced any impacts on low-income users. No discounts were offered as it was assumed that Sweden's comprehensive welfare system would help those on low incomes to manage the costs.¹⁹⁹

More public and active transport will give people alternatives to paying a congestion charge.

Improvements to infrastructure for public transport, walking, micro-mobility (such as e-scooters) and cycling need to be made when congestion charges are introduced, if these options aren't already available. This will increase the effectiveness and public acceptance of congestion charging, because it will give people alternatives to driving and reduce the charging levels needed to ease congestion.^{200,201} Increasing the availability of public transport and active transport options will also contribute to reducing carbon emissions from transport.

Complementing congestion charging with a more flexible zoning policy will also allow for more housing choice inside the congestion-charge zone and provide a further option to avoid the charge. In some cases, subsidies may also be needed for those on lower incomes, people with disabilities and others who face significant barriers to paying the charge.

By shifting travel demands, congestion charging will change the way we invest in our transport infrastructure. It could mean that in the short term, we can choose not to widen roads that no longer have issues with traffic congestion and instead increase public transport capacity to cater for increased demand. However, in the long-term, even with congestion charging, there'll be a need to increase road and public-transport capacity to provide for rising travel demands. The results we see from congestion charging should inform decision-making on when and where to build new transport infrastructure.

Better designed developments can ease pressure on the road network.

There's limited space for creating new roads or public transport routes in areas that have already been developed. Where possible, new development should be planned and designed so that it reduces demand on our roads (see Case Study 8). This can be achieved with transit-oriented development (TOD), which increases housing development near train and other rapid transit stations and mixed-use development. This is development where homes, commercial buildings and shops are co-located in an area and people don't need to drive between these places.^{202,203}

Better coordination between central and local government and private sector organisations is needed to deliver an effective TOD. Both developers and infrastructure providers will need to plan carefully and implement consistently to make these changes work.²⁰⁴ Providing streets that make it easy and safe for people to walk from home to the transit station will encourage them to live near transit stations and use public transport. The amount of on-site parking that's supplied with new development can affect people's decisions on how many cars to own and how to travel.^{205,206}

Transport and land use integration at the City Rail Link's Mount Eden Station

Auckland's City Rail Link is described as "Auckland's most transformational place-shaping project" because it will make major changes to the way people live and travel in the city.²⁰⁷ It w double the number of Aucklanders who live with 30 minutes travel of the central city, especially in West Auckland.²⁰⁸ This will encourage the development of more homes near rail stations.

STUDY

CASE

There's an opportunity for significant redevelopment in a 112-hectare area around the new Mount Eden station, which will be only a six minute ride from the city centre.^{209,210} City Rail Link Limited owns 3.2 hectares of land close to the station, of which most will be available for development once the station has been built (see Figure 23).

Even without the City Rail Link, Mount Eden is an area that is attractive to property developers. However, it's important to make sure that infrastructure, planning rules and development work together to get the best results. For instance, insufficient water infrastructure and rule protecting views or preventing the demolition of

Figure 23: Existing aspiration is a fraction

Panel A: Net population growth projects



Source: Adapted from City Rail Link (2020)

Note: The project precinct unconstrained scenario relates to the project catchment area and excludes areas within the station catchment but outside the City Rail Link project area. The full catchment scenario includes a wider assessment of the area that will benefit from the new stations. The baseline in Panel A represents the level of growth assumed in the land use model. Projected demand in each scenario is calculated using the empirical city-wide relationship between land values and density, incorporating the additional value of the City Rail Link. Planning rules were assumed to be fully enabling of demand.

6

older buildings could limit the number of homes

that could be built. One study estimated that the

6

.9	demand for housing in the project eres was E to
ill	12 times higher than the amount of development
in	space that could be supplied without changing planning rules. ²¹¹ Unless planning rules are made more flexible and enabling of higher density housing, there is the possibility that the development could result in greater housing unaffordability in the future.
	Lessons from the Mount Eden precinct development should inform development around other transit stations. There is a need to:
	 Establish outcomes, expectations and mandates as early as possible.
	 Ensure there's an agreed understanding of how transit infrastructure, homes and other development can be designed to work together. Provide a planning framework that allows for flexibility and change.
es	Better coordinate the funding and delivery of infrastructure.
ofe	estimated demand in station catchment
5	Panel B: Project area map
Jncor Full ca	nstrained atchment
. /	

Te Waihanga New Zealand Infrastructure Commission

Remote working may reduce the load on city roads over time.

Improvements in technology have made remote working easier and more attractive. The potential for more people to work from home was seen during the COVID-19 lockdowns, although remote working is not available for everyone. During New Zealand's Alert Level 3 and 4 lockdowns in 2020, 42% of employed people worked from home at least part of the time and many organisations adopted remote-working tools and developed flexible working policies.²¹² This trend should be monitored, as remote working may have significant impacts on urban transport networks. Some of these impacts could be positive for instance, if remote working reduces peak-hour congestion, while others may be negative, for instance, if reduced public transport use results in the need to increase fares or reduce service frequencies.

Good incentives are needed to provide quality water infrastructure at an affordable cost.

The cost of maintaining existing water infrastructure and building new water networks to cope with growth is a challenge for growing cities.²¹³ A lack of water infrastructure can put a handbrake on housing development.

Water-sector reforms offer opportunities to improve the way we provide water infrastructure in growing cities. Reforms can improve the ability of water providers to respond to the need to renew ageing infrastructure, improve water quality and provide for growth.²¹⁴ Performance-based economic regulation, which requires high-quality service for both existing and new users and sets incentives for providing services at an affordable cost, is important to achieving this. This approach is already used in sectors like telecommunication and electricity distribution.²¹⁵

To improve responsiveness to new housing development, there's a need to unlock the ability of water providers to:

- Borrow to finance new infrastructure.
- · Set prices for access to and use of water networks that allow the cost of infrastructure upgrades to be paid back over time.²¹⁶

There's also a need to recognise the role that private developers may play in providing water infrastructure, such as through the use of the Infrastructure Funding and Financing Act 2020 or through agreements that allow developers to benefit from providing spare capacity that can be shared with other users.

Water and wastewater metering and water conservation can reduce water use and wastage.

We need to improve water conservation and management to reduce the need for costly drinking water, wastewater and stormwater infrastructure. This can be done by creating incentives for users and providers to conserve water, such as through volumetric charging for water and wastewater, using metering to identify leaks, removing regulations that make it hard to take steps to save water such as rainwater collection, and ensuring that consumer standards support water conservation.

Volumetric charging can reduce the amount of water that's wasted. After water meters were introduced, daily water use declined by 25% on the Kapiti Coast and 30% in Tauranga during peak periods.²¹⁷ Volumetric charging may need to be accompanied by targeted assistance for low-income households and disadvantaged users.

Better water pricing should also happen alongside other measures that make it easy for people to save water. Rainwater harvesting and buffer tanks for stormwater and wastewater flows can increase the share of water that's captured and used on-site and reduce the amount of water needed from the network.²¹⁸ However, there are barriers to adopting these solutions, such as resource and building consent requirements for rainwater tanks.²¹⁹ These barriers should be reviewed and reduced wherever possible.

6.3.4. Recommendations

12 Improve water infrastructure pricing and provision in cities The water, wastewater and stormwater sector should be reformed, including by: DIA, Local Government (or New Wate reformed, including by: () WSA, LFF, MHT () Ensuring that there's a clear link between the cost of providing water services and the principles in Section 7.2 Ensuring that there's a clear link between the cost of providing water services and the principles in Section 7.2 Ensuring that there's a clear link between water service entities and developer-financed water infrastructure provided under the Infrastructure for growth, as well as funding asset renewals and improvements in water quality. Ensuring that developers can benefit appropriately from the provision of infrastructure and the spare capacity. E. 13 Reduce pressure on water management and conservation Steps that should be taken to reduce pressure on water infrastructure and decisions on water conservation, such as conservation such as to install rainwater harvesting tanks. Local Government (or New Wate performance of appliances. 14 Realign local government and planning outcomes conditation of ky infrastructure and planning outcomes coordination of ky infrastructure and planning decisions. The realignment of boundaries to anable the coordination of ky infrastructure and planning outcomes DIA, Review infrastructure and planning and urban growth patterns. 13 Reduce pressure on water and conservation, such as conservation and conservation conservation such as to install rainwater harvesting tanks. DIA, Review infrastructure and planning decisions. The realignment of bou	No.	What	How	Who
 e. Ensuring that developers can benefit appropriately from the provision of infrastructure that has spare capacity. f. Developing cost-benefit analysis guidelines to standardise evaluation decisions on water infrastructure against social, environmental and economic benefits. 13 Reduce pressure on water infrastructure include: a. Using planning rulebooks to encourage on-site solutions. For example, building coverage could be increased in exchange for installation of on-site stormwater-management devices. a. Using planning rulebooks to encourage on-site solutions. For example, building coverage could be increased in exchange for installation of on-site stormwater conservation, such as conservation frastructure and performance standards that improve the water performance of appliances. 14 Realign local government boundaries, where appropriate, local government of boundaries should be given to better align borders with functional labour-market boundaries, or anable the coordination of key infrastructure and planning decisions. The realignment of boundaries should be guided by: a. The alignment of borders with wider urban labour markets, commuting and urban growth patterns. b. The costs and benefits of integrating regional planning and infrastructure provision. c. An integration of infrastructure planning, ownership and operation to enable the efficient provision of infrastructure. 	12	Improve water infrastructure pricing and provision in cities WSA, LFF, MHT (\$ 2022-2031	 The water, wastewater and stormwater sector should be reformed, including by: a. Implementing performance-based economic regulation and water quality regulation to ensure that water providers are incentivised to drive efficiency and deliver excellent customer service. b. Ensuring that there's a clear link between the cost of providing water services and the prices that are charged to users, following the principles in Section 7.2 c. Allowing entities to use their balance sheet capacity to finance infrastructure for growth, as well as funding asset renewals and improvements in water quality. d. Clarifying the interface between water service entities and developer-financed water infrastructure provided under the Infrastructure Funding and Financing Act 2020. 	DIA, Local Government (or New Water Entities), MBIE (or Economic Regulator)
 Reduce pressure on water infrastructure infrastructure include: a. Using planning rulebooks to encourage on-site solutions. For example, building coverage could be increased in exchange for installation of on-site stormwater-management devices. b. Removing regulatory barriers to water conservation, such as consent requirements to install rainwater harvesting tanks. c. Setting performance standards that improve the water performance of appliances. Where appropriate, to improve coordination of infrastructure and planning outcomes c. The alignment of borders with wider urban labour markets, commuting and urban growth patterns. b. The costs and benefits of integrating regional planning and infrastructure provision. c. An integration of infrastructure. 			 e. Ensuring that developers can benefit appropriately from the provision of infrastructure that has spare capacity. f. Developing cost-benefit analysis guidelines to standardise evaluation decisions on water infrastructure against social, environmental and economic benefits. 	
GIW c. Setting performance standards that improve the water performance of appliances. 14 Realign local government boundaries, where appropriate, to improve coordination of infrastructure and planning outcomes Where appropriate, local government boundaries should be redrawn to better align borders with functional labour-market boundaries to enable the coordination of key infrastructure and planning decisions. The realignment of boundaries should be guided by: DIA, Review into the Future for LMA Image: LMA C. An integration of infrastructure planning, ownership and operation to enable the efficient provision of infrastructure. DIA, Review into the Future for LMA	13	Reduce pressure on water infrastructure through better water management and conservation	 Steps that should be taken to reduce pressure on water infrastructure include: a. Using planning rulebooks to encourage on-site solutions. For example, building coverage could be increased in exchange for installation of on-site stormwater-management devices. b. Removing regulatory barriers to water conservation, such as consent requirements to install rainwater harvesting tanks. 	Local Government (or New Water Entities), MfE, MBIE, DIA, Taumata Arowai
 Realign local government boundaries, where appropriate, local government obundaries should be redrawn to better align borders with functional labour-market boundaries, where appropriate, to improve coordination of infrastructure and planning outcomes The alignment of borders with wider urban labour markets, commuting and urban growth patterns. The costs and benefits of integrating regional planning and infrastructure provision. An integration of infrastructure planning, ownership and operation to enable the efficient provision of infrastructure. 		GIW	 Setting performance standards that improve the water performance of appliances. 	
and planning outcomes b. The costs and benefits of integrating regional planning and infrastructure provision. LMA c. An integration of infrastructure planning, ownership and operation to enable the efficient provision of infrastructure.		Realign local V government r boundaries, b where p appropriate, p to improve coordination of infrastructure and planning outcomes b	 Where appropriate, local government boundaries should be redrawn to better align borders with functional labour-market boundaries to enable the coordination of key infrastructure and planning decisions. The realignment of boundaries should be guided by: a. The alignment of borders with wider urban labour markets, commuting and urban growth patterns. 	DIA, Review into the Future for Local Government
 LMA c. An integration of infrastructure planning, ownership and operation to enable the efficient provision of infrastructure. 			 b. The costs and benefits of integrating regional planning and infrastructure provision. 	
operation to enable the efficient provision of infrastructure.		LMA	c. An integration of infrastructure planning, ownership and	
 d. The alignment of funding streams with the infrastructure funding and financing principles outlined in Section 7.2. e. A consideration of mechanisms for local voices to continue to 		S 2027-2031	operation to enable the efficient provision of infrastructure.d. The alignment of funding streams with the infrastructure funding and financing principles outlined in Section 7.2.e. A consideration of mechanisms for local voices to continue to	
inform decision-making.			inform decision-making.	

No.	What	How	Who
15	Increase the supply and use	Transport network planning and funding entities should:	MoT, Waka Kotahi NZ
	of low-emissions transport modes	 Improve the quality, speed and reliability of public transport to major employment centres. 	Transport Agency
	D TCQ, ITN, INH	b. Improve active transport infrastructure, starting with low- cost solutions such as improving pedestrian crossings and	(Waka Kotahi), MfE, Local
	() 2022-2041	reallocating existing road space to provide safe cycling facilities.	Government
		c. Reduce barriers to the cost-effective implementation of low- emissions transport modes and streamline costly resource management and local government consultation processes.	
		d. Increase certainty of funding to enable low-emissions transport modes to scale up efficiently.	
		 Ensure all options considered for investments are subject to appropriate cost-benefit analyses. 	
16	Reduce costs by optimising	Enable the planning and protection of infrastructure corridors in advance of growth through the following steps:	MfE and Treasury,
	infrastructure corridors	a. Develop a lead infrastructure policy and supporting guidance that provides a clear definition of lead infrastructure. The policy	supported by Te Waihanga and
	BUP, CPR, ATA, ITA	should include evaluation techniques for decision-making.	Infrastructure Providers
	b 2022-2031	 b. Amend resource management legislation to extend the duration of designations to 30 years and allow designations 	
		to be granted based on concept plans. Statutory tests for designations should be based on an established evaluation methodology.	
		c. Establish a corridor reservation fund with a secure funding source that can be used for early corridor-protection activities, such as buying designated or identified sites in advance.	
17	Optimise the use	Review central and local government land holdings to identify	Central
		and relocations of major public facilities.	Local
	<u>()</u> 2032-2041		Government
18	Improve the	Standardise the planning policies of regional and district plans.	MfE, Ministry
	efficiency and consistency of urban planning by standardising planning rulebooks	I his should:	of Housing and Urban
		a. Establish hallonal uniform definitions for land use policy.	Development
		standardises rules, with local authorities required to adopt these rules with limited variations.	Government
	🕞 RAN, BUP, JUL	c. Make consistent provision for papakāinga housing on Māori	
	() 2022-2026	and and other forms of community housing.	
		combined plans.	
R	efer to Section 10	() Time	

	No.	What	How		
	19	Improve the delivery of transit-oriented development (TOD)	Undertake post-implemer oriented development (TC should:		
			a. Reflect international bes actual performance agai		
		☐ TSS	benefits.		
		<u>()</u> 2022-2026	b. Recommend changes to effectiveness of TOD de		
	20	Improve the efficiency and outcomes of	Resource management ref regional spatial plans that:		
		infrastructure through spatial planning	 b. Include mechanisms for government infrastructur 		
		BUP, RAN	c. Provide for cities to doub		
			alternative scenarios for than providing only for a		
			d. Identify future infrastruct transport networks and o		
	21	Reduce congestion and improve urban mobility TCQ, LGW, LFF (\$ 2022-2031	Implement congestion prices		
			 a. Implementing recomming Question" report²²⁰ fo implementation as applementation 		
			public transport arrange		
			b. Immediately removing le congestion charging and in the Land Transport Ma untolled routes.		
			c. Progressing planning for Wellington and other citi		
			d. By 2025, identifying othe pricing may be beneficia		
			e. Assigning responsibility appropriate independen		
	22	Target transport investment to areas of highest need using signals from congestion pricing	Share and use data and sig identify where future multi needed.		
		🕞 LFF, TCQ, LGW			
		() 2032-2050			

		Who)
ntation reviews o OD) opportunitie	of recent transit- s. These reviews	Mo1 Kota Kāir	^r , Waka ahi, MHUD, nga Ora
est practice, be inc ainst appraisal, co	dependent and assess ost schedule and		
to practices and p elivery.	olicies to increase the		
eforms should ind t:	clude requirements for	MfE	, MHUD
to district plans a	nd funding plans.		
r participation by ure suppliers and	relevant central Māori.		
uble or triple in po or the spatial distri a single growth s	ppulation and provide bution of growth, rather cenario.		
cture requirement I other major infra	ts, including future structure.		
icing and road to	lling in urban centres	Mo1 Kota	T, Waka ahi, Local
endations in the " congestion charg ropriate, consider ements.	The Congestion jing in Auckland. Stage ing current and future	Gov	ernment
legislative barrier nd road tolling, su flanagement Act 2	s to implementing ch as requirements 2003 for alternative		
or congestion pric ities as appropriat	ing schemes for e.		
her urban areas v ial.	vhere congestion		
y for setting and a ent institution.	djusting prices to an		
signals from cong ti-modal transpo	estion pricing to rt investment is	Wak Kota Gov	ka ahi, Local vernment
	Refer to Section 10		🕓 Time

No.	What	How	Who
23	Increase housing development opportunities in areas with good access to infrastructure BUP, RAN	Improve development opportunities in areas already well served by infrastructure by:	Local Government,
		 Accelerating the implementation of the National Policy Statement on Urban Development and monitoring compliance, including requirements to upzone around rapid-transit and employment centres. 	MfE, MHUD
		b. Enabling greater urban development, including requirements	
	() 2022-2031	for minimum levels of mixed-use zoning and upzoning.	
		 Prioritising provision of human necessities, such as housing, over preservation of subjective preferences (e.g. heritage, character and amenity). 	
		d. Using national direction to set binding targets for increased housing and business capacity commensurate with future growth expectations, guided by land prices in high-demand areas.	
		Adopting independent hearings panels to review district plan changes.	
24	Improve spatial planning through better information on infrastructure capacity and costs to service growth CBD, WCB	Improve information on the infrastructure cost implications of different growth possibilities by:	MHUD, Te Waihanga,
		a. Developing, validating and publishing a spatial model of the long-run average infrastructure costs of servicing growth in different locations, to inform issues like regional spatial planning, local government development contributions policies and the alignment of development-capacity increases with infrastructure capacity and low-cost opportunities for development. This model should cover all relevant types of public infrastructure.	Infrastructure Providers
	() 2022-2031	 Requiring water entities to publish geo-spatial information on water asset condition, capacity for growth in existing water networks and capacity for growth due to planned network upgrades. 	
		c. Developing a common approach to measuring the condition and capacity of water infrastructure assets.	
GREFER TO Section 10		() Time	



6.4 Strengthening resilience to shocks and stresses Te whakapakari i te manahau i ngā oho me ngā pēhanga

New Zealand faces a range of shocks and stresses. Our infrastructure is resilient in the face of these.

New Zealand is vulnerable to a wide range of shocks and stresses. These range from natural hazards such as earthquakes, tsunamis, floods and pandemics, to manmade threats such as terrorism and cyber-attacks. While we can't predict everything the future will bring, we do know that there's a high risk of some of these occurring. There's a very high likelihood of a catastrophic earthquake from the Alpine Fault in the next 50 years. We're going to experience rising sea levels and more frequent floods and droughts as the climate changes. Cyber threats will become more widespread as digital technologies and the internet become increasingly embedded into the fabric of our society.

We might not be able to prevent these shocks, but we can do more to prepare for them. This can be challenging as our infrastructure is more complex than ever, and many parts of it are dependent on others. For this reason, we'll need to take a coordinated and collaborative approach in our efforts to prepare for and respond to the risks we face. This will help us to maintain or improve the capacity of our infrastructure to absorb and bounce back from shocks and stresses. Actively building resilience into our infrastructure is an important part of the legacy we will leave for future generations of New Zealanders.

6.4.1. Context

Our infrastructure is vulnerable to hazards.

New Zealand sits on the boundary of two active tectonic plates and is at risk of natural disasters like earthquakes, landslides, volcanic activity and tsunamis. Earthquakes are frequent and widespread, as shown in Figure 24. There's a 75% chance of an Alpine Fault earthquake of magnitude 8, or greater, occurring in the next 50 years.²²¹

Climate change also poses significant risks to New Zealand's infrastructure. It's increasing the number of storms and floods, as well as the risk of inundation due to sea-level rise.

New Zealand's geography, with its remote regions and hilly terrain, makes it harder to ensure that infrastructure networks, like roads and power lines, are resilient to shocks and stresses. Adding to the challenge is the way infrastructure services rely on each other. It means that the impacts of a disaster on one service can affect those on another. There are some technologies, such as

6

National State Highway network and observed shallow earthquakes from 2010 to 2020

Figure 24: Earthquakes are a widespread challenge for infrastructure²²²

Source: Adapted from Geonet (2021)

solar panels and battery storage, that don't always rely on a network and can help to provide buffers for shocks, but for the most part infrastructure networks are highly interdependent.

Manmade threats, such as cyber-attacks, are growing in prevalence and sophistication as infrastructure becomes more connected and reliant on technology. A high proportion of our economy now relies on our telecommunications infrastructure, and the majority of our internet capacity is delivered through three critical sub-sea cables.

Shocks and stresses can harm people, property and the economy.

Natural disasters, severe weather events and manmade threats can cause deaths and displace people from their homes. They can also damage properties and have indirect impacts in reducing economic activity. The cost of disasters has risen in the past 30 years, as shown in Figure 25, in part because our towns and cities have increased in size and complexity. Damage to infrastructure and buildings imposes huge public and private costs. In 2013 the Treasury estimated that the damage caused by the Canterbury earthquakes cost over \$40 billion, the equivalent of 20% of GDP.223 New Zealand has recently been ranked second globally for natural disaster costs as a proportion of GDP.²²⁴

Major disasters can result in large losses, and the prevalence is increasing

Figure 25: Total insured losses due to natural disasters from 1980 to 2020



Source: Te Waihanga, data from Insurance Council of New Zealand (2021)²²⁵

There can also be spillover effects. Over time employers can choose to shift away from areas affected by disasters and wider supply chains can be severely disrupted. Modelling by the Wellington Lifelines Group found that if there were no investment in making the region's infrastructure more resilient, a magnitude 7.5 earthquake on the Wellington Fault would create a \$16 billion drain on the economy, excluding recovery costs and building damage.²²⁶

Our insurance system, including Earthquake Commission cover, has historically provided a buffer against many of the financial impacts of shocks and stresses. However, insurance markets are evolving and we are seeing a reduction in domestic competition, rising premiums and excess charges, and an increasing scrutiny of risk by reinsurers that is affecting asset owners.²²⁷ The increased risk of extreme weather events and sea-level rise also mean that our infrastructure assets will become more difficult to insure at a reasonable cost, creating operating-cost pressures for asset owners.²²⁸ These factors are leading public sector infrastructure owners to assess their insurance options strategically, with options including self-insurance and insuring specific assets only. They will require more accurate resilience data to help support these assessments.^{229,230}

The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted our ability to deliver infrastructure and provide services. It's also affected the way we use services provided by infrastructure, in particular transport and telecommunications. On top of this, it's directly disrupted infrastructure construction and the movement of goods that support our economy, including the infrastructure industry.

"The ability of infrastructure systems to function during adverse conditions and quickly recover to acceptable levels of service after an event is fundamental to the wellbeing of communities."232

6.2.4. What we've heard

"Our key infrastructure is vulnerable to natural disasters" was rated as 'very important' by 52% of respondents in the Aotearoa 2050 survey of infrastructure issues. During consultation, submitters told us they felt it was important that New Zealand develop a common definition of and framework for critical infrastructure and then use them to identify this infrastructure.

A number of South Island councils highlighted the significant earthquake risk posed by the Alpine Fault. Some submitters also felt that resilience should be discussed in terms of 'all hazards', not only earthquakes and natural disasters. Some also noted the importance of planning effectively and not encouraging development or intensification in areas and suburbs with high natural-hazard risks, such as flood plains, active faults, volcanic fields, coastal hazard zones and land susceptible to instability.

Submitters identified the need to align government work on resilience such as the proposed National Adaptation Plan with the work of the New Zealand Lifelines Council and the Earthquake Commission, to ensure consistency. It was also considered important to align planning for and the development of new infrastructure (including services to support new housing) with appropriate hazard risk assessments:

"Given the scale, importance and life expectancy of critical infrastructure, there is prudent need to take a 100 year planning horizon and be built to a standard that can withstand natural hazard and climate change impacts." - Greater Wellington Regional Council

6

The National Disaster Management Strategy defines resilience as:

"The ability to anticipate and resist the effects of a disruptive event, minimise adverse impacts, respond effectively post-event, maintain or recover functionality, and adapt in a way that allows for learning and thriving."231

- A recent Australian study found that the indirect and intangible costs of natural disasters were more than double the reported costs of these events.²³³ Vulnerable and isolated communities are often disproportionately hard hit by disasters and shocks.
- To help minimise the impacts on and disruption to our communities and our economy, New Zealand's infrastructure and the systems and people that support it need to be resilient to a wide range of shocks and stresses, known and unknown.

Some believed more weight should be given to cyber risk and security.

"Ransomware and cyber-attacks on systems are reminders that any digital system needs to be secure. The sector is slow to adopt technology and is dominated by SMEs, the nature of their projects do not need them to engage with new technology. However there is increasing recognition that digital technologies can help run smart businesses."

– Construction Sector Accord

6.4.3. Strategic direction

A coordinated approach to our critical infrastructure is essential

New Zealand has developed an all-hazards approach to risk management.

New Zealanders rely on critical infrastructure to lead safe, secure and fulfilling lives. For this reason our infrastructure systems must be resilient to a range of hazards and risks, both natural (such as earthquakes) and manmade (such as cyber-attacks and terrorism).

New Zealand's infrastructure owners have primary responsibility for managing risks to their operations, including national security risks. This responsibility is complemented in some sectors by regulatory requirements, with each regime's requirements tailored to reflect its unique market structure, ownership structure and risks.234

New Zealand's approach to infrastructure hazard readiness and response is set-out in the Civil Defence and Emergency Management Act 2002.²³⁵ This Act:

- Sets out the requirements for and responsibilities of providers of lifeline infrastructure services, such as water and electricity, in central government, local government and the private sector.
- · Identifies 'lifeline utilities' as providers of critical infrastructure services, sets out the requirements for the coordinated preparedness and continuity of these lifeline services in the event of an emergency, and includes information-disclosure requirements.
- Requires the preparation of a National Disaster Resilience Strategy and National Civil Defence Emergency Management Plan, which cascade into coordinated local plans.

The Civil Defence and Emergency Management Act requires lifeline utilities to 'function to the fullest possible extent' following an emergency. Infrastructure asset owners and operators have invested to support this objective. An example is the work of the New Zealand Lifelines Council and regional Lifelines Groups, which are building, with government support, awareness of the investment needed in coordinated resilience before and after an event.

Other risks that affect infrastructure resilience are being managed across sectors. For example:

- · Risks posed by overseas investment (for example, risks of economic coercion and data theft) are managed by the Overseas Investment Act 2005.
- · Infrastructure owners and operators are supported in managing cyber and other national security risks by Government agencies, including the intelligence community, who provide guidance (such as the New Zealand Information Security Manual²³⁶), expertise and specialist technical capabilities.
- · Climate change risks and responses are being considered through the development of a National Adaptation Plan.

We have a skilled and dedicated risk management workforce in the private sector and at all levels of government, supported by engineers, academic researchers and community volunteers. This means we generally respond quickly and effectively to natural disasters. Fatalities and injuries as a result of disasters and shocks are low. This provides a solid foundation to build on.

We need to define and identify our critical infrastructure.

International best practice is to define and identify the critical infrastructure, systems and supply chains that are essential to support life, the functioning of communities and our economy. The resilience of those assets and systems then needs to be appropriately planned for and managed. This ensures that the parties involved in planning for disruptions and managing risk have a common language and are coordinated. It also means that the parties that manage infrastructure are able to plan for the services they can provide in the event of shocks and stresses.

The OECD recommends developing a shared understanding among government and critical infrastructure owners and operators of the 'optimal' level of resilience against all hazards and risks.²³⁷ A shift towards framing objectives around desired resilience instead of individual owners' risk tolerance and appetites, will provide a connected and consistent national picture of hazard-risk management and lead to more consistent decisions over time.

The following steps should be taken to help further ensure our infrastructure system is resilient:

- making and the prioritisation of investments.
- face and making choices about how best to manage those risks.
- sectors. This reflects the interdependencies of infrastructure networks.

These changes are required to clarify expectations of the resilience of our critical infrastructure and the roles and resourcing of the different parties involved in delivering a resilient infrastructure system.

A best practice approach is needed to manage cyber security threats.

The nature and scale of the cyber security risks facing infrastructure are growing. The National Cyber Security Centre recorded 352 cyber incidents between 2019 and 2020, of which 83% were detected before serious harm occurred.²³⁸ Our regulatory system is being outpaced by new technologies that are changing what's traditionally thought of as 'infrastructure' (such as cloud storage) and the risks facing it (such as the infiltration and/or compromise of those data sets).

The increasing complexity of and connectivity and co-dependency between different types of infrastructure (such as information technology systems for remotely managing water and electricity networks) also come with cyber security risks. For example, if the information technology system is compromised by a cyber-attack, this may affect the ability to deliver water or electricity. As the use of these technologies continues to grow, the risk associated with cyber-attacks is also growing.

New Zealand should adopt a best practice approach to cyber security, with clear standards for critical infrastructure assets to ensure they're protected and resilient. The management of cyber security risks needs to be a component of the Digital Strategy for Aotearoa (as discussed in Section 7.4). This could be strengthened to ensure owners of critical infrastructure put the right measures in place to protect against cyber risks to information and operational technology.

Security of supply for essential infrastructure materials must be included in risk management planning.

As a geographically isolated country that's reliant on imports, New Zealand needs stable and resilient networks for moving the goods and services required to construct, maintain and operate infrastructure. 6

Define and identify critical infrastructure: A principles-based definition of critical infrastructure should be developed to align with international best practice. Once developed, this definition should be adopted across policy and legislation to ensure a coordinated and consistent treatment of critical infrastructure. The government should set criteria for what is and isn't critical to support decision-

Identification of minimum service levels: The requirements for identifying minimum service levels for critical infrastructure in the event of an emergency should be clarified and strengthened. These should include requirements for infrastructure providers to disclose information about preparedness and service level expectations. The proactive disclosure of this information will help support transparency. This will help government, individuals and organisations to understand the risks they

Coordinated approach to managing risk: A sustained increase in resourcing is needed to ensure a coordinated approach to managing risk across our critical infrastructure. Lead government agencies need clearer roles for the coordination of resilience activities within and across critical infrastructure

Currently, 90% of our construction products are either imported or contain imported products that can't be easily sourced within New Zealand.²³⁹ COVID-19 has shown that our international supply chains can respond to shocks, but ongoing disruption still has impacts, with prices increasing and some goods, skills and services becoming hard to obtain.

We rely on either imports or a small number of local manufacturers for many products we need for building new infrastructure (such as steel reinforcing and cement²⁴⁰), as well as the goods and services we require to maintain and operate existing infrastructure (for example, fuels and lubricants, skilled operators and technicians, silicon chips and other technologies). Limits on our ability to access any of these critical inputs, whether arising from natural disasters, supply chain constraints or intentional acts, would have significant negative implications for the safety and security of all New Zealanders. We need a secure supply of essential materials and services so we can continue to build, renew and maintain our infrastructure and recover from any significant disaster. This should form an important part of risk management planning.

A planned approach to adapting to climate change

A National Adaptation Plan will provide a coordinated national approach to managing climate change risk.

The significance and severity of the impacts of climate change will become more evident over time. Our climate is getting warmer, rainfall patterns are changing, weather events are getting more extreme and sea levels are rising.²⁴¹ Climate change will increase many of the extreme weather and flood risks already faced by our infrastructure. For example, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's Sixth Assessment Report forecasts that extreme sea-level events that previously occurred once in 100 years could happen every year by the end of this century.²⁴²

The 2020 National Climate Change Risk Assessment identified 43 priority climate risks to New Zealand including risks to buildings, drinking water quality and supply, physical and mental health, indigenous and coastal ecosystems, the economy, the financial system, governments, social cohesion and community wellbeing.

Meeting the challenges of climate change for both existing and new infrastructure assets will be a significant task. For example, a 2019 study estimated that local government infrastructure to the estimated value of up to \$8 billion is at risk from 1.5 metres of sea level rise.²⁴³

In response, the government is developing a National Adaptation Plan for climate change.²⁴⁴ This will set out the work needed to prepare New Zealand for the challenges of a changing climate, including the actions we need to take to ensure our infrastructure and the systems that support it are resilient.

The National Adaptation Plan as proposed contains a number of objectives for infrastructure.

These proposed objectives are as follows:

- Reduce the vulnerability of exposed assets: Understand where infrastructure, and the services it provides, are exposed and vulnerable to the impacts of climate change. The priority will be to manage risks that affect services.
- Ensure all new infrastructure is fit for the future climate: Consider long-term climate impacts when making infrastructure design and investment decisions so that the right infrastructure is built in the right places. Options for adapting to climate change should be understood and financed as part of the business case.
- Use renewal programmes to improve our ability to adapt: Consider the future climate when maintaining, upgrading, repairing and replacing existing infrastructure. The process for managing infrastructure should include reviewing resilience, improving the ability to adapt and planning for how services will be provided into the future.

The National Adaptation Plan is a coordinated, national approach to managing climate change risk and progress will be monitored by the Climate Change Commission.

Making information and tools that support resilience available and accessible

Access to the best available information on hazards and threats helps in assessing risk.

Giving the government, organisations and individuals information about hazards and threats can help them to make good decisions on insurance, location and design options when they're planning infrastructure.²⁴⁵ For individuals, it can help them to plan what they'd do if a disaster meant they wouldn't have services like water or power, and it can also be useful when buying and building property. For organisations, it can help them to plan on how to operate during a disaster and inform asset management. For central and local government, using the best available hazard information (for instance, see Figure 26) and tools when developing regional spatial plans and planning documents and making other infrastructure investment decisions will help them to reduce the risk of harm and the costs of poor investment.

Sea levels are rising

Figure 26: Satellite sea-level observations, change in sea level from 1993 to 2021



Mātauranga Māori is a valuable source of information for risk management planning.

"Mātauranga Māori – Māori knowledge systems and practices hold a key to climate change response. Mātauranga Māori is community-based and collective knowledge that offers valuable insights that complement Western scientific data with chronological and landscape specific precision and detail. This is critical to verifying climate models and evaluating change scenarios. Māori knowledge systems and practice provide a strong foundation for community-based adaption and mitigation actions. Mana whenua have been able to observe and interpret change through the environment within Tāmaki Makaurau over many generations."247 – Auckland Council.

Natural disasters like earthquakes, volcanic activity and major floods occur infrequently but have large impacts when they happen. For instance, a major Alpine Fault rupture occurs every 300 years on average, with the last significant guake occurring in 1717, prior to European settlement of New Zealand.²⁴⁸ Research on how people rebuild after natural disasters shows that awareness of natural hazards can fade within three generations or fewer.²⁴⁹ In this context, traditional knowledge, such as matauranga Maori can play a role in identifying hazards that occur infrequently. Case Study 9 highlights how information about natural hazards can be preserved and used over time to protect people and infrastructure.

Using traditional knowledge to preserve information about natural hazards

Japan's tsunami stones

Japan has a long history of earthquakes and tsunamis due to its position on the Pacific 'Ring of Fire'. Its coastline is dotted with stone tablets that record the extent of previous tsunami damage. Some tsunami stones are over 600 years old.

A tsunami stone in Aneyoshi, a small coastal village, provides a straightforward warning:



1933 tsunami stone, Aneyoshi Village, Japan.

"Remember the calamity of the great tsunamis. Do not build any homes below this point."²⁵⁰ It was erected after a previous tsunami destroyed the village. Because the village didn't rebuild below the level, Aneyoshi was left unharmed by the 2011 Great East Japan Earthquake, which caused extensive damage along the Japanese coast.²⁵¹

Matatā township flooding

The Matatā area in the Bay of Plenty is home to a major reserve with native birdlife, the Awatarariki and Waitepuru Streams, and a small township. Local pūrākau (myth/legend) warned that a taniwha resided there that had a long, sinuous body, and that it went down to the Bay of Plenty and cautioned those who wanted to live there to "beware of the taniwha's flicking tail".

In 2005, as predicted by the pūrākau, the taniwha vigorously flicked its tail. The resulting flood and landslide from the Awatarariki and Waitepuru Streams inundated Matatā township, triggering a managed retreat from the locality. Dozens of buildings were rendered uninhabitable but none of the three marae in Matatā were affected.²⁵² In February 2021, the Bay of Plenty Regional Council and Whakatāne District Council approved a plan change to end human habitation in locations affected by the 2005 flood and landslide.

A coordinated approach to information collection and management is needed.

We need a coordinated approach to the long-term upkeep of research, data sets and tools that are useful for resilience planning and preparation. This information needs to be readily available for use by planners and decision-makers.²⁵³ It should also include a consideration of mātauranga Māori. As a rule, the information should be useful, useable and used.²⁵⁴

The research community, including universities, Crown Research Institutes and others, also contribute strongly to increasing the knowledge base for infrastructure resilience. Further coordination and information-sharing between government, industry and academia would strengthen the links between scientific research and decisions on infrastructure policy and delivery.

There are multiple examples of research, data sets and tools that have been developed and could continue to support planning and decision-making processes that lead to more resilient outcomes, a better understanding and management of risks and lower costs in the long-term. The data sets and tools include:

- The National Seismic Hazard Model.²⁵⁵
- Tools that aid planning, such as the National Forward Works Viewer.²⁵⁶
- Tools that support risk and economic impact assessment of hazards, such as the Measuring the Economics of Resilient Infrastructure Tool.²⁵⁷

Information disclosure and data availability should be driven by a requirement to disclose information relating to infrastructure service levels, as set out above, and encourage active communication of this information to infrastructure planners and users.

6.4.4. Recommendations

No.	What	How	Who
25	Increase the resilience	To increase the resilience of critical infrastructure the government should:	National Emergency
	of critical infrastructure	 Develop a principles-based definition of critical infrastructure. 	Management Agency (NEMA), Department of
	🕞 HGI, BRN, DIV	b. Apply the definition of critical infrastructure consistently	Prime Minister
	<u>()</u> 2022-2026	across the policy and legislative framework for resilience.	and Cabinet (DPMC).
		c. Develop the criteria to set infrastructure criticality levels and then identify New Zealand's critical infrastructure.	Treasury
		 Clarify and strengthen requirements to identify minimum service levels for critical infrastructure in the event of an emergency. 	
		 Adequately resource lead resilience agencies to carry out the functions required to support the delivery of critical infrastructure, on a consistent and long-term basis. 	
26	Improve infrastructure	To make better information available to support risk management steps should be taken to:	NEMA, DPMC, LINZ, Central
	risk management by making better information	 Require regular disclosures of information about critical infrastructure preparedness and minimum service levels in an emergency. 	Government
	available PRA, RSN	Resource the maintenance, upkeep and availability of research, information, data-sets and tools to support design making that eachles resiling a support	
	() 2022-2026	decision-making that enables resilience outcomes.	
27	Prepare infrastructure for the impacts of climate change	To adapt to climate change, actions should be taken to:	MfE, Te
		a. Finalise and adopt the infrastructure actions set out in the National Adaptation Plan.	Waihanga, Climate Change Commission
	CAT	b. Support the provision of accessible, consistent and robust information on regional and local climate change impacts	
	() 2022-2031	across the whole country.	
28	Support the security of supply of essential materials, goods and services to build, operate and maintain infrastructure	To increase the resilience of supply of essential materials, steps should be taken to:	MBIE, Ministry for Primary
		a. Incorporate into all risk-management planning for critical infrastructure a consideration of the security of supply of materials and goods required for the construction, operation and maintenance of infrastructure (including aggregate, bitumen, cement, concrete, steel and processed timber) and other essential goods and services.	Industries, Central Government, Local Government
	PRS	b. Require that regional councils, in conjunction with territorial	
	() 2022-2050	long-term planning processes and protect sites suitable for aggregate extraction, including through zoning.	
		Refer to Section 10	() Time

STUDY

CASE



6.5 Moving to a circular economy

Te whakawhiti ki tētahi ōhanga porowhita

The environment comes under pressure from human settlement. Our infrastructure supports efforts to reduce waste and improve our environment.

New Zealand produces a lot of waste. We send too much waste to landfill and lack the facilities to recycle much of what we consume. More importantly, we're yet to truly embrace the culture of reducing and designing waste out of our society. This takes bold action.

Infrastructure will play an important role. We need to make different choices about how we provide and manage waste and recycling. We have an opportunity to minimise waste and recycle materials as part of the planning for and construction of infrastructure. Projects can be designed and procured to minimise construction waste and reuse materials at the end of a facility's life. Waste can also be recycled in useful ways. For instance tyres can be burned to make cement, used plastic can be converted to asphalt for roads, and waste can be used to make energy. With some ingenuity, investment in the right infrastructure and a commitment to more sustainable living, we can dare to aspire to a zero-waste future.

6.5.1. Context

New Zealand has a waste problem.

New Zealand is among the top waste producing nations in the OECD.²⁵⁸ Annually, we throw away around 3.2 tonnes of waste each.²⁵⁹ We also have the lowest rate of recycling or reuse of waste materials, with only 35% of our waste recycled or reused.²⁶⁰ The rest is sent to landfill, impacting our environment and, as it breaks down, creating greenhouse gases. Waste is the cause of 4.6% of New Zealand's gross greenhouse gas emissions.²⁶¹

Waste from construction and demolition is the largest source of waste in New Zealand, accounting for 50% of all landfill waste.²⁶² Businesses and industry are responsible for 24%, while kerbside waste collection and other waste sources in our towns and cities create 12% of landfill waste.²⁶³ Our farms and other rural sources account for 10%. Unless we make major changes, our growing population, as well as growing incomes, will only increase the number of things we consume and throw away.²⁶⁴

All this waste requires infrastructure like landfills, transfer stations and recycling centres. Reducing the amount of waste we create can also reduce the number of these facilities that we need to build.

A circular economy can reduce the impacts of waste.

A circular economy is one where waste materials are reused, recycled or not used in the first place, so they never get thrown away. It relies on three principles:

- Design out waste and pollution.
- Keep products and materials in use.
- · Regenerate natural systems (such as estuaries and forests where natural materials break down and contribute to plant or animal growth).

Moving to a more sustainable waste system can also create jobs and economic opportunities. It's estimated that every 10,000 tonnes of waste that are recycled require 9.2 full -time employees, compared to 2.8 for managing the same amount of waste sent to landfill.²⁶⁵ There are also jobs involved in sorting and transferring materials and transforming them into new products and in processing in New Zealand instead of sending them offshore.²⁶⁶

He tirohanga Māori i te ōhanga āmiomio: Māori views on the circular economy.

Maori have a holistic understanding of our environment and see it as an interconnected whole. Maori express a connection with the environment through kaitiakitanga. This respect for natural resources is demonstrated by maintaining their value for as long as possible before they reach the end of their lives, at which point they're disposed of in a way that causes the least harm to the environment. In this way,

Maori views on waste and recycling precede the concept of a circular economy (ohanga amiomio) but similarly acknowledge the mauri (life force) of natural resources.²⁶⁷

6.5.2. What we've heard

There was strong support for reducing waste among "Waste management and respondents to the Aotearoa 2050 survey. "Our lack recycling is very poor in NZ. of recycling means we create too much waste" was We need to be able to recycle ranked as the second most important infrastructure issue, with two out of three respondents rating it as our own." 'very important'. 85% of people said that reducing waste was the best way for New Zealand to prepare for the 2050 survey. impacts of climate change. Through both the survey and our consultation process, we learnt that many people felt that a strategic direction for waste infrastructure was needed. Submitters on our consultation document wrote that New Zealand lacked infrastructure for recycling and waste management and this was particularly bad for certain waste products and locations. A strategic approach was seen as important to lift performance and reduce costs.

We also heard that:

- There was a lack of infrastructure to deal with organic waste, other than landfills.
- waste in New Zealand.
- illegal dumping.

6.5.3. Strategic direction

Setting a national direction for waste

A waste strategy will provide direction and help standardise services.

New Zealand introduced the Waste Minimisation Act in 2008 and the New Zealand Waste Strategy in 2010 with the aim of reducing and managing waste. Both rely on local governments to develop and implement their own waste-management policies. Implementation and outcomes vary considerably, but the overall trend has been toward increased waste. Between 2010 and 2018, municipal waste per capita increased by 35% in New Zealand, compared with an average increase of only 3% in all OECD countries.²⁶⁸

A National Waste Strategy that sets out a path towards a circular economy would help to align these varied approaches to waste management and make it clear where councils and others should be investing in waste infrastructure. The development of a waste strategy is on the government work programme, as is reform of the waste sector. A clear governance structure for moving towards a circular economy, with a minister and lead agency responsible for assessing and implementing actions, would be an important first step.²⁷⁰ Central coordination would provide best-practice guidance on how to support a circular economy as part of the pathway to our net-zero carbon emissions target. Supporting legislation and regulation may also be needed for a shared, New Zealand-wide approach.

6

- Respondent to the Aotearoa

· The potential for waste-to-energy needed to be considered objectively as a way of dealing with

Relying on the waste disposal levy alone, without alternative ways of dealing with waste, would not reduce the quantity of waste going to landfill and could even lead to worse outcomes like

> "Jurisdictions with high performing recycling and resource recovery systems, such as Wales, Germany, South Korea and South Australia. indicate the foundation of success is an overarching policy framework for waste, recycling and resource recovery. It includes long-term commitments and multiple interventions across the material value cycle. Policies, planning and performance monitoring need to be appropriately funded, adapted over time and supported by targets that incentivise performance." Infrastructure Victoria²⁶⁹

A waste strategy should include:

- Direction on improving the infrastructure for recycling and processing organic material.
- · Strengthening markets for recycled materials.
- · Removing barriers to reducing waste.
- Improving planning for any waste infrastructure that's still needed.

It could also help standardise some services, such as kerbside collections and container-return schemes. This could be further strengthened by setting a target of zero-waste to landfill by 2050.

Good decision-making requires good data.

A lack of data makes it hard to make good decisions about recycling and waste infrastructure and services. Currently, there's limited publicly available and comparable data on how much waste New Zealanders produce, how it's disposed of and how much waste and recycling infrastructure capacity we have. This is a blind spot that limits our ability to create policy, plan and invest.

In 2013, waste industry group WasteMINZ was granted funding to develop a National Waste Data Framework in partnership with local government. The framework was completed in 2015 but has not been fully implemented.²⁷¹ Funding and resources are needed to put the framework into place and to identify types of waste that New Zealand could be recycling, as well as opportunities for reducing waste.

Managing pressure on landfill and waste recovery facilities

A circular economy requires a new approach to waste infrastructure.

Figure 27 shows the ideal waste-management hierarchy, where reducing waste takes priority over methods like recycling and landfill that still need infrastructure. A movement towards a circular economy will prioritise redesigning waste out of production and developing more ways for reusing what would otherwise be waste.

Achieving this requires a different approach to waste infrastructure. It means reducing our reliance on waste-disposal infrastructure and instead increasing the need for infrastructure that can help with reusing or recycling waste materials. For any waste where recycling or reuse isn't possible, a clear direction will be needed on waste-to-energy, a process where waste is burned to generate electricity.

Options to reduce waste should be considered before options that require infrastructure

Figure 27: Waste management hierarchy



Source: Te Waihanga, adapted from Waste Minimisation Act (2008) and Auckland Council (2018)

Developing ways to minimise waste: redesign, reduce and reuse.

The best way to reduce the need for waste infrastructure is to prevent waste entering the market in the first place. Encouraging waste-reducing behaviour among consumers, like repairing broken items or buying reusable items, is one way of achieving this.²⁷² Another option is to regulate to reduce waste at the source, for instance by introducing product-stewardship schemes for hard-to-recycle plastics and electric batteries, or preventing the sale of products that are difficult to recycle.²⁷³

Changing the way we pay to encourage recycling and waste reduction.

The way we charge to send waste to landfill can encourage people to reduce waste.²⁷⁴ General taxation methods like rates don't create enough incentives to reduce waste. More targeted prices can be effective, as has been proven overseas. When the United Kingdom increased the cost of disposing waste at landfill, it saw a major decrease in the amount of waste going to landfill (see Figure 28). New Zealand is currently increasing its waste-disposal levy and it will eventually be \$60 per tonne, but further increases, at a minimum to adjust for inflation, should be considered over time.^{275,276}

Waste disposal levy increases can help manage demand and contribute to social objectives

2016



Source: Tax Working Group (2019)²⁷⁷

Resource recovery infrastructure is needed for priority materials.

New Zealand lacks the infrastructure we need to recycle or recover many materials. There's a need to improve infrastructure for collecting and processing recyclable materials and organic waste. This infrastructure would keep more waste out of landfills and reduce the emissions caused when waste breaks down.²⁷⁸ The cost of investing in recycling and organic waste infrastructure is estimated to be between \$2.1 billion and \$2.6 billion, along with an additional \$0.9 billion in operational funding over the next 10 years.²⁷⁹

There are barriers to improving waste recovery. For instance, it can be difficult to access recycling services, especially when there are long distances between the areas where the waste is created, where it is recycled and the markets where the recycled material is sold. This can make recycling infrastructure more economical in cities and large towns than in small towns and rural New Zealand.

To work well, recycling and organic collection needs to be simple, easy and consistent. Currently, there are large variations across New Zealand in how we recycle. While all New Zealand councils

6

Figure 28: United Kingdom waste tax rate (per tonne) and tonnes of waste landfilled 1996 to

offer recycling services, 10 councils either have drop-off only services or privately provided kerbside recycling services. There is no standardisation of recycling collection methodology in New Zealand. Councils determine what is collected, how clean the waste must be and what materials are collected together.²⁸⁰ A simple and consistent sorting and collection system would improve our rate of recycling and the quality of the recycled materials we produce. This is important for the market value of recycled materials.²⁸¹ In Auckland, 12% of household recycling is contaminated with food or other waste, which makes recycling infrastructure less economical to build and operate.²⁸²

Recycled materials can be part of our infrastructure.

We can use more recycled materials within New Zealand and one opportunity is in the construction of infrastructure itself. As Case Study 10 illustrates, recovered materials can be used in infrastructure construction and maintenance. Increased local demand would encourage people to invest in recycling infrastructure here, instead of sending waste overseas to be recycled where it could be vulnerable to changing prices and import bans. Doing this would require government and waste-service providers, like councils, to take a coordinated approach in deciding which recycled materials could be used or sold within New Zealand. Increasing emissions trading prices and an increase in the waste disposal levy could also make opportunities like these more financially appealing.

Using waste plastic to fix roads in New Plymouth

6

New Plymouth normally exports approximately 200 tonnes of plastics to China and Thailand for recycling each year. The Council was open to trying new ideas for reusing plastics closer to home.²⁸³ In response, in 2019 around 500 kilograms of types 3 to 7 plastics were used in the 90 metres of resurfacing of Liardet Street in New Plymouth. It was New Zealand's first road to be partly made from recycled plastic. Downer's Road Science division developed Plas Mix, the asphaltplastic blend and has been granted a 10-year maintenance contract by the Council to trial the new product elsewhere.284



Reducing construction and demolition waste is good for efficiency and the environment.

"The construction and demolition industry is one of the largest waste-producing industries in New Zealand. Construction and demolition waste may represent up to 50% of all waste generated in New Zealand, with 20% of the waste going to landfill." - BRANZ²⁸⁵

With construction waste making up the largest proportion of the waste we send to landfills, we need to focus on reducing this and increasing recycling in the sector. When done well, this can reduce costs for construction businesses by reducing landfill charges and using construction materials more efficiently.

Waste can often be reduced during the planning phase of a project.²⁸⁶ Procurement specifications for public sector infrastructure could be used to help reduce waste. For example, they could prioritise designs and materials that produce a lower amount of waste. They could even factor in disassembly and the reuse or recovery of materials at the end of the infrastructure

lifespan, something known as 'designing for deconstruction'. Using prefabricated parts can also help reduce waste. This is because it's easier to recover and reuse waste from a factory dedicated to making a particular part than on a construction site where it can be mixed with many other types of waste. Finding ways to use recycled materials in construction can also add to the demand for these materials.

Other options to encourage the reuse of materials in construction include:

- Developing a resource exchange mechanism to minimise waste creation.²⁸⁷ This is software for matching surplus materials and products to needs for those materials and products. There are some resource exchange mechanism services in development in New Zealand, such as CivilShare,²⁸⁸ and the sector could look at expanding these to support infrastructure construction.
- · Investing in new facilities that can sort and store waste materials from construction, demolition and commercial industries, then recirculate them to construction activities and other markets.²⁸⁹
- Reviewing building-material regulations to ensure they allow for the use of reused and/or recycled building materials.

Developing waste-to-energy for the waste we still produce

Waste-to-energy can play a role in the waste system.

We want to reduce the amount of waste produced in the first place and reuse or recycle it when this isn't possible. Where waste can't be prevented or dealt with in these ways, then using it to generate energy is preferable to dumping it in a landfill. This is known as waste-to-energy and most commonly involves incinerating waste to generate electricity or heat for industry. It can also include capturing the gases created when materials break down over time (for instance, converting organic wastes to biogas/ biomethane).²⁹⁰ It's important that waste-to-energy is only used to replace disposal to landfill, not replace recycling or disincentivise efforts to redesign and reduce waste. The use of waste-to-energy also needs to be considered carefully in the context of New Zealand's current renewable-energy goals.

Government guidance is needed.

Case Study 11 illustrates how using waste as an energy source can reduce carbon emissions and pressure on landfills. The Ministry for the Environment released guidance on waste-to-energy proposals in 2020.²⁹¹ The guidance outlined key questions that investors in waste-to-energy plants should address but didn't establish a government position on the future role of waste-to-energy or preferred technologies. A clear position would provide greater certainty and help make it clear when this would be an option or when materials should be targeted for recycling.²⁹²

STUDY 11 CASE :



Conversion of tyres into cement in Whangārei

Golden Bay Cement, a subsidiary of Fletcher Building, is now reusing waste tyres to manufacture cement.²⁹³ Tyres are burned at a high temperature to replace coal for process heat, and remaining rubber and metal components are combined into cement.

This will divert up to 3 million tyres from landfill annually, which would represent around 60% of 6

New Zealand's total waste tyres.²⁹⁴ At full capacity. the plant will reduce annual carbon emissions by 13,000 tonnes and reduce total landfill waste by around 1%. 295

The total cost of the project was \$25 million, of which \$16 million was funded by a grant from the Ministry for the Environment's Waste Minimisation Fund.²⁹⁶

6.5.4. Recommendations

No.	What	How	Who
29	Establish a clear national direction for circularity in waste management RRV, WSP	In developing a National Waste Strategy, provide appropriate direction that:	MfE
		 Sets out a plan for circularity and is consistent with net-zero emissions targets. 	
		Accelerates investment and innovation in waste minimisation and the recovery of resources.	
		c. Considers an appropriate aspirational target.	
	0 2022 2001	d. Sets out performance measures for tracking performance.	
		e. Ensures waste markets are well functioning and appropriately incentivised and regulated.	
30	Prioritise	Options should include:	MfE, Local
	options that minimise waste	a. A ban on products that are hard to recycle.	Government
	entering the market to avoid	b. The development of options to incentivise greater product stewardship.	
	infrastructure costs	 Increasing waste-disposal levies sustainably while managing, monitoring and funding enforcement to minimise illegal 	
	🕞 FOT, ACW	dumping.	
	0 2022-2031	 The prioritisation of these options should be guided by cost- benefit analyses. 	
31	Improve (recycling infrastructure for priority materials	Options should include:	MfE, Local
r: ir		 Developing processing and biomass utilisation capacity for timber and wood wastes. 	Government
	☐ WSP	 Developing construction and demolition waste collection services. 	
	() 2022-2031	c. Developing a network of regional hubs for e-waste and battery drop-offs and the aggregation of hubs with adequate storage capacity for plastics consolidation.	
		 Developing opportunities for local tyre-manufacturing and re- treading capacity. 	
		e. Improving sorting facilities.	
32	Use behavioural	This should include:	MfE, Local
	interventions to address barriers to recycling, reduce waste and avoid contamination	 Improving the ease of recycling for consumers, with a focus on simplicity and consistency across jurisdictions. 	Government
		Funding sustained education campaigns that promote and improve the social licence for recycling and promote options to minimise and avoid waste.	
	🕞 WSP, RRM	c. Coordinating and sharing behavioural change materials	
	() 2022-2031	between central and local government.	
🕞 R	efer to Section 10	() Time	

	No.	What	How
	33	Reduce landfill emissions resulting from organic waste	Steps should be taken to:
			a. Improve the collection of commercial and househ
		G WSP	b. Target education and be improve the take-up of c
		() 2022-2031	c. Require landfill gas capte waste.
	34	Develop uses for recycled materials in infrastructure	Responsible agencies sho a. Identify opportunities for for plastics (especially e- and aggregate.
		© WSP	 Develop relevant technic standards for the re-use infrastructure.
			c. Support innovation in, ar design and construction materials in infrastructure
	35	Clarify the strategic role of waste-to-energy	The government should es as part of the National Was alternative to landfill.
		🕞 WSP, WTE	
		() 2027-2031	
	36	Improve waste sector data and insight	Fund improvements in was between volume, performa waste streams by region a
		USP WSP	be achieved by resourcing Waste Data Framework.
		() 2022-2031	
	37	Encourage	This should include the fol
		infrastructure waste minimisation and	 Require all infrastructure minimisation plans in pro use recycled products w
		designing for b. deconstruction	b. Encourage prefabrication infrastructure delivery.
		USP WSP	c. Investigate the efficacy of
		() 2022-2031	for infrastructure project government and the cor

		Wł	10	
: of organic waste t hold food waste c	through more collection services.	Mf Go	E, Local overnment	
ehaviour-change organic waste co	programmes to llection.			
ture for all landfill	s that accept organic			
ould:		Mf	E, MBIE, Local	
or more domestic e-waste), metals, f	reprocessing, including ibreglass, plasterboard	Go	overnment	
nical specifications e of recycled cons	s and national struction materials in			
and the procurem n to enable a grea ire.	ent of, infrastructure ater use of recyclable			
establish a positio aste Strategy, no	on on waste-to-energy ting its potential as an	Mf	E, MBIE	
aste data to enab nance and proce and territorial au g the implement	le comparisons ssing capacity across thority. This might ation of the National	Mf Go	E, Local overnment	
ollowing steps:		Mf	E, Local	
e projects to incorporate waste- rocurement and design objectives and where feasible.			overnment	
on and standardised options as part of				
of a resource exects, through a part postruction sector.	change mechanism nership between			
	Refer to Section 10		🕓 Time	

A world-class infrastructure system: how we get there

Tētahi pūnaha hanganga kei te taumata o te ao: Te huarahi

West Wind Farm, Mākara generates enough electricity each year to supply about 73,000 average New Zealand homes.

Infrastructure helps New Zealanders to move around the country, connect, learn, stay safe and live healthy lives. To deliver on our strategic objectives, we need to prioritise the best projects and fund and mobilise the right technology, with the right people and equipment. This needs to be enabled by a fast and effective planning and consenting process that recognises the unique role infrastructure plays in our wellbeing (see Figure 29).

Good decision-making is critical to getting the most from our infrastructure.

There are many things we could invest in, but we can't invest in everything. Trade-offs exist. We need to prioritise the public infrastructure that will make the biggest difference to our economic, social, cultural and environmental wellbeing and support a high quality of life for all New Zealanders. Since public money is used, the approach needs to be robust, transparent and accountable. Longterm strategic infrastructure planning can improve integration across sectors, with infrastructure intentions based on clear service standards and expectations of future growth. Good decision-making doesn't occur in a vacuum, however. It's entwined with a wider environment that includes legislation, policy, regulation, institutions, governance and ownership. These vary, often considerably, both across and within sectors and change through time. Improving these system settings is part of enabling good decision-making.

We'll need more infrastructure, but it is not free and someone must pay.

How we choose to fund and finance infrastructure impacts on what projects are implemented, the community needs that are met and when they're met, who can access infrastructure and how we use it.

There are many options about how to fund infrastructure. Prices and user charges are standard practice in some sectors, while public subsidies are more common in others. Either way, infrastructure is ultimately funded by users, taxpayers or ratepayers. Choices about how infrastructure is funded affect how the costs are distributed between different people, which can affect equity for people who are vulnerable or disadvantaged in some way.

There are also many options about how to finance infrastructure. Some infrastructure is financed on a 'pay as you go' basis, meaning that revenues from current users pay for upgrades. Other infrastructure is financed using loans or equity investments, allowing up-front costs to be repaid over time. Choices about how infrastructure is financed can affect intergenerational equity. Effective financing spreads the costs of long-lived infrastructure fairly over time and may also speed up delivery by leveraging new sources of finance.



Source: Te Waihanga

An enabling planning and consenting system is essential to delivering the infrastructure needed over the next 30 years.

To deliver on affordable housing, a net-zero carbon emissions economy and other infrastructure objectives, the planning process needs to be strategic, coordinated, equal to the urgency of the challenge and enabling of the government's obligation to deliver a broad range of infrastructure services. The planning rules and the consenting process must recognise the unique role of infrastructure in providing services across the economy. Planning and consenting decision-makers need to carefully weigh up local effects against national objectives.

A greater use of technology will improve the delivery of infrastructure and the services it provides.

Technological advancements in infrastructure have been rapid in recent years and the trajectory is unwavering. There's a significant opportunity to increase the spread and uptake of technology in infrastructure. This can contribute to improved productivity and infrastructure delivery and services, raise wages and improve skill levels across the infrastructure sector. Leadership and a clear strategic direction are needed from government, along with a greater emphasis on an open data-environment, which can act as a foundation for technological opportunities. Many of the rapid advancements in technology are being driven by innovation in the digital area. Artificial intelligence has the potential to streamline and speed up regulatory processes, improve decision-making and project selection, improve the prioritisation of maintenance and better integrate infrastructure across sectors.

We need the right people, at the right time, with the right skills to build and run our infrastructure.

Building the skills to improve infrastructure delivery will be an immense challenge over the next 30 years. New Zealand is competing for skills that are highly sought after as international demand for infrastructure accelerates. The skill sets that are required are also changing, shaped by new digital technologies and challenges such as climate change. A credible infrastructure pipeline will become essential to give firms the confidence to invest in skills development and training. Measures to smooth out infrastructure across business cycles are also important for deepening labour pools and giving confidence. This is particularly important for New Zealand given our small size and competition with Australia. Improving the diversity of our infrastructure workforce, particularly in the construction sector, is a way not only to address these labour constraints, but also to create more employment opportunities for all New Zealanders.



7.1 Better decision-making Ngā whakataunga kounga ake

for New Zealanders.

We can only build high-quality infrastructure at an affordable cost if we make good decisions on how to plan, invest in, deliver and manage our infrastructure. Infrastructure decision-making is affected by a range of factors, including how infrastructure is owned, governed, regulated and funded.

A well-functioning infrastructure system will result in good decision-making that improves economic, environmental, cultural and social outcomes. A poorly functioning system will lead to bad decisions that lower wellbeing over time.

Infrastructure decision-making needs to consider how infrastructure systems are interconnected. For example, our hospitals need good transport connections and reliable electricity to function. Homes can only be built where there are networks or systems for water. People often make choices about where to live and work based on the locations of schools, which can then affect congestion on our transport networks at peak times. Technology is further blurring the boundaries of sectors such as energy, transport and telecommunications.

7.1.1. Context

New Zealand is spending more on infrastructure than ever before. The 2021 Budget included investment of \$57 billion in infrastructure over the next four years, and private sector providers are also making considerable investments.²⁹⁷ After a period of low investment in the 1990s, we now invest a greater share of our national income into public capital (which includes public infrastructure plus other capital elements like vehicles) than most other developed countries.²⁹⁸

However, we don't always get the best results from our spending. The World Economic Forum ranks New Zealand's infrastructure performance as 46th out of 140 countries.²⁹⁹ New Zealand is one of the least efficient high-income countries when it comes to turning public-investment into quality infrastructure.³⁰⁰ International evidence shows that good decision-making, supported by robust public investment management and a stable long-term pipeline of investment intentions, is essential for lifting performance. Countries with the best public investment management practices get twice as much 'bang' for their investment 'bucks' as countries with poor practices. 301,302

At present, many public infrastructure projects lack sufficient planning and investigation. Fewer than half of the initiatives reviewed by the Treasury's Capital Panel for the 2021 Budget had completed business cases.^{303,304} Government agencies' investment plans are unreliable and poorly signalled in advance, making it difficult to make decisions in a consistent way. This is made worse by the creation of bespoke or ad-hoc governance and delivery agencies for projects.

Decision-making needs a relentless focus on creating value

"Past investment surges have often taken place in weak institutional environments or been associated with the circumvention of established decision-making processes. [I]n the absence of a comprehensive and cohesive set of PIM [public investment] management] institutions, the potential benefits from a ramping up of investment are much diminished. Countries should therefore factor PIM diagnostics, reform, and capacity building into their plans for ramping-up investment levels." - International Monetary Fund

Limited planning and investigation tends to lead to failures in delivering projects. When decisions are made before the right information is available, they're more likely to lead to problems like cost overruns.^{305, 306} In Australia, only one in three major infrastructure projects are announced before their business cases have been completed, but these projects account for 79% of the total value of cost overruns.³⁰⁷ Most countries struggle to control the costs on major public-infrastructure projects and New Zealand has recently experienced major issues in this area.³⁰⁸

Poor decision-making can also lead to poor outcomes from infrastructure, such as solving the wrong problem, which means other needs remain unmet. Internationally, there's evidence that public investment is often allocated in response to political concerns rather than actual need.³⁰⁹ Large 'iconic' projects may be favoured over smaller, higher-value, investments. Where this occurs, it can reduce the value that we get from our infrastructure investments and reduce economic performance.

To achieve the best results, we need robust decision-making processes, supported by strong and effective governance arrangements and reliable, timely information.

7.1.2. What we've heard

During public consultation, submitters told us there was a lack of cohesion and consistency that was driving avoidable overlap, duplication and delay during infrastructure projects. Some common examples of this included policy and practice leadership and the need for central and local government to work together more closely. Submitters agreed that the strategy should address this.

We also heard that there was doubt about whether centralisation or greater central control would be better and there was some concern that it would be worse. However, support was expressed for:

- · Common and transparent frameworks to guide infrastructure.
- The benefits of consistency in, rather than centralisation of, decision-making and delivery.
- · Decision-making rights being made locally or at point of service.
- A desire to improve information, trust and confidence in decision processes.

7.1.3. Strategic direction

Major infrastructure projects require significant investment and last for a long time. Infrastructure investments begin with an idea, which should then be explored and tested through planning. A preferred investment option is then selected for funding. After this, infrastructure providers procure, deliver and implement to realise the expected benefits. Good decisions must be made at each stage of this process.

We need rigorous decision-making processes so we can get the most out of the infrastructure we build. This requires:

- · Robust principles and incentives to drive good decisions.
- · Strategic planning to make investment priorities clear.
- Reliable and timely information to guide decision-making.
- Standardised frameworks for procurement and delivery.

Robust principles and incentives to drive good decisions

Good principles and incentives are fundamental to good infrastructure decision-making.

Good decision-making is guided by clear principles on how to invest in and manage infrastructure. These ensure investments are well considered and deliver good value for money. However, decision-making doesn't happen in a vacuum. How infrastructure providers are structured, owned, governed, funded and regulated can strengthen or weaken incentives for good performance and sound investments.

Core principles inform good decision-making.

International guidance and best practice highlight the importance of sound decision-making principles.³¹⁰ A consistent, principled approach to infrastructure decision-making ensures that the best projects are selected, funded and delivered. This provides the public with confidence and assurance that the investment of public funds will not only provide value for money, but also improve wellbeing.

Table 3 summarises 10 core principles of infrastructure decision-making that cover decisions at all points in the life of an infrastructure project, from the identification of the problem that needs to be solved to the project being completed and showing benefits. These principles are adapted from relevant overseas examples, in particular OECD best-practice guidance and Infrastructure Australia guidance. They're designed to complement and bolster the Treasury's Investment Management Framework. Public agencies and decision-makers should commit to following these principles when they plan and invest in infrastructure.

Table 3: Core principles for infrastructure decision-making

and opportunities are quantified as part of long-term planning.	the level of serv Planning consid opportunities fo developments in infrastructure se
2. Delivery agencies identify infrastructure needs in response to quantified infrastructure problems.	Infrastructure ne to be required u publicly release problem is, the o
3. Delivery agencies invest in feasibility studies to scope potential options.	These enable th meaningfully co As part of these of options that of better use of ex pricing settings.
4. Where an infrastructure need is identified, steps are taken to ensure potential options can be delivered affordably.	Low-cost option planning and de costs. Land nee agencies, which land-use plans.
 A detailed analysis of a potential project is undertaken through a business case. 	A business case benefits relative project to be res and show who b cost profile is no completed.
6. Delivery agencies assess alternative funding sources for each potential project.	Delivery agencion other funding op taxpayers, ratep
7. Meaningful stakeholder engagement is undertaken at appropriate points throughout project development and	Delivery agenci- identifying prob Depending upo iwi, users, affect infrastructure ov required, the ge

delivery.

1. Infrastructure problems This includes analysing how existing infrastructure will perform and ervice it will provide under a range of future scenarios. siders opportunities to partner with and unlock for Māori, interdependencies with other infrastructure, ts in technology and changes likely to impact services in the coming decades.

> needs are framed as potential responses that are likely d under several future scenarios. Delivery agencies se strategic planning information to explain what the e cost of the problem and the potential solutions.

the costs and benefits of different options to be compared and ensure that any risks can be identified. se studies, delivery agencies should consider a range at don't require construction, including those that make existing infrastructure or changes to regulatory and

ons for addressing the need are considered, and design seeks opportunities to minimise delivery eeded for future infrastructure is protected by delivery ich also ensures appropriate integration into long-term

ase is used to rigorously examine a potential project's ive to its costs, value the future appropriately, show the resilient to change under a range of future scenarios, o benefits and how much. A preferred option or not announced until this detailed analysis has been

ncies minimise the need for public funds by considering options and determining a fair funding split between epayers, users and other beneficiaries.

ncies should engage with relevant stakeholders when oblems and before arriving at a preferred solution. pon the project, relevant stakeholders could include ected neighbours or other interest groups, private owners and operators and, where public funding is required, the general public.

Core principles for infrastructure decision-making (continued)

8. All information supporting infrastructure decisions is publicly released.	This includes all analyses underpinning long-term plans and option development and assessment, and extends to full business cases once they have been independently assessed. Any protection of information should be genuine and justifiable.
9. Staged and post- completion project reviews are undertaken and publicly released.	Delivery dates for reviews are confirmed at the outset of a project. The reviews should focus on whether the project was delivered on time and on budget, measuring whether the economic case for the project (in its business case) was realised over time, whether unforeseen risks emerged and how they were managed, and extracting lessons to feed into future infrastructure development and delivery.
10. Where a project is funded as part of a broader programme, the corresponding decision- making processes are robust and transparent and prioritise value for	The objective, scope, scale and expected benefits of a funding programme are defined and reported against clear assessment criteria and objectives. Funding programmes are routinely assessed and reviewed to ensure investments are delivering against their objectives.

Source: Te Waihanga

money.

Checks and balances are needed to ensure monopoly infrastructure providers make good investment decisions.

Competition between infrastructure providers can be an incentive for them to operate, maintain and invest in their networks in ways that deliver good-quality services to users at fair and reasonable costs.³¹¹ However, there are many sectors where competition doesn't exist and infrastructure providers are monopolies. In some cases, like electricity transmission, water and transport, infrastructure is best managed by a single provider serving each area. In others, like health and education infrastructure, it's provided directly by the government to ensure that all New Zealanders have access.

Some monopolies, including electricity and gas transmission and distribution, are regulated by the Commerce Commission. It sets information-disclosure requirements, regulates prices and the quality of service and reviews major capital investments. Water sector reform proposes a similar approach for the water sector. The transport, health and education sectors lack external checks and balances and instead rely upon a combination of internal investment approval processes, investment approval by ministers or Cabinet and assurance by the Treasury.

A lack of competition and external regulation can lead to poor decision-making.³¹² This can take the form of under-investment, over-investment or poor investment choices.³¹³ Infrastructure providers that are sensitive to political push-back about high user charges or rates may choose to underinvest in their networks in ways that can undermine services or resilience in the long-term. On the other hand, infrastructure providers that don't face political push-back about user charges or rates may choose to over-invest in their networks, delivering 'gold plated' upgrades that provide limited benefits to users at a high cost.

The right incentives for good decision-making are required.³¹⁴ These may include strengthening existing assurance and review processes such as the government's Gateway Review and Better Business Case requirements, strengthening information-disclosure requirements, and modernising processes and institutions that underpin investment decisions. In doing so, it's important to build on lessons from sectors that already face external regulation.

Strategic planning to signal clear investment priorities

A long-term view enables infrastructure agencies, as well as construction firms, to better plan for the future.

Signalling investments in advance and maintaining stable investment levels over time can improve the efficiency of infrastructure delivery.³¹⁵

Good strategic planning looks at factors such as the future demand for infrastructure and long-term trends like New Zealand's growing and ageing population.^{316,317} It considers emerging opportunities and challenges, such as a changing environment and rapidly developing technology. Strategic planning also looks across and seeks to integrate with different infrastructure sectors and networks.

Good strategic planning sets clear standards for the quality of service expected from infrastructure, provides a reliable forward view of infrastructure funding plans and signals priority infrastructure projects well in advance. These include solutions that involve reforming parts of the infrastructure system or making better use of existing infrastructure.

Users and providers should have a clear understanding of service quality.

Standards set the service quality and reliability that users can expect from infrastructure. They also influence the cost to provide infrastructure and, therefore, how much funding is needed from users, taxpayers and ratepayers. There's often a need to manage trade-offs between guality and affordability. For instance, the World Energy Forum describes a 'trilemma' between energy security, environmental sustainability and energy equity.³¹⁸ Countries that perform well in one area tend to lag in others.

Clear service-quality standards are an important part of the strategic planning process. Minimum service standards exist in some sectors such as gas and electricity, where the Commerce Commission requires regulated providers to satisfy minimum standards for reliability of supply.³¹⁹ However, standards don't exist for all sectors, or they may exist but aren't enforced. The cost and funding implications of existing standards are not always well understood. Where service quality standards aren't available, they should be developed and published to guide strategic planning and project decision-making.

Government agencies should signal funding intentions further in advance and raise standards for asset management planning.

Although infrastructure development is often a long-term process, public infrastructure agencies don't often share plans for funding beyond the annual government budget cycle. This can undermine infrastructure delivery and asset management by making it difficult for agencies to invest in the right capabilities and credibly signal future investments to the market.³²⁰

Councils are required to develop and publish long-term plans that set out their investment intentions over a 10-year period.³²¹ While priorities can change in response to elections, these provide a degree of certainty about future funding and service-quality improvements. The Treasury requires central government agencies that make significant capital investments to develop Long-Term Investment Plans, but generally these plans don't clearly identify investment intentions.³²² Forward planning tends to be more successful in organisations that have more certainty about their long-term capital budgets.³²³

Government agencies should be required to develop and publish capital investment plans for a minimum period of 10 years. To ensure they're credible, investment plans should be aligned with agency servicedelivery priorities and strategies, fiscally sustainable and linked with budget allocations and other sources of financing.³²⁴

To achieve this, there needs to be a lift in asset management planning among many central government infrastructure providers, with the aim of closing large observed variations in the quality of asset management plans.³²⁵ The approach to lifting quality should lean on the experiences of local government and regulated infrastructure, where certain standards are clearly specified and disclosure requirements exist. International best practice also indicates the importance of independent assurance (to identify, report on and take action on risks and challenges) to ensure that investment plans are credible and linked with government budget allocations.³²⁶ Common standards in asset management

would help further, allowing asset information to be used across a range of systems and support a range of data sets, particularly for documentation and mapping.³²⁷ This could also improve communication between sectors, reduce maintenance costs and assist with efforts to integrate spatial planning.

An infrastructure priority list is needed to provide certainty about future projects.

Projects that can help us solve long-term challenges, such as those addressing climate change, improving our cities, connecting all regions of New Zealand and providing infrastructure that works for our growing and changing population, may be under development or may be signalled as intentions but not yet funded.

An infrastructure priority list, similar to the list developed by Infrastructure Australia, is important for offering visibility of and assurance about what's planned.³²⁸ When developed well, this can have benefits for infrastructure providers, decision-makers and construction firms seeking to understand future capability needs.

A priority list that includes the following should be developed and published:

- · Priority infrastructure projects. These are large projects or packages of smaller projects that have been through a robust business case process. This process identifies important problems to solve, considers all options for addressing them and identifies achievable solutions that deliver good value for money and are consistent with our need to reduce carbon emissions.
- · Priority infrastructure investigations. These are projects where an important problem has been identified but planning and investigations haven't yet been completed.

The priority list should cover projects from all infrastructure sectors. It shouldn't focus solely on major projects, as many of the problems we're facing require small-scale, distributed improvements. For instance, a water pipe renewal programme or intersection safety improvement programme may qualify for the priority list even though it consists of many small projects.

The priority list will grow as infrastructure providers submit projects for assessment and as more and more priority investigations are identified. As an independent advisor on infrastructure, Te Waihanga will monitor and advocate for the progress of projects and investigations on the list.

Reliable and timely information to guide decision-making

Information that's both reliable and provided at the right time is essential to good decision-making.

If the right information is not available, it can be difficult to make the right decision. Often, there's pressure to make decisions and announcements before sufficient information is available. Decisionmakers and public infrastructure providers should commit to improving the standard of information that's available and making decisions when the right information is available.

Public communication should give the community confidence.

Governments usually aim to keep communities informed of proposed new infrastructure projects, often from the very start. There's often high public interest in community impacts, benefits, costs and delivery timetables. Communication is effective when it provides confidence that decision-making is sound, public funds are being well managed and project benefits will be delivered.

Public announcements that are made early in the planning and development of a project can signal intentions, but government must be careful to avoid premature announcements about scope, costs and timeframes.³²⁹ Providing these details could disappoint communities if changes are made later in the project and it places unhelpful pressure on project delivery teams. It can also limit the ability of a project to adapt successfully and, as a result, reduce the benefits of the government's investment.³³⁰

Objective, reliable information is needed to understand how our infrastructure is performing.

There's a shortage of comprehensive, comparable and consistent data on the performance of New Zealand's infrastructure.³³¹ Good data is available for some sectors, such as electricity distribution, but it can be difficult to make comparisons across sectors or make international comparisons. To address this issue, public infrastructure providers should build a comprehensive performance-measurement framework that enables meaningful comparisons and benchmarking between operators and agencies. This should include collecting, analysing and publishing data on performance at multiple levels:

- Projects: To understand how individual assets perform in delivery and operation, including the construction costs and benefits delivered.
- Networks: To understand the relative performance of infrastructure networks over time.
- Systems: To understand the performance and integration of networks, particularly in complex urban environments.

The value and importance of regular objective review and reporting on project outcomes are highlighted in Case Study 12 on the publication of an annual report on the United Kingdom's Major Projects Portfolio.

United Kingdom Government's Major Projects Portfolio publication

The Infrastructure and Projects Authority (IPA publishes an annual report each year as part of the government's commitment to transparency

STUDY

CASE

The annual report tracks the progress of projects currently in the Government Major Projects Portfolio (GMPP) and provides analyses of how they're performing. Project managers are require to provide quarterly data returns on delivery progress. This data is used to monitor progress across the portfolio and risks and insights are shared with departments and the centre of government. The 2020/21 GMPP snapshot comprises 184 projects with a total Whole Life Cost of £542 billion and £826 billion of monetise benefits that are delivered by 18 departments an their arms' length bodies.

The IPA assesses the likelihood of each project delivering its objectives to time and cost with a Delivery Confidence Assessment (DCA). Ratings are categorised into five groups, with each providing an indication of the likelihood of successful delivery and level of associated risks.

)	The annual report reflects the IPA principle for
f	project success of "Tell it like it is". ³³² GMPP
y.	projects are the government's most difficult
ed	and challenging projects to deliver. They are, by definition, large, complex or innovative, with many 'breaking new ground'. This is often reflected in the pattern of delivery confidence. In the 2021 report, 51 projects were assigned Red or Amber/Red (28%). ³³³
	Regular, objective reviews of a project's likelihood of success have been an important part of improving the delivery performance of the GMPP. The regular reviews help ensure that government
d d	resources are deployed to priority areas and align with the IPA's commitment to increasing the focus on the most difficult projects in order to set them up for success. Combined with other accountability measures, including a clear identification of project Senior Responsible Officers and regular reviews of the management of delivery challenges by the Public Accounts Committee, DCAs are often improved over time. ³³⁴
	measures, including a clear identification of proj Senior Responsible Officers and regular reviews of the management of delivery challenges by the Public Accounts Committee, DCAs are often improved over time. ³³⁴

There's a particular need for better information on infrastructure delivery costs, including benchmarking to enable more efficient investments.³³⁵ There's little systematic information on how and why infrastructure costs have changed in recent decades, how our costs compare with those in leading countries and how cost performance differs in different infrastructure sectors. Regular analysis and benchmarking of cost performance is needed.

Robust assessments of options, including non-built options, are essential.

When choosing whether and how to invest, it's important to consider the full range of alternatives rather than prematurely focusing on a single infrastructure-based solution. Identifying and prioritising non-built solutions to infrastructure challenges will increase the value of infrastructure for the community and the environment and reduce the risk of committing to a solution that's not technically feasible to deliver.

Figure 30: Decision-making hierarchy



\$\$\$ **SS** 5

Careful new investment

Investment in new infrastructure should be affordable and realistic, ensuring long-term value for money.

Best use of existing system

Improving current infrastructure can help provide a better service.

Managing demand

Reducing the demand for infrastructure can mean it performs better and reduces the need to build new infrastructure.

Effective planning

Early planning can make the most of opportunities to combine infrastructure needs with the way land will be used. It should also factor in future infrastructure needs as possible.

Lower Cost

Source: Te Waihanga

Infrastructure planning should consider options that don't involve building new infrastructure, including effective planning, demand management and improvements to existing infrastructure (see Figure 30).

Examples include:

- · Variable pricing to spread demand between peak and off-peak periods, for instance through congestion pricing, lower off-peak electricity prices, or off-peak discounts for public transport fares.
- · The use of digital solutions like telehealth to deliver services.
- Energy and water efficiency standards that manage demand on these networks.
- Planning initiatives like transit-oriented development that reduce the need to travel.

Where non-built options are viable, they allow infrastructure challenges to be addressed in a cost-effective, low-carbon way. They're especially important to consider in light of the need to mitigate carbon emissions.

Infrastructure providers often face uncertainty about the future demand for infrastructure and the likelihood and impact of natural hazards, including sea-level rise. Where appropriate, infrastructure planning should build in flexibility to adapt to uncertainty. Examples include protecting infrastructure corridors in advance of development and designing infrastructure that can be cost-effectively relocated or strengthened in response to increasing coastal hazards. Planning tools like dynamic adaptive policy pathways and real options analysis can be used to guide these decisions.³³⁶

Project selection should be guided by a rigorous cost-benefit analysis.

For most projects there are alternative options for investment that vary in cost and outcomes. The key is to identify those options that deliver the best 'bang for buck'. To do this, public infrastructure providers should commit to preparing and publishing a cost-benefit analysis (CBAs) for all major investments.

A good CBA comprehensively considers all relevant costs and benefits, including non-financial economic, social, cultural and environmental impacts and long-term impacts. The Treasury's Guide to Social Cost Benefit Analysis outlines principles for assessing and weighing up these impacts.³³⁷ Some infrastructure sectors have additional CBA guidance, such as the Waka Kotahi monetised benefits and costs manual³³⁸ and the Transpower capital expenditure input methodology published by the Commerce Commission.339

The guality of a CBA is only as good as the guality of the information that's analysed. In some cases it may be necessary to consider separately impacts that are difficult to model or fully value, such as environmental impacts and equity impacts.³⁴⁰ Key parameters should be published and regularly updated to ensure public confidence in the analysis.³⁴¹ To ensure that CBA supports investment for the long-term, the social discount rate, which determines how much weight is placed on the future benefits of a project compared to the current benefits, should be reviewed.³⁴²

Post-completion reviews of infrastructure projects offer a valuable learning opportunities.

Once a project is completed it can be reviewed to compare its intended inputs, outputs and outcomes with those actually delivered. The data can then be used to guide decision-making on subsequent projects, ensuring they better reflect real-world experience. However, post-completion reviews are rarely done and when they're conducted, lessons aren't always taken onboard.³⁴³ The inconsistent use of reviews to measure how well projects deliver against what was planned, makes it challenging to identify successes and failures.

Post-completion reviews are considered best practice, especially for major infrastructure projects.³⁴⁴ They should be prioritised, funded and published after completion. Independent audits of reviews will ensure they're impartial, rigorous and transparent.

Standardised frameworks for procurement and delivery.

By improving the government's abilities as a client, we can ensure we have an infrastructure system that can deliver the projects we need, now and in the future. New Zealand needs standardised frameworks for procurement and delivery, supported by the right skills in the public sector, to ensure that infrastructure projects are delivered to a high standard.

Procurement processes and standards vary across agencies.

Each public sector agency is responsible for the procurement of its infrastructure. This approach has resulted in different processes and standards for infrastructure planning, procurement, construction, operation and maintenance across sectors and agencies. Every government agency with a role in infrastructure has its own procurement policy, templates and methods, each with its own nuances. This can create needless costs and causes confusion for industry.³⁴⁵

There's a need to align the standards and processes used across projects, sectors and agencies to strengthen the government's ability to act as a sophisticated client of infrastructure. This can:

- Enable the sharing of skills and insights across the country.
- Create opportunities for projects to be planned and delivered together, where beneficial.
- barriers to entry.

Broaden the number of possible suppliers, consultants, contractors and other experts by reducing

Provide consistency and clarity to suppliers on the wider public outcomes sought through the procurement process.

Each of the projects in the infrastructure pipeline provides an opportunity to deliver a set of wider public outcomes, such as opportunities for Māori, waste minimisation, emissions reductions, the adoption of digital technology, and improved professional development that would not otherwise be delivered.³⁴⁶ However, inconsistent expectations of suppliers can create confusion for industry and limit the number of possible suppliers for projects. Providing consistency and clarity on the wider public outcomes sought through procurement can both broaden the number of possible suppliers and ensure that wider public outcomes are achieved.

In the long-term, getting the best outcomes may also require changes in how agencies are structured, governed, funded and regulated. Significant structural changes shouldn't be undertaken lightly. They require careful consideration of the preferred outcomes, as well as the short-term costs of disruption.

Project, asset and risk management would benefit from common frameworks.

There are specific areas where common frameworks would have benefits. A common project management framework would standardise oversight and quality assurance processes, set clearer expectations, enable benchmarking or comparison between entities and projects and make sure lessons are automatically fed back into new infrastructure projects.³⁴⁷

7.1.4. Recommendations

	No.	What	How			
	38	Strengthen government as a sophisticated client of infrastructure WEF, ROY	Take the following steps government to better del			
			 Develop service quality methodologies for each key delivery agencies. 			
			b. Require long-term plan better predict future inf			
			c. Strengthen governmen including governance, o negotiation, oversight a for major infrastructure.			
	39	Increase the clarity of long- term investment intentions for public infrastructure agencies	Central government required planning and asset manage infrastructure providers solutional government and regulations and regulations and regulations and regulations and regulations are solved by the solution of the solutio			
			Long-term investment pla with agency service-deliv linked with budget alloca			
		() 2027-2031				
	40	Strengthen independent advice for infrastructure	Establish an independe consensus on key proje significant long-term pro priority list should includ			
			 Publish guidance on cri investigations, consiste principles. 			
		<u>()</u> 2022-2026	b. Solicit applications for p infrastructure providers			
			c. Assess projects and init regularly.			
	41	Improve infrastructure performance reporting and insight DSA (\$ 2022-2050	Assemble and analyse in			
			a. Projects: how individua operation.			
			b. Networks: how infrastru			
			c. Systems: how network			

		Wł	10
to develop the cl iver infrastructur	ient capabilities of the e:	Tre Go	easury, Central overnment
r standards and s n major infrastruc	tandard design ture asset class with	De Ag	jencies
ning informed by rastructure needs	service standards to 5.		
t capabilities in e commissioning, p and whole-of-life r	nd-to-end delivery, rocurement, nanagement systems		
irements for long gement planning hould be aligned gulated infrastruc	g-term investment g for all public d with standards for cture.	Tre Dl Go	easury, A, Local overnment
anning should be very priorities and tions and other s	transparent, aligned d strategies, and cources of financing.		
t infrastructure p ts and initiatives plems. The devel the following st	riority list to build that address opment of the eps:	Te	Waihanga
iteria for project in nt with best pract	nclusion and priority tice decision-making		
priority projects a	nd initiatives from		
tiatives and upda	te the priority list		
frastructure perf	ormance across:	Treasury, Te	
I assets perform in delivery and Waihanga			ainanga
ucture performs a	s a network.		
s perform as an in	tegrated system.		
	Refer to Section 10		🕓 Time

42	Optimise infrastructure	Consider and prioritise non-built options when choosing how to address infrastructure challenges, including:	Treasury, Central Government
	investment by considering non- built solutions first	a. Using pricing to manage demand.	Delivery Agencies, Local
		Making better use of existing infrastructure by adapting or re- using it.	Government
	🕞 INH, NOF	c. Using regulation and education to manage infrastructure	
	() 2022-2031	demands.	
		 Considering lower-cost options before progressing to higher- cost options. 	
43	Strengthen project	Deliver consistent and transparent project evaluation by requiring:	Treasury, MBIE, Te Waihanga
	evaluation through cost- benefit analysis	a. Local and central government agencies to undertake and publicly release rigorous social cost-benefit analyses of all public infrastructure investment proposals where the whole-of- life costs of the provide the second data of the second secon	
	La Pli	Iffe costs of the proposals exceed \$150 million.	
	() 2022-2026	b. Commitments to projects to only be made after the completion of this analysis, rather than prior to undertaking the analysis.	
		c. Analysis to recognise inter-generational choices appropriately and include wider environmental and social impacts.	
44 Ensure an appropriate consideration of future generations in project evaluation		Undertake an inquiry into the appropriateness and consistent application of New Zealand's social discount rate policy, which determines how much weight is placed on future outcomes relative to present-day outcomes when analysing public infrastructure investments.	Treasury, Te Waihanga
	🕞 TNT		
	() 2027-2031		
45 Improve the infrastructure		To improve future project evaluation methods and processes, delivery agencies should:	Central Government
	project knowledge base	a. Conduct and fund independent post-implementation reviews of major infrastructure projects at completion.	Delivery Agencies
	DSA DSA	b. Publish ex-post reviews in full and measure performance,	
	() 2022-2050	benefits and costs against business case estimates.	
46	Improve infrastructure cost analysis	Undertake investigations into the cost performance of New Zealand's infrastructure sector that:	Te Waihanga
	BUP	a. Cover multiple infrastructure sectors to enable the identification of common issues and points of difference.	
	() 2022-2050	 b. Identify recent cost trends and drivers of cost trends within infrastructure sectors. 	
		c. Benchmark New Zealand's cost performance against better- performing OECD countries and identify drivers of differences.	
		 Are repeated at least every five years to inform ongoing Infrastructure Strategy development. 	
🕞 R	efer to Section 10	() Time	



7.2 Improving funding and financing Te whakapiki i te whakapūtea me te tuku pūtea

Improving the way we fund and finance our infrastructure will improve results in the long-term. It will mean we can deliver more, as well as more fairly, and better meet our communities' needs. We face infrastructure challenges that will require much greater investments by government and private providers. Good funding and financing policy, supported by good decision-making, will help us to meet these challenges.

We have choices in how we fund and finance projects. These choices have implications for how much infrastructure can be provided, the quality of that infrastructure and the willingness of users to pay for that quality, and equity implications for different groups in society.

For telecommunications infrastructure, users fund borrowing and repaying later. infrastructure services when they pay their phone or internet bills. The telecommunications companies finance their assets (cell phone towers, lines, roadside cabinets and exchanges) by borrowing money and issuing shares to investors. Rising customer demand provides companies with the incentive to improve telecommunications infrastructure and services and provide what consumers want. This has allowed telecommunications infrastructure to respond to a 10-fold increase in data consumption in the past decade.348

7.2.1. Context

New Zealand needs more infrastructure than we have plans to fund.

Both public and private sector investment has increased considerably over the past two decades,³⁴⁹ with particularly large increases in electricity and telecommunications.³⁵⁰ However, we still need more infrastructure than we currently have plans to fund (as shown in Section 3).

The many reasons for these pressures include:

- Providing growing cities and export industries with infrastructure.
- · Changing expectations about quality and service levels.
- Shifting to a net-zero carbon emissions economy.
- Adapting to climate change and natural hazards like earthquakes.
- · Funding operational costs in areas with a declining population.
- · Renewing assets that have reached end of life.

Analyses of specific infrastructure sectors often shows a need for more investment. Examples include the Department of Internal Affairs' review of three waters investment requirements³⁵¹ and Transpower's estimates of the renewable electricity generation infrastructure that will be needed to remove carbon emissions.³⁵² Both of these reviews found that more infrastructure is needed. We have choices on how to respond to these challenges. Increasing infrastructure funding and financing will be part of that response. It must be based on good decision-making principles and be financially sustainable for infrastructure users and providers.

7

Our infrastructure providers need access to funding and financing, to ensure the right investments are made.

It is common for funding and financing to be used interchangeably. From a technical perspective they do have different meanings so in this strategy we use these words in the following way. **Funding** represents all the money needed to pay for infrastructure. It comes from the community through users, taxpayers and ratepayers. **Financing** is about when we pay for our infrastructure. It could mean using cash surpluses now or

7.2.2. What we've heard

7

Through both our public consultation and stakeholder engagement, we heard that funding constraints are one of the biggest barriers contributing to the need for change. A clearer and more consistent approach to funding and financing is required across the system.

There was a general sense that the methods we use to fund infrastructure were under pressure, but that designing new methods was challenging. We heard there was a need to avoid breaking the 'person who benefits pays' (or benefit) principle and that there still needed to be a place for local decision-making on what to build and how much to pay.

Responses highlighted the need for greater central government funding of infrastructure, in particular lead infrastructure. This is infrastructure that can encourage development and growth, like transport connections. Suggested funding mechanisms were varied, but included a share of GST generated in a region, competitive development funds and a greater use of user-pays systems.

Stakeholders and submitters had different views on what is causing more problems for infrastructure: funding or financing. Generally, sectors where charging for services is common, such as electricity and telecommunications, felt that financing was a constraint. Sectors that rely on general funding pools, like transport, were more concerned with the impact of funding on infrastructure.

7.2.3. Strategic direction

Applying good principles to guide funding and financing decisions

Choices about how to fund and finance projects have broad impacts.

The way we fund and finance infrastructure affects what projects are built, which community needs are met, who can access infrastructure and how they use it. It also has a large bearing on when we pay for it, and given the long life and high cost of infrastructure, this can mean future generations need to pay for some infrastructure that's built now.

A principled approach to funding and financing decision-making gives communities clarity on how infrastructure will be funded and when they'll pay. Table 4 outlines six core principles for infrastructure funding and financing, based on best practice.³⁵³ These principles support the broader infrastructure decision-making principles outlined in Section 7.1.

Table 4: Core principles for infrastructure funding and financing

Infrastructure funding and financing principles

Principle 1:	Those who benefit pay those benefiting from t need for the service (th
Principle 2:	Intergenerational equit reflect the period over be affordable for curren
Principle 3:	Transparency – There s provide infrastructure s possible, prices should
Principle 4:	Whole-of-life costing – ongoing costs to maint cost to renew or dispos cost to construct or pu
Principle 5:	Administratively simple providers and users sh from more complex fun
Principle 6:	Policies for majority of be written to work for t supplementary mechar

Source: Te Waihanga

Funding and financing principles are currently applied inconsistently across infrastructure sectors.

The energy and telecommunications sectors make funding and financing decisions that are better aligned with these principles. These sectors are largely commercial, funded through prices paid by consumers and financed by financial institutions, shareholders and debtholders. Competition drives pricing decisions. In areas where there isn't adequate competition, an independent regulator makes sure that prices are fair. By contrast, funding and financing decisions in the water, transport and waste sectors are less consistent with these principles.

These examples highlight that institutional incentives affect how funding and financing tools are used in practice. As well as providing new funding and financing options, infrastructure providers need incentives to make better use of tools that are already available.

Better use of prices to fund infrastructure services

Infrastructure improvements can have different drivers and beneficiaries.

The need for infrastructure upgrades arises in several ways. Increased demand can mean that more services need to be offered (for example, new homes can drive the need for more water connections and roads) or the quality of the service needs to improve (for example, extending the opening hours for a library). Sometimes both an increase and an improvement in services are needed (see Figure 31).³⁵⁴

- Infrastructure services should be paid for by the services (the benefit principle) or creating a ne causer principle).

ty – Funding and financing arrangements should which infrastructure assets deliver services and nt and future generations.

should be a clear link between the cost to services and how services are funded. Wherever be service-based and cost-reflective.

Funding requirements should include the tain and operate an infrastructure asset and the se of it at the end of its life as well as the up-front rchase it.

and standardised – Administrative costs for both nould be minimised unless there are clear benefits nding and financing arrangements.

cases – Funding and financing policies should the majority of cases. If needed, alternative or nisms should be added to provide flexibility and

Funding requirements are affected by service quality and demand growth

Figure 31: Multiple factors can drive the need for investment



Source: Te Waihanga

Charging those who benefit from an infrastructure service should be the main funding option.

Charging people directly for the services they get from the infrastructure they use has a range of benefits. Charging those who benefit gives infrastructure providers direct information on how many people are using the service and a revenue stream to fund upgrades where they're needed. This helps providers to better plan for how they can improve their service to manage periods of high demand. It might mean planning to build new infrastructure, but it also encourages innovation. If the cost of providing infrastructure increases and users aren't prepared to pay the higher price, providers have an incentive to find alternative ways to provide quality services at a lower cost.

Charging also encourages people to think about when they use infrastructure or whether they need to use it at all. For example, charging to use a busy road during peak times can encourage people to take public transport or travel at other times. This approach is already at used in sectors such as electricity.355 Prices are often higher during the business day than overnight or in the weekends, encouraging users to charge their electric vehicles and run their washing machines, clothes dryers and dishwashers overnight when there's spare capacity. It can also encourage the use of technology that takes advantage of spare capacity, for instance through timers that automatically turn on hot water cylinders in the early hours of the morning.

The principle that the person who benefits pays applies to many infrastructure services:

- · In wastewater, allowing local authorities to rate wastewater based on volumes creates an important link between the services provided and the costs to users. It encourages the use of water-efficient toilets and basic maintenance to reduce leaks.
- · In water, a greater use of charging based on volume of water used (volumetric charging) encourages users to use less, making it an effective mechanism for water conservation.
- In transport, pricing that's time, location and distance sensitive can reduce congestion on busy roads by smoothing peak demand. This helps avoid the need for costly infrastructure upgrades in complex urban environments.

than residents.

Changes in technology can spark changes to infrastructure pricing. For instance, the electrification of the vehicle fleet will cause revenue from fuel taxes to decline. This is a challenge because fuel taxes currently provide a large share of overall transport funding. Digital technologies enable road use to be priced in a more sophisticated way. There's a need therefore, to reform the transport funding system.

Some infrastructure charges, like waste levies and parking fines, discourage behaviour that has negative social or environmental impacts, like landfilling too much waste or overstaying parking time limits. While we often use these, they can be set in legislation or regulation and infrequently updated. To ensure these charges are effective over time, they should be automatically adjusted for inflation.

The transport funding system will need to change.

Many of New Zealand's existing transport funding tools have been world leading, but increasingly they're in need of change. The existing transport funding system:

- · Is a source of inequity between road users.
- Provides few demand management signals to resolve congestion issues or contribute to emissions reductions.
- shift increases.356

In addition, while revenue from traditional transport funding sources wasn't declining prior to the COVID-19 pandemic,³⁵⁷ it's increasingly insufficient to meet the requirements of new infrastructure. How New Zealand pays for large-scale transport projects is a challenging issue, particularly when these projects are intended to enable greater housing and urban renewal, as the users and the beneficiaries of the projects may not be the same. At the same time, debt limits are constraining local government's contribution to land transport projects. Unlike other categories of infrastructure, transport funding is complicated by the fact that assets generally don't generate revenue once built.

As work on a new transport funding system continues, it will need to consider:

- · How to reflect adequately the cost of infrastructure provision to users, potentially including variations in infrastructure costs between locations.
- How social costs, such as peak-time urban road congestion and carbon emissions, are passed on to users.
- The role of technology and especially digital technology.
- The contributions from users across different modes.
- need to be addressed outside the system.

Better communication is needed to improve public understanding of infrastructure funding options, including pricing for services.

It will be important to build public understanding and acceptance of the transition towards different ways of pricing and funding infrastructure. Pricing approaches vary across different infrastructure sectors (see the 'pricing across the sectors' box below) and existing approaches don't always support provision of quality infrastructure in an equitable and efficient way. However, pricing mechanisms where those who benefit pay aren't always well supported unless people understand the benefits of implementing them.

Better communication about infrastructure choices, including the link between how infrastructure is paid for and the quality of the services that are provided, could help improve community understanding and acceptance of pricing for infrastructure services and other funding options. This could be done through infrastructure providers' regular communications with their customers, or new information campaigns.

· In tourism, a greater use of the tourism levy to fund tourism infrastructure could assist in closing a funding gap for councils that have a greater proportion of infrastructure demand growth from tourists

Faces some long-term sustainability challenges as vehicles become more efficient or as modal

The extent to which equity considerations will be addressed directly within the funding system or

Pricing across the sectors

Infrastructure service prices should generally be service-based and cost-reflective.³⁵⁸

Service-based means prices reflect service types and levels. This is how most of us pay for electricity or telecommunications. For example, there are different prices for phone and data services depending on how many calls you make or data you use and whether you use voice or data services.

Cost-reflective means prices reflect the cost of supplying the service. Cost-reflective pricing often means that there's a fixed cost, as well as some charges that vary with use. A fixed access charge (to cover fixed costs, such as the cost of an electricity connection) can be set alongside charges that cover variable costs, such as the amount of electricity used.

Although the water, transport and waste sectors use some service-based and cost-reflective pricing, this approach is inconsistent across services and regions. For instance, transport infrastructure is funded through a combination of fuel taxes, road-user charges, rates and other user charges like tolls and public transport fares. Road-user charges are related to the cost of providing roads, as they are higher for heavier vehicles that have greater impacts on maintenance costs. However, transport charges are not typically location or time-based and as a result, don't send signals to users to avoid congested urban roads at peak times.

Local government development contributions are a good method of funding infrastructure, but a standardised process is needed.

Councils charge developers of land for the cost of the infrastructure that's needed to service new housing (like new roads, wastewater infrastructure, parks and libraries). These charges are called development contributions and are consistent with Principle 1, the benefit principle and Principle 3, the transparency principle (see Table 4). The purpose of development contributions is to recover a fair, equitable and proportionate share of the total cost of infrastructure necessary to service growth over the long-term. The aim is to create a clear link between the demand for new infrastructure (caused by more housing) and the cost of providing that infrastructure. In principle, this can be achieved by dividing the cost of building new infrastructure by the level of new housing demand. This amount would then be used to set what developers need to pay to fund the infrastructure costs associated with new housing.

Councils need to follow processes set out in legislation when calculating development contributions. However, in reality, the way these contributions are calculated is open to interpretation. This leads to debate between councils and developers on how much the developers need to pay, which causes delays. This can be especially challenging when a new development causes the need for a step-change in infrastructure capacity, making attribution for a single development more difficult. If development contributions are set too low, a funding gap can emerge. If they're set too high, housing development might be impeded.

A single legislative process, similar to national building standards, would make it easier for councils to charge development contributions. A consistent, standardised process could reduce legal challenges, uncertainty and cost. This is unlikely to go as far as common charges for all locations, but it could standardise the calculation methodology for all local authorities to use.

Rating of Crown properties is consistent with funding and financing principles.

Taxes and rates raise money to fund central and local government spending. However, there are some cases where landowners and others who use infrastructure are exempted from paying taxes and rates, or making other payments in lieu. This can lead to a gap between the funds collected and the amount that needs to be spent on infrastructure. Those receiving the exemptions also have no incentive to try to reduce their use of infrastructure.

Currently, Crown property is exempt from local government rates.³⁵⁹ Exempted property include schools, hospitals and some defence force land, despite much of the property requiring substantial infrastructure investment by local government. There are also some non-Crown exemptions.³⁶⁰ However, in some cases they may pay for services, such as fees for waste disposal or volumetric water charging.

Removing rates exemptions would remove the disadvantage of Crown land falling within council areas and would allow each council to apply rates more fairly to properties in its area. A range of options should be considered for how this can be introduced. It will be important to avoid creating excessive and unexpected financial liabilities to the Crown. Options could include phasing in requirements over time, ringfencing activities that don't generate demand for local government infrastructure, or implementing user pays systems for some services.

Sometimes the people who benefit from infrastructure are not just the users of that infrastructure.

When new infrastructure generates wider benefits, this should be reflected in funding arrangements. An example is when a train station is built, making it easy for people who live nearby to take public transport. This can benefit road users by shifting demand off congested roads and also increase the value of nearby properties.³⁶¹ In this example, the users aren't the only group to benefit from infrastructure services. Funding should come partly from the wider group that benefits, especially if it's difficult to recover the full cost by only charging the people using the service.

One way to do this is by levying charges based on the gain in property value. This is called 'value capture' charging. Value capture charging is consistent with the benefit principle. However, there can be practical challenges with value capture charges. Most importantly, people need to be made aware of the charge before property values increase. This may need to be before a project is built or even before it's announced.³⁶²

A targeted, additional rate for those landowners whose property values increase could be used as a value capture charge to fund new infrastructure. While targeted rates are already widely used to fund improvements,³⁶³ further clarification is needed on whether councils can legally use a change in land value as the basis for a targeted rate.³⁶⁴ There are also other roadblocks to using them more widely, which arise from consultative processes at the local level.³⁶⁵ These should be considered as part of the review of local government.

Government funding is justified in some cases

There's a place for a public subsidy when there are wider social benefits or it's needed on the grounds of equity.

For some types of infrastructure, like schools and hospitals, charging users would not be enough to match the need for their services or the benefits they offer. Public transport is another example where the wider social and environmental benefits justify a public subsidy.³⁶⁶ There are also instances where vulnerable groups, which could be those on low incomes or with high needs, require some level of public subsidy. The primary health sector is an example of low-income consumers receiving targeted subsidies. In the energy sector, Work and Income administer the Winter Energy Payment that helps with the cost of heating over the winter months for at-risk New Zealanders.³⁶⁷ When subsidies are needed, they represent an exception to Principle 1, the benefit principle (see Table 4). However, consistency with Principle 3, the transparency principle, must remain by making the level of subsidy transparent and appropriately targeted.

Direct government funding is important, but must be managed carefully.

Central and local government will need to continue funding some infrastructure out of general taxes or rates, particularly where:

- It's not practical to exclude users who do not pay direct prices. This applies, for instance, to hospitals, parks and footpaths.
- · Wider beneficiaries are difficult to identify or are spread widely among the community. This applies to primary and secondary education.
- · Infrastructure is provided for social equity reasons. This applies to libraries, schools, community facilities and social housing.

In these cases, a mix of government funding and direct pricing may be appropriate. Where this applies, there's a case to increase infrastructure funding to address important challenges. However, these instances require careful management of public funds as the resulting cross-subsidies can mean that one group of people is required to pay for use by another group. Where this approach is taken, government subsidies for infrastructure should continue to follow the funding and financing principles.

Infrastructure often has implications for equity, but lowering prices isn't always the answer.

The pricing of infrastructure services can lead to fairness and equity issues for low-income users if it's not matched by appropriate policies to offset these effects. However, making changes to pricing isn't necessarily the right way to manage these issues. This is because any policy decision to lower prices for all users below the cost of provision can result in funding problems that restrict infrastructure services. This can create other equity issues.

Prices need to be applied consistently to provide sustainable funding for infrastructure services and to encourage the efficient use of infrastructure networks. For example, charging for water use encourages all consumers to conserve water. Similarly, congestion pricing rewards those who choose not to travel during peak times and provides a source of revenue to fund public transport for those who still need to travel at those times. Well-designed pricing is essential for efforts to manage demand, but the benefits of pricing require policies to ensure affordability issues aren't created for vulnerable New Zealanders. These could include targeted subsidies, discounts and rebates.

A comprehensive assessment of social assistance tools, particularly those held by government agencies outside the infrastructure sector should be undertaken when addressing infrastructure equity issues for vulnerable and disadvantaged New Zealanders to ensure they continue to have access. Assistance should be targeted to the vulnerable, as it's often more effective when focused on people rather than places.^{368,369} Place-based approaches to mitigating equity impacts can have unintended consequences as people move in to take advantage of improved infrastructure or cheaper prices. For instance, in certain circumstances New Zealand transport investments have been shown to raise land prices and increase the cost of housing in areas that benefit.³⁷⁰ However, a place-based approach can be appropriate for certain infrastructure and under certain circumstances, for instance when low-income groups show limited mobility (which can't be addressed through other policies³⁷¹) or where targeted groups have a strong connection to the land.

Consolidating capital funding of infrastructure can improve access to finance and value for money.

Central government has established various infrastructure-related capital funds in the last decade. A selection of these totalling \$32 billion is shown in Table 5. Some of these funds are still active, while others have been exhausted or largely exhausted. Each fund has its own criteria for how it can be spent, repayment terms, and reporting and other requirements. Dedicated funding bodies that are responsible for the funds are usually created within relevant government agencies. This helps make the purpose of the funds clearer, but it also spreads expertise across agencies and can result in inconsistent project appraisal and delivery. Some also duplicate existing funding sources and can create uncertainty in a market that depends on a consistent, predictable pipeline of work.

Fewer consolidated funds in the future would result in better prioritisation and coordination of programmes at the national level (see Case Study 13). Reducing the number of funds would make it easier to apply consistent, rigorous and transparent criteria and ensure that project evaluation and selection is done by professional management and governance boards. Greater consolidation can also increase competition, improve the predictability and stability of funds, take advantage of economies of scale and build a capability to deliver best value for money. It may provide opportunities to improve access to financing by using a combination of grants, loans and investments (including domestic and international) to increase financing options.

A consolidated fund should be consistent with best practice principles, provide transparency and be required to demonstrate value for money through an agreed prioritisation and cost-benefit analysis methodology. It should deliver on the political expectations set out in Government Policy Statements. Consolidated funds could still allow for earmarking of funds to specific purposes when appropriate.

Table 5: Examples of recent infrastructure funds

Examples of recent infrastructure funds	Amount (NZD)	Year
Ultrafast Broadband Initiative ^{372,373,374}	1.5bn	2011, 2015
Rural Broadband Initiative Phase 1 and 2 ³⁷⁵	430m	2011, 2017
Urban Cycleways Programme ³⁷⁶	100m	2014
Irrigation Acceleration Fund and Crown Irrigation Investments ³⁷⁷	400m	2011, 2015
Christchurch Regeneration Acceleration Facility ³⁷⁸	300m	2018
Housing Infrastructure Fund (consisting of 10-year interest free loans) ^{379,380}	1bn	2016
Provincial Growth Fund ³⁸¹	3bn	2017
Tourism Infrastructure Fund ³⁸²	25m	2019
New Zealand Upgrade Programme ^{383,384}	14bn	2020, 2021
COVID-19 Response and Recovery Fund: Infrastructure Reference Group ³⁸⁵	3bn	2020
Three Waters Reform: Stimulus and Reform Funding ³⁸⁶	761m	2020
Māori and Public Housing Renewable Energy Fund ³⁸⁷	28m	2020
Housing Acceleration Fund ^{388,389}	3.8bn	2021
Three Waters Reform: Establishment of Water Service Entities ³⁹⁰	296m	2021
Three Waters Reform: Support for Local Government Transition ³⁹¹	2.5bn	2021
Hypothecated Emission Trading Scheme Auction Revenue ³⁹²	3bn	2022
National Land Transport Fund ³⁹³	16.3bn	2021–2024



International Examples of Infrastructure Funds

New South Wales Restart NSW Fund³⁹⁴

In 2011, the New South Wales (NSW) Government established the Restart NSW Fund to enable the funding and delivery of high-priority infrastructure projects that improve the state's economic growth and productivity. Over AUD\$35 billion from the NSW government's asset recycling programme has been paid into the fund to date to be invested into infrastructure projects. The Restart NSW Fund is governed by the Restart NSW Fund Act 2011. Under the Act, Infrastructure NSW is responsible for assessing and recommending projects that improve economic growth and productivity across all sectors. To get funding through the Restart NSW Fund, a project must be recommended by Infrastructure NSW and have a cost-benefit ratio greater than 1. Projects funded from the Restart NSW Fund include a mixture of NSW government agency-led infrastructure projects, as well as local and community infrastructure projects being delivered by local government, non-government organisations and other entities. 30% of Restart

NSW Fund is targeted at regional and rural areas over the lifetime of the fund.

Canada's blended approach to infrastructure funds³⁹⁵

The Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program delivers funding to communities to support the Investing in Canada Plan. The programme provides long-term, stable funding delivered by Infrastructure Canada to invest in infrastructure that supports environmental, community and economic objectives. Under the programme, over CAD\$33 billion in funding is being delivered through bilateral agreements between Infrastructure Canada and each of the Canadian provinces and territories. Infrastructure Canada evaluates proposals for funding and has an on-going role in tracking the status of projects. Infrastructure Canada also manages a number of infrastructure-related funds on behalf of the Canadian government, applying consistent service standards across its portfolio.

System solutions to enable effective financing arrangements

Debt funding for long-lived infrastructure is equitable.

The financing of infrastructure is important because it exists for generations. Financing allows upfront costs to be spread across time, so funding can be more closely aligned with the use of services by current and future users. In principle, aligning financing decisions with the life of infrastructure can mean costs are more fairly shared across generations, something known as intergenerational equity. This results in a better overall outcome for society. However, this approach locks in infrastructure costs for future generations that might have preferred other options. This is particularly relevant in the age of climate change and rapid technology change.

Financing infrastructure can also speed up delivery compared to cash funding, although there's an interest cost associated with this. In general, communities will benefit from accelerating investments where they have clear benefits despite these interest costs.

Alternative ownership structures can improve access to funding and financing.

Some councils and local infrastructure entities are unable to borrow more money to finance the infrastructure they need to keep up with population growth, large asset renewals or service quality upgrades. This problem arises due to two factors:

- · Debt incurred to build infrastructure sits on council balance sheets. This happens regardless of liable for all debts associated with publicly provided local infrastructure.
- Councils can only borrow at favourable interest rates if their debt-to-income ratios remain within charges is typically unpopular with voters.³⁹⁸

The Infrastructure Funding and Financing Act 2020 seeks to address this problem by using Special Purpose Vehicles (SPVs), where financing of local infrastructure can occur without affecting council debt levels. An SPV established under the Act is a standalone legal entity that's not owned by a council, so debt isn't on the council's balance sheet. SPVs can charge levies on properties benefiting from infrastructure provided by the SPVs. Based on this funding source, the SPV can raise finance to undertake infrastructure development. 399,400

Public-private-partnerships are a viable option for delivering infrastructure.

A public-private-partnership (PPP) is a public-private risk-sharing framework that's widely used internationally. Unlike traditional methods for delivering projects, PPPs involve the private sector and aim to boost efficiency and effectiveness through the project lifecycles. In New Zealand, a PPP is typically a long-term contract for the delivery of a service that involves the construction of new infrastructure or improvement to existing infrastructure that is financed from external sources. Full legal ownership of the assets is retained by the Crown.⁴⁰¹ This arrangement has the advantage of spreading project cost over an extended period, freeing up public funds. By accessing private sector financing, projects can also be delivered more quickly than they might otherwise.

There are currently eight PPPs⁴⁰² planned or underway in New Zealand and these have a combined total cost of \$4.2 billion.⁴⁰³ There have been some high-profile examples of PPP project delays and cost overruns. However, the five PPP projects currently operational in New Zealand have generally been delivered on-time and on-budget for the Crown. Each operational project has experienced delays of less than six months.404

In the right circumstances, the PPP model can offer better value for money than more traditional procurement approaches. When looking at how to deliver new infrastructure projects, the government should rigorously test the potential for using a PPP as part of the procurement phase.

7

whether the debt has been incurred by a council directly or indirectly through a council-controlled organisation or an entity that's majority-owned by the council.³⁹⁶ This means councils are ultimately

levels required by rating agencies (often called their 'debt ceilings').³⁹⁷ Taking on more debt without increasing rates and user charges brings financial costs and risks, but increasing rates and user

7.2.4. Recommendations

No.	What	How	Who
47	Improve equitable funding of local	Investigate options and timing to phase in the removal of existing Crown exemptions from paying rates, recognising when a demand for infrastructure is generated.	DIA
ULH		The approach should avoid creating excessive and unexpected financial liabilities.	
	() 2027-2031		
48	Reform the transport funding system	Implement a new, fit-for-purpose transport funding system that's sustainable and adequate for meeting future transport investment requirements.	МоТ
	➡ KCM	The system should incorporate principles for user charges and best-practice funding and include shifting vehicles to time, location, distance and lovel of service based pricing	
	2022-2031	Establishing a new system should include:	
		a. Establishing necessary transport funding requirements.	
		 Introducing necessary complements or replacements to Road User Charges and Petrol Excise Duty. 	
		 Determining how additional funding, if required, should be collected. 	
49	Improve and streamline the application of development contributions	Implement a single national legislative process for development contributions policy to assist territorial authorities in interpreting existing legislation for determining development contributions policy. This could be similar to National Building Standards.	DIA
	🕞 FFI		
	() 2027-2031		
50	 50 Consolidate Fragmented infrastructure capital funding pools should be consolidated and integrated in a transparent infrastructure capital funds. 50 Consolidate consolidated and integrated in a transparent infrastructure capital funds. 		Treasury
	🕞 AIP, FFI, RNS	for infrastructure would enable the Government to prioritise	
	() 2022-2031	 investments based on national significance and net benefits and enable greater public transparency of infrastructure capital funding decisions. 	
		How funding is held and distributed should:	
		a. Be set out transparently.	
		 Include a consideration of the use of grants, loans and investments, or some combination of these. 	
51	Improve the ability to debt fund infrastructure	As a way of accessing alternate financing and avoiding debt on local government balance sheets: a. Investigate opportunities to utilise the Infrastructure Funding	Treasury, DIA
	🕞 LFF	and Financing Act 2020.	
	() 2027-2041	new infrastructure investments.	
D R	efer to Section 10	() Time	

No.	What	How
52	Improve funding of infrastructure services through targeted funding tools LFF, FFI, TCQ (\$ 2027-2031	 Establish targeted funding a. Tourism: Ensure that the Tourism Levy can be use by local authorities with are otherwise struggling b. Wastewater: Introduce le of local authorities to dir to create a better link be c. Waste: Investigate what achieve the objectives of and the National Waste appropriately.
53	Encourage the use of value capture tools to fund infrastructure for growth BUP, FFI, LFF, MHT	Enable value capture tools more funding is available f for users and communities
54	Increase infrastructure funding to meet our infrastructure challenges and boost productivity FFI, TIC (§ 2027-2050	Given that current expend to provide for infrastructur material increase in infrast private sources is required and boost productivity. The government should in where there are opportun productivity growth, resilie environmental outcomes. on rigorous assessments of value for money.
55	Ensure that infrastructure charges keep pace with inflation LFF (§ 2022-2026	Infrastructure related char legislation or regulation sh
56	Improve public understanding of how infrastructure is funded FFI \$2022-2026	 Improve communication a funded to build public und a. How infrastructure is priand what implications the infrastructure provision. b. The link between how in of services that are provision.

		Wh	10
g tools for the fo e International Vis ed for tourism inf high internationa g to secure fundin legislative change rect-rate wastew etween services t funding mechan of the Waste Mini Strategy and inc	llowing applications: sitor Conservation and trastructure, especially al visitor numbers that ng sources. that clarifies the ability ater based on volumes, and costs to users. tisms will best misation Act 2008 entivise behaviour	ME Mf	BIE, MoT, DIA, E
ls through legisla for infrastructure s.	ation to ensure that that generates value	Tre	easury
diture levels are ire needs in com structure funding d to meet our inf ncrease infrastru- nities to use inve- ience and improv Investments sho of which project	unlikely to be sufficient ing decades, a from both public and trastructure challenges acture funding stment to support vements in buld be made based s deliver positive	Tre	easury
rges, fees and le hould be adjuste	vies that are set out in	Tre	easury, Local overnment
about how infras derstanding, incl iced in different i his has for equity infrastructure is p vided.	tructure is priced and uding: nfrastructure sectors, and the quality of aid for and the quality	Te Inf Pro	Waihanga, rastructure oviders
	Refer to Section 10		🕓 Time



7.3 An enabling planning and consenting framework

He anga whakaahei whakamahere, whakaae hoki

Our planning and consenting system needs to be strategic, coordinated and commensurate with the urgency of the challenge.

We use the planning and consenting system to make decisions on how we protect and use natural resources like our water and land. There are many organisations involved in this system, including central government agencies, regional councils and territorial authorities. There are also many policies that affect the planning system, such as national policy statements, environmental standards and regional, unitary and district plans.

It's often a long and costly process to gain planning approval for infrastructure. This will make it difficult to provide the infrastructure we need to meet future challenges, such as those relating to a net-zero carbon emissions economy, larger populations, affordable housing and a greater resilience to shocks and stresses, as well as lift our environmental performance. Our planning system must enable us to get the infrastructure we need to meet these challenges.

7.3.1. Context

A good planning system provides a number of benefits for infrastructure.

A good planning system:

- Enables infrastructure to be constructed, maintained and upgraded in a timely way to ensure that the government can fulfil its obligation to deliver infrastructure services.
- Efficiently manages the environmental impacts of infrastructure development in ways that are proportional to the magnitude of impacts.
- Considers the benefits of infrastructure provision, including national environmental benefits from reducing greenhouse gas emissions, as well as the costs.
- Coordinates across multiple institutions and provides clear and certain guidance on how to consent projects.

Our planning system slows down essential infrastructure projects.

New Zealand suffers from long delays between project planning and delivery. Many infrastructure projects must go through a resource consent or designation process. Resource consent applications typically require detailed analyses of the environmental, social, cultural and economic impacts of projects. They're tested through a hearings process that has been described as adversarial, with the right to appeal decisions to the Environment Court or High Court. This process can take a long time and is costly for everyone involved.⁴⁰⁵

As well as requiring resource consent, infrastructure projects can require approvals from multiple agencies, including funding approval. Some infrastructure projects, such as schools and hospitals, also require a building consent. When these approval processes are poorly coordinated, they can add further costs and delays, or even halt a project.⁴⁰⁶

Infrastructure requires special consideration within the planning framework because of its unique characteristics.

Infrastructure often depends on an entire functioning network such as a water system or transport network. Its benefits are usually distributed over a large area. These benefits can serve whole communities (in the case of a school or town hall), cities (through a road network), regions (through a water system) or all of New Zealand (through our country's electricity network). We rely on a planning system that recognises and enables infrastructure that delivers these wider benefits.

It can take years to get consents for infrastructure projects like wind farms.

Figure 32 shows the time taken to obtain a resource consent decision for 10 wind farm applications. Four were for wind farms exceeding 200 megawatt capacity and six were for smaller wind farms.⁴⁰⁷ In every case, the consenting decisions for large projects took more than three years. The longest took more than five years and was withdrawn. The average for the four larger wind farms was 3.8 years, compared to 1.8 years for the smaller wind farms. Reducing consenting timeframes for large wind farms will be essential to meeting our net-zero carbon emissions targets by 2050.

No consent applications have been made for offshore wind farms, but they could occur in the next 10 years. Among European countries, Denmark and the United Kingdom appear to have the fastest consenting timeframes, at less than 1.5 years for offshore wind farms.⁴⁰⁸ There are similarities in their consenting processes that we should consider when reviewing our onshore and offshore consenting systems.

Consents take far longer for large wind farms

Figure 32: Time taken to consent wind farms in New Zealand



Source: Te Waihanga

Consenting delays are only the tip of the iceberg.

Public infrastructure projects can be delayed for many reasons, including poor coordination among organisations making decisions. For example, Auckland's Northern Busway was originally proposed in 1987 but was only completed in 2008. The 21-year timeframe was primarily caused by the number of planning and funding agencies involved, rather than consenting delays.⁴⁰⁹ Auckland's second busway, the Eastern Busway, is currently scheduled for completion in 2028, over 20 years since planning began.⁴¹⁰ By contrast, Brisbane's first busway was proposed in 1995 and completed in 2001, only six years later.⁴¹¹ Brisbane delivered two more busways between 2004 and 2011.⁴¹²

Consenting infrastructure is costly and the costs are increasing.

The resource consenting process is not only time consuming, but also costly (see Figure 33). On average, consenting accounts for 5.5% of the total cost of infrastructure projects.⁴¹³ It includes application preparation and hearing costs, as well as financing costs due to delays. These costs appear to be higher than in other developed countries.

. ..

The consenting process can add significant time and cost to projects

Figure 33: Key statistics on the time and cost impacts of infrastructure consenting processes







New Zealand infrastructure developers are spending \$1.29b annually to consent their projects

Source: Te Waihanga, data from Sapere (2021)

The time it takes to gain consent is another important cost, with considerable differences across projects. A consent decision takes between 63 and 91 days for a typical project, but increases to between 167 and 214 days for projects that are a little more complex. For even more complex projects, the time increases to between 365 and 425 days. Each day taken up by this process corresponds to approximately \$4,000 in direct costs incurred by the applicant. It's important to identify opportunities to speed up the consenting time for infrastructure projects so that communities, cities, regions and New Zealand as a whole can make the most of the shared services that infrastructure provides.

The cost of consenting appears to be rising over time, as councils are taking longer to make decisions and application requirements are becoming more complex. Consenting costs and project delays can be significant even for relatively straightforward infrastructure upgrades, as shown in Figure 33. Consenting is also disproportionately large for smaller projects. It accounts for more than 20% of the cost of projects under \$1 million but less than 2% of the cost of projects over \$100 million.

Infrastructure consenting costs an estimated \$1.29 billion every year. If we were able to reduce this by 50%, we would save the same amount of money that's needed to build an additional 270 megawatts of wind generation capacity every year. This would be enough to meet over half of our net-zero carbon emissions goals, which requires us to build around 490 megawatts of renewable energy generation every year.

Source: Sapere, Transpower, Te Waihanga Analysis⁴¹⁴

7.3.2. What we've heard

In the Aotearoa 2050 survey undertaken by Te Waihanga, 82% of respondents said that the environment should be either a 'very high' or 'high priority' when making decisions on how New Zealand should get ahead with its infrastructure. The length of time it takes to build new transport options was ranked as the fifth most important infrastructure issue.

Infrastructure providers have told us that a significant increase in the rate of investment in infrastructure will be required. The existing planning system poses challenges to this by adding uncertainty, time and cost.

7.3.3. Strategic direction

Enabling the government's obligation to deliver infrastructure

The planning system must enable infrastructure to be delivered as required by legislation.

Legislation⁴¹⁵ requires the government to ensure that the wellbeing of New Zealanders is upheld and improved through:

- The supply and use of electricity.
- · The supply of telecommunications.
- · An effective, efficient and safe land transport system.
- The protection of the interests of New Zealand.
- Public safety and the maintenance of a just society.
- Improving, promoting and protecting public health.
- Access to free enrolment and free education.

These services are delivered in many ways. For example, the government owns and maintains infrastructure such as state highways, defence facilities, hospitals and schools. For other types of infrastructure, such as water networks, it sets the quality standards that local government must comply with. For electricity and telecommunications, which are delivered privately, the government must ensure that policy and regulations enable firms to deliver services to New Zealanders in the most efficient and effective way

The resource management reforms need to enable the government to deliver on this legislative mandate, rather than inhibit it. The proposed Natural and Built Environments legislation doesn't need to relitigate whether it's the right decision to improve safety on a road, build a new prison or upgrade a transmission line. The mandate to provide for infrastructure has already been given to the government under existing legislation.

Instead, decision-makers under the proposed National and Built Environments legislation should consider 'how' legislatively mandated infrastructure can be delivered within environmental constraints, not 'if' the infrastructure should happen. The planning system should lead to decisions that improve social and economic outcomes, while balancing the need to protect the environment. The outcomes could be safety on a road, increased prison capacity or extra transmission lines to meet electricity demand. Decision-makers will need to consider how infrastructure that's required by legislation can be delivered in ways that meet the requirements for protecting the environment.

Resource Management Act directions have been applied too broadly.

The Resource Management Act (RMA) focuses on environmental planning. Under the RMA, conditions can be imposed on infrastructure providers to avoid, remedy or mitigate the environmental effects of their projects. These conditions have become very broad, increasing costs and affecting the viability of some government projects. For example, the RMA has been used to require unrelated activities such as establishment of mussel beds,⁴¹⁶ the construction of a national hockey stadium⁴¹⁷ and redevelopment of a pony club to be funded in order for an infrastructure project to gain consent.⁴¹⁸ In some cases the definition of an 'effect' has extended beyond the management of natural and physical resources to effects like impacts on neighbouring businesses.

Other regulation that creates unintended barriers should be reviewed.

The RMA isn't the only example of regulation that can create barriers to infrastructure provision or increase costs. Regulations that are intended to achieve other worthy outcomes, such as those relating to environmental quality, health and safety and building quality, may deliver limited benefits at a high cost or result in unintended consequences for project delivery.

The supply of 'safe drinking water' and meeting obligations regarding wastewater and stormwater.

Anecdotally, some recent changes to health and safety rules may slow down construction without delivering significant safety benefits. Examples include recent changes to temporary traffic management procedures, which have been reported to increase roadwork costs and slow down project delivery in urban areas,⁴¹⁹ and requirements to use scaffolding when working on single storey buildings.⁴²⁰ Restrictions on the hours when work can be done may have a similar effect.

While health and safety should be a priority, an evidence-based approach is needed for designing health and safety requirements. Consideration of the costs and benefits of all new requirements is required, focusing on those areas where the benefits of action are demonstrated to be the greatest.

Using spatial planning to coordinate infrastructure delivery

Effective spatial planning relies on well-informed long-term decisions.

Regional spatial planning offers an opportunity to take a strategic approach by considering how different investments in and uses of the land can have wider economic, social, cultural and environmental impacts.⁴²¹ Regional spatial planning is discussed at greater length in Section 6.2.

Addressing place-based social and economic issues like unemployment, poverty, housing affordability and crime should all be as central to spatial planning as the delivery of roads and water. The longer outlook and strategic nature of spatial planning means everyone involved can commit to a long-term view for the projects and planning initiatives that are needed.

As part of the spatial planning process, all participants (regional councils, territorial authorities, central and local government infrastructure providers, mana whenua and private companies) need to supply high-quality data and information. This can include population growth projections, environmental reports and information on locations suitable for energy resources and sites of cultural, historic or natural significance. This information needs to be regularly refreshed so that decision-makers can make upto-date decisions when spatial plans are reviewed. Robust and consistent data on these issues is also essential for making informed decisions on consent applications.

However, spatial planning may not work for all infrastructure providers or provide communities with the right infrastructure solutions. Some infrastructure, like electricity generation and transmission, simply has to be placed in certain locations to be viable. Spatial planning must also not impose unreasonable requirements on the ability of private providers to operate commercially. An example would be a requirement to share commercially sensitive information. This is particularly relevant to electricity and telecommunications entities.

Supporting a fast-paced and sustained infrastructure build that meets strategic objectives

The planning system is currently undergoing significant reform and needs to meet the pace of the challenges ahead.

"There is an urgent need to decarbonise the transport and process heat sectors through electrification and to accommodate many more renewable and distributed energy resources into the system ... Meeting this will require the addition of around 25 new, grid-scale, renewable generation and battery developments to 2035 and significant investment to expand and increase the capacity and flexibility of the transmission system."

- Transpower, Transpower Tomorrow, 2018

The current system is 'effects' based. This means it focuses on the impacts that a development or activity may have on the immediate environment. Those seeking consents need to minimise the impacts on other residents, activities and the environment. Under this system, an infrastructure project that makes

a positive contribution to the national environment (for instance, a hydroelectric scheme) but a negative contribution to a local environment can be delayed or not given consent. This approach can have a large impact on infrastructure, because infrastructure regularly delivers benefits to a larger group of people than that in the area where it's built.

"We tend to think of fraught environmental issues as environment versus economy. But sometimes the conflict is environment versus environment. Building a hydroelectric scheme on a wild and scenic river is one. Hydroelectricity is good for the environment because it is a way of generating electricity without emitting the greenhouse gas carbon dioxide. Wild and scenic rivers are good for the environment too – they are a precious part of our environmental heritage, and New Zealanders love their rivers."

Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment

Quarrying provides an example. Existing quarries need to be expanded and new quarries opened to meet the increasing demand for aggregates such as gravel, which is an essential component in roads, highways, railroads, bridges, dams and other residential and commercial construction. Because of the low value and high transport cost of aggregates, quarries need to be close to demand, which often means being on the edge of cities. But residents are reluctant to live near quarries because of the impacts they have on their local areas such as noise, dust, unsightly views and truck movements. These issues are becoming more of a problem as our cities grow and boundaries expand, and are making it more difficult to gain consent. This in turn can compromise other objectives, such as improving housing supply.

A consistent performance management framework would provide standardised direction on the management of effects like noise and dust.

For nationally and regionally significant activities that can have negative local impacts, there'll always be trade-offs. But the current decision-making framework isn't working well in resolving this and a more consistent performance management framework is needed. This would give a clear and consistent national direction, with clear rules for operators on the management of issues such as noise and dust.

The reform of the existing planning system needs to set clearly prioritised, focused, national objectives that, when appropriate, can override regional and local objectives. Meeting the net-zero carbon emissions target and building cities that are affordable for future generations means infrastructure will need to be built in certain locations at certain times. The government will need to provide national direction on how objectives like these are prioritised.

In some cases, a faster decision-making process for infrastructure will be warranted.

The planning system should recognise infrastructure's unique contribution to achieving wider social, economic, cultural and environmental objectives. Specific guidance is needed to make sure that a clear consenting process exists for infrastructure projects, while still managing environmental effects. The benefits of a faster decision-making process have been seen following natural disasters (such as the Hurunui/Kaikōura earthquake discussed in Case Study 14) when the process was streamlined and infrastructure services were established far more quickly than would have normally been the case under the RMA. With the right enabling environment, New Zealand can build with speed.

New infrastructure can deliver significant public value. Its scale may have some impacts locally but provide substantial regional or even national benefits. Infrastructure can unlock a green economy through sustainable energy, improve water guality for entire regions and reduce congestion in cities. Network infrastructure that operates as part of a system (like roads and power lines) is only as good as its weakest part. For example, electricity transmission can't be delivered with only a 90% complete transmission network and a rail network can't work if rail bridges can't be crossed. Sometimes this type of infrastructure needs to pass through sensitive environments so the rest of the wider network can function properly.

Infrastructure requires a planning system that's more permissive, based on a greater use of national standards and a lower need for consents. It includes more permitted activities, particularly where the effects are well known and understood and/or can be readily monitored. A mechanism is also needed for resolving conflicts between multiple outcomes to avoid the need for litigation.

7



Streamlining the consenting process for infrastructure after the Kaikoura earthquake

The 7.8-magnitude Hurunui/Kaikōura earthquake struck on 14 November 2016. It caused massive damage to the coastal road and rail routes between Picton and Christchurch. In response, the Hurunui/Kaikōura Earthquakes Recovery Act 2016 was passed on 12 December 2016. The Act was time limited (to 31 March 2018) and allowed for:

- · Activities that enabled an economic recovery, repair of land and infrastructure, safety and resilience, and the restoration of social and cultural wellbeing.
- Orders in Council to be passed as "necessary and desirable" to achieve the purpose of the Act.

The ensuing Hurunui/Kaikōura Earthquakes Recovery (Coastal Route and Other Matters) Order 2016 allowed for restoration work on the coastal corridor to be undertaken as a controlled, non-notified activity, with the following provisions:

- · Limited engagement and consultation.
- · Broad descriptions and desktop assessments.
- · No objections or appeal rights.
- Two pathways for RMA applications:
 - Before 31 March 2017: A nine-day process with conditions pre-written.
 - After 31 March 2017: A 21-day process.

The rail corridor was partially reopened within 10 months, and the State Highway was opened to all traffic by 15 December 2017. The \$1.2 billion project was completed in December 2020.422

7.3.4. Recommendations

lo.	What	How
57	Strengthen the government's mandate to deliver infrastructure	Ensure that the Natural and Built Environments legisla 'gives effect' to existing requirements for the governm deliver infrastructure.
	D NBE, CCI	
	<u>()</u> 2022-2026	
58	Improve the evidence- base for environmental	Robust and consistent data is essential for making infor decisions on environmental consent applications. Steps increase the quality of data available include:
	applications	effects of urban development and infrastructure on the quality of water, air, soil and biodiversity (species and habitat)
	© 2022-2031	 b. Centralisation of knowledge to enable consistent appli across regional jurisdictions, for the purpose of assess environmental consent applications.
59	Deliver reasonable environmental limits and targets in the Natural and Built Environments legislation	 Steps to achieve this recommendation include: a. Focusing on environmental limits and targets for matter sustaining life (for example air, water, soil and biodivers rather than human values and preferences (for example heritage, character and amenity). b. Standardising national minimum environmental limits.
	□ NBE	Where possible, ensure that environmental limits are measurable, targeted and guantifiable.
	() 2022-2026	
50	Develop greater certainty for infrastructure providers in the Natural and Built Environments legislation	 Steps that should be implemented to deliver greater certainty include: a. Standardising and codifying a National Planning Frame for infrastructure in the emerging Natural and Built Environments legislation, which sets requirements and conditions that infrastructure providers are required to for routine matters like noise and dust management, to minimise variations and increase certainty.
	③ 2022-2031	 Providing a mechanism for resolving conflicts between multiple outcomes to avoid litigation on the interpretati the outcomes.
		c. Narrowing the definition of 'effects' to those relating to natural and physical environment, so that other matters effects on trade competition) aren't unreasonably used restrict new infrastructure.
		 Requiring that externalities unrelated to natural and ph resources are addressed elsewhere, such as in a proje business case.

	Who
and Built Environments legislation requirements for the government to	MfE
ata is essential for making informed ntal consent applications. Steps to ata available include:	MfE
ce base on and knowledge of the opment and infrastructure on the il and biodiversity (species and	
vledge to enable consistent application ctions, for the purpose of assessing at applications.	
commendation include:	MfE

MfE, Te

Waihanga

ental limits and targets for matters
nple air, water, soil and biodiversity)
les and preferences (for example
d amenity).

- I minimum environmental limits.
- that environmental limits are nd quantifiable.

- difying a National Planning Framework e emerging Natural and Built ion, which sets requirements and ructure providers are required to meet e noise and dust management, to nd increase certainty.
- m for resolving conflicts between avoid litigation on the interpretation of
- on of 'effects' to those relating to the nvironment, so that other matters (like etition) aren't unreasonably used to ture.
- lities unrelated to natural and physical sed elsewhere, such as in a project

🕞 Refer to Section 10	
-----------------------	--

() Time


7.4 Accelerating technology use

Te whakatere ake i te whakamahinga o te hangarau

We need to accelerate the adoption and diffusion of technological and digital change.

A thriving world of innovators are developing technology that can revolutionise the way we plan, design, procure, construct, operate and decommission infrastructure. Digital twins can help our cities work more efficiently. New tunnelling technologies are lowering the cost of construction.⁴²³ Crowd sourcing can help speed up maintenance by making it easy for people to report faults like potholes. However, much of the technology we need to transform our infrastructure already exists. There's limited need for high-risk investments at the cutting edge of technology. New Zealand could see huge benefits through the fast adoption of existing technologies.

Adopting these technologies requires the infrastructure sector to be organised and coordinated so it can seize opportunities as they arise. There's much to gain. Existing technologies alone have the potential to lift infrastructure service levels for the vulnerable, reduce costs and overruns, improve operations and maintenance and decarbonise with greater speed.

7.4.1. Context

Technology uptake has been slow.

While other industries have embraced new technologies, infrastructure and construction lag. The characteristics of infrastructure can make it more difficult to adopt new technology. The long life of infrastructure can lock in older technologies. The need for a consistent approach across large infrastructure networks like roads and water networks can make it difficult to make incremental change. Fragmented and decentralised ownership or operation can make coordination across much of our infrastructure system expensive and unwieldy. Even so, there are many opportunities for technological change to improve our infrastructure.

Technology can improve productivity and lift service levels.

Technology can enable responsive and intelligent data-driven infrastructure systems. Technological innovation and prosperity are closely linked⁴²⁴ to the adoption of information and communications technologies (ICT), a key determinant of productivity in infrastructure.⁴²⁵ Technology presents New Zealand with an opportunity to address chronic productivity issues in the infrastructure sector. Currently, our construction sector uses ICT less than any other industry.⁴²⁶ While some infrastructure sectors, such as telecommunications and some regions have made considerable progress in technology adoption, others have failed to keep up.

New Zealand is well placed to leverage many of the advances in digital technology that have occurred in the past decade. We've built a high-quality broadband network and have coverage that, while not universal, is widespread. Strong market competition in sectors such as energy and telecommunications has proven important in incentivising pockets of technological excellence. New Zealand is also small and agile with a rich history of adopting new digital technologies with speed, dating back as far as 1985, when New Zealand was one of the first countries to adopt a national system of electronic fund transfers (known as EFTPOS).427

7.4.2. What we've heard

We've heard that industry hasn't invested significantly in technological advancements for several reasons: its major customers (in many cases, the government) haven't really demanded it and there has been a lack of certainty about a long-term pipeline of work, as well as serious labour and skills challenges. There is, though, a clear understanding and support for moves toward open data and recognition that common infrastructure metadata standards will be needed if we're to adopt digital twins and other digital technologies.

Submitters told us that a national digital strategy was needed to galvanise action and drive behaviour change. There was also a need for strong and clear mandated requirements at the procurement stage of a project. These could include requirements for digital modelling, efficiency dividends and decarbonisation that will speed up the adoption of technology across the infrastructure sector. A clearer pipeline of work for several decades to come would help reduce uncertainty and give industry the confidence to increase investment in capabilities and skills.

7.4.3. Strategic direction

Clear strategic direction and leadership

Central leadership and an all-of-government approach are critical to speeding up the use and spread of new technology.

Based on best practice from across the OECD,⁴²⁸ several common themes are key to stronger government leadership in the adoption of new technologies.

A national digital strategy: A clear strategic approach is a powerful lever for shaping a more intelligent and technology-enabled infrastructure system. National digital strategies must provide guidance on the growth and direction of infrastructure technology. The government is currently developing a Digital Strategy for Aotearoa.

Procurement: The government's procurement and contracting approach can drive the adoption of digital technology and the shared benefits this would offer to major infrastructure programmes. The government is the largest procurer of infrastructure in many sectors. The procurement requirements it sets can ripple through the wider infrastructure system. This means procurement can be used to increase the uptake and maturity of technology across the infrastructure system by:

- Encouraging vendors with strong technology experience.
- · Setting minimum efficiency dividends for major works.
- Including carbon emission targets.
- · Requiring regular data on the performance of infrastructure using common standards.

Climate change targets: Clear targets for reducing carbon emissions from infrastructure encourages the use of technology to help address the climate change impacts of infrastructure.

Spatial planning strategies: These can be used to reinforce the greater digitalisation of infrastructure by ensuring that the regulatory framework enables telecommunications and associated providers to invest in the network more easily and efficiently. Regional spatial plans should aspire to give industry more certainty in investing in technology and developing capabilities, particularly when combined with a clear long-term direction on the pipeline of infrastructure work.

Regulation: The legal and regulatory environment for setting and updating technical standards, such as minimum energy performance standards, needs to be responsive to technological change. Regulators must have the power and responsiveness to set standards that reflect this, as well as obligations to review them regularly.

Skills: A key constraint to progressing technology capabilities in the infrastructure space is labour market constraints.⁴²⁹ This is an important part of developing our workforce capacity and capabilities as detailed in Section 7.5.

Data for the public good

Prioritising data across infrastructure industries.

There's much to be gained from a data-rich infrastructure system. Project selection can be improved through more sophisticated modelling and better assessments of community needs. Entire networks can be better managed through digital twins and real-time pricing. Case Study 15 shows how maintenance can be streamlined through digitised asset management. Digital solutions can also help infrastructure operators and regulators to manage our critical national systems more effectively. Sharing data, with the appropriate security and privacy arrangements in place, can spark innovation and improve outcomes for users. But we'll only see the real expression of data when it's readily available.





Street Bump: using smartphones to support more efficient road maintenance

Potholes are a significant issue on the City of Boston's roads, and in the first guarter of 2014 the city filled more than 10,000. Historically, reporting potholes had been time consuming. It had led to under reporting, which often meant more damage to the road network occurred than might have otherwise been the case.

The City of Boston sought to use technology and innovation to make the identification of potholes more efficient and therefore, speed up their repair and reduce overall costs. This innovative initiative, called 'Street Bump', allowed an app to be installed on smartphones that used motion-sensing technology to detect potholes when they were

driven over. The initiative sought to crowd source information from residents on city road conditions. While there were numerous hotlines and websites in place for drivers to report potholes, Street Bump was the city's first attempt to automate the reporting process. As well as increasing the efficiency of repairs and improving user satisfaction, the app provided valuable insights into the condition of the city's roads. For example, it was found that the most frequently reported problem was sunk manhole covers. Working with utility companies in Boston, the city fixed 1,250 of the worst manhole covers. 430

Collaboration and data sharing across the infrastructure industry.

An open-data environment is one where all infrastructure data is available, secure, free of information that could identify an individual and standardised so it can inform decisions. It's used by operators and can inform machine learning, a process where data is analysed to improve the accuracy of digital technologies. As the value of data grows with rapid digital change, it's likely that network operators and utilities will benefit from greater sharing of data about infrastructure.⁴³¹ This is demonstrated in platforms like Port Community Systems, which are neutral and open digital platforms that facilitate automated port processes through intelligent and secure information exchange between all stakeholders.⁴³² While some examples are emerging, this collaboration isn't yet happening across infrastructure sectors in a coordinated way. Commercial confidentiality often hampers the willingness to share ideas and data. Not all data is or can be open. Some data, such as that which is sensitive or critical, may not be able to be shared widely and may require security mechanisms. At other times, data needs to be anonymised to protect privacy. Despite this, greater progress toward more open data should be made, since optimising our infrastructure investments requires good information about design, construction and operation.

The key elements required to move towards a more open data environment for infrastructure include:

- The development of common national infrastructure metadata standards, building on existing government initiatives.
- A clear identification of the ownership of the data, independence for those institutions that have kaitiakitanga over it and capabilities to generate value from its management.
- Robust cyber security management systems, protocols and safeguards.
- · A balance between leveraging data and protecting the security and privacy of New Zealanders.
- Trusted stewards and institutions for data.
- · A shift to minimum levels of commercial confidentiality.

"The purpose... is to send a clear message to the Government and private sector. [We] need to open up infrastructure data and make full use of data science and machine learning to get more out of existing infrastructure and to make the right decisions about future infrastructure." - United Kingdom National Infrastructure Commission433

A move towards open data needs to respect Māori data sovereignty and Te Tiriti o Waitangi.

A shift is currently occurring in the way that matauranga Maori is accessed, grown and shared intergenerationally. The traditional ways of handing this knowledge forward through whakapapa are being rapidly challenged by digital forms of knowledge.

Infrastructure creates large amounts of data through its operation, maintenance and use. This will continue to increase over the next 30 years. The processing power of artificial intelligence means data and knowledge will be intertwined. This has significance for Māori. Knowledge is taonga and as we look to increase the use of open data in infrastructure, we'll need to identify the value, ownership and management of data and consider Maori data sovereignty and the principles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi.

Adopting existing technologies

The adoption and spread of existing technologies is a priority.

The key to unlocking the vast productivity, performance and wellbeing benefits of technology isn't always invention, but speedy adoption, increased certainty and putting in place incentives for technology uptake. A greater use of technology across the infrastructure system can raise productivity and performance, create higher-skilled jobs, build transparency and improve resilience.⁴³⁴

There are well established technologies that cou implemented now in New Zealand's water, waste transport, telecommunications, education and he sectors. Key benefits include:

- Better monitoring and managing of the vast e infrastructure asset base.
- Better transport and energy systems to help a a net-zero carbon economy by 2050.
- Reduced demand on the health system and a corresponding demand for health infrastructu by enabling technology-at-distance services telehealth systems.
- Faster consenting and development by digitising these processes.

A programme to improve the incentives for adopting new technologies would be a useful first step. The key elements of this are shown in Table 6 and would bring together requirements to build skills, ensure a public sector and industry commitment to growing the infrastructure data available and ultimately, move towards a system of open data where possible. It would also identify opportunities to standardise the way technologies are used to reduce cost barriers by taking advantage of economies of scale. Regulatory and legal frameworks are required to keep pace with new technologies and applications, while also managing security risks.

uld be	
e, energy,	
ealth	Building Information
	Modelling (BIM)
existing	Integrated BIM uses digital 3D
	models to streamline design
achieve	processes and manage an integrate
	design process through centralised
1	data storage. It is envisaged that
ire	in the future, integrated BIM will
like	also include cost, time and resource
	management.

Table 6: Steps to improve the adoption and diffusion of technology

Barrier	Explanation
Skills and capabilities Skills and capabilities for design, delivery and operation	Developing people's skills and capabilities for technology development and widespread use in infrastructure, while avoiding market shortages and rising labour costs.
Data How information is generated	An open system of infrastructure data can grow the development of technology and the resulting benefits, efficiencies, insights and innovations.
Standardisation Greater diffusion through data standards or common interfaces	The standardisation of technologies that can have benefits through widespread adoption, such as digital twins and digital consenting. A common data framework and standard interface can make it easier for individuals and companies to work together.
Commissioning / Procurement Mandatory requirements, selection criteria, conditions and models of contracting	Moving from lowest cost to highest value. Setting requirements for digital incentive structures or preferential selection criteria as part of the procurement process. Utilising a mission-based approach (or targets) to motivate greater technology uptake (for instance, net-zero carbon emission by 2050).
Regulatory / Legal Enabling legislation	Resolving the regulatory and legal issues that arise from new technologies, such as privacy issues (for instance, the collection of and access to personal information such as biometrics).
Security Managing the risks of new technology	Managing and resolving the security issues that arise from new technologies, such as the risk of cyber-attacks.

Source: Te Waihanga

Investing in digital innovation can have better returns than investing in physical infrastructure.

Digital innovation is flourishing, producing new technologies that are changing the way we deliver and operate infrastructure (see Table 7 and Case Study 16). Artificial intelligence techniques, such as machine learning, can deliver more insights into infrastructure and systems, enabling greater efficiency. Building Information Modelling (BIM), the digital representation of a structure, can vastly improve design, while 3D printing could change the nature of construction. These powerful tools can help planners and developers to tailor the delivery of infrastructure systems to meet the needs of communities and leverage technology to enable better infrastructure and better outcomes.

Table 7: Digital technologies that can transform infrastructure industries

Artificial intelligence - machine learning: Artificial intelligence enables digital devices to respond and learn from their environment. It is anticipated to streamline tasks, especially those that are repeatable and continue to learn and develop through completing tasks and receiving feedback.

Digital twins: Digital twins can be used to analyse historical performance and then predict how infrastructure will perform in the future by mimicking real-world behaviour (see Case Study 17)

Digital consenting: Digital consenting is an application of BIM and digital twins that streamlines the consenting and approval process. Traditionally, the consenting and approval of changes to the built environment rely on people checking compliance. Digital consenting removes the human element by integrating the consenting and compliance checks into BIM and digital twin applications.

Immersive media (augmented reality / virtual reality): Augmented and virtual reality are technologies that help visualise digital information. Augmented reality merges digital information with the real world through headsets or mobile devices so that the digital elements appear as additions to the real environment. Virtual reality involves full immersion into a digital space removed from the real environment. Both technologies can make use of sensors and devices to

allow human interaction with digital elements.

The Internet of Things: The Internet of Things is a network of physical objects capable of collecting, sharing and acting on data without human intervention. At its core, the Internet of Things relies on physical devices, sensors and telecommunication networks to improve processes based on a larger set of data from the whole network of devices. The Internet of Things will affect the way infrastructure is managed through greater real-time communication between the different parts of a network.

Source: Te Waihanga



Using digital shields to improve safety and productivity in the rail corridor

KiwiRail has pioneered the use of digital shields for excavators working on, or near rail corridors.

Digital shields are made by creating a virtual twin of the physical environment, using a laser scanner. This survey technique collects millions of points of data, which are then used to build a 3D digital model. These models allow us to create digital shields a set distance from the position of the real-world objects. Once a shield is created, it is sent to a computer on board the excavator that is linked to a GPS unit. The system on the excavator knows where the machine is, and through a series

of sensors, what shape it is, as well as where the shield sits. If the excavator comes into contact with the location of the digital shield, then a signal is sent to the hydraulic system and the controls are locked out, preventing the machine from coming too close to the real-world hazard.

It can be applied to underground pipes and cables, as well as above ground items. Alternatively, it can be used to protect newly constructed items, avoiding accidental damage and rework. 435

To realise the benefits of digital technology, the infrastructure industry needs to adapt to the new world of big data and data analytics and work together. For example, the disciplined and consistent use of BIM technology has been estimated to have saved the government of the United Kingdom the equivalent of NZD \$4 billion over a six-year period.⁴³⁶ Many information-technology solutions projects have been shown to cost less and deliver better returns on investment than built options, while delivering the same service outcome (see Figure 34).

Possible cost-benefit ratios of Information Technology Systems projects compared to building new road capacity

Figure 34: Information technology investments can provide value for money



Source: Adapted from McKinsey (2013)437

Digital twins in spatial planning

There's an opportunity to develop digital twins for our infrastructure as part of the emerging spatial planning process.

Regional and urban digital twins, aided by big data and machine-learning approaches, can bring together all the data held about individual infrastructure, capture data on the connections between infrastructure systems (such as between water, transportation and energy) and support the development of a data-driven economy.

The aspiration is to develop a National Digital Twin that brings together the digital information of spatial plans. The approach could begin with a digital twin that's an adequate representation of the real world (see Case Study 17) and moves towards one that can analyse and predict the future performance of an asset, network or system. This modelling could improve maintenance, support planning decisions and enable better performance. Initially the digital twin could be used to help integrate land use and transportation planning at a regional level, plan for future corridors of growth and identify areas where growth is likely or appropriate for new projects (for instance, following international examples in using digital earth technologies to identify renewable energy projects).438 As capability grows, it could become an important decision-making tool for national infrastructure networks.

This technology could also help grow our understanding of the way the infrastructure system works. In the future, it may be possible to ask questions of the digital twin, such as: "If the population of Auckland were to increase by 50% by 2050, how might we change the way we use existing transport networks?"

connecting decisions and impacts



Wellington City Council has been developing a digital twin that looks like, behaves like and is fused to the everyday reality of the city. This digital reflection connects complex infrastructural, social, economic and environmental systems with the decisions being made by the council and their impacts on communities.

This ability to connect decisions and impacts comes from the evolving architecture of the digital twin. The base course of the digital twin is made of data, whether it's models of buildings and assets, surface or regulatory data, or real-time

data from sensors or business processes. This data can then be shared and used for analysis or prediction. The final component of the digital twin is the experience layer. This allows people to see and use the data. In the past five years the evolving digital twin has been used to assist in earthquake response, the creation of Wellington's Resilience Strategy, urban planning, public engagement on climate change and social harm reduction. The digital twin helps the council to coordinate growth, communicate what its investments can mean for the city and understand the longer-term future of climate adaptation.

No.	What	How
61	Increase the diffusion	Increase diffusion of exist following steps:
	of existing technologies to increase productivity	a. Review approaches to p consider whether there within current systems of
	in the infrastructure sector	 Develop a technology p mission and actions to i should include conside barriers to uptake
	© 2022-2026	 Devolve decision-makin minimum energy perfor and water efficiency) to productivity gains and e updated regularly.
62	Accelerate the adoption of open data and common standards for the infrastructure sector PTC	 Accelerate the adoption of through the following step a. Identify the legislative a move toward full open (including infrastructure) b. Fund, develop and mar metadata standards, but
	0 2022-2031	
63	Accelerate the digitalisation of infrastructure PTC (\$ 2027-2031	 Accelerate digitalisation a implementing the followin a. Facilitate the consistent Management systems a guidance. b. Accelerate investigation digital twins to embed t spatial planning develo c. Fund and launch a serier
		cases across infrastruct

7.4.4. Recommendations

		Wŀ	10
ting technologies	s through the	DI	A, MBIE
procurement at a are barriers to te and practices.	n agency level and chnology diffusion		
olan that establish increase the diffu ration of all dema	nes a clear time-bound sion of technology. This nd-side drivers and		
ng for technical st rmance standards responsible regu ensure the standa	andard-setting (such as s, housing codes, waste alators where there are ards are reviewed and		
of open data and ps:	common standards	DI	A, Stats NZ
and administrative data for central ai e).	e steps required to nd local government		
ndate common na uilding on existing	tional infrastructure government initiatives.		
across the infrast ng steps:	ructure lifecycle by	ME	BIE, MfE
t use of Building I and provide detai	nformation led implementation		
ns into city, regior them as a process pment.	n and nation-wide s and tool of choice for		
es of artificial-inte ture sectors.	lligence-powered use		
	Refer to Section 10		() Time



7.5 Building workforce capacity and capabilities

Te whakapiki ake i te kahapupuri o te ohu mahi me te kaha

We need the right people, at the right time, with the right skills to meet our infrastructure possibilities

Delivering, operating and maintaining our infrastructure takes the combined energy and effort of hundreds of thousands of New Zealanders. These people ensure our infrastructure investments are the right ones, built as designed, operated to a high standard, safe for use and able to be returned to service quickly after disruption.

The infrastructure sector gives New Zealanders opportunities for employment, incomes and career progression and the ability to make meaningful contributions to our country's future. However, it's also a sector that's constantly changing and as it does this, so do its workforce needs. Achieving New Zealand's infrastructure ambitions requires people who are highly capable and technologically savvy. The sector needs to be internationally competitive and have the capacity to ramp up when needed. Getting it right requires coordination. We need to invest in our people to ensure we have the workforce to meet the infrastructure challenges and opportunities ahead.

7.5.1. Context

New Zealand is experiencing historic workforce shortages.

New Zealand has approximately \$64 billion worth of infrastructure projects planned and in its pipeline of upcoming work.⁴³⁹ Most of these projects are planned for the next three to five years. Over the next 30 years the pipeline is anticipated to grow by as much as \$140 billion.⁴⁴⁰ There's also significant demand for residential and other types of construction that adds to our capacity challenges.441

The share of construction firms reporting labour shortages is now at its highest-ever level (see Figure 35). This has been made worse by on-going international competition for talent. Australia also has a severe labour shortage and with weekly wages that are, on average, NZD\$500 higher than ours, many New Zealanders are crossing the Tasman for work.442

These labour shortages are likely to continue for years to come. Forecasts show that New Zealand will have a shortfall of approximately 118,500 construction workers in 2024.443 Skill shortages are particularly noticeable in regions like Auckland, where they're holding up work on important projects.444,445

We also know that as well as construction, there are shortages in infrastructure planning, delivery and maintenance that are impairing our ability to provide the infrastructure we need. At the planning and investigation stage, we're seeing a failure to include completed business cases for a large proportion of major projects.⁴⁴⁶ At the asset management stage, we see considerable variation in asset management capabilities.⁴⁴⁷ More work is needed to identify the key components of workforce shortages and what's needed to develop the right talent to deliver New Zealand's future infrastructure.

Net number of construction firms reporting difficulty finding labour

Figure 35: Construction labour shortages are at their highest since 1975



Source: Adapted from NZIER Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion (2021)

We need more skilled people to build and operate the infrastructure we're planning.

While there are many skilled, capable people working in the infrastructure sector, we don't have enough of them, and in some areas we may entirely lack the skills that will be needed in the future. These include skills in client and project leadership and management, engineering, technical professions, construction management and trades and labour.

Our workforce challenges hold us back from improving the productivity of our construction sector and limits our ability to build infrastructure at a reasonable cost. Since 2000, the number of people working in heavy and civil construction has more than doubled, but construction labour productivity has lagged behind the overall economy and even declined in both 2019 and 2020 (see Figure 36).

Labour productivity is growing more slowly in construction

Figure 36: Labour productivity, construction sector vs whole economy since 2000





Health, safety and wellbeing are key to addressing our need for a well-trained, highly engaged workforce

Providing workplaces that promote health, safety and wellbeing is core to addressing our need for a well-trained, highly engaged workforce.

"We need leadership and follow through, not road cones and rules.

We are not calling for more road cones, more lists to check or hi-vis clothing. Indeed, our view is that this overly reductionist and simplistic view of 'H&S' has actually resulted in effort and attention going into the wrong areas.

We are calling for a delivery environment that supports profitable businesses to be able to design work that enables working people to physically and mentally thrive. For that environment to become a reality we need leadership, collaboration and follow through by those in a position of influence and authority."

- Business Leaders Health and **Safety Forum submission**

Between 2011 and 2020, the construction industry reported 76 work-related fatalities. This made construction the sixth most dangerous industry for workers.448

Health and safety is more than just avoiding serious injuries and fatalities. It's about having healthy workplaces that support wellbeing and employee satisfaction. Non-fatal injuries in construction have risen substantially since 2016.449 Suicide rates in the construction sector are also extremely high. Between 2007 and 2017, 300 construction workers died from suicide, the most from any single industry.⁴⁵⁰ A failure to protect the health and wellbeing of infrastructure workers is a threat to our ability to develop and retain skilled people in the sector.

There's also an opportunity for technological innovation to improve health and safety, workplace satisfaction and productivity. Innovation in the workplace can take a range of forms, including improvements in existing tools such as ergonomics, the use of new tools such as lifting equipment to make tasks safer and the automation of hazardous tasks.

Good leadership prioritises health and safety and proactively seeks to improve performance. This includes supporting health and safety and mental health programmes, promoting and adopting 'safety in design' principles and creating appropriate health and safety certifications and prequalification standards to better address known challenges.451

Poor diversity in the infrastructure sector limits its ability to draw on the talents of all New Zealanders.

Our historic workforce shortages have been made worse by the fact that the infrastructure sector isn't equally drawing on the talents of all New Zealanders, especially in managerial, professional and higher-skilled roles. The number of women working in the infrastructure sector is low. For example, women make up approximately 13% of all those employed in construction. Just 2.5% of construction tradespeople and apprentices are women.⁴⁵² Women are also under-represented in engineering and while women represent 18% of people completing engineering gualifications, they only represent 8% of chartered professional engineers and 8% of engineers on senior management teams.⁴⁵³ There's poor retention of women in the engineering industry, with over a guarter of women leaving the profession in the first five years after study. Women face hurdles with employer perceptions, as well as physical and site-specific issues that act as barriers to their entry into the sector.

While many Māori and Pacific peoples work in the infrastructure sector, they're overrepresented in the lowest-earning occupations, such as low-skilled and unskilled contract labour and self-employed trades, working as subcontractors to larger construction firms. Just over 1% of all chartered professional engineers and an estimated 4% of registered architects identify as Māori and/or Pacific peoples.⁴⁵⁴ The number of Maori and Pacific peoples in the managerial, professional and higher-skilled occupations in the infrastructure industry needs to continue to grow.455

7.5.2. What we've heard

"One of the biggest challenges is going to be skills ... The world is going to be queueing up on the skillsets that are needed. So we'd better double down on training our own and we'd better figure out where we are going to get the skills from to get it done ... or we'll have the strategy, we'll have the finance, we'll have the vision, but we will fall woefully short on execution."

- Dr Rod Carr, Infrastructure Commission Symposium 2021

We've heard that there's a need to address current and future skill shortages, ensure that construction work is safe and make sure our future workforce has the necessary skills.

Submitters on our consultation document told us that the infrastructure sector needed to do better at diversity and inclusion by increasing the participation of women and improving the participation of Māori, and Pacific peoples at professional and decision-making levels.

Some submitters also pointed out that preparing for climate change would require our future workforce to have new skills, of which many will be in high demand internationally.

Many felt that building workforce capabilities in procurement, asset management and project management was necessary. There was support for the establishment of a Major Projects Leadership Academy in New Zealand, particularly if it is underpinned by a broader capability and development framework.

7.5.3. Strategic direction

Building capabilities to improve infrastructure delivery

New Zealand needs people with the skills to plan, build, operate and maintain the infrastructure we need.

We need to lift the capacity and skills of our people and organisations across all stages of infrastructure planning and delivery, including:456

- Planning and asset management: Roles such as client leadership, business case development, planning, procurement, asset management and project management.
- Engineering and technical: This includes civil and structural, mechanical, and electrical engineers, data analysts, architects and designers. It also spans specialist areas such as building information modelling.
- Construction management: Roles such as site supervisors, site engineering staff and construction managers.
- steel fixers, fitters, tunnellers, plant operatives and labourers.

The skills and abilities of our contractors are increasingly important as our projects become larger and more complex.⁴⁵⁷ It's important to retain and grow design and construction firms that can successfully deliver infrastructure projects of all sizes.

New Zealand needs to build its attractiveness for international firms and products. One way of doing this is to develop a trans-Tasman procurement market by taking a consistent approach to qualifications, product and building standards and contracting and procurement processes.

Technology can also be used to lift productivity. It may involve using robots and automation to undertake repetitive and dangerous work or using digital information and analytics to augment work undertaken by skilled employees. Higher productivity means that our workforce can deliver more and better infrastructure.458

Skilled trades and labour: On-site roles such as electricians, welders, carpenters, scaffolders,

We need to adapt our workforce to an evolving infrastructure sector.

New Zealand's infrastructure faces a historic period of deep and intergenerational change and this means that our infrastructure must adapt to meet our changing needs and aspirations.

Key strategic shifts that will influence workforce capacity and capabilities include:

- A move to a low-emissions and circular economy: This will change the roles and skills needed to support our infrastructure (See Sections 6.1 and 6.5).
- A drive for better decision-making: The sector will need to build more capacity and capabilities in cost-benefit analysis, project management, and procurement (See Section 7.1).
- · An increased use of data: The sector will need to expand its ability to collect, maintain and analyse data in coordinated formats (See Section 7.4).
- · Accelerating technology use: Our workforce will need to increase its technological capabilities to unlock the productivity and infrastructure-delivery benefits of technological advancements (See Section 7.4).

While these strategic shifts may present capacity and capability challenges, they also present an opportunity to improve the diversity of the infrastructure sector. The infrastructure industry will increasingly require a broader range of skills. This provides an opportunity to recruit talent from a wider range of educational backgrounds (beyond traditional pathways such as engineering degrees) and is likely to increase gender and ethnic diversity.459

More investment is needed in standardised training and education to increase workforce skills and improve productivity.

Investment in workforce training and education must focus on the areas we'll need in the future, including the skills required to deliver major projects in the infrastructure pipeline. The government, industry and the education sector will need to work together to provide education that's fit for the future needs of employers and delivers the skills learners need to thrive. This will improve workplace productivity, raise skills and improve planning for the number of workers we're going to need in the long-term.

An existing example of coordinated leadership and collaboration can be seen in the Construction Sector Accord, which brings together industry and government to improve the construction sector. The Construction Sector Accord has developed a Transformation Plan that includes the development of a construction skills strategy.460

The Transformation Plan provides a template for other important long-term workforce challenges, such as the response to climate change. Industry and the government must come together to respond to these challenges and review both the training currently on offer and the need to bring more people into the industry from either within New Zealand or overseas. The current government reform of vocational education provides an opportunity to do this.

Common procurement, delivery and asset management frameworks will lift performance and help build our competitiveness for talent.

Central government is the largest single procurer of infrastructure.⁴⁶¹ However, while a range of government agencies have roles in procuring, delivering and managing infrastructure, there are no common capability and development frameworks across these agencies. As infrastructure projects get larger and more complex, it will be increasingly important for government agencies to improve workforce capabilities and leadership.

The government should establish common capability and development frameworks for agencies that procure and project manage infrastructure projects, as well as the operation of infrastructure. These frameworks should:

- · Support the development of capabilities that can be shared across the infrastructure sector.
- Encourage government agencies to be more transparent about the skills they require and make it easier for people to move to the areas in the public sector where their skills are needed.

- · Help establish infrastructure procurement, management and project management as career pathways in the public sector.
- · Develop capabilities and capacity across the infrastructure system for effective partnership with Māori.
- Accelerate the adoption of open data and common standards for the infrastructure sector. Build a trans-Tasman procurement market by ensuring a consistent approach to contract and
- procurement processes.

Well-regarded overseas frameworks can set the benchmark for how we create a more consistent approach in New Zealand. These include the United Kingdom's Civil Service Project Delivery Capability Framework⁴⁶² and the Institute of Public Works Engineering Australasia's Asset Management Pathway.⁴⁶³ Complex infrastructure projects require strong project leadership skills. The establishment of a Major Projects Leadership Academy would grow the skills of our infrastructure project leaders by raising their planning, delivery and leadership capabilities (see Case Study 18). This should be underpinned by a competencies framework that practitioners would be required to complete before attending the Major Projects Leadership Academy.

CASE STUDY 18



United Kingdom Major Projects Leadership Academy

project leaders for complex major projects.465 The A 2011 review found that only one-third of major public infrastructure projects in the United academy is underpinned by a comprehensive Kingdom were delivered to time, budget, or met Project Delivery Capability Framework that builds the capacity of civil service project management quality expectations. A key factor was that most government project leaders did not have the right practitioners throughout their careers and skills to deliver complex projects.464 provides guidance for career discussions and promotion decisions.⁴⁶⁶ These initiatives provide In response, the United Kingdom invested a common approach for practitioners to gain the heavily in building the capabilities of government knowledge, skills and abilities needed to deliver project managers and lifting the status of project projects across all areas of government. Over 500 management as a rewarding long-term career participants have graduated from the programme option. This included establishing a Major Projects and it has been highly rated by past participants.467

Leadership Academy in 2012 to train senior

158

Giving industry the certainty to invest in its people and equipment

A credible infrastructure pipeline is an essential workforce planning tool.

The infrastructure sector will face ongoing workforce pressures in the coming decades. An infrastructure pipeline, a tool that shows all upcoming planned work in the sector, will help the sector to face these challenges. It will provide certainty and:

- · Enable more coordinated planning of investment in New Zealand.
- · Offer a single, trusted source of information for the infrastructure sector on medium-term investments.
- · Enable the construction industry to plan its resource needs accurately, so it can invest in training its people and acquiring equipment and technology.

There are underlying challenges to achieving a credible and transparent infrastructure pipeline. These include a lack of wider integrated planning, fragmented and relatively short-term funding arrangements, and on-going change within government agencies. Many of the recommendations in this strategy, such as achieving longer-term funding commitments, can reduce this uncertainty.

At present, there are several construction investment pipelines in New Zealand covering different sectors and taking different approaches to the detail they include.468,469 The Infrastructure Pipeline managed by Te Waihanga currently focuses on committed and/or funded projects from major infrastructure providers, but doesn't yet include investment that has been signalled but not confirmed, as this is more difficult to forecast.⁴⁷⁰ There's a need to build on and improve the Infrastructure Pipeline to provide a more credible and transparent infrastructure pipeline tool that the consultancy and construction sectors can use for workforce planning.

A priority list of planned infrastructure investment will give industry certainty.

The Infrastructure Pipeline can provide a medium-term view of planned investment, but there's also a need to give industry and others more certainty about solutions to long-term challenges, such as addressing climate change, improving our cities, connecting all regions of New Zealand and providing infrastructure that works for our growing and changing population. Solutions may be under development or may be signalled as intentions but not yet funded. This can make it difficult for firms to invest in the people and skills required to meet these needs. An infrastructure priority list can improve how we identify and respond to long-term challenges. It's discussed in further detail in Section 7.1.

The pipeline and priority list will help identify future workforce needs that can be addressed through trade and tertiary training, immigration policy and technology adoption.471

Smoothing out boom and bust construction cycles can help us keep our skilled workers.

A credible infrastructure pipeline and priority list can help smooth out boom and bust cycles in the construction sector. These cycles make it hard for construction firms to grow and retain their staff, improve skills and invest in productivity-improving technology. We know that countries experiencing year-to-year swings in public investment tend to be less efficient than others and that New Zealand's swings are more volatile than Australia and many other high-income countries.^{472,473} Showing the industry which projects are planned well in advance and procuring them in a predictable fashion can help to smooth out boom and bust cycles.

Major infrastructure investment has a relatively limited role to play in addressing economic downturns. This is because of the long timeframes needed to plan, procure and build major infrastructure projects. By the time construction begins, an economic downturn might be over.⁴⁷⁴ Other macroeconomic policies, including the consistent application of monetary policy, automatic stabilisers and prudent counter-cyclical fiscal policy, are typically more effective in economic downturns. However, infrastructure maintenance can be a good way to stimulate the economy as it can be procured and delivered relatively quickly.475

Improving diversity in the infrastructure sector

Our infrastructure sector needs to offer attractive careers for all New Zealanders.

New Zealand's infrastructure workforce faces diversity and inclusion challenges. For example, Case Study 19 highlights some of the barriers women experience when seeking to work in the construction sector.

Women in Trades, Ministry for Women STUDY

A 2020 survey of the construction sector commissioned by the Ministry for Women on women entering trades found that many women suffered from negative employer perceptions that have been barriers to finding work. Some of these perceptions were that women lacked the physical strength for trade roles and that they we not worth investing in as they would have to leave to have children.⁴⁷⁶ For women who worked in the construction sector, or wished to enter it, the mos common barriers were:

ш

CASI

- A lack of knowledge about opportunities within the trades.
- A lack of direct work experience which often made it difficult to enter the sector.



A training and career development pipeline is needed to help bring groups that are currently underrepresented into the construction sector.

This will grow our construction workforce and offer many other benefits. Greater diversity has been demonstrated to improve staff recruitment and retention, innovation and group performance, reputation and responsibility and financial performance.478

_	
ı	
f	
r	e
r e	e
r e e	e
e e	t

- Difficulty in finding employers willing to employ women, showing that traditional views on gender roles were still prevalent.
- The male-dominated culture of the trades, which was intimidating and reduced applications from women.
- A lack of flexible work practices, which impacted on the ability of women to both work and undertake parental duties.
- On-site constraints such as poor conditions and the lack of lifting equipment.
- · A lack of support for women in the trades.

Interviews with six employers by the Ministry of Women's Affairs in 2011⁴⁷⁷ found that, once employed, women were seen as important to their teams. Employers said the key benefits included:

- better behaviour, less competition and more
- bathrooms/changing areas without the need to

STUDY 20

ш CASI

The government and industry have been working to improve the participation, retention and career advancement of women, Maori and Pacific peoples within the infrastructure sector.479,480,481,482 This work has focused on changing employer perceptions, increasing awareness of jobs through open days, establishing cadetships (see Case Study 20), broadening public sector procurement rules, using ambassadors, building support networks and having events to celebrate success. However, more work needs to be done.

An inclusive workplace environment will improve diversity and increase workforce capacity

If the infrastructure sector is to have a more diverse workforce, it needs to attract people with diverse backgrounds and create an environment that's inclusive and encourages all those with talent to progress to senior and leadership roles. For example, one study found that around three quarters of female engineers in New Zealand thought there would be a time in their career when they'd have to choose between family and career.⁴⁸³ The provision of work arrangements, such as flexible working hours and part-time work options, was identified by study participants as a way to increase participation of women in the engineering profession.

There's more work to be done to create an infrastructure sector that's welcoming to all. Working to build an inclusive workplace environment will not only improve diversity, but also lift workforce capacity by increasing the total number of people in the sector.

Progress towards greater workforce diversity and inclusion needs to be monitored.

The Construction Sector Transformation Plan should set targets for the participation, retention, and career advancement of women, Māori and Pacific peoples. The progress made on these targets should be published annually and reviewed regularly.

City Rail Link Māori and Pacific peoples cadetships

The Auckland City Rail Link's Progressive **Employment Programme is an example of** social procurement in action. It provides Māori and Pacific peoples aged 16 to 25 with on-thejob training over a 16-week period and ideally full-time roles on the project at the end of the programme. The intention is for them to be work ready at the end of the 16 weeks.

The introduction to employment is progressive. Participants start at 10 hours a week and build to 28 hours a week for the last four weeks of the programme, this lets the young people adapt to the working environment. As well as undertaking real jobs within the project, the young people learn about employment contracts, KiwiSaver and budgeting.

Of the 12 young people who'd completed the programme as at March 2021, 10 are now in stable employment and six with the City Rail Link. Five more young people are currently engaged in the programme.



7.5.4. Recommendations

No.	What	How
64	Provide certainty to industry to invest in skills and training development CTP (\$ 2022-2031	 Strengthen the Te Waihar industry and government a. The scale and type of w b. The likely resources redinfrastructure. c. The geographic and se Use the aggregated data of the economy to deliver labour requirements and infrastructure spending d
65	Develop the talent required to deliver New Zealand's future infrastructure	Deliver a national infrastru Zealand has the right peo infrastructure over the me A dedicated public and pu established to develop the that it:
	 ▶ AIP ◆ 2022-2031 	 a. Provides information or requirements to deliver supply over the next 15 b. Advises on how our ed future workforce needs c. Provides advice on the critical specialist infrastic construction or add to t d. Provides advice on skill to a diverse audience a infrastructure system. e. Advises on opportunitie projects and sectors, ar effectively in partnershi
66	Build New Zealand's competitiveness for international firms and products AIP (\$ 2027-2031	Identify and reduce barrie to enter the New Zealand standards by default unle the development of a spe Strengthen the trans-Tasr consistent approach in: a. Product and building st b. Qualification requirement c. Contract and procurem

		Wł	10
nga Infrastructur t with a long-term	e Pipeline to provide 1 view on:	Те	Waihanga
work to be comple	eted.		
quired to plan, de	liver and maintain		
ectoral distribution	n of projects.		
to provide insight the pipeline, inf inform the direct during times of ec	nt into the capacity orm forecasts of cion of government conomic downturn.		
ructure skills plan ople with the righ edium to long-ter	to ensure New t skills to deliver our m.	NZ Pro Pu	Covernment ocurement, blic Service
rivate sector wor ne national infrasi	king group should be tructure skills plan so	Co Te ME Ed	ommission, Waihanga, BIE, Tertiary ucation
n the likely profes r the planned and 5 years and beyon	sional and workforce forecast infrastructure d.	Co Tre Co	ommission, easury, onstruction
lucation system ca 5.	an best support our	Mi Ed	nistry of ucation
role of immigration ructure skill defici the costs of project	on settings to address iencies that could delay cts and maintenance.		
Il-development pa and increase dive	thways that appeal rsity in all parts of the		
es to improve coo nd how employer ip with training pr	ordination across s can work more oviders.		
ers for internation I market by adop ess there is a com ecific New Zealar	nal firms and products ting international pelling rationale for nd standard.	NZ Pro ME	Z Government ocurement, BIE
man procuremen	t market by ensuring a		
tandards.			
ents.			
ient processes.			
	Refer to Section 10		C Time

No.	What	How	Who
67	Strengthen government	Improve project outcomes by increasing public sector capabilities and excellence in infrastructure delivery by:	Public Service Commission,
	client-side capability to plan, design and deliver projects	 a. Introducing comprehensive procurement, asset management and project management practitioner development frameworks and underpinning accreditation systems across government. 	Central Government Delivery Agencies
		 b. Creating career development opportunities in the public sector by increasing the number of entry-level technical roles in client 	
	() 2027-2031	agencies to support the placement and rapid professional growth of newly graduated practitioners.	
		c. Building effective partnerships between delivery agencies and New Zealand's academic institutes to disseminate international best practice and lift the prioritisation of research in infrastructure.	
		d. Aligning remuneration between the public and private sectors to improve competition across infrastructure types.	
68	Recognise major project	The following steps should be put in place to recognise the complexity of major project leadership:	Public Service Commission, Te
	leadership as a role with comparable	 Develop guidance on the skill sets and appointment processes appropriate for the leaders of New Zealand's largest projects. 	Waihanga
	complexity to organisational leadership	 Establish a New Zealand Major Projects Leadership Academy based on proven international approaches and make completion a requirement for project leaders. 	
	D MPL	c. Ensure accountability mechanisms and remuneration are	
	() 2022-2031	aligned with the complexity and risk project leaders are managing on behalf of the government.	
G R	efer to Section 10	() Time	





New Zealand's first infrastructure strategy

This strategy demonstrates a need to change how infrastructure is planned and delivered.

It's the first infrastructure strategy for New Zealand. It lays out priorities for New Zealand's infrastructure and it lays a foundation for people, places and business to thrive.

What does the strategy recommend?

The recommendations form a programme of work to address current and future infrastructure challenges quickly and efficiently.

The strategy makes 68 recommendations to central government, local government and the infrastructure sector in general. We've ensured that they're deliverable, are evidence-based and will have lasting impacts in the long-term. Some of the recommendations relate to work that's already planned or underway. Others involve new actions and work programmes.

Recommendations are aimed at:

- Improving the performance of infrastructure planning, funding and financing, and delivery.

Taken together, these recommendations will allow us to respond to the challenges ahead by making better use of infrastructure, broadening funding and financing options, undertaking better project selection and streamlining delivery (see Figure 37). Many recommendations cover more than one infrastructure sector, or relate to more than one strategic objective or cross-cutting theme.

Figure 37: Split of recommendations by change response



Source: Te Waihanga

8

• Lifting the contribution that infrastructure makes to wellbeing by addressing five strategic objectives.

Together, the recommendations will help to address current and future infrastructure challenges more efficiently and with urgency.

While all the recommendations are important to achieving progress, the strategy identifies three specific areas that will have the greatest positive impact over the next 30 years:

- Leveraging our low-emissions energy resources.
- Planning for generations to come.
- Providing better infrastructure through pricing.

Key actions in each area are summarised below (see Table 8).

Table 8: Three areas of greatest positive impact

Area	1. Leveraging our low- emissions energy resources	2. Planning for generations to come	3. Providing better infrastructure through pricing
Potential	We can grow our low- emissions energy generation beyond what we need to meet our climate change commitments, creating economic opportunities and high- paying jobs.	We need to overhaul the way we plan infrastructure to keep pace with our growing population, and ensure there's enough quality, affordable housing in the right places, supported by well-functioning infrastructure. With long- term planning, we can build great communities for generations to come.	Changing the way we pay for our busiest roads, water services and other infrastructure can reduce the time we spend in traffic, accelerate decarbonisation efforts, conserve water, allow us to lift the quality of infrastructure and give us more choice in how we want to live.
Key actions	The right regulatory settings to enable the development of large- scale, clean, onshore and offshore energy resources, and the networks needed to connect them: For example, the planning system needs to enable the timely development of clean energy generation.	A resource management system that gives effect to national priorities: Reform is already underway and the replacement of the RMA must perform the dual roles of protecting the environment and allowing for development. It must enable infrastructure providers to meet policy commitments, which could include decarbonisation, efficient transport networks, adequate competition in the supply chain, universal digital access and the timely provision of social infrastructure.	Pricing for quicker journeys: Charges and road tolling for the busiest roads at peak times will free up these roads, creating quicker trips for people who must drive, such as couriers, tradespeople and freight carriers.

emissions energy resources Key actions **Reliable supporting** A long-term, flexible, infrastructure: This requires open-ended approach to an efficient expansion regional planning: We need of supporting electricity an approach to regional and telecommunications planning that allows for networks, and the efficient infrastructure to be built use of our gas and fuel in the future and ensures networks. that cities and regions have plenty of options for responding to population and economic growth. It should also reduce uncertainty where possible, such as through the development of a national population plan. A skilled workforce: We **Protecting areas for** need more scientists and infrastructure decades researchers helping to in advance: Instead of improve energy conversion our current 'just-in-time' technology, particularly approach, we can identify for our dairy-processing and protect strategic activities. We also need to infrastructure corridors to retain our skilled oil and gas provide a pathway for the workers to make the most infrastructure that might of gas (and its specialist be needed in the future. infrastructure) as we begin allowing us to deliver more to transition to cleaner at a lower cost. alternatives, including offshore alternatives. Planning rules that are equitable and enable more housing and employment in the right places: We can make it easier to develop land within our towns and cities and for people to live and work where they want to, at a lower cost. Planning rules can empower everyone through improved housing affordability, reduced congestion and support for other social objectives.

Area

1. Leveraging our low-

Source: Te Waihanga

8

2. Planning for generations to come

Ensuring that the costs are fairly spread over time: We need to use funding and financing tools that reflect the periods of time in which infrastructure assets deliver services.

3. Providing better infrastructure through pricing

Better transport

alternatives: Alongside better transport pricing, we need to improve transport alternatives such as public transport and walking and cycling to make it easier for people to change their travel behaviours to avoid prices and move to lowemissions transport options.

Pricing to pay for water infrastructure: Charging to match the water we use will reduce costs for low users, encourage more careful use and reduce the need for costly new infrastructure.

Encouraging water

conservation. Alongside changes to water pricing, we need to make it easier for people to conserve water. For instance, we can make it straightforward to install rainwater-harvesting systems and promote toilet flushing with grey nondrinking water.

Te Waihanga New Zealand Infrastructure Commission

When will the strategy be implemented?

The strategy proposes the implementation of recommendations across a 30-year period (see Figure 38). Some recommendations will require ongoing implementation throughout this period, as they relate to planning or project delivery processes. Where this is the case, recommendations have been tagged across the time period when implementation is proposed to occur.

The proposed implementation is front-loaded in the first decade of the strategy period. While this will entail a period of significant change to the infrastructure system, it will also allow the benefits to be delivered early. This is an appropriate approach given the scale of the infrastructure challenge and the fact that we're starting with an existing deficit.

Figure 38: Split of recommendations by time period



Source: Te Waihanga

Who will implement the strategy's recommendations?

Te Waihanga has proposed that the recommendations in the strategy be implemented by a number of organisations across central government, local government and the infrastructure sector in general.

The recommendations address multiple infrastructure sectors and some recommendations cut across more than one infrastructure sector or relate to system-wide issues (see Figure 39).

The strategy identifies the organisation or group of organisations best placed to implement each recommendation. Where a broad group is identified against a recommendation, this signifies that an infrastructure-wide approach will need to be adopted. We expect that the government response will identify the organisation or group that's best placed to lead implementation. In addition to implementing recommendations, we expect the strategy to inform a range of business-as-usual activities, such as national, regional, sectoral, and organisation level strategies, plans, and programmes.

As the Government's lead advisor on infrastructure, Te Waihanga will support other organisations to deliver recommendations and will monitor and report on progress over time.

Figure 39: Split of recommendations by sector



Source: Te Waihanga

Recommendations that Te Waihanga will lead.

The strategy identifies recommendations where Te Waihanga is best placed to lead implementation or play a significant role in supporting implementation. Progressing these recommendations through our on-going work programme will make a significant contribution to achieving the strategy's objectives.

These actions include:

- system (Recommendations 1 to 3).
- · Supporting the development of lead infrastructure policy and supporting guidance and reducing costs through enabling planning for and the protection of infrastructure corridors in advance of growth (Recommendation 16).
- · Preparing infrastructure for the impacts of climate change, through supporting the development and implementation of the National Adaptation Plan (Recommendation 27).
- Establishing an independent infrastructure priority list to build consensus on key projects and initiatives that address significant long-term problems (Recommendation 40).
- Improving infrastructure performance reporting and insights (Recommendation 41).
- Undertaking an inquiry into the appropriateness and consistent application of New Zealand's social discount rate policy (Recommendation 44).
- Improving infrastructure cost analysis by undertaking investigations of the cost performance of New Zealand's infrastructure sector (Recommendation 46).
- · Delivering an enabling planning and consenting framework for infrastructure through the design of the Natural and Built Environment legislation (Recommendation 60).
- Strengthening Te Waihanga's infrastructure pipeline to provide certainty to industry to invest in skills • and training development (Recommendation 64).

8

Strengthening partnerships with and unlocking opportunities for Maori across the infrastructure

How will the Strategy be progressed?

The New Zealand Infrastructure Commission/Te Waihanga Act 2019 sets out the programme for implementing this strategy.

As required by the Act, Te Waihanga has provided this strategy to the Minister for Infrastructure and it has been presented to the House of Representatives (Parliament). Within six months of receiving the strategy, the Government will provide its response.

The Government response will lay out a path to implementation.

The Government will respond to the overall intent of the strategy and will identify the recommendations that it agrees should be implemented, including the organisations to which they'll be allocated. These will be developed into an action plan and each recommendation transitioned to the appropriate agency for implementation. Where the Government doesn't agree with a recommendation, it may choose to put forward an alternative proposal.

Delivering the recommendations will require a mix of policy development, regulation, investment and strategic priority setting. To support the government's response, Te Waihanga will work with relevant agencies to further test implementation requirements, resourcing and the degree to which recommendations can be delivered through existing work programmes.

The work programme of Te Waihanga will support the strategy objectives.

Te Waihanga will support the objectives of the strategy and continue to coordinate, develop and promote an approach that uses infrastructure and the services it delivers to improve the well-being of New Zealanders.

Our wider work programme is aimed at ensuring the delivery of infrastructure for a thriving New Zealand. Key elements include:

- Supporting central and local government to develop as a sophisticated client for infrastructure investment at all levels, by providing support and guidance to agencies involved in the planning, delivery and maintenance of our infrastructure networks.
- Using the strategy as a playbook for providing ongoing advice on infrastructure-related aspects of policy and reform programmes.
- Researching topics identified in the strategy and other emerging issues.
- Evaluating major infrastructure proposals for alignment with the strategy and potential interfaces with other infrastructure initiatives.
- Providing advice on infrastructure-related Budget initiatives.
- Identifying initiatives that require further investigation or advice to the government.
- Developing a data-driven evidence base for the analysis of infrastructure issues and to support decision-making.

The Act requires the strategy to be refreshed at least every five years. Insights from the implementation of the strategy and our wider ongoing work programme will inform the development of the 2027 Infrastructure Strategy.



List of recommendations He rārangi tūtohunga

Glenorchy Walkway, Queenstown.

No.	What	How	Who
Sect	ion 5 - Strengthenir	ng partnerships with and opportunities for Māori	
1	Strengthen partnerships with Māori across the infrastructure	a. Undertake a 'State of Play' of current Māori engagement activity for infrastructure to help inform and educate readers on how infrastructure providers can engage and work with Māori in a way that works for Māori and infrastructure providers.	lwi, Te Waihanga, Te Arawhiti, Central Government, Local
	system of Aotearoa New Zealand CEM	b. Identify a lead government agency that will establish a Māori advisory group to develop a framework for strengthening partnerships with Māori in infrastructure planning and delivery. The framework should be based	Government, Sector
	() 2022-2031	 on Te Tiriti o Waitangi and tikanga Māori and consistent with an all-of-government approach. The advisory group should also consider the evolving role of Māori in the infrastructure system and options for ongoing governance and oversight of the framework. 	
2	Develop capabilities	Put in place a programme to develop capabilities and capacity for effective partnership that should:	lwi, Te Waihanga, Te
	and capacity across the infrastructure system for	 Build specialist Māori infrastructure capabilities at the centre of government that can support agencies and Māori. 	Arawhiti, Central Government, Local Government,
	effective partnerships with Māori	b. Consolidate and enhance specific funding for the provision of technical support for iwi with infrastructure planning and delivery partnerships (agency or programme specific).	Sector
	© 2022-2031	 c. Broker partnerships with Crown agencies and industry to create fixed-term secondment opportunities for iwi organisations. 	
		 Leverage procurement opportunities for Māori across infrastructure policy, planning, delivery, maintenance and research. 	
3	Strengthen the Māori	A collaborative multi-decade research agenda should be designed that:	lwi, Te Waihanga, Te
	evidence base	 Builds an evidence base exploring how infrastructure planning and delivery out to 2050 and beyond can help empower Māori and enable rangatiratanga. 	Government, Government, Local Government
	() 2022-2050	 b. Builds and disseminates a programme of in-depth case studies from leading Māori infrastructure partnership projects. 	
		c. Investigates the use of an appropriate national framework for assessing the nationally agreed effects of infrastructure on cultural values (sometimes referred to as a cultural impact assessment, the mauri model or similar), as a supplement to the local, rohe-specific effects (determined on a project-specific basis by iwi and hapū).	
		Refer to Section 10	() Time

List of recommendations He rārangi tūtohunga

No.	What	How	Who		
Sect	Section 6.1 - Enabling a net-zero carbon emissions Aotearoa				
4	Minimise lock- in of future emissions	Set a strategic direction in emissions reduction plans that requires public sector investment programmes to be compatible with our international commitments on carbon emissions.	Ministry for the Environment (MfE), Climate		
	🕞 ITN, SRC, LER	Measures to support this direction should:	Commission		
	<u>()</u> 2022-2026	a. Require that infrastructure policies and strategic plans take into account, where feasible, their implications for locking in carbon emissions.			
		 Include a full consideration of non-built solutions and decarbonising existing infrastructure in all business cases. 			
		 Require assessments of whole-of-life carbon emissions, including embodied, enabled, and operational emissions, in all business cases. 			
		 Require the use of a cost of carbon compatible with international commitments on carbon emissions within all cost benefit analyses, outlined in the Treasury CBAx tool. 			
		e. Measure the carbon impacts of different construction materials used in infrastructure projects.			
		f. Set a timetable for reviewing regulations, standards and codes to ensure they don't inhibit the uptake of low-carbon materials.			
		This should be cross-sector and reviewed regularly.			
5	Achieve net- zero carbon emissions at minimum cost	Develop clear and credible policies and mechanisms for offsetting any differences that arise between actual emissions and our international commitments on carbon emissions.	MfE, Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment		
	G ARE, ITN, GIC, BZC, EAN, GTG,	achieve net-zero carbon at minimum cost. These should:	(MBIE), Commerce Commission,		
	LEE, TPM, LER	_ energy.	Electricity		
	() 2022-2031	 Reduce barriers to the prudent expansion of transmission and distribution capacity where needed. 	Autionty		
		c. Ensure the existing gas infrastructure can be redeployed when new alternatives become viable.			
		d. Progress efforts to remove barriers to local generation, storage and demand management activity, in particular ensuring distributors have reasonable access to the metering data they need to manage their networks safely and efficiently.			
6	Speed the build of low-emissions	Streamline consenting of low-emissions energy infrastructure while meeting environmental objectives by:	MfE, MBIE		
	energy infrastructure to leverage our abundant resources	a. Strengthening existing Resource Management Act 1991 national direction for renewable energy generation and transmission.			
		b. Developing a streamlined approach to planning and consenting under the Natural and Built Environments legislation, which			
	GRE, OCE, LER	could include tools such as environmental standards for project consenting and development of renewable energy zones.			
	<u>()</u> 2027-2031	 c. Establishing an offshore regulatory framework to explore and develop low-emissions energy resources in territorial waters. 			
🕞 R	efer to Section 10	() Time			

 Finsure a fair, inclusive and equitable transition to a low-emissions economy ITN, LER ITN, LER 2022-2031 Supporting retraining for displaced workers. Involving Māori and iwi in the development of specific energy hardship initiatives. Section 6.2 - Supporting towns and regions to flourish Indeveloping a long-term National Freight and Supply Chain Strategy, the government should: Include airports, ports, road, rail and coastal shipping. Include airports, ports, road, rail and coastal shipping. Include airports and negliated, resilient and multi-modal. Identify infrastructure needs and options to improve efficiency, sustainability and security. Assess the appropriateness of regulatory and market structures. Recommend reforms and investments that will enable the more efficient movement of freight users with competition and choice. Build national freight and supply chain data capabilities for capturing and sharing data securely to improve efficiency. Investigate the development of a National Location Registry, where attribute information about physical pickup and delivery locations is digitally stored and accessible to authorised users, leveraging the recent experience of Australia. The registry should be sensitive to confidential information and privacy	
 C. Involving wach and twith the development of specific energy hardship initiatives. Section 6.2 - Supporting towns and regions to flourish Improve efficiency and security of freight and the national supply chain Include airports, ports, road, rail and coastal shipping. b. Ensure it is integrated, resilient and multi-modal. c. Identify infrastructure needs and options to improve efficiency, sustainability and security. d. Assess the appropriateness of regulatory and market structures. e. Recommend reforms and investments that will enable the more efficient movement of freight, provide freight users with competition and choice. f. Build national freight and supply chain data capabilities for capturing and sharing data securely to improve efficiency. g. Investigate the development of a National Location Registry, where attribute information about physical pickup and delivery locations is digitally stored and accessible to authorised users, leveraging the recent experience of Australia. The registry should be sensitive to confidential information and privacy 	Ministry of Social Development, MBIE
 Section 6.2 - Supporting towns and regions to flourish Improve efficiency and security of freight and the national supply chain FSE, NFD, NLR, NSC Include airports, ports, road, rail and coastal shipping. Ensure it is integrated, resilient and multi-modal. Identify infrastructure needs and options to improve efficiency, sustainability and security. Assess the appropriateness of regulatory and market structures. Recommend reforms and investments that will enable the more efficient movement of freight, provide freight users with competition and choice. Build national freight and supply chain data capabilities for capturing and sharing data securely to improve efficiency. Investigate the development of a National Location Registry, where attribute information about physical pickup and delivery locations is digitally stored and accessible to authorised users, leveraging the recent experience of Australia. The registry should be sensitive to confidential information and privacy 	
 8 Improve efficiency and security of freight and the national supply chain P FSE, NFD, NLR, NSC 3 2022-2026 9 Recommend reforms and investments that will enable the more efficient movement of freight, provide freight users with competition and choice. 9 Build national freight and supply chain data capabilities for capturing and sharing data securely to improve efficiency. 9 Investigate the development of a National Location Registry, where attribute information about physical pickup and delivery locations is digitally stored and accessible to authorised users, leveraging the recent experience of Australia. The registry should be sensitive to confidential information and privacy 	
concerns.	Ministry of Transport (MoT)
 9 Reduce barriers to and costs of providing infrastructure services PTC © PTC © 2022-2026 In developing a National Digital Strategy, the government should: a. Prepare New Zealand for realising the full benefits of a connected digital society and establishing regions where 21st century talent wants to live. b. Fix digital black-spot areas and ensure universal access to digital services and skills that remove the limitations of physical distance from major markets nationally and internationally. c. Leverage changing social and economic patterns arising from COVID-19 and rising urban house prices to support the development of regional areas. d. Identify and set out a plan to resolve key telecommunication system resiliency issues. e. Identify options to improve trust in digital services and address digital privacy concerns. Review standard infrastructure requirements for affordability across regions and infrastructure sectors. Broaden requirements to allow for on-site solutions and other low-cost design when similar service levels are possible. 	Department of Internal Affairs (DIA), MBIE

No.	What	How	Who
10	Reduce population uncertainties for infrastructure demand, planning and delivery AIP, GFI (\$ 2027-2031	 Establish a National Population Plan that: a. Presents a likely population pathway over the next 50 years and identifies requisite supporting policies. b. Provides direction for regional spatial plans. c. Identifies supporting policies required for New Zealand to capitalise on the benefits of a larger population, while managing and minimising the costs of growth. Regularly review and publish best-practice advice to improve population projection accuracy. Require local governments and other public infrastructure providers to test significant infrastructure projects and investment plans against high, medium and low projections. 	Productivity Commission, Stats NZ, MBIE
11	Prepare for zero-emissions commercial electric flights and unmanned aircraft D EAF (\$ 2022-2041	 Prepare existing airport infrastructure for zero-emissions commercial electric flights and leverage wider export opportunities. Measures will need to: a. Develop the requisite training for existing and new pilots and for the maintenance of electric aircraft. b. Prepare power and charging infrastructure networks and capabilities. c. Develop a network of charging stations across New Zealand airports so that alternatives are available, in the case of service disruptions. d. Coordinate charging standards to ensure that a wide variety of aircraft can utilise charging equipment. e. Investigate export-ready applications, such as pilot and maintenance training. f. Upgrade the aviation system and existing airport infrastructure to cater for greater use of unmanned aircraft. 	MoT, Civil Aviation Authority, Airports and Airlines
Sec	tion 6.3 - Building at	tractive and inclusive cities	
12	Improve water infrastructure pricing and provision in cities WSA, LFF, MHT () 2022-2031	 The water, wastewater and stormwater sector should be reformed, including by: a. Implementing performance-based economic regulation and water quality regulation to ensure that water providers are incentivised to drive efficiency and deliver excellent customer service. b. Ensuring that there's a clear link between the cost of providing water services and the prices that are charged to users, following the principles in Section 7.2. c. Allowing entities to use their balance sheet capacity to finance infrastructure for growth, as well as funding asset renewals and improvements in water quality. d. Clarifying the interface between water service entities and developer-financed water infrastructure provided under the Infrastructure Funding and Financing Act 2020. e. Ensuring that developers can benefit appropriately from the provision of infrastructure that has spare capacity. f. Developing cost-benefit analysis guidelines to standardise evaluation decisions on water infrastructure against social, environmental and economic benefits. 	DIA, Local Government (or New Water Entities), MBIE (or Economic Regulator)
F	Refer to Section 10	() Time	

No.	What	How
13	Reduce pressure on water infrastructure through better water management and conservation GIW	 Steps that should be taken infrastructure include: a. Using planning rulebooks example, building covera installation of on-site stor b. Removing regulatory barr consent requirements to c. Setting performance stan
	() 2022-2031	performance of appliance
14	Realign local government boundaries, where appropriate, to improve coordination of infrastructure	 Where appropriate, local go redrawn to better align bord boundaries to enable the co planning decisions. The rea guided by: a. The alignment of borders commuting and urban group
	and planning outcomes	b. The costs and benefits of infrastructure provision.
	LMA	c. An integration of infrastru
	() 2027-2031	 d. The alignment of funding funding and financing pri e. A consideration of mecha inform decision making
45	Increase the	Transport notwork planning
15	supply and use of low-emissions transport modes	a. Improve the quality, spee major employment centre
	🖵 TCQ, ITN, INH	b. Improve active transport cost solutions such as im
	<u>()</u> 2022-2041	reallocating existing roac facilities.
		c. Reduce barriers to the co emissions transport mode management and local g
		d. Increase certainty of func modes to scale up efficie
		e. Ensure all options consid

List of recommendations He rārangi tūtohunga

		Wŀ	10			
n to reduce pres	sure on water	Lo Go (or	cal overnment New Water			
rage could be inc ormwater-manag	En ME Ta	tities), MfE, 3IE, DIA, umata Arowai				
arriers to water co o install rainwate	onservation, such as r harvesting tanks.					
andards that impr ces.	rove the water					
government bou orders with funct coordination of ealignment of bo	ndaries should be ional labour-market key infrastructure and oundaries should be	DI/ int for Go	A, Review o the Future - Local overnment			
ers with wider urb growth patterns.	an labour markets,					
of integrating reg	ional planning and					
ructure planning, ownership and efficient provision of infrastructure.						
g streams with the infrastructure rinciples outlined in Section 7.2.						
hanisms for local	voices to continue to					
ng and funding e	entities should:	Mo	oT, Waka			
eed and reliability tres.	of public transport to	Kotahi NZ Transport Agency				
rt infrastructure, s mproving pedest ad space to provi	(W Mf Gc	aka Kotahi), E, Local overnment				
cost-effective implementation of low- des and streamline costly resource government consultation processes.						
nding to enable low-emissions transport iently.						
idered for investr it analyses.	nents are subject to					
	Refer to Section 10		🕓 Time			

No.	What	How	Who
16	Reduce costs by optimising infrastructure corridors BUP, CPR, ATA, ITA 2022-2031	 Enable the planning and protection of infrastructure corridors in advance of growth through the following steps: a. Develop a lead infrastructure policy and supporting guidance that provides a clear definition of lead infrastructure. The policy should include evaluation techniques for decision-making. b. Amend resource management legislation to extend the duration of designations to 30 years and allow designations to be granted based on concept plans. Statutory tests for designations should be based on an established evaluation methodology. c. Establish a corridor reservation fund with a secure funding source that can be used for early corridor-protection activities, such as buying designated or identified sites in advance. 	MfE and Treasury, supported by Te Waihanga and Infrastructure Providers
17	Optimise the use of urban land	Review central and local government land holdings to identify opportunities for land swaps, releases of land for development and relocations of major public facilities.	Central Government, Local Government
18	Improve the efficiency and consistency of urban planning by standardising planning rulebooks RAN, BUP, JUL (\$ 2022-2026	 Standardise the planning policies of regional and district plans. This should: a. Establish national uniform definitions for land use policy. b. Develop a National Planning Framework that appropriately standardises rules, with local authorities required to adopt these rules with limited variations. c. Make consistent provision for papakāinga housing on Māori land and other forms of community housing. d. Merge regional and district plans into a smaller number of combined plans. 	MfE, Ministry of Housing and Urban Development (MHUD), Local Government
19	Improve the delivery of transit-oriented development (TOD) JTSS (§ 2022-2026	 Undertake post-implementation reviews of recent transit- oriented development (TOD) opportunities. These reviews should: a. Reflect international best practice, be independent and assess actual performance against appraisal, cost schedule and benefits. b. Recommend changes to practices and policies to increase the effectiveness of TOD delivery. 	MoT, Waka Kotahi, MHUD, Kāinga Ora
20	Improve the efficiency and outcomes of infrastructure through spatial planning BUP, RAN 3 2022-2026	 Resource management reforms should include requirements for regional spatial plans that: a. Provide clear direction to district plans and funding plans. b. Include mechanisms for participation by relevant central government infrastructure suppliers and Māori. c. Provide for cities to double or triple in population and provide alternative scenarios for the spatial distribution of growth, rather than providing only for a single growth scenario. d. Identify future infrastructure requirements, including future transport networks and other major infrastructure. 	MfE, MHUD
G R	efer to Section 10	() Time	

No.	What	How
21	Reduce congestion and	Implement congestion prici by:
		 a. Implementing recommen Question" report for cong implementation as approx
		public transport arrangen
	0 2022-2031	b. Immediately removing leg congestion charging and in the Land Transport Man untolled routes.
		c. Progressing planning for Wellington and other citie
		d. By 2025, identifying othe pricing may be beneficial
		e. Assigning responsibility f appropriate independent
22	Target transport investment to areas of highest need using signals from congestion pricing	Share and use data and sig identify where future multi- needed.
	🕞 LFF, TCQ, LGW	
	() 2032-2050	
23	Increase housing development opportunities in areas with good access to infrastructure	Improve development oppo served by infrastructure by
		 Accelerating the implement Statement on Urban Devention including requirements to employment centres.
	🕞 BUP, RAN	b. Enabling greater urban d
	() 2022-2031	for minimum levels of mix
		 Prioritising provision of he over preservation of subj character and amenity).
		 d. Using national direction t housing and business cal growth expectations, guid
		areas.

	Who
icing and road tolling in urban centres	MoT, Waka Kotahi, Local Government
ngestion charging in Auckland. Stage opriate, considering current and future ements.	
egislative barriers to implementing Id road tolling, such as requirements lanagement Act 2003 for alternative	
or congestion pricing schemes for ties as appropriate.	
ner urban areas where congestion al.	
for setting and adjusting prices to an nt institution.	
ignals from congestion pricing to ii-modal transport investment is	Waka Kotahi, Local Government
portunities in areas already well by:	Local Government,
nentation of the National Policy evelopment and monitoring compliance, to upzone around rapid-transit and	MfE, MHUD
development, including requirements ixed-use zoning and upzoning.	
human necessities, such as housing, bjective preferences (e.g. heritage,	
to set binding targets for increased apacity commensurate with future uided by land prices in high-demand	
arings panels to review district plan	
Refer to Section 10	() Time

No.	. What How		Who
24	Improve spatial planning through better information on infrastructure capacity and costs to service growth CBD, WCB (\$ 2022-2031	 Improve information on the infrastructure cost implications of different growth possibilities by: a. Developing, validating and publishing a spatial model of the long-run average infrastructure costs of servicing growth in different locations, to inform issues like regional spatial planning, local government development contributions policies and the alignment of development-capacity increases with infrastructure capacity and low-cost opportunities for development. This model should cover all relevant types of public infrastructure. b. Requiring water entities to publish geo-spatial information on water asset condition, capacity for growth in existing water networks and capacity for growth due to planned network upgrades. c. Developing a common approach to measuring the condition and capacity of water infrastructure assets. 	MHUD, Te Waihanga, Infrastructure Providers
Sec	ion 6.4 - Strengther	ning resilience to shocks and stresses	
25	Increase the resilience of critical infrastructure HGI, BRN, DIV 2022-2026	 To increase the resilience of critical infrastructure the government should: a. Develop a principles-based definition of critical infrastructure. b. Apply the definition of critical infrastructure consistently across the policy and legislative framework for resilience. c. Develop the criteria to set infrastructure criticality levels and then identify New Zealand's critical infrastructure. d. Clarify and strengthen requirements to identify minimum service levels for critical infrastructure in the event of an emergency. e. Adequately resource lead resilience agencies to carry out the functions required to support the delivery of critical infrastructure, on a consistent and long-term basis. 	National Emergency Management Agency (NEMA), Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet (DPMC), Treasury
26	Improve infrastructure risk management by making better information available PRA, RSN 2022-2026	 To make better information available to support risk management steps should be taken to: a. Require regular disclosures of information about critical infrastructure preparedness and minimum service levels in an emergency. b. Resource the maintenance, upkeep and availability of research, information, data-sets and tools to support decision-making that enables resilience outcomes. 	NEMA, DPMC, LINZ, Central Government
27	Prepare infrastructure for the impacts of climate change CAT CAT	 To adapt to climate change, actions should be taken to: a. Finalise and adopt the infrastructure actions set out in the National Adaptation Plan. b. Support the provision of accessible, consistent and robust information on regional and local climate change impacts across the whole country. 	MfE, Te Waihanga, Climate Change Commission

No.	What	How		
28	Support the security of supply of essential materials, goods and services to build, operate and maintain infrastructure	To increase the resilience of should be taken to:		
		а.	Incorporate into all risk- infrastructure a consider materials and goods req and maintenance of infra bitumen, cement, concre other essential goods ar	
	PRS	b.	Require that regional con authorities undertake re	
	() 2022-2050		aggregate extraction, inc	
Sect	ion 6.5 - Moving to a	a ci	rcular economy	
29	Establish a clear national	In dir	developing a National Wa rection that:	
	direction for circularity in waste	a.	Sets out a plan for circula emissions targets.	
	management	b.	Accelerates investment a and the recovery of resou	
	0 2022-2031	C.	Considers an appropriate	
	0 2022 2001	d.	Sets out performance me	
		e.	Ensures waste markets an incentivised and regulated	
30	Prioritise	Op	otions should include:	
	options that minimise waste	a.	A ban on products that ar	
	entering the market to avoid	b.	The development of optic stewardship.	
	infrastructure costs	c.	Increasing waste-disposa monitoring and funding en	
	🕞 FOT, ACW	The prioritisation o	oumping.	
	0 2022-2031	benefit analyses.		
31	Improve	Op	otions should include:	
	recycling infrastructure for priority materials	a.	Developing processing an timber and wood wastes.	
	G WSP	b.	Developing construction a services.	
	2022-2031	C.	Developing a network of drop-offs and the aggrega capacity for plastics const	
		d.	Developing opportunities treading capacity.	

🕞 Refer to Section 10 **(**) Time

How	Who			
To increase the resilience of supply of essential materials, steps should be taken to:	MBIE, Ministry for Primary			
a. Incorporate into all risk-management planning for critical infrastructure a consideration of the security of supply of materials and goods required for the construction, operation and maintenance of infrastructure (including aggregate, bitumen, cement, concrete, steel and processed timber) and other essential goods and services.	Central Government, Local Government			
b. Require that regional councils, in conjunction with territorial authorities, undertake resource scans as part of their long-term planning processes and protect sites suitable for aggregate extraction, including through zoning.				
a circular economy				
In developing a National Waste Strategy, provide appropriate direction that:	MfE			
 Sets out a plan for circularity and is consistent with net-zero emissions targets. 				
b. Accelerates investment and innovation in waste minimisation and the recovery of resources.				
c. Considers an appropriate aspirational target.				
d. Sets out performance measures for tracking performance.				
e. Ensures waste markets are well functioning and appropriately incentivised and regulated.				
Options should include:	MfE, Local			
a. A ban on products that are hard to recycle.	Government			
 The development of options to incentivise greater product stewardship. 				
 Increasing waste-disposal levies sustainably while managing, monitoring and funding enforcement to minimise illegal dumping. 				
The prioritisation of these options should be guided by cost- benefit analyses.				
Options should include:	MfE, Local			
 Developing processing and biomass utilisation capacity for timber and wood wastes. 	Government			
 Developing construction and demolition waste collection services. 				
c. Developing a network of regional hubs for e-waste and battery drop-offs and the aggregation of hubs with adequate storage capacity for plastics consolidation.				
d. Developing opportunities for local tyre-manufacturing and re- treading capacity.				
e. Improving sorting facilities.				

Refer to Section 10

🕓 Time

No.	What	How	Who
32	Use behavioural	This should include:	MfE, Local
	interventions to address barriers to recycling,	 Improving the ease of recycling for consumers, with a focus on simplicity and consistency across jurisdictions. 	Government
	reduce waste and avoid contamination	b. Funding sustained education campaigns that promote and improve the social licence for recycling and promote options to minimise and avoid waste.	
	🕞 WSP, RRM	c. Coordinating and sharing behavioural change materials	
	0 2022-2031	between central and local government.	
33	Reduce landfill	Steps should be taken to:	MfE, Local
	emissions resulting from organic waste	 Improve the collection of organic waste through more commercial and household food waste collection services. 	Government
	G WSP	 b. Target education and behaviour-change programmes to improve the take-up of organic waste collection. 	
	<u>(</u>) 2022-2031	c. Require landfill gas capture for all landfills that accept organic waste.	
34	Develop uses	Responsible agencies should:	MfE, MBIE, Local
	for recycled materials in infrastructure	 a. Identify opportunities for more domestic reprocessing, including for plastics (especially e-waste), metals, fibreglass, plasterboard and accreate. 	Government
	G WSP	 b. Develop relevant technical specifications and national 	
	() 2022-2031	standards for the re-use of recycled construction materials in infrastructure.	
		c. Support innovation in, and the procurement of, infrastructure design and construction to enable a greater use of recyclable materials in infrastructure.	
35	Clarify the strategic role of waste-to-energy	The government should establish a position on waste-to-energy as part of the National Waste Strategy, noting its potential as an alternative to landfill.	MfE, MBIE
	🕞 WSP, WTE		
	() 2027-2031		
36	Improve waste sector data and insight	Fund improvements in waste data to enable comparisons between volume, performance and processing capacity across waste streams by region and territorial authority. This might	MfE, Local Government
	🕞 WSP	be achieved by resourcing the implementation of the National Waste Data Framework.	
	() 2022-2031		
37	Encourage	This should include the following steps:	MfE, Local
	public infrastructure waste minimisation and designing for deconstruction	 Require all infrastructure projects to incorporate waste- minimisation plans in procurement and design objectives and use recycled products where feasible. 	Government
		 Encourage prefabrication and standardised options as part of infrastructure delivery. 	
	USP WSP	c. Investigate the efficacy of a resource exchange mechanism	
	() 2022-2031	for infrastructure projects, through a partnership between government and the construction sector.	
R	efer to Section 10	() Time	

No.	What	How		
Sect	tion 7.1 - Better decis	ision making		
38 Strengthen government as a sophisticated	Take the following steps to government to better deliv			
	client of infrastructure	methodologies for each key delivery agencies.		
	© 2022-2031	 b. Require long-term plann better predict future infr 		
		 Strengthen government including governance, c negotiation, oversight a for major infrastructure. 		
39	Increase the clarity of long- term investment intentions for public	Central government requi planning and asset manag infrastructure providers sh local government and reg		
infrastructure agencies	Long-term investment pla with agency service-deliv linked with budget allocat			
		_		
	() 2027-2031			
40	40 Strengthen independent advice for infrastructure	Establish an independent consensus on key project significant long-term prob priority list should include		
		 Publish guidance on crit investigations, consister principles 		
() 2022-2026	 b. Solicit applications for p infrastructure providers. 			
		c. Assess projects and init regularly.		
41	Improve	Assemble and analyse inf		
	Infrastructure performance reporting and	 a. Projects: how individual operation. 		
	insight	b. Networks: how infrastru		
	DSA	c. Systems: how networks		
	C) 2022-2050			

	Who
o develop the client capabilities of the ver infrastructure: standards and standard design	Treasury, Central Government Delivery
major infrastructure asset class with	Agencies
ang informed by service standards to astructure needs.	
t capabilities in end-to-end delivery, commissioning, procurement, nd whole-of-life management systems	
irements for long-term investment gement planning for all public nould be aligned with standards for ulated infrastructure.	Treasury, DIA, Local Government
nning should be transparent, aligned ery priorities and strategies, and cions and other sources of financing.	
infrastructure priority list to build s and initiatives that address lems. The development of the the following steps:	Te Waihanga
teria for project inclusion and priority nt with best practice decision-making	
riority projects and initiatives from	
iatives and update the priority list	
rastructure performance across:	Treasury, Te
assets perform in delivery and	wainanga
cture performs as a network.	
perform as an integrated system.	
Refer to Section 10	() Time

No.	What	How	Who
42	Optimise infrastructure investment by considering non- built solutions first	Consider and prioritise non-built options when choosing how to address infrastructure challenges, including:a. Using pricing to manage demand.b. Making better use of existing infrastructure by adapting or re-using it	Treasury, Central Government Delivery Agencies, Local Government
	🕞 INH, NOF	 c. Using regulation and education to manage infrastructure 	
	0 2022-2031	demands.	
		 Considering lower-cost options before progressing to higher- cost options. 	
43	Strengthen project	Deliver consistent and transparent project evaluation by requiring:	Treasury, MBIE, Te Waihanga
	evaluation through cost- benefit analysis	a. Local and central government agencies to undertake and publicly release rigorous social cost-benefit analyses of all public infrastructure investment proposals where the whole-of- life costs of the proposals exceed \$150 million.	
	() 2022-2026	 b. Commitments to projects to only be made after the completion of this analysis, rather than prior to undertaking the analysis. 	
		 Analysis to recognise inter-generational choices appropriately and include wider environmental and social impacts. 	
44	Ensure an appropriate consideration of future generations in project evaluation	Undertake an inquiry into the appropriateness and consistent application of New Zealand's social discount rate policy, which determines how much weight is placed on future outcomes relative to present-day outcomes when analysing public infrastructure investments.	Treasury, Te Waihanga
	🕞 TNT		
	<u>()</u> 2027-2031		
45	Improve the infrastructure project knowledge base	To improve future project evaluation methods and processes, delivery agencies should:a. Conduct and fund independent post-implementation reviews of major infrastructure projects at completion.	Central Government Delivery Agencies
	DSA	b. Publish ex-post reviews in full and measure performance,	
	<u>()</u> 2022-2050	benefits and costs against business case estimates.	
46	Improve infrastructure	Undertake investigations into the cost performance of New Zealand's infrastructure sector that:	Te Waihanga
	cost analysis	a. Cover multiple infrastructure sectors to enable the identification	
	BUP	of common issues and points of difference.	
	<u>()</u> 2022-2050	 identity recent cost trends and drivers of cost trends within infrastructure sectors. 	
		c. Benchmark New Zealand's cost performance against better- performing OECD countries and identify drivers of differences.	
		 Are repeated at least every five years to inform ongoing Infrastructure Strategy development. 	
G R	Refer to Section 10	() Time	

No.	What	How
Sect	ion 7.2 – Improving	funding and financing
47	Improve equitable funding of local infrastructure	Investigate options and tim existing Crown exemptions a demand for infrastructure The approach should avoid financial liabilities.
48	Reform the transport	Implement a new, fit-for-pu that's sustainable and ade
	KCM 2022-2031	The system should incorpore best-practice funding and location, distance and level
		 Establishing a new system a. Establishing necessary tr b. Introducing necessary co User Charges and Petrol c. Determining how addition collected.
49	Improve and streamline the application of development contributions	Implement a single national contributions policy to assi existing legislation for dete policy. This could be simila
	() 2027-2031	
50	Consolidate existing separate infrastructure capital funds AIP, FFI, RNS S 2022-2031	Fragmented infrastructure consolidated and integrate capital fund, or funds. The consolidation of nation for infrastructure would en investments based on nati and enable greater public funding decisions.
		How funding is held and d
		a. Be set out transparently.b. Include a consideration of investments, or some co
51	Improve the ability to debt fund infrastructure	As a way of accessing alter local government balance a. Investigate opportunities and Financing Act 2020. b. Explore other Special Pu
	() 2027-2041	new infrastructure invest

Rautaki Hanganga o AotearoaTe WaihangaNew Zealand Infrastructure StrategyNew Zealand Infrastructure Commission 184

		Wł	10
ming to phase ir ns from paying ra re is generated.	n the removal of ates, recognising when	DI	A
id creating exce	ssive and unexpected		
urpose transpor equate for meeti	rt funding system ing future transport	Mo	σТ
orate principles I include shifting el-of-service-ba	for user charges and y vehicles to time, sed pricing.		
n should include	2:		
transport funding	g requirements.		
complements or i ol Excise Duty.	replacements to Road		
onal funding, if re	equired, should be		
al legislative pro sist territorial au ermining develo ar to National Bo	ocess for development thorities in interpreting opment contributions uilding Standards.	DI	A
e capital funding ed in a transpar) pools should be ent infrastructure	Tre	easury
onal capital fund nable the Gover tional significand transparency o	ing programmes nment to prioritise ce and net benefits f infrastructure capital		
distributed shou	ld:		
Ι.			
of the use of gra ombination of the	ants, loans and ese.		
ernate financing e sheets:	and avoiding debt on	Tre	easury, DIA
es to utilise the In).	frastructure Funding		
urpose Vehicles stments.	as a mechanism for		
	Refer to Section 10		🕓 Time

No.	What	How	Who
52	Improve funding of infrastructure services through targeted funding tools LFF, FFI, TCQ 3 2027-2031	 Establish targeted funding tools for the following applications: a. Tourism: Ensure that the International Visitor Conservation and Tourism Levy can be used for tourism infrastructure, especially by local authorities with high international visitor numbers that are otherwise struggling to secure funding sources. b. Wastewater: Introduce legislative change that clarifies the ability of local authorities to direct-rate wastewater based on volumes, to create a better link between services and costs to users. c. Waste: Investigate what funding mechanisms will best achieve the objectives of the Waste Minimisation Act 2008 and the National Waste Strategy and incentivise behaviour appropriately. 	MBIE, MoT, DIA, MfE
53	Encourage the use of value capture tools to fund infrastructure for growth BUP, FFI, LFF, MHT © 2022-2031	Enable value capture tools through legislation to ensure that more funding is available for infrastructure that generates value for users and communities.	Treasury
54	Increase infrastructure funding to meet our infrastructure challenges and boost productivity FFI, TIC () 2027-2050	Given that current expenditure levels are unlikely to be sufficient to provide for infrastructure needs in coming decades, a material increase in infrastructure funding from both public and private sources is required to meet our infrastructure challenges and boost productivity. The government should increase infrastructure funding where there are opportunities to use investment to support productivity growth, resilience and improvements in environmental outcomes. Investments should be made based on rigorous assessments of which projects deliver positive value for money.	Treasury
55	Ensure that infrastructure charges keep pace with inflation LFF (\$ 2022-2026	Infrastructure related charges, fees and levies that are set out in legislation or regulation should be adjusted for inflation.	Treasury, Local Government
56	Improve public understanding of how infrastructure is funded FFI \$2022-2026	 Improve communication about how infrastructure is priced and funded to build public understanding, including: a. How infrastructure is priced in different infrastructure sectors, and what implications this has for equity and the quality of infrastructure provision. b. The link between how infrastructure is paid for and the quality of services that are provided. 	Te Waihanga, Infrastructure Providers
🕞 R	efer to Section 10	() Time	

140.	wnat	How	
Sect	ion 7.3 – An enablin	g planning and consenting	
57	Strengthen the government's mandate to deliver infrastructure	Ensure that the Natural ar 'gives effect' to existing re deliver infrastructure.	
	D NBE, CCI		
	() 2022-2026		
58	Improve the evidence base for environmental consent applications	Robust and consistent data decisions on environmenta increase the quality of data a. Improving the evidence effects of urban develop quality of water, air, soil a	
	BE, CCI	habitat).	
	2022-2031	b. Centralisation of knowle across regional jurisdicti environmental consent a	
59	Deliver reasonable environmental limits and targets in the Natural and Built Environments legislation	 Steps to achieve this recor a. Focusing on environmer sustaining life (for examp rather than human value heritage, character and a b. Standardising national m Where possible, ensure th measurable, targeted and 	
	() 2022-2026		
60	Develop greater certainty for infrastructure providers in the Natural and Built Environments legislation	Steps that should be imple certainty include: a. Standardising and codify for infrastructure in the e Environments legislation conditions that infrastruct for routine matters like n	
	D NBE, CCI	minimise variations and	
	() 2022-2031	 b. Providing a mechanism f multiple outcomes to ave the outcomes. c. Narrowing the definition natural and physical env effects on trade competi restrict new infrastructur d. Requiring that externaliti resources are addressed business case. 	

		Wł	10
ı framework			
nd Built Environn equirements for	nents legislation the government to	Mf	E
ta is essential fo tal consent appli ta available inclu base on and kno pment and infras	r making informed cations. Steps to ide: pwledge of the tructure on the (cpocios and	Mf	E
edge to enable c tions, for the purp applications.	onsistent application bose of assessing		
mmendation inc	lude:	Mf	E
ental limits and tai ple air, water, soi es and preferenc amenity).	rgets for matters I and biodiversity) es (for example		
minimum environ	mental limits.		
nat environment I quantifiable.	al limits are		
emented to deliv	ver greater	Mf Wa	E, Te aihanga
fying a National F emerging Natura n, which sets req cture providers a noise and dust m increase certain	Planning Framework I and Built uirements and are required to meet anagement, to ty.		
for resolving cor void litigation on t	nflicts between the interpretation of		
n of 'effects' to th vironment, so tha tition) aren't unre re.	ose relating to the t other matters (like asonably used to		
ties unrelated to ed elsewhere, suc	natural and physical ch as in a project		
	G Refer to Section 10)	() Time

No.	What	How	Who
Sect	ion 7.4 - Acceleratin	g technology use	
61	Increase the diffusion	Increase diffusion of existing technologies through the following steps:	DIA, MBIE
	of existing technologies to increase productivity	 Review approaches to procurement at an agency level and consider whether there are barriers to technology diffusion within current systems and practices. 	
	in the infrastructure sector	b. Develop a technology plan that establishes a clear time-bound mission and actions to increase the diffusion of technology. This should include consideration of all demand-side drivers and	
	D PTC	barriers to uptake.	
	() 2022-2026	c. Devolve decision-making for technical standard-setting (such as minimum energy performance standards, housing codes, waste and water efficiency) to responsible regulators where there are productivity gains and ensure the standards are reviewed and updated regularly.	
62	Accelerate the adoption of open data and common standards for the infrastructure sector PTC () 2022-2031	 Accelerate the adoption of open data and common standards through the following steps: a. Identify the legislative and administrative steps required to move toward full open data for central and local government (including infrastructure). b. Fund, develop and mandate common national infrastructure metadata standards, building on existing government initiatives. 	DIA, Stats NZ
63	Accelerate the digitalisation of infrastructure PTC 2027-2031	 Accelerate digitalisation across the infrastructure lifecycle by implementing the following steps: a. Facilitate the consistent use of Building Information Management systems and provide detailed implementation guidance. b. Accelerate investigations into city, region and nation-wide digital twins to embed them as a process and tool of choice for spatial planning development. c. Fund and launch a series of artificial-intelligence-powered use cases across infrastructure sectors. 	MBIE, MfE
🕞 R	efer to Section 10	() Time	

No.	What	How
Sect	ion 7.5 - Building wo	orkforce capacity and capa
64 Pr to in ar de	Provide certainty to industry to invest in skills and training development	Strengthen the Te Waihar industry and government a. The scale and type of v b. The likely resources red infrastructure
	CTP	c. The geographic and se
		Use the aggregated data of the economy to deliver labour requirements and infrastructure spending d
65	Develop the talent required to deliver New	Deliver a national infrastr Zealand has the right peo infrastructure over the me
	infrastructure	A dedicated public and p established to develop th that it:
		a. Provides information or requirements to deliver
	() 2022-2031	supply over the next 15
		 Advises on now our ed future workforce needs
		c. Provides advice on the critical specialist infrast construction or add to t
		 Provides advice on skill to a diverse audience a infrastructure system.
		e. Advises on opportunitie projects and sectors, an effectively in partnershi
66	Build New Zealand's competitiveness for international firms and products	Identify and reduce barrie to enter the New Zealand standards by default unle the development of a spe Strengthen the trans-Tasr consistent approach in:
	G AIP	a. Product and building st
	<u>(</u> 2027-2031	b. Qualification requiremec. Contract and procurem

		Wł	10
bility			
nga Infrastructur with a long-tern	e Pipeline to provide 1 view on:	Те	Waihanga
vork to be comple	eted.		
quired to plan, de	liver and maintain		
ctoral distributior	n of projects.		
to provide insig the pipeline, inf inform the direct uring times of ec	ht into the capacity form forecasts of tion of government conomic downturn.		
ucture skills plar ople with the righ edium to long ter	n to ensure New nt skills to deliver our rm.	NZ Pro Pu	Government ocurement, blic Service
rivate sector wor le national infras	rking group should be tructure skills plan so	Co Te ME Ed	ommission, Waihanga, BIE, Tertiary ucation
n the likely profes the planned and years and beyor	ssional and workforce I forecast infrastructure nd.	Co Tre Co	ommission, easury, onstruction ector Accord
ucation system c	an best support our	Mi Ed	nistry of ucation
role of immigration ructure skill defic the costs of proje	on settings to address iencies that could delay cts and maintenance.		
l-development pa and increase dive	athways that appeal rsity in all parts of the		
es to improve coo nd how employer ip with training pr	ordination across rs can work more oviders.		
ers for internatio I market by adop ess there is a con ecific New Zealar	nal firms and products ting international npelling rationale for nd standard.	NZ Pro ME	2 Government ocurement, BIE
nan procuremer	nt market by ensuring a		
andards			
ents			
ent processes			
processes.			
	G Refer to Section 10		C Time

No.	What	How	Who
67	Strengthen government	Improve project outcomes by increasing public sector capabilities and excellence in infrastructure delivery by:	Public Service Commission,
	client-side capability to plan, design and deliver projects	 a. Introducing comprehensive procurement, asset management and project management practitioner development frameworks and underpinning accreditation systems across government. 	Central Government Delivery Agencies
		 b. Creating career development opportunities in the public sector by increasing the number of entry-level technical roles in client 	
	() 2027-2031	agencies to support the placement and rapid professional growth of newly graduated practitioners.	
		c. Building effective partnerships between delivery agencies and New Zealand's academic institutes to disseminate international best practice and lift the prioritisation of research in infrastructure.	
		d. Aligning remuneration between the public and private sectors to improve competition across infrastructure types.	
68	Recognise The following steps should be put in place to recognise the complexity of major project leadership:		Public Service Commission, Te
	leadership as a role with comparable complexity to organisational leadership	 Develop guidance on the skill sets and appointment processes appropriate for the leaders of New Zealand's largest projects. 	Waihanga
		b. Establish a New Zealand Major Projects Leadership Academy based on proven international approaches and make completion a requirement for project leaders.	
	D MPL	c. Ensure accountability mechanisms and remuneration are	
	() 2022-2031	aligned with the complexity and risk project leaders are managing on behalf of the government.	
🕞 R	Refer to Section 10	(§ Time	



Port Chalmers, Dunedin.

10. Want to know more

Hiahia he mōhiohio anō

The following documents are ones that we found particularly useful in the development of the recommendations. References link to where we have used them in the development of our thinking. These documents give additional information on the problems identified, the case for action, or how recommendations might work in practice.

Ref.	Document	Author	Link
ACW	Auckland Council Waste Management and Minimisation Plan, 2018	Auckland Council	https://www.aucklandcouncil.govt.nz/plans-projects- policies-reports-bylaws/our-plans-strategies/ topic-based-plans-strategies/environmental-plans- strategies/docswastemanagementplan/auckland- waste-management-minimisation-plan.pdf
AIA	Australian Infrastructure Audit 2019	Infrastructure Australia	https://www.infrastructureaustralia.gov.au/ publications/australian-infrastructure-audit-2019
AIP	Australian Infrastructure Plan 2016	Infrastructure Australia	https://www.infrastructureaustralia.gov.au/sites/ default/files/2019-06/Australian_Infrastructure_Plan. pdf
ARE	Acceleration of renewable energy and energy efficiency	Ministry for Business, Innovation and Employment	https://www.mbie.govt.nz/assets/discussion- document-accelerating-renewable-energy-and- energy-efficiency.pdf
ΑΤΑ	Australian Transport Assessment and Planning Guidelines: T8 - Real Options Assessment	Transport and Infrastructure Council	https://www.atap.gov.au/sites/default/files/ documents/atap-t8-real-options-assessment.pdf
BUP	Better Urban Planning	The New Zealand Productivity Commission	https://www.productivity.govt.nz/inquiries/better- urban-planning/
BRN	Ministerial Review: Better Responses to Natural Disasters and Other Emergencies in New Zealand 2018	Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet	https://dpmc.govt.nz/departmental-agency/nema/ ministerial-review-better-responses-natural- disasters-and-other-emergencies
BZC	Bringing Zero Carbon Gas to Aotearoa: Hydrogen Feasibility Study - Summary Report	First Gas Group	https://firstgas.co.nz/wp-content/uploads/Firstgas- Group_Hydrogen-Feasibility-Study_web_pages.pdf
CAT	Adapting to Climate Change in New Zealand, Recommendations from the Climate Change Adaptation Technical Working Group	Climate Change Adaptation Technical Working Group	https://environment.govt.nz/assets/Publications/ Files/ccatwg-report-web.pdf

Ref.	Document	Author
CBD	The Costs and Benefits of Urban Development	MRCagney
CBG	Auckland Council Cost Benefit Analysis for Publicly Owned Golf courses	Auckland Council
ccc	Ināia tonu nei: a low emissions future for Aotearoa	He Pou a Rangi, t Climate Change Commission
CCI	The Cost of Consenting Infrastructure Projects in New Zealand	Sapere, (a report the New Zealand Infrastructure Commission, Te Waihanga)
CEM	Crown Engagement with Māori (Engagement Framework & Guidelines)	Te Arawhiti
CPR	Corridor Protection: Planning and Investing for the Long-Term	Infrastructure Australia
СТР	Construction Sector Transformation Plan	Construction Sect Accord
DIV	30-Year Strategy	Infrastructure Vict
EAF	Washington Electric Aircraft Feasibility Study	WSDOT, 2020
EAN	Advice on Creating Equal Access to Electricity Networks	Electricity Authori
FFI	Financing and Funding of Infrastructure in New Zealand	Kevin Ramsay Consulting, (a rep for the New Zeala Infrastructure Commission, Te Waihanga)
FOT	Future of Tax	Tax Working Grou
FSE	Developing the Freight Sector Elements	Deloitte
GFI	Grow for it - How Population Policies can Promote Economic Growth, NZIER working paper 2012/1.	Yeabsley, 2012

4	
	U

	Link
	https://environment.govt.nz/assets/Publications/ Files/costs-and-benefits-of-urban-development-mr- cagney_0.pdf
ncil	https://ourauckland.aucklandcouncil.govt.nz/media/ qp0d0do1/2018_golf_cba-model-and-methodology. pdf
ji, the je	https://www.climatecommission.govt.nz/our-work/ advice-to-government-topic/inaia-tonu-nei-a-low- emissions-future-for-aotearoa/
ort for nd e	https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/The-cost-of- consenting-infrastructure-projects-in-NZ-final-report. pdf
	https://www.tearawhiti.govt.nz/te-kahui-hikina-Māori- crown-relations/engagement/
	https://www.infrastructureaustralia.gov.au/sites/ default/files/2019-06/CorridorProtection.pdf
ector	https://www.constructionaccord.nz/assets/ Construction-Accord/files/construction-accord- transformation-plan.pdf
/ictoria	https://www.infrastructurevictoria.com.au/wp- content/uploads/2021/08/1Victorias-infrastructure- strategy-2021-2051-Vol-1.pdf
	https://wsdot.wa.gov/sites/default/files/2021-11/ WSDOT-Electric-Aircraft-Feasibility-Study.pdf
ority	https://www.ea.govt.nz/assets/dms- assets/26/26594Equal-Access-IPAG.pdf
report ealand e	https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/ Financing-and-funding-of-infrastructure-in-New- Zealand.pdf
roup	https://taxworkinggroup.govt.nz/resources/future- tax-final-report-vol-i-html.html
	https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/ Freight-Sector-Review.pdf
2	https://nzier.org.nz/publication/grow-for-it-how- population-policies-can-can-promote-economic- growth-nzier-working-paper-20121

Ref.	Document	Author	Link
GIC	Submission on Climate Change Commission's 2021 Draft Advice for Consultation	Gas Industry Company	https://haveyoursay.climatecommission.govt.nz/ comms-and-engagement/future-climate-action- for-aotearoa/consultation/download_public_ attachment?sqld=question-2021-01-19-0131576176- publishablefilesubquestion&uuld=488170798
GIW	Guiding Integrated Urban and Water Planning	Cooperative Research Centre for Water Sensitive Cities	https://watersensitivecities.org.au/wp-content/ uploads/2021/02/IRP3-project-overview-s://www. gasindustry.co.nz/about-us/news-and-even260221. pdf
GTG	Greening the Grid: Implementing Renewable Energy Zones for Integrated Transmission and Generation Planning	Getman, D., and Hurlbut, D.	https://greeningthegrid.org/trainings-1/transcript- implementing-renewable-energy-zones-for- integrated-transmission-and-generation-planning
HGI	Compendium of Policy Good Practices for Quality Infrastructure Investment	OECD	https://www.oecd.org/mcm/Compendium-CMIN- 2020-3-EN.pdf
INH	Intervention Hierarchy	Waka Kotahi, NZ Transport Agency	https://www.nzta.govt.nz/assets/resources/ The-Business-Case-Approach/PBC-intervention- hierarchy.pdf
ITA	Report of the Minister for the Environment's Infrastructure Technical Advisory Group	Infrastructure Technical Advisory Group	https://environment.govt.nz/assets/Publications/ Files/Itag-Report-Final.pdf
ITN	Inaia Tonu Nei: A Low- emissions Future for Aotearoa	He Pou a Rangi Climate Change Commission	https://www.climatecommission.govt.nz/our-work/ advice-to-government-topic/inaia-tonu-nei-a-low- emissions-future-for-aotearoa/
JUL	Introduction of Urban Land Use Planning System in Japan	Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, and Transport	https://jica-net-library.jica.go.jp/library/jn325/ UrbanLandUsePlanningSystem_all.pdf
КСМ	Keeping Cities Moving	Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency	https://nzta.govt.nz/assets/resources/keeping-cities- moving/Keeping-cities-moving.pdf
LEE	Low-Emissions Economy	New Zealand Productivity Commission	https://www.productivity.govt.nz/assets/Documents/ lowemissions/4e01d69a83/Productivity- Commission_Low-emissions-economy_Final- Report_FINAL_2.pdf
LER	Leveraging our energy resources to reduce global emissions and increase our living standards	New Zealand Infrastructure Commission, Te Waihanga	https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/ Leveraging-our-energy-resources.pdf
LFF	Local Government Funding and Financing	New Zealand Productivity Commission	https://www.productivity.govt.nz/assets/Documents/ a40d80048d/Final-report_Local-government- funding-and-financing.pdf

Ref.	Document	Author
LMA	Are local Infrastructure Decision-Making Bodies Right Sized? Challenges from Growing Labour Market Areas	Sense Partners (a report for the New Zealand Infrastructure Commission, Te Waihanga)
LGW	Draft Programme Business Case Report	Let's Get Wellingt Moving
MFP	Municipal Fragmentation and Economic Performance of OECD TL2 Regions.	Bartolini ,D (OECD Regional Development Working Papers)
МНТ	Mayoral Housing Taskforce Report	Mayor of Aucklan
MPL	Major Projects Leadership Academy, MPLA Handbook	Infrastructure and Projects Authority
NBE	Inquiry on the Natural and Built Environments Bill: Parliamentary Paper	Submission by the New Zealand Infrastructure Commission Te Waihanga to the Environment-Sele Committee ,Augu 2021:
NFD	National Freight Data Hub, Options Discussion Paper, August 2020.	The Australian Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Region Development and Communications
NLR	National Location Registry - Freight and Logistics	GS1 Australia
NOF	Network Optimisation Framework	Queensland Department of Transport and Ma Roads
NSC	National Freight and Supply Chain Strategy	Australian Transp and Infrastructure Council
OCE	Offshore Clean Energy Infrastructure Framework	Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources
PII	Productivity Commission Inquiry Report on Public Infrastructure	Australian Productivity Commission

	https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/ Labour-Markets-Report.pdf
gton	https://lgwm.nz/assets/Documents/Programme- Business-Case/LGWM-PBC-Report-21-June-2019- Draft.pdf
)	https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/urban-rural-and- regional-development/municipal-fragmentation- and-economic-performance-of-oecd-tl2- regions_5jrxqs60st5h-en
ind	https://www.aucklandcouncil.govt.nz/mayor-of- auckland/mayor-priorities/Documents/house- taskforce-report.pdf
id ty	https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/ uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/850739/MPLA_Handbook_for_IPA_ Website2pdf
d	https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/ Te-Waihanga-Natural-and-Built-Environments-Bill- submission-to-Environment-Select-Committee.pdf
e lect- just	
onal 1d s	https://www.infrastructure.gov.au/sites/default/files/ migrated/transport/freight/national-freight-data-hub/ files/national-freight-data-hub-options-discussion- paper-august-2020.docx
	https://www.gs1au.org/nlr/freightlogistics
lain	https://www.tmr.qld.gov.au/business-industry/ Business-with-us/Getting-the-most-out-of-existing- infrastructure
port re	https://www.freightaustralia.gov.au/sites/default/ files/documents/national-freight-and-supply-chain- strategy.pdf
e,	https://storage.googleapis.com/converlens-au- industry/industry/p/prj1a399c09546fd22c3dd7e/ public_assets/offshore-clean-energy-regulatory- framework-discussion-paper.pdf
	https://www.pc.gov.au/inquiries/completed/ infrastructure/report

Link

Ref.	Document	Author	Link
PRA	A Pathway to Infrastructure Resilience Advisory Paper 1: Opportunities for Systemic Change	Infrastructure Australia and Infrastructure NSW, August 2021	https://www.infrastructureaustralia.gov.au/sites/ default/files/2021-08/Advisory%20Paper%201%20 -%20A%20pathway%20to%20Infrastructure%20 Resilience%20FINAL.pdf
PRS	Infrastructure Resources Study	New Zealand Infrastructure Commission, Te Waihanga	https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/ Infrastructure-Resources-Study-11-Nov-21.pdf
PTC	Preparing for Technological Change in the Infrastructure Sector	BECA, Polis (a report for the New Zealand Infrastructure Commission, Te Waihanga)	https://tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/ Preparing-for-Technological-Change-in-the- Infrastructure-Sector.pdf
RAN	New Directions for Resource Management in New Zealand	Randerson, T	https://environment.govt.nz/assets/Publications/ Files/rm-panel-review-report-summary.pdf
RNS	RestartNSW	Infrastructure New South Wales	https://www.infrastructure.nsw.gov.au/restart-nsw. aspx
RRM	Advice on Recycling and Resource Recovery Infrastructure	Infrastructure Victoria	https://www.infrastructurevictoria.com.au/wp- content/uploads/2020/03/Advice-on-recycling-and- resource-recovery-FINAL-REPORT.pdf
RSN	Resilience Strategy For Natural Hazard Risk Reduction 2019 - 2029	Earthquake Commission	https://www.eqc.govt.nz/sites/public_files/ documents/grants/EQC%20Resilience%20 Strategy%202019.pdf
RRV	Recycling and Resource Recovery Infrastructure in Victoria: International and Australian Comparisons	AlphaBeta (report for Infrastructure Victoria)	https://www.infrastructurevictoria.com.au/ wp-content/uploads/2019/10/International-and- Australian-comparisons-Alphabeta-September- 2019-FINAL-REPORT.pdf
SRC	Stern Review: The Economics of Climate Change	Sir Nicholas Stern	https://www.cambridge.org/core/ books/economics-of-climate-change/ A1E0BBF2F0ED8E2E4142A9C878052204
TCQ	The Congestion Question	Ministry of Transport	https://www.transport.govt.nz//assets/Uploads/ Report/TheCongestionQuestionMainFindings.pdf
TIC	The Infrastructure Challenge	Sense Partners (a report for the New Zealand Infrastructure Commission, Te Waihanga)	https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/ Infrastructure-Challenge-Report.pdf
TNT	Economics like there's no tomorrow	NZIER	https://nzier.org.nz/static/media/filer_public/ e7/bf/e7bfe44f-1915-41c6-9f4e-9609f0921bfb/ nzier_insight_32economics_like_theres_no_ tomorrow.pdf
ТРМ	TPM Development First Mover Disadvantage Consultation	Transpower	https://www.transpower.co.nz/sites/default/files/ uncontrolled_docs/TPM%20Development%20 First%20mover%20disadvantage%20 consultation%20-%20final.pdf

Ref.	Document	Author
TSS	The TOD Standard Scorecard	Institute for Transportation an Development Pol
ULH	Using Land for Housing	New Zealand Productivity Commission
WCB	A Methodology for Strategic Assessment of the Wider Costs and Benefits of Urban Growth	PwC
WEF	Shaping the Future of Construction: A Breakthrough in Mindset and Technology	World Economic Forum
WSA	Economic Analysis of Water Services Aggregation	Water Industry Commission for Scotland
WSP	Resource Recovery and Waste State of Play	New Zealand Infrastructure Commission, Te Waihanga
WTE	Energy from Waste Infrastructure Plan 2021	New South Wales Environmental Protection Author

	Link
nd licy	https://www.itdp.org/library/standards-and-guides/ tod3-0/the-tod-standard-scorecard/
	https://www.productivity.govt.nz/inquiries/using- land-for-housing/
	https://www.hud.govt.nz/assets/Urban- Development/Urban-Growth-Agenda/Methodology- report-A-methodology-for-strategic-assessment-of- the-wider-costs-and-benefits-of-urban-growth.pdf
	http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Shaping_the_ Future_of_Construction_full_reportpdf
	https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/ Three-waters-reform-programme/\$file/Analysis-of- economic-impacts-of-water-services-aggregation- Briefing-to-Minister.pdf
	https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/strategy/state-of- plays/resource-recovery-and-waste/
s	https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate- site/resources/waste/21p3261-energy-from-waste- infrastructure-plan.pdf

Glossary Papakupu whāiti

Agencies	All government departments as defined by the Public Finance Act 1989, Crown agents, autonomous Crown entities, Independent Crown entities, Crown entity companies, companies listed on Schedule 4A of the Public Finance Act. Also referred to as Procuring Agencies.
Aotearoa 2050	The Te Waihanga campaign to collect feedback from New Zealanders to help shape a view of what New Zealand's infrastructure will look like in 2050.
Artificial intelligence – machine learning	Technology that enables digital devices to respond to and learn from their environments. Artificial intelligence is anticipated to streamline tasks, especially those that are repeatable, and continue to learn and develop through completing tasks and receiving feedback.
Augmented reality	An enhanced version of the real physical world that's achieved through the use of digital visual elements, sound or other sensory stimuli delivered via technology.
Better Business Case framework	A five case (or five question) model that provides objective analyses and consistent information to decision-makers, to enable them to make smart investment decisions for public value.
Biomass energy (or bioenergy)	Energy that provides heat, electricity and fuel for transport from solid biofuels (such as wood chips, wood pellets or organic waste), liquids (such as biodiesel from tallow or used cooking oil) and gas (such as that produced in wastewater and sewage treatment plants).
Building Information Modelling (BIM)	The holistic process of creating and managing information for a built asset. Based on an intelligent model and enabled by a cloud platform, BIM integrates structured, multi-disciplinary data to produce a digital representation of an asset across its lifecycle, from planning and design to construction and operations.
Business case	A management tool that supports decision-making for an investment. A robust business case can provide an explicit and systematic basis for decision- making, transparency and accountability, assurance that the proposed investment optimises value for money, and a plan for realising the expected benefits, and for managing costs and risks.
Carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2E)	A way to describe different greenhouse gases on a common scale that relates the warming effect of emissions of a gas to that of carbon dioxide. It's calculated by multiplying the quantity of a greenhouse gas by the relevant global warming potential.
Circular economy	A model of production and consumption that involves sharing, leasing, reusing, repairing, refurbishing and recycling existing materials and products for as long as possible.
Civil Defence and Emergency Management Act 2002	A framework within which New Zealand can prepare for, deal with, and recover from local, regional and national emergencies.
Congestion pricing	A method used to improve network performance by charging road users to encourage some to change the time, route or way in which they travel.
Construction Sector Accord	A shared commitment between the government and industry to transform the construction sector.
Cost-benefit analysis (CBA)	A systematic process that businesses use to analyse the decisions to make and those to forgo. A cost-benefit analysis sums the potential rewards expected from a situation or action and then subtracts the total costs associated with taking that action.

Crown land	Land vested in H for any public pu
Cyber security	The practice of p digital attacks.
Digital consenting	An application of streamlines the in consenting and a checking complia integrating the co applications.
Digital twins	A virtual model d being studied, fo related to vital ar different aspects temperature and processing syste
Disposal emissions	The carbon dioxi from decommiss
Distributed energy resources	The name given located in house distributed energ thermal energy s home energy-ma
Economic infrastructure	Our energy, teleo
Economic stimulus	A targeted fiscal from the privates
Electric aircraft	An aircraft power motors that drive methods, the mo
Electricity generation	The process of g
Electrification	The conversion of
Embodied emissions	The carbon dioxi of infrastructure.
Emissions Reduction Plan	A plan that conta removals to mee
Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS)	A scheme create Act was passed i Protocol. It's the p its long-term com
Enabled emissions	The carbon dioxi infrastructure.
Energy transition	The global energ production and c energy sources l
Externalities	Situations when t services imposes charged for the g
Financing	How capital is ac
Funding	All the money ne through users, ta

11

Her Majesty the Queen which isn't for the time being set aside urpose or held by any person in fee simple.

protecting critical systems and sensitive information from

f Building Information Modelling (BIM) and digital twins that infrastructure consenting and approval process. Traditionally, approvals of changes to the built environment rely on people iance. Digital consenting removes the human element by onsenting and compliance checks with BIM and digital twin

designed to reflect a physical object accurately. The object or example, a wind turbine, is outfitted with various sensors reas of functionality. These sensors produce data about s of the physical object's performance, such as energy output, I weather conditions and more. This data is then relayed to a em and applied to the digital copy.

ide emissions generated at the end of life, including emissions sioning, recycling and waste disposal.

to renewable energy units or systems that are commonly es or businesses to provide them with power. Common gy resources include rooftop solar PV units, battery storage, storage, electric vehicles and chargers, smart meters, and anagement technologies.

communications, transport, waste, and water infrastructure.

and monetary policy intended to elicit an economic response sector.

ered by electricity, almost always via one or more electric e propellers. Electricity may be supplied by a variety of ost common being batteries and solar cells.

generating electric power from sources of primary energy.

of a machine or system to the use of electrical power.

ide emissions associated with the materials and construction

ains policies and strategies to reduce emissions and increase et an emissions budget.

ed through the Climate Change Response Act 2002. The in recognition of New Zealand's obligations under the Kyoto primary method for the New Zealand government to achieve nmitment to reduce our greenhouse gas emissions.

ide emissions generated from third parties using

gy sector's shift from fossil-based systems of energy consumption, including oil, natural gas and coal, to renewable like wind and solar.

the effects of production or consumption of goods and s costs or benefits on others that aren't reflected in the prices goods and services being provided.

ccessed to meet the upfront costs of new projects.

eeded to pay for infrastructure. It comes from the community axpayers and ratepayers.

Gas-fired generation	A thermal power station that burns natural gas to generate electricity.
Gateway™	An independent project/programme peer review methodology that provides advice and support to the Senior Responsible Owner of a programme or project.
GDP	Gross domestic product.
Geothermal energy	Electrical power generated from geothermal energy.
Gigawatt	A measure equal to one billion (1,000,000,000) watts or one gigawatt = 1000 megawatts. This unit is often used for large power plants and power grids.
Governance	The provision of leadership, strategic direction, control and accountability. A key objective of governance is to make decisions efficiently, effectively and transparently. It's the system by which an organisation or project is directed and controlled.
Information and communications technologies (ICT)	A diverse set of technological tools and resources used to transmit, store, create, share and exchange information. They include computers, the internet (websites, blogs and emails), live broadcasting technologies (radio, television and webcasting), recorded broadcasting technologies (podcasting, audio and video players and storage devices) and telephony (fixed or mobile, satellite, video-conferencing etc.).
Infrastructure	Fixed, long-lived structures that facilitate economic performance and wellbeing. Infrastructure includes 'horizontal' physical networks (principally transport, water and energy and telecommunications); and 'vertical' infrastructure (buildings such as hospitals, schools and prisons). The latter are also known as social assets.
Infrastructure funds	Entities that consolidate funds for the purpose of acquiring infrastructure assets (the infrastructure assets are defined by the mandate of each fund and can differ substantially for different funds).
Infrastructure pipeline	A tool being published on the Infrastructure Commission website that provides visibility of the timing, sequencing and scale of future infrastructure projects.
Institute of Public Works Engineering Australasia	The peak association for the professionals who deliver public works and engineering services to communities in Australia and New Zealand.
International Visitor Conservation and Tourism Levy	A non-refundable levy of \$35 charged to international visitors. It contributes directly to helping protect the natural environment they enjoy, and the infrastructure they use.
Internet of Things	Physical objects (or groups of such objects) that are embedded with sensors, processing ability, software, and other technologies, and that connect and exchange data with other devices and systems over the internet or other communications networks.
Investment	The commitment of capital or balance-sheet resources to the delivery of government services via projects, programmes or portfolios.
Joint venture	A strategic alliance between two or more parties to accomplish a specific task or project.
Metadata	Information that describes other information in order to help you understand or use it.
Minimum energy performance standards	Minimum energy efficiency standards that products must meet to be sold in New Zealand.
National Policy Statement on Urban Development	A policy statement that aims to ensure that New Zealand's towns and cities are well-functioning urban environments that meet the changing needs of our diverse communities.
National Waste Data Framework	A framework that establishes a set of definitions to act as a common language for collecting and reporting waste data and determines what data is gathered.

Net-zero carbon emissions commitment	A new target for r Zealand, set by th Act 2019 to: redu methane) to zero 24–47% below 20 2030.
Net-zero carbon emissions economy	Net-zero refers to produced and the zero carbon emis is no more than th
Notice of requirement	To begin the proc notice of requirer Environmental Pr designation.
Operational emissions	The carbon dioxic renewal of infrast
Pumped hydro storage	A hydro storage i Using surplus ele When demand fo released via a ste
Regulatory settings	Laws, ordinances enforceable requ
Renewable energy zone	An area that wou there would be fe
Resource exchange mechanism	A mechanism to t and assets acros
Resource Management Act (RMA)	An Act to promot resources in New
Resource Management Review Panel	A Panel appointe to undertake a co New Zealand.
Social discount rate	A mechanism use at a later date.
Social infrastructure	Our hospitals, sch
Spatial planning	Setting a direction (social, economic considerations fo environmental ma
Spillover effects	Positive or a nega due to an indepe
Supply chain	A supply network distribute a speci represents the st state to the custo
Telecommunications infrastructure	Includes telephor microwaves, and networks.
Telehealth	A system through telecommunication
Terawatt-hour (TWh)	A watt-hour (Wh) running for one h gigawatt-hours (G

11

reducing domestic greenhouse gas emissions in New the Climate Change Response (Zero Carbon) Amendment uce net emissions of all greenhouse gases (except biogenic by 2050; and reduce emissions of biogenic methane to 2017 levels by 2050, including to 10% below 2017 levels by

to the balance between the amount of greenhouse gas ne amount removed from the atmosphere. We'll reach a netssions economy when the amount we add to the atmosphere the amount taken away.

cess of designating land, a requiring authority must serve a ement on the relevant territorial authority or lodge it with the rotection Authority. A notice of requirement is a proposal for a

ide emissions generated from operations, maintenance and structure.

method that captures and stores water in two places. ectricity, water can be pumped uphill to a storage lake. or electricity can't be met by other means, that water can be teep drop to power turbines and generate electricity.

s, rules, regulations, orders, codes and other legally uirements in effect and applicable to the performance of work.

uld be suitable for renewable energy infrastructure and where few barriers to gaining resource consent.

facilitate the trade of surplus materials, products, components ss United Kingdom infrastructure projects.

te the sustainable management of natural and physical w Zealand.

ed by the Minister for the Environment, the Hon David Parker, comprehensive review of the resource management system in

sed to put a present value on costs and benefits that will occur

chools, prisons, parks, libraries, and community buildings.

on and a long-term goal to promote the four well-beings c, environmental and cultural) through the integration of or land use change, infrastructure development and delivery, nanagement and recognition of cultural values.

gative economic, social or political impact that's experienced endent event occurring from a seemingly unrelated event.

between a company and its suppliers to produce and cific product to the final buyer. The supply chain also teps it takes to get the product or service from its original omer.

one wires, cables (including submarine cables), satellites, I mobile technology such as fifth-generation (5G) mobile

h which healthcare is provided remotely by means of ions technology.

) is the amount of energy produced by a one-watt source hour. A terawatt-hour (TWh) is one trillion watt-hours, or 1,000 GWh).

Territorial authority	A tier of local government in New Zealand.	
Transit-oriented development (TOD)	A development that aims to develop high-density, mixed-use living options in close proximity to local amenities, with links to reliable and frequent public transport.	
Value capture	An infrastructure funding mechanism that recovers some or all of the value that public infrastructure generates for private property owners.	
Volumetric charge	A charge based on the volume of water used. For metered premises, this is based on the volume of water recorded by the meter.	
Waste-to-energy	The process of generating energy in the form of electricity and/or heat from the primary treatment of waste, or the processing of waste into a fuel source.	

Glossary of Te Reo Māori Terms

Aotearoa	The te reo name
Нарū	Kinship group, cla primary political u whanau sharing o the ancestor, but
Huna kore	To not try to conc
lwi	Extended kinship descended from
Kaitiaki	Guardian/Steward responsibilities o Māori.
Kaitiakitanga	Guardianship/Ste
Mana whenua	Territorial rights, p jurisdiction over l occupation of trib
Maramataka	Māori lunar calen tribes the lunar m moon. The start c stars.
Mātauranga Māori	Māori knowledge perspectives.
Ōhanga āmiomio	The circular econ
Oranga	Wellbeing.
Papakāinga housing	Papakāinga trans housing developi land.
Rangatiratanga	Chieftainship, rigl
Tangata whenua	People of the lan
Te ao Māori	The Māori world interrelationship
Te Tiriti o Waitangi	The Treaty of Wa
Te Waihanga	The New Zealand in Te Reo.
Tikanga	Correct procedur
Tikanga Māori	Correct procedur (Māori perspectiv

for New Zealand.

an, tribe, subtribe - section of a large kinship group and the unit in traditional Māori society. It consists of a number of descent from a common ancestor, usually being named after sometimes from an important event in the group's history.

ceal or hide.

group, often referring to a large group of people a common ancestor and associated with a distinct territory.

d. Tangata whenua, whānau, hapū, iwi exercising the f kaitiakitanga (guardianship) inherited through whakapapa

ewardship.

power from the land, authority over land or territory, land or territory - power associated with possession and oal land.

ndar - a planting and fishing monthly almanac. For most nonths began with the new moon and for some with the full of each month was aligned to the morning rising of particular

e systems encompassing Māori world views and

nomy.

slates as 'nurturing place to return to' and reflects a type of ment that's located on multiply-owned Māori or ancestral

ht to exercise authority.

h

view that acknowledges the interconnectedness and of all living and non-living things.

itangi.

d Infrastructure Commission. Translates to 'the cornerstone'

re, customary system of values.

res and system of values based upon Mātauranga Māori ves) and Māori knowledge.

References Ngā Tohutoro

- Burgess G, Enzer M, Schooling J et al. Flourishing Systems: Re-envisioning Infrastructure as 1. a Platform for Human Flourishing. Cambridge: Centre for Digital Britain and Centre for Smart Infrastructure & Construction, 2020. DOI number: 10.16863/CAM_52270. https://www.cdbb.cam. ac.uk/files/flourishing-systems_revised_200908.pdf
- Deloitte. A Better Way Forward. Building the Road to Recovery Together. Construction Sector 2. Covid-19 Recovery Study. Wellington: New Zealand Infrastructure Commission/Te Waihanga, 2021 https://infracom.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Construction-Sector-Covid-19-Recovery-Study.pdf
- Niall, Todd. "Covid-19: Alert Level 4 Costs Auckland Transport \$5 Million a Week in Missed Fares." 3. Stuff, August 19, 2021. Accessed August 28, 2021. https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/health/coronavirus/126121613/covid19-alert-level-4-costs-auckland-transport-5-million-a-week-in-missed-faresv
- 4 ASB. Impacts of COVID-19 on the NZ Tourism Sector. ASB. Wellington, June 30, 2020. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www.asb.co.nz/content/dam/asb/documents/reports/economic-note/ economic-note-tourism-overview.pdf
- NewsnReleases. "Air New Zealand Gets 5 More Months of Government Assistance on Cargo 5. Flights." May 26, 2021. Accessed July 25, 2021. https://newsnreleases.com/2021/05/26/air-newzealand-gets-5-more-months-of-government-assistance-on-cargo-flights-%EF%BB%BF/
- New Zealand Foreign Affairs and Trade. "MFAT Monitoring International Supply Chains." 6. Accessed September 1, 2021. https://www.mfat.govt.nz/en/trade/mfat-market-reports/marketreports-global/mfat-monitoring-international-supply-chains/
- Miller, Corazon. "Businesses Struggling to Cope amid Dramatic Freight Cost Increase in and out 7. of NZ." TVNZ, June 16, 2021. Accessed September 1, 2021. https://www.tvnz.co.nz/one-news/ new-zealand/businesses-struggling-cope-amid-dramatic-freight-cost-increase-in-and-nz
- Rider Levett Bucknall. International RLB Report, Construction Market Intelligence. Second 8. Quarter 2021: 8. Accessed September 30, 2021. https://s31756.pcdn.co/europe/wp-content/ uploads/sites/6/2021/02/RLB-International-Report-Q2-2020.pdf
- 9. Anderson, Ian. "Coronavirus: Leap in Demand for Home Meal Delivery Services in New Zealand." Stuff, March 23, 2020. Accessed August 28, 2021. https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/health/coronavirus/120487497/coronavirus-leap-in-demand-for-home-meal-delivery-services-in-new-zealand
- Gamio, L, and Goodman, P. "How the Supply Chain Crisis Unfolded." The New York Times, 10. December 5, 2021. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2021/12/05/business/economy/supply-chain.html
- New Zealand Infrastructure Commission Te Waihanga. Infrastructure Quarterly January 2022. 11. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/projects/infrastructure-quarterly/quarter-one-2022/
- Statistics New Zealand. "International Travel and Migration Patterns Shift Due to COVID-19 12. Pandemic." 2020. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www.stats.govt.nz/news/internationaltravel-and-migration-patterns-shift-due-to-covid-19-pandemic
- The report reveals 17 district health boards completed approximately 3,300 telehealth consul-13. tations per week in a pre-Covid-19 month from November 2019 – January 2020, a figure which drastically increased in April to 34,500 per week. NZ Telehealth Forum & Resource Centre. "A HiNZ Special Report into Telehealth at New Zealand DHBs and the Impact of COVID-19." 2020. Accessed September 1, 2021. https://www.telehealth.org.nz/news/a-hinz-special-report-into-telehealth-at-new-zealand-dhbs-and-the-impact-of-covid-19/
- Wharton University of Pennsylvania. "The Post-COVID-19 World Will Be Less Global and Less 14. Urban." May 13, 2020. Accessed September 1, 2021. https://knowledge.wharton.upenn.edu/ article/post-covid-19-world-will-less-global-less-urban/

- 15. Press, 2021.
- 16. Better Future. Wellington, May 2021.
- 17 sion-news/watch-the-infrastructure-2021-looking-ahead-symposium/
- 18 tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Infrastructure-Challenge-Report.pdf
- 19. 2073." 2020. Accessed August 16, 2021. http://nzdotstat.stats.govt.nz/wbos/Index. aspx?DataSetCode=TABLECODE7585 considers this issue. https://www.productivity.govt.nz/inquiries/immigration-settings/
- 20 technology-and-the-future-of-work/
- 21. Thought." April 20, 2021. Accessed July 19, 2021. er-than-previously-thought
- 22. Transpower. The Role of Peak Pricing for Transmission. November 2, 2018. of Peak Pricing for Transmission 2Nov2018.pdf.
- 23. files/2019-09/Economic%20Plan.pdf.
- 24 wics-supporting-material-3-costs-and-benefits-of-reform.pdf
- 25 Accessed February 24, 2022. view-Balance-Sheet
- 26 files/2021-01/Te%20%C5%8Changa%20M%C4%81ori%202018.pdf.
- 27. document/16892-maori-in-the-labour-market-june-2021-quarter-unadjusted
- 28. ri-strategy-august-2020.pdf
- 29. pdf
- 30. nz/tools-and-resources/public-sector-maori-crown-relations-capability/

Glaeser, E. and Cutler, D. Survival of the City: Living and Thriving in an Age of Isolation. Penguin

New Zealand Infrastructure Commission - Te Waihanga. He Tuāpapa ki te Ora Infrastructure for a

New Zealand Infrastructure Commission - Te Waihanga. "Watch the Infrastructure 2021: Looking Ahead Symposium". Accessed February 21, 2022. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/news/commis-

Sense Partners. New Zealand's Infrastructure Challenge: Quantifying the Gap and Path to Close it. A Report for the New Zealand Infrastructure Commission/Te Waihanga. 2021. https://www.

Statistics New Zealand. "National Population Projections, by Age and Sex, 2020 (base)-

Policy can have an impact on population growth rates, for instance by influencing migration inflows, and this may also be a way to manage infrastructure challenges arising from growth. The Productivity Commission is currently undertaking an inquiry into immigration settings that

Productivity Commission. Technological Change and the Future of Work: Final Report. Wellington, New Zealand: Productivity Commission, 2020. https://www.productivity.govt.nz/inguiries/

Radio New Zealand News. "Alpine Fault: Probability of Damaging Quake Higher than Previously

https://www.rnz.co.nz/news/national/440834/alpine-fault-probability-of-damaging-quake-high-

https://www.transpower.co.nz/sites/default/files/plain-page/attachments/Transpower_The_Role_

New Zealand Government. Economic Plan - For a Productive, Sustainable and Inclusive Economy. Wellington, 2019. Accessed July 22, 2021. https://www.beehive.govt.nz/sites/default/

Water Industry Commission for Scotland. Supporting Materials Part 3: Costs and Benefits of Reform. 2021. https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Three-waters-reform-programme/\$file/

Te Tari Taiwhenua/Department of Internal Affairs. "Balance Sheet: Public Equity and Total Assets."

https://www.localcouncils.govt.nz/lgip.nsf/wpg_URL/Profiles-Local-Government-Statistical-Over-

For instance, the assets underpinning the Maori economy are estimated at \$69 billion and are weighted toward natural resource-based industries that benefit from well-functioning infrastructure services. See BERL and Reserve Bank of New Zealand. Te Ohanga Maori 2018: The Maori Economy 2018. New Zealand. January 28, 2021. https://berl.co.nz/sites/default/

Ministry of Business, Innovation & Employment. "Māori in the Labour Market – June 2021 Quarter (unadjusted)." Wellington, New Zealand. Accessed July 14, 2021. https://www.mbie.govt.nz/dms-

Waka Kotahi/New Zealand Transport Agency. Te Ara Kotahi – Our Maori Strategy. August 2020. Accessed June 24, 2021. https://www.nzta.govt.nz/assets/About-us/docs/te-ara-kotahi-our-mao-

Te Arawhiti. "Building Closer Partnerships with Māori." Accessed February 24, 2022. https://www. tearawhiti.govt.nz/assets/Tools-and-Resources/Building-closer-partnerships-with-Maori-Principles.

Te Arawhiti. "Public Sector Capability." Accessed January 29, 2022. https://www.tearawhiti.govt.

- Including opportunities to use existing preferential procurement opportunities for Maori suppliers 31. to deepen workforce skills and training. New Zealand Government Procurement. "Supplier Diversity to Increase through New Procurement Targets for Māori Businesses." December 17, 2020. Accessed June 22, 2021. https://www.procurement.govt.nz/about-us/news/supplierdiversity-to-increase-through-new-procurement-targets-for-Māori-businesses/
- For instance, developing the potential of Maori land where approximately one-third has the 32. potential for increased utility through infrastructure development. Office of the Ministry for Business, Innovation & Employment - Minister for Regional Economic Development. "Provincial Growth Fund: Unlocking Underutilised Whenua Māori." 2019. https://www.mbie.govt.nz/dmsdocument/11501-provincial-growth-fund-unlocking-underutilised-whenua-Maori-pdf Te Puni Kōkiri – Ministry of Māori Development. "Owners' Aspirations Regarding the Utilisation of Maori Land." 2011. Accessed August 18, 2021. https://www.tpk.govt.nz/en/a-matou-mohiotanga/ land/owners-aspirations-regarding-the-utilisation-of-ma.
- 33. Direct communications with project team and Diversity Works NZ. "Te Ahu a Turanga: Manawatū TararuaHighway Alliance. Mārauranga Māori Award: Small-Medium Organisation Winner." 2021. Accessed January 31, 2022. https://diversityworksnz.org.nz/case-studies/2021-diversity-awardsnz/m%C4%81tauranga-m%C4%81ori-te-ahu-a-turanga-manawat%C5%AB-tararua-highway-alliance/
- Statistics New Zealand. "National Population Projections, by Age and Sex, 2020 (base)-2073 34 (database)." 2020. Accessed July 14, 2021. http://nzdotstat.stats.govt.nz/wbos/Index.aspx?Data-SetCode=TABLECODE7585
- Statistics New Zealand. "Subnational Population Estimates." October 22, 2020. Accessed 35. July 14, 2021. https://www.stats.govt.nz/information-releases/subnational-population-estimates-at-30-june-2020
- Statistics, N. Z. 2021. "National Population Projections, by Age and Sex, 2020 (base)-36. 2073 (database)." 2020. Accessed July 14, 2021. http://nzdotstat.stats.govt.nz/wbos/Index. aspx?DataSetCode=TABLECODE7585
- 37 This figure refers to the medium projection for population growth in five urban councils (Auckland, Hamilton City, Tauranga City, Wellington City, and Christchurch City) calculated from subnational population projections, compared with the land area of those councils calculated from geographic area files. Statistics New Zealand. "Subnational Population Projections, by Age and Sex, 2018 (base)-

2048." 2021. Accessed September 21, 2021. http://nzdotstat.stats.govt.nz/wbos/Index. aspx?DataSetCode=TABLECODE7988 Statistics New Zealand. 2018. "Geographic Areas File 2018." Accessed September 21, 2021.

38. Spoonley, Paul. The New New Zealand: Facing Demographic Disruption. Massey University Press, 2020, 136.

https://datafinder.stats.govt.nz/table/104680-geographic-areas-file-2018/

- According to Statistics NZ figures, 24% of people 65 or over have earned income and they make 39 up 7% of all earners. By 2073, the proportion of people with earned income can be expected to drop from 56% to 53% of the population.
- Statistics New Zealand. "New Zealand's Population Reflects Growing Diversity." 2019. Accessed 40. September 1, 2021. https://www.stats.govt.nz/news/new-zealands-population-reflects-growing-diversity
- Statistics New Zealand. "New Zealand's Population Reflects Growing Diversity." 2019. Accessed 41 September 1, 2021. https://www.stats.govt.nz/news/new-zealands-population-reflects-growing-diversitv
- Statistics New Zealand. "Subnational Ethnic Population Projections: 2013 (base)–2038 Update." 42. 2017. Accessed September 1, 2021. https://www.stats.govt.nz/information-releases/subnational-ethnic-population-projections-2013base2038-update
- 43 Ministry for the Environment. National Climate Change Risk Assessment for New Zealand. 2020, 133. Accessed September 1, 2021. https://www.mfe.govt.nz/sites/default/files/media/Climate%20 Change/national-climate-change-risk-assessment-new-zealand-snapshot.pdf
- 44. Schooling, Jennifer, Burgess, Gemma, and Enzer, Mark. Flourishing Systems - Re-Envisioning Infrastructure as a Platform for Human Flourishing. United Kingdom: Centre for Digital Built Britain and Centre for Smart Infrastructure & Construction, 6. 2020. https://doi.org/10.17863/ CAM.52270

- 45 ndf
- 46. ADVICE/CCC-ADVICE-TO-GOVT-31-JAN-2021-pdf.pdf
- 47 future-for-Aotearoa/Inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-future-for-Aotearoa.pdf
- 48
- 49 for-Aotearoa/Inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-future-for-Aotearoa.pdf
- 50 ernment-topic/inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-future-for-aotearoa/modelling/
- 51
- ity-Study_web_pages.pdf
- 53 ernment-topic/inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-future-for-aotearoa/modelling/
- 54. Further discussion of these trends is provided in: New Zealand Infrastructure Commission - Te Waihanga. Sector State of Play: Energy. 2021. February-2021.pdf

Climate Change Commission – He Pou a Rangi. "2021 Supporting Evidence: Chapter 11: Where Are We Currently Heading?" May 31, 2021. https://ccc-production-media.s3.ap-southeast-2. amazonaws.com/public/Evidence-21/Evidence-CH-11-where-are-we-currently-heading.pdf Transpower New Zealand Limited. Whakamana I Te Mauri Hiko - Empowering Our Energy Future. March 2020. Accessed August 24, 2021. https://www.transpower.co.nz/sites/default/files/ publications/resources/TP%20Whakamana%20i%20Te%20Mauri%20Hiko.pdf.

- 55
- 56.
- 57 tions/resources/TP%20Whakamana%20i%20Te%20Mauri%20Hiko.pdf.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2021. "Summary for Policymakers." In Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, et al., eds. Cambridge University Press (in press), 41. https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGI_Full_Report.

Climate Change Commission - He Pou a Rangi. Climate Change Commission 2021 Draft Advice for Consultation. Wellington, New Zealand, 2021: 10. Accessed June 30, 2021. https://ccc-production-media.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/public/evidence/advice-report-DRAFT-1ST-FEB/

Climate Change Commission - He Pou a Rangi. India Tonu Nei: A Low-emissions Future for Aotearoa. May 31, 2021. Wellington, New Zealand: 88. Accessed February 04, 2022. https:// ccc-production-media.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/public/Inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-

Climate Change Commission - He Pou a Rangi. "Modelling and Data." Demonstration Path tab, rows 14-22". Accessed July 29, 2021. https://www.climatecommission.govt.nz/our-work/advice-to-government-topic/inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-future-for-aotearoa/modelling/

Climate Change Commission - He Pou a Rangi. Inaia Tonu Nei: A Low-Emissions Future for Aotearoa. Wellington, New Zealand. May 31, 2021. Accessed February 04, 2022. https://ccc-production-media.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/public/Inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-future-

Climate Change Commission - He Pou a Rangi. "Modelling and Data. Demonstration Path tab, BN186." Accessed July 29, 2021. https://www.climatecommission.govt.nz/our-work/advice-to-gov-

Biomass energy can be in the form of solids (such as wood chips, wood pellets or organic waste), liquids (such as biodiesel from tallow or used cooking oil) or gas (such as those produced in wastewater or sewage treatment plants). Source: Bioenergy Association of New Zealand. "About Bioenergy." 2021. Accessed August 2, 2021. https://www.bioenergy.org.nz/about-bioenergy

52. Firstgas Group. Bringing Zero Carbon Gas to Aotearoa: Hydrogen Feasibility Study - Summary Report. March 2021. https://firstgas.co.nz/wp-content/uploads/Firstgas-Group_Hydrogen-Feasibil-

Climate Change Commission - He Pou a Rangi. "Modelling and Data. Demonstration Path tab, row 426". Accessed July 29, 2021. https://www.climatecommission.govt.nz/our-work/advice-to-gov-

Wide-ranging changes are projected for energy and electricity use over the next 30 years.

https://infracom.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Energy-Sector-State-of-Play-Discussion-Document-

Climate Change Commission - He Pou a Rangi. "Modelling and Data. Demonstration Path tab, rows 190-202." Accessed July 29, 2021. https://www.climatecommission.govt.nz/our-work/advice-to-government-topic/inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-future-for-aotearoa/modelling/.

Climate Change Commission - He Pou a Rangi. "2021 Supporting Evidence: Chapter 11: Where Are We Currently Heading." May 31, 2021: 31. https://ccc-production-media.s3.ap-southeast-2. amazonaws.com/public/Evidence-21/Evidence-CH-11-where-are-we-currently-heading.pdf

Transpower New Zealand Limited. Whakamana I Te Mauri Hiko - Empowering Our Energy Future. March 2020, 24. Accessed July 17, 2021. https://www.transpower.co.nz/sites/default/files/publica-

- Transpower New Zealand Limited. Te Mauri Hiko Energy Futures. Transpower White Paper, 58. 2018. Accessed March 2020. https://www.transpower.co.nz/sites/default/files/publications/resources/TP%20Energy%20Futures%20-%20Te%20Mauri%20Hiko%2011%20June%2718.pdf
- On the other hand, rapid technology change is driving in the opposite direction, making local 59. electricity generation and storage cheaper, which could result in a larger share of electricity coming from local sources. This could reduce our reliance on the national grid.
- 60. Climate Change Commission - He Pou a Rangi. Modelling and Data. Wellington, New Zealand. Accessed July 29, 2021. https://www.climatecommission.govt.nz/our-work/advice-to-government-topic/inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-future-for-aotearoa/modelling/.
- Climate Change Commission He Pou a Rangi. Inaia Tonu Nei: A Low-Emissions Future for 61 Aotearoa. Wellington, New Zealand, May 31, 2021: 120. https://www.climatecommission.govt.nz/.
- Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment. Discussion Document: Accelerating Renewable 62. Energy and Energy Efficiency. Wellington, New Zealand. December 2019. https://www.mbie.govt. nz/assets/discussion-document-accelerating-renewable-energy-and-energy-efficiency.pdf.
- Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources. Offshore Clean Energy Infrastructure 63. Regulatory Framework: Discussion Paper. Australian Government, January 2020. https://storage. googleapis.com/converlens-au-industry/industry/p/prj1a399c09546fd22c3dd7e/public_assets/ offshore-clean-energy-regulatory-framework-discussion-paper.pdf
- Transpower New Zealand Limited. "MBIE Accelerating Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency 64. Consultation Submission." February 28, 2020: 22. Accessed August 14, 2021. https://www.mbie. govt.nz/dmsdocument/12112-transpower-accelerating-renewable-energy-and-energy-efficiency-submission-pdf.
- New Zealand Productivity Commission. Low-Emissions Economy: Final Report. Wellington, New 65. Zealand, 2018. https://www.productivity.govt.nz/assets/Documents/lowemissions/4e01d69a83/ Productivity-Commission Low-emissions-economy Final-Report FINA 2.pdf. Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment, Discussion Document: Accelerating Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency. Wellington, New Zealand, December 2019. https:// www.mbie.govt.nz/dmsdocument/10349-discussion-document-accelerating-renewable-energyand-energy-efficiency

Innovation and Participation Advisory Group. "Submission on Accelerating Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency." Wellington, New Zealand, February 28, 2020. Accessed February 24, 2022. https://www.ea.govt.nz/assets/dms-assets/26/26595IPAG-MBIE-submission-on-Accelerating-renewable-energy-and-energy-efficiency.pdf

- 66. Transpower New Zealand Limited. Whakamana I Te Mauri Hiko - Empowering Our Energy Future. March 2020: 33 & 35. Accessed June 20, 2021. https://www.transpower.co.nz/sites/default/files/ publications/resources/TP%20Whakamana%20i%20Te%20Mauri%20Hiko.pdf.
- 67. Climate Change Commission – He Pou a Rangi. "2021 Supporting Evidence: Chapter 11: Where Are We Currently Heading?" May 31, 2021. Accessed June 29, 2021.https://ccc-production-media. s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/public/Evidence-21/Evidence-CH-11-where-are-we-currentlyheading.pdf
- Transpower New Zealand Limited. Whakamana I Te Mauri Hiko Empowering Our Energy Future. 68. March 2020: 24. Accessed May 30, 2021. https://www.transpower.co.nz/sites/default/files/publications/resources/TP%20Whakamana%20i%20Te%20Mauri%20Hiko.pdf
- Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment. "Table 2, Data Tables for Electricity." Accessed 69. February 4, 2022. https://www.mbie.govt.nz/building-and-energy/energy-and-natural-resources/ energy-statistics-and-modelling/energy-statistics/electricity-statistics/. On a quarterly basis, levels over the last five years ranged from 74 – 88%. The five-year weighted average is 82.4%, calculated from quarterly data for December 2016 -September 2021, Table 1.
- 70. Meridian. "Submission on He Tūāpapa Ki Te Ora, Infrastructure for a Better Future Draft Infrastructure Strategy Consultation Document". July 2, 2021.
- Lodestone Energy: "Lodestone Energy: Transforming New Zealand's Electricity Sector with the 71. Power of the Sun." Accessed August 31, 2021. https://lodestoneenergy.co.nz/
- Far North Solar Farm. "Building New Zealand's Solar Future." Accessed September 12, 2021. 72 https://fnsf.co.nz/

- 73. com/2021/09/06/english-solar-developers-expand-into-friendly-new-zealand/
- 74 HTFRICU/
- 75. are confidential
- 76. future-for-aotearoa/modelling/
- 77.
- 78 and-insights/articles/educational-articles/what-is-a-hyperscale-data-center/
- 79. sets.com/49051/1626295071-the-nz-hydrogen-opportunity.pdf
- 80 for-Aotearoa/Inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-future-for-Aotearoa.pdf
- 81. ral-resources/energy-statistics-and-modelling/energy-statistics/electricity-statistics/
- 82. ority-status-to-au22bn-renewable-energy-export-project/
- 83. energy.org/.
- 84 Aotearoa/Chapter-8-inaia-tonu-nei.pdf
- 86.
- 87 improved health from being able to use savings for additional heating.

Hall, Max. 2021. "English Solar Developers Expand into Friendly New Zealand." PV Magazine, September 6, 2021. Accessed on February 24, 2022. https://www.pv-magazine-australia.

New Zealand Herald. "Solar Farm to Be Built at Christchurch Airport." December 1, 2021. https:// www.nzherald.co.nz/nz/solar-farm-to-be-built-at-christchurch-airport/X5FMOSKXGGCQVZIQ4FI-

The expressions of interest in offshore windfarms were made in meetings with Te Waihanga and

Climate Change Commission - He Pou a Rangi. "Modelling and Data. Demonstration Path tab, cells AJ211-213 for 2020 data and BN211-213 for 2050 data." Accessed July 29, 2021. https://www. climatecommission.govt.nz/our-work/advice-to-government-topic/inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-

The 58TWh and 89TWh figures are calculations by Te Waihanga based on assessments prepared for MBIE of commercially viable wind, solar and geothermal resources. The lower figure excludes generation from offshore wind resources which are currently two times more expensive to develop than onshore wind. However, offshore costs are projected to fall rapidly over the next 30 years. Further details will be provided in a technical paper on the Te Waihanga website.

There is no official definition of a hyperscale data centre. VERTIV states that a hyperscale data centre is one that exceeds 5.000 servers and 10.000 square feet. See VERTIV. "What Is a Hyperscale Data Center?" Accessed August 21, 2021. https://www.vertiv.com/en-asia/about/news-

Contact Energy, Meridian Energy, and McKinsey & Co, in Southern Green Hydrogen. The New Zealand Hydrogen Opportunity. June 9, 2021. Accessed July 22, 2021. https://www.datocms-as-

The gap is between New Zealand's Nationally Determined Contribution and actual emissions. See Climate Change Commission - He Pou a Rangi. Ingia Tonu Nei: A Low-Emissions Future for Aotegrog. Wellington, New Zealand, May 31, 2021: 365. Accessed July 29, 2021. https://ccc-production-media.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/public/Inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-future-

Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment. "Data tables for electricity. Table 2, cell O51." Accessed September 21, 2021. https://www.mbie.govt.nz/building-and-energy/energy-and-natu-

Hancock, E., "Australia Gives New Priority Status to AU\$22bn Renewable Energy Export Project." PV Tech, March 1, 2021. Accessed May 22, 2021. https://www.pv-tech.org/australia-gives-new-pri-

World Energy Council. "Energy Trilemma Index." Accessed August 2020. https://trilemma.world-

Climate Change Commission - He Pou a Rangi. "Inaia Tonu Nei: "A Low-Emissions Future for Aotearoa. Chapter 8: Demonstrating Emissions Budgets Can Be Fair, Inclusive and Equitable." Wellington, New Zealand, May 31, 2021; 163-172, Accessed July 29, 2021, https://ccc-production-media.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/public/Inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-future-for-

85. Climate Change Commission – He Pou a Rangi. "Modelling and Data. Demonstration Path tab, cells AJ551 and BN551." Accessed July 29, 2021. https://www.climatecommission.govt.nz/ourwork/advice-to-government-topic/inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-future-for-aotearoa/modelling/

Climate Change Commission - He Pou a Rangi. "Modelling and Data. Demonstration Path tab, cells AJ531 and BN531." Accessed July 29, 2021. https://www.climatecommission.govt.nz/ourwork/advice-to-government-topic/inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-future-for-aotearoa/modelling/

On the flipside, the Climate Change Commission notes at p169 in its May 2021 report, that lowerincome households, some Maori and Pasifika households, elderly and people with disabilities will benefit more from making energy efficiency improvements. These groups are more likely to live in older, poorly insulated homes, and would therefore, benefit more from cost savings or

- Ministry of Business Innovation and Employment. "Support for Energy Education in Communities 88. Programme." Accessed August 21, 2021. https://www.mbie.govt.nz/building-and-energy/energy-and-natural-resources/energy-hardship/support-for-energy-education-in-communities-programme/
- Ministry of Business Innovation and Employment. "Maori and Public Housing Renewable Energy 89. Fund." Accessed August 21, 2021. https://www.mbie.govt.nz/building-and-energy/energy-and-natural-resources/low-emissions-economy/energy-efficiency-in-new-zealand/Maori-and-public-housing-renewable-energy-fund/
- Dixit, Avinashi K. and Robert S. Pindyck. Investment Under Uncertainty. Princeton, Princeton 90. University Press, 2014: 3 & 8.
- 91 This refers to the lock-in of operational emissions, rather than embedded emissions. For example, building a windfarm or a hydro generation plant will lock-in embedded emissions, but both have zero operational emissions. When developing the business case for deciding whether to build them, it is appropriate to use current ETS prices to value the embedded emissions that would be attributable to New Zealand. As there are no operational emissions, a long-term carbon cost value does not need to be considered.
- 92. Jarden Commtrade. Accessed on 22 February 2022. https://www.commtrade.co.nz/.
- Te Tai Ōhanga The Treasury. "CBAx Tool User Guidance Guide for Departments and Agencies 93 Using Treasury's CBAx Tool for Cost Benefit Analysis." Wellington, New Zealand. Accessed December 2020. https://www.treasury.govt.nz/information-and-services/state-sector-leadership/ investment-management/plan-investment-choices/cost-benefit-analysis-including-public-sectordiscount-rates/treasurys-cbax-tool.
- 94 Climate Change Commission – He Pou a Rangi. Inaia Tonu Nei: A Low-Emissions Future for Aotearoa. Wellington, New Zealand, May 31, 2021: 241. Accessed August 2, 2021. https://www. climatecommission.govt.nz/.
- Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy United Kingdom. "Valuation of 95 Greenhouse Gas Emissions: For Policy Appraisal and Evaluation." United Kingdom, September 2, 2021. Accessed September 8, 2021. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuing-greenhouse-gas-emissions-in-policy-appraisal/valuation-of-greenhouse-gas-emissions-for-policy-appraisal-and-evaluation.
- Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, United Kingdom, "Policy Paper: 96. Valuation of Greenhouse Gas Emissions." September 2, 2021. Accessed September 8, 2021. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuing-greenhouse-gas-emissions-in-policyappraisal/valuation-of-greenhouse-gas-emissions-for-policy-appraisal-and-evaluation#annex-1carbon-values-in-2020-prices-per-tonne-of-co2
- Based on an exchange rate of £1:\$1.94, on 8 September 2021. Xe.com. "EX Currency Converter 97. - Live Rates". 2021. Accessed September 8, 2021. https://www.xe.com/currencyconverter/convert/?Amount=1&From=GBP&To=NZD
- Callaghan Innovation. "Customer Stories: Cementing Eco-Friendly Building." Accessed February 98 14, 2022. https://www.callaghaninnovation.govt.nz/customer-stories/cementing-eco-friendly-building.Te Waihanga. Infrastructure Resources Study. November 2021. Accessed February 14, 2022. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Infrastructure-Resources-Study-11-Nov-21.pdf
- Ministry of Business, Innovation & Employment. Whole-of-Life Embodied Carbon Emissions 99. Reduction Framework: Building for Climate Change. August 2020. Accessed February 14, 2022. https://www.mbie.govt.nz/dmsdocument/11794-whole-of-life-embodied-carbon-emissions-reduction-framework
- 100. Auckland Light Rail: Independent Chair's Report. City Centre to Mangere Rapid Transit. October 2021. https://www.lightrail.co.nz/media/yodpjmkd/alr-ibc-summary-independent-chairs-report.pdf
- 101. For full details refer to Section 10 "Want to know more"

- not yet available below the territorial authority level. wbos/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TABLECODE7980
- govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Infrastructure-Challenge-Report.pdf
- 104
- 105. This figure sums together arrivals and departures. stats.govt.nz/information-releases/international-travel-may-2021
- 106 ing/115831996/new-zealands-primary-sector-exports-reach-a-record-464-billion
- 107. tion-2018-base-at-30-june-2018
- August 2, 2021. https://www.climatecommission.govt.nz/
- tanga/business-and-economics/Māori-economy-report-2013
- 110 craft, with a scheduled delivery of 2026. JQOB3LZKFVB27ON2NWIRDH5TF4/
- 111.
- 112. ga.govt.nz/strategy/state-of-plays/water/.
- 113. aovt.nz/for-communities/public-register/
- 114 concerns-flow-over-water-services-bill-potential-effects-for-rural-supplies
- 115. govt.nz/release/rural-power-supply-required-continue-after-2013
- 116 ing-and-financing.pdf

102. 'Main cities' are defined using territorial authority boundaries, including satellite suburbs and towns that are part of the same urban labour market: Auckland (Auckland Council), Wellington urban area (Wellington City, Lower Hutt City, Upper Hutt City, Porirua City, Kapiti Coast District), Christchurch urban area (Christchurch City, Selwyn District, Waimakariri District), Hamilton urban area (Hamilton City, Waikato District, Waipa District), and Tauranga urban area (Tauranga City, Western Bay of Plenty District). This definition includes some rural settlements and excludes some urban places, but it was used to ensure consistency with population projections, which are

Statistics New Zealand. "Subnational population estimates (TA, SA2), by age and sex, at 30 June 1996 – 2020 (2020 boundaries)." Accessed September 2, 2021. http://nzdotstat.stats.govt.nz/

103. Sense Partners. New Zealand's Infrastructure Challenge: Quantifying the Gap and Path to Close It. A report for the NZ Infrastructure Commission - Te Waihanga, 2021. https://www.tewaihanga.

New Zealand Infrastructure Commission - Te Waihanga. Sector State of Play: Transport. Accessed August 16, 2021. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/strategy/state-of-plays/transport/

Statistics New Zealand. "International Travel: May 2021." Accessed August 23, 2021. https://www.

Hutching, Gerard. "New Zealand's Primary Sector Exports Reach a Record \$46.4 Billion." Stuff, September 16, 2019. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://www.stuff.co.nz/business/farm-

Statistics New Zealand. "Estimated Resident Population (2018-Base): At 30 June 2018." Accessed January 28, 2021. https://www.stats.govt.nz/information-releases/estimated-resident-popula-

108. Climate Change Commission – He Pou a Rangi. Ingia Tonu Nei: A Low-Emissions Future for Aotearoa. Wellington, New Zealand, May 31, 2021: 157 para108,109; 331 para 37. 241. Accessed

109. Te Puni Kōkiri – Ministry of Māori Development. Te Ōhanga Māori - Māori Economy Report 2013. Wellington, New Zealand. Accessed August 23, 2021. https://www.tpk.govt.nz/en/a-matou-mohio-

For instance, Sounds Air has placed orders for three twenty-seat, electric ES-19 passenger air-

Bywater, Thomas. "Sounds Air's Electric Aircraft Locks in Wellington Airport for Zero-Emission Route." The New Zealand Herald, August 17, 2021. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://www.nzherald.co.nz/travel/sounds-airs-electric-aircraft-locks-in-wellington-airport-for-zero-emission-route/

WSDOT Aviation Division. Washington Electric Aircraft Feasibility Study. November 2020. https:// wsdot.wa.gov/sites/default/files/2021-11/Electric-Aircraft-Feasibility-Study-Nov2020.pdf

Estimates range from 20,000 people to 100,000 people: New Zealand Infrastructure Commission - Te Waihanga. Sector State of Play: Water. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www.tewaihan-

Institute of Environmental Science and Research. Drinking-Water Register for New Zealand -Register of Suppliers. March 2021. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www.taumataarowai.

Sivignon Cherie. "Concerns flow over Water Services Bill potential effects for rural supplies." Stuff, March 5, 2021. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/health/124419270/

The New Zealand Government. Releases. "Rural supply required to continue after 2013." Wellington, New Zealand, May 10, 2021. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www.beehive.

New Zealand Productivity Commission. Local Government Funding and Financing. Wellington, New Zealand, November 2019, See Findings F4.4 and F4.5 and Recommendation R6.1: https:// www.productivity.govt.nz/assets/Documents/a40d80048d/Final-report_Local-government-fund-

- 117. Banchik, Leonardo, Riedel Robin, Kloss Benedikt. "Right in your backyard: Regional airports are an accessible and underused resource for future air mobility." *McKinsey & Company* (blog). May 26, 2021. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/aerospace-and-defense/our-insights/future-air-mobility-blog/right-in-your-backyard-regional-airports-are-an-accessible-and-underusedresource-for-future-air-mobility
- Narishkin, Abby, Emmanuel Ocbazghi, and Steve Cameron. 2021. "Why Electric Planes Haven't Taken off Yet." *Business Insider*, April 9, 2021. https://www.businessinsider.com/electric-planes-future-of-aviation-problems-regulations-2020-3
- 119. For instance, Sounds Air has placed orders for three twenty-seat, electric ES-19 passenger aircraft, with a scheduled delivery of 2026: Bywater, Thomas. 2021. "Sounds Air's Electric Aircraft Locks in Wellington Airport for Zero-Emission Route." The New Zealand Herald, August 17, 2021. Accessed August 21, 2021. https:// www.nzherald.co.nz/travel/sounds-airs-electric-aircraft-locks-in-wellington-airport-for-zeroemission-route/JQOB3LZKFVB27ON2NWIRDH5TF4/
- 120. WSDOT Aviation Division. "Washington Electric Aircraft Feasibility Study." November 2020. https://wsdot.wa.gov/sites/default/files/2021-11/WSDOT-Electric-Aircraft-Feasibility-Study.pdf
- 121. Spoonley, Paul. *The New New Zealand: Facing Demographic Disruption*. 2020: 136. Massey University Press.
- Statistics New Zealand, as reported in Te Waihanga. He Tūāpapa ki te Ora Infrastructure for a Better Future. May 2021: 65. https://infracom.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Infrastructure-Strategy-Consultation-Document-May-2021.pdf
- 123. 1 News. "BNZ to Close down 38 Branches around the Country within a Year." *TVNZ*, November 19, 2020. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www.tvnz.co.nz/one-news/new-zealand/bnz-close-down-38-branches-around-country-within-year
- 124. Statistics New Zealand. "How Accurate Are Population Estimates and Projections? An Evaluation of Statistics New Zealand Population Estimates and Projections, 1996 – 2013." Accessed April 8, 2021. https://www.stats.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Retirement-of-archive-website-project-files/Methods/How-accurate-are-population-estimates-and-projections/how-accurate-pop-estimates-projections-1996-2013-2.pdf
- 125. Castalia Strategic Advisors Mobilising the Regions: The Role of Transport Infrastructure in Achieving Economic Success across All of New Zealand. Wellington, Local Government New Zealand, 2015: 12 https://www.lgnz.co.nz/assets/Uploads/425e92f095/Mobilising-the-regionspaper-August-2015.pdf Deloitte. "Developing the freight Sector elements – Final Report. Wellington, New Zealand, September 2020: 42. https://infracom.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Freight-Sector-Review.pdf
- 126. Cascetta, Ennio, Armando Cartenì, Ilaria Henke, and Francesca Pagliara. "Economic Growth, Transport Accessibility and Regional Equity Impacts of High-Speed Railways in Italy: Ten Years Ex post Evaluation and Future Perspectives." *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*. 2020: 412-428.
- 127. van Zon, Adriaan, and Evans Mupela. "Connectivity and Economic Growth." *Macroeconomic Dynamics* 20, no. 8, 2016, 2148-2172.
- 128. Te Manatū Waka Ministry of Transport. "The New Zealand Rail Plan: Freight Model." April 2021: 25. https://www.transport.govt.nz//assets/Uploads/Report/The-New-Zealand-Rail-Plan.pdf
- 129. Te Manatū Waka Ministry of Transport. *Transport Outlook Future Overview A summary of Transport Futures for New Zealand.*" November 2017. Wellington, New Zealand. https://www.transport.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Report/TransportOutlookFutureOverview.pdf
- 130. Rail freight services provided by KiwiRail, operating with commercial incentives as a State-Owned Enterprise.
- 131. Exceptions include Auckland International Airport Limited and listed port companies.
- New Zealand Productivity Commission. International Freight Transport Services Inquiry." April 2012. https://www.productivity.govt.nz/assets/Documents/f53fe759db/Final-report-v7.pdf A list of recommendations related to governance improvements is provided on page 286.
- 133. Deloitte. Developing the Freight Sector Elements: Final Report. September 2020: 42. https:// www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Freight-Sector-Review.pdf

- 134. New Zealand Productivity Commission. International Freight transport Services Inquiry. April 2012: 205. https://www.productivity.govt.nz/assets/Documents/f53fe759db/Final-report-v7.pdf
- 135. Edgecliffe-Johnson, Andrew. 2021. "Supply Chains: Companies Shift from 'Just in Time' to 'Just in Case." *Financial Times*, December 20, 2021. Accessed February 22, 2022. https://www.ft.com/content/8a7cdc0d-99aa-4ef6-ba9a-fd1a1180dc82
- 136. Te Tai Ōhanga: The Treasury. "WEU Special Topic The Economic Impacts of Global Supply Chain Disruption." Accessed February 22, 2022. https://www.treasury.govt.nz/publications/ research-and-commentary/rangitaki-blog/weu-special-topic-economic-impacts-global-supply-chain-disruption
- 137. Deloitte. "Developing the Freight Sector Elements Final Report." September 2020: 8. https:// www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Freight-Sector-Review.pdf
- 138. New Zealand Infrastructure Commission Te Waihanga. Sector State of Play: Transport. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/strategy/state-of-plays/transport/
- 139. New Zealand Infrastructure Commission Te Waihanga. Sector State of Play: Transport. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/strategy/state-of-plays/transport/
- 140. Te Manatū Waka Ministry of Transport. *The New Zealand Rail Plan*. April 2021. https://www. transport.govt.nz/area-of-interest/infrastructure-and-investment/the-new-zealand-rail-plan/
- Waka Kotahi Ministry of Transport. Arataki Version 2. Wellington New Zealand. Accessed August 23, 2021. https://www.nzta.govt.nz/planning-and-investment/planning/arataki/arataki-version-2/
- 142. Auckland Transport. *Auckland Freight Plan Summary Report*. Auckland New Zealand, September 2020. https://at.govt.nz/media/1983982/auckland-freight-plan.pdf
- 143. Urban Form and Transport Initiative. Urban Form and Transport Initiative (UFTI) Final Report. July 2020. https://ufti.org.nz/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/22527_UFTI-Final-Report.pdf
- 144. Regional spatial planning is a core part of the proposed resource management reforms and is intended to be enabled and mandated by a new Strategic Planning Act. Resource Management Review Panel, *New Directions for Resource Management in New Zealand*. Ministry for the Environment. 2020. rm-panel-review-report-web.pdf (environment.govt.nz)
- 145. Infrastructure New Zealand. *Building Regions*. 2019. https://infrastructure.org.nz/wp-content/up-loads/2021/08/Report-A-vision-for-local-government-planning-law-and-funding-reform.pdf
- 146. While a threefold increase in population sounds extreme, Auckland's urban population grew from 470,000 people to 1,330,000 people between 1961 and 2013, a nearly threefold increase. Some smaller cities, such as Tauranga, grew at an even faster rate over the same time period. https://www.nzae.org.nz/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/John-Polkinghorne.pdf
- 147. New Zealand Productivity Commission. *Better Urban Planning*. February 2017. https://www.productivity.govt.nz/inquiries/better-urban-planning/
- 148. Pallares-Barbera, M., Badia, A. and Duch, J. "Cerdà and Barcelona: The Need for a New City and Service Provision." Urbani Izziv, 22(2), 2011:122-136. Roberts, D. "Barcelona's Remarkable History of Rebirth and Transformation.' Vox, April 8, 2019. https://www.vox.com/energy-and-environment/2019/4/8/18266760/barcelona-spain-urban-planning-history
- 149. Danish Ministry of the Environment. The Finger Plan: A Strategy for the Development of the Greater Copenhagen Area. 2015. https://danishbusinessauthority.dk/sites/default/files/fpeng_31_13052015.pdf Sørensen, E. and Torfing, J. "The Copenhagen Metropolitan 'Finger Plan': A Robust Urban Planning Success Based on Collaborative Governance". In Great Policy Successes, Oxford University Press, 2019: 218-243.
- 150. Angel, S. *Planet of Cities* Cambridge, MA: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, 2012: 360. Bertaud, A., *Order Without Design: How Markets Shape Cities*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press. 2018.
- 151. United Nations General Assembly. The Promotion, Protection and Enjoyment of Human Rights on the Internet. The Human Rights Council, 2016. Accessed February 22, 2022. https://tind-customer-undl.s3.amazonaws.com/145e59f4-3026-4364-8a2b-2b1bb77b57f3?response-content-disposition=attachment%3B%20filename%2A%3DUTF-8%27%27A_HRC_32_L-20-EN.pdf&response-content-type=application%2Fpdf&X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Expires=86400&X-Amz-Credential=AKIAXL7W7Q3XFWDGQKBB%2F20220222%2Feu-west-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&X-Amz-Date=20220222T185420Z&X-A mz-Signature=5a25d9bd6fda3dd6fda66c3cba475798f33394002aba3058c15915fa3fb124c8
- 152. New Zealand Telehealth. "A HiNZ Special Report into Telehealth at New Zealand DHBs and the Impact of COVID-19." December 2020. Accessed September 1, 2021. https://www.telehealth.org. nz/news/a-hinz-special-report-into-telehealth-at-new-zealand-dhbs-and-the-impact-of-covid-19/.
- KPMG. Agribusiness Agenda 2021: New Zealand, Our Consumers and Our 2040 Future. June 2021. Accessed August 19, 2021. https://assets.kpmg/content/dam/kpmg/nz/pdf/2021/06/agribusiness-agenda-report-2021.pdf
- New Zealand Infrastructure Commission Te Waihanga. State of Play: Telecommunications. 36-38. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/strategy/state-of-plays/telecommunications/
- 155. Anthony, John. "Elon Musk's Broadband Service Starlink Open for New Zealand Pre-Orders." *Stuff,* 2021. Accessed February 19, 2021. https://www.stuff.co.nz/business/industries/124302357/ elon-musks-broadband-service-starlink-open-for-new-zealand-preorders
- 156. Rural Connectivity Group. "The Rural Connectivity Group Liven Their 200th Site." Accessed March 23, 2021. https://www.thercg.co.nz/rural-connectivity-group-liven-their-200th-site/
- United Nations. Department of Economic and Social Affairs. World Urbanization Prospects 2018. New York: United Nations. Accessed September 21, 2021. https://population.un.org/wup/DataQuery/.
- Bouchet, Max; Liu Sifan, Parilla Joseph, and Kabbani Nader."Global Metro Monitor 2018." Brookings, 2018. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www.brookings.edu/research/globalmetro-monitor-2018/.
- 159. Thorns, D. and Schrader, B. "City History and People The Appeal of City Life." In *Te Ara the Encyclopaedia of New Zealand*. Accessed September 15, 2021. http://www.TeAra.govt.nz/en/graph/23509/urban-growth. Story by David Thorns and Ben Schrader, published March 11, 2010.
- 160. 'Main cities' are defined using territorial authority boundaries, including satellite suburbs and towns that are part of the same urban labour market: Auckland (Auckland Council), Wellington urban area (Wellington City, Lower Hutt City, Upper Hutt City, Porirua City, Kapiti Coast District), Christchurch urban area (Christchurch City, Selwyn District, Waimakariri District), Hamilton urban area (Hamilton City, Waikato District, Waipa District), and Tauranga urban area (Tauranga City, Western Bay of Plenty District). This definition includes some rural settlements and excludes some urban places, but it was used to ensure consistency with population projections, which are not yet available below the territorial authority level.

Statistics New Zealand. "Subnational population estimates (TA, SA2), By Age and Sex, at 30 June 1996-2020 (2020 boundaries)." Accessed September 14, 2021. http://nzdotstat.stats.govt.nz/wbos/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TABLECODE7980

161. This figure refers to the medium projection for population growth in five urban councils (Auckland, Hamilton City, Tauranga City, Wellington City, and Christchurch City) calculated from subnational population projections, compared with the land area of those councils calculated from geographic area files. Statistics New Zealand. "Subnational Population Projections, By Age and Sex, 2018 (base)-2048." 2021. Accessed September 21, 2021. http://nzdotstat.stats.govt.nz/wbos/Index. aspx?DataSetCode=TABLECODE7988 Statistics New Zealand. "Geographic Areas File 2018." 2018. Accessed September 21, 2021.

https://datafinder.stats.govt.nz/table/104680-geographic-areas-file-2018/

- 162. Glaeser, Edward. "Triumph of the City: How Urban Spaces Make Us Human. Pan Macmillan, 2011. Mazumdar, Soumya, et al. "The Built Environment and Social Capital: A Systematic Review." Environment and Behavior 50.2 (2018): 119-158.
- 163. Demographia & Urban Reform Institute & Frontier Centre for Public Policy. "International Housing Affordability 2021 Edition." February 2021. http://www.demographia.com/dhi.pdf.

- 164. Ministry of Housing and Urban Development and Ministry for the Environment, "Urban Development." Accessed April 19, 2021, https://huddashboards.shinyapps.io/urban-development/
- 165. Ministry of Social Development, "Household Incomes in New Zealand: Trends in Indicators of Inequality and Hardship 1982 to 2018," November 6, 2019. https://www.msd.govt.nz/about-msdand-our-work/publications-resources/monitoring/household-incomes/household-incomes-1982to-2018.html
- 166. Statistics New Zealand. "Individual Home Ownership and Ethnic Group (Grouped Total Responses) by Age Group and Sex, for the Usually Resident Population Count Aged 15 Years and Over, 2006, 2013, and 2018 Censuses (RC, TA, SA2, DHB)." Accessed September 14, 2021. http:// nzdotstat.stats.govt.nz/wbos/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TABLECODE8383
- 167. Statistics New Zealand. "Dwelling Dampness Indicator by Ethnic Group (Grouped Total Responses), Age Group and Sex, for People in Occupied Private Dwellings, 2018 Census (RC, TA, SA2, DHB)." Accessed September 16, 2021. http://nzdotstat.stats.govt.nz/wbos/Index. aspx?DataSetCode=TABLECODE8357
- 168. Statistics New Zealand. "Almost 1 in 9 People Live in a Crowded House." Accessed September 1, 2021. https://www.stats.govt.nz/news/almost-1-in-9-people-live-in-a-crowded-house.
- 169. New Zealand Productivity Commission. "Better Urban Planning: Final Report 2017." https://www. productivity.govt.nz/assets/Documents/0a784a22e2/Final-report.pdf. Office of the Mayor of Auckland, *Mayoral Housing Taskforce Report: Prepared for the Mayor of Auckland*. Auckland: Office of the Mayor of Auckland, 2017. https://ourauckland.aucklandcouncil. govt.nz/media/13136/auckland-mayor-housing-taskforce-report.pdf
- 170. Ministry of Business, Innovation, and Employment and Ministry for the Environment. National Policy Statement on Urban Development Capacity: Price Efficiency Indicators Technical Report: Rural-Urban Differentials. 2017. Accessed 21 September 2021. https://www.hud.govt.nz/assets/Urban-Development/NPS-UDC/34f4e7cf0b/National-Policy-Statement-on-Urban-Development-Capacity-Price-efficiency-indicators-technical-report-Rural-urban-differentials.pdf.
- 171. Cooper, G. C. K., and K. Namit. "City with a Billion Dollar View." *New Zealand Economic Papers* 55:1, 2021: 19-37. https://doi.org/10.1080/00779954.2018.1509110.
- 172. New Zealand Institute of Economic Research. "Benefits from Auckland Road Decongestion." July 10, 2017. https://nzier.org.nz/static/media/filer_public/6f/df/6fdfdada-923e-4199-8da9cc940ae25bc1/nzier_report_on_auckland_benefits_of_decongestion.pdf Table 1 breaks down congestion costs between economic and social costs. Social costs are an estimate of lost personal time and stress from experiencing congestion.
- 173. Waka Kotahi New Zealand Transport Agency. Research Report 675 The Relationship Between Transport and Mental Health in Aotearoa New Zealand. May 2021. https://www.nzta.govt. nz/resources/research/reports/675/
- 174. For instance the Wellington Rail Station, like many older public transport stations, does not have a wheelchair ramp at the front. MacManus Joel. "Heritage NZ Opposed Design of Wheelchair Ramp at Wellington Railway Station." Stuff, July 17, 2021. Accessed August 30, 2021. https://www.stuff.co.nz/dominion-post/wellington/125768367/heritage-nz-opposed-design-of-wheelchair-ramp-at-wellington-railway-station
- 175. Marr, Cathy. *Rangahaua Whanui National Theme G. Public Works Takings of Māori Land 1840 1981.* Waitangi Tribunal, May 1997. https://www.Māorilandcourt.govt.nz/assets/Documents/Publica-tions/wt-theme-g-public-works-takings-of-Māori-land.pdf
- 176. Watercare. The History of Wastewater Treatment in Auckland, 1878 2005. Auckland, New Zealand. https://www.watercare.co.nz/CMSPages/GetAzureFile.aspx?path=~%5Cwatercarepublicweb%5Cmedia%5Cwatercare-media-library%5Cwastewater-collection-treatment%5Cwastewater_history.pdf&hash=dc6dd629549612190f48477cb86ba8b25020f64eb606e2ad-50c2f76367239589.
- 177. Dann, Christine. 'Sewage, Water and Waste Water Pollution' in *Te Ara the Encyclopedia of New Zealand*. Accessed September 16, 2021. http://www.TeAra.govt.nz/en/photograph/24463/oka-hu-bay (Story by Christine Dann, published 11 March 2010.)
- 178. The Globalization and World Cities Research Network. "The World According to GaWC 2020." https://www.lboro.ac.uk/gawc/world2020t.html.

- 179. Maré, David C. and Graham, Daniel J. "Agglomeration Elasticities in New Zealand" Motu Working Paper No. 09-06 (June 1, 2009). http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1433644 and https://ssrn.com/abstract=1272196 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1272196
- New Zealand Institute of Economic Research & New Zealand Treasury. Regional Government Ex-180 penditure - Estimates of Core Crown Spending by Region. April 2013. https://www.interest.co.nz/ sites/default/files/Regional%20government%20expenditure%20full%20report.pdf
- 181. Nunns, Peter. "The Causes and Economic Consequences of Rising Regional Housing Prices in New Zealand." New Zealand Economic Papers. 55, no. 1 (2021): 66-104. https://doi.org/10.108 0/00779954.2020.1791939 or https://cdn.auckland.ac.nz/assets/business/about/our-research/ research-institutes-and-centres/CARE/the-causes-and-economic-consequences-of-rising-regional-housing-prices-in-new-zealand.pdf
- 182. Ministry of Transport. The Congestion Question: Main Findings. Wellington, New Zealand, July 2020. https://www.transport.govt.nz//assets/Uploads/Report/TheCongestionQuestionMainFindings.pdf
- 183. Statistics New Zealand's latest subnational population projections suggest that territorial authorities covering our five largest cities and their satellite growth areas (Auckland, Waikato, Hamilton, Waipa, Tauranga, Western BOP, Wellington, Lower Hutt, Upper Hutt, Porirua, Kapiti Coast, Christchurch, Selwyn, Waimakariri) will grow from 3.1 million people (2018) to 4.2 million under the 2048 medium projection or 4.8 million under the 2048 high projection. Statistics New Zealand. "Subnational Population Projections, by Age and Sex, 2018 (base)-2048."http://nzdotstat.stats.govt.nz/wbos/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=TABLECODE7988
- Ellickson, Robert C. "The Law and Economics of Street Layouts: How a Grid Pattern Benefits a 184 Downtown." Ala. L. Rev. 64 (2012): 463. Angel Shlomo, "Planet of Cities," Journal of Regional Science 54, no. 1 (January 2014): 161-62.
- 185 Infrastructure corridor protection decisions should be based on the value of the option to build infrastructure at a later date. There is a case to protect corridors well in advance of construction, even if there is uncertainty about when or whether those corridors will be used, but this is not well recognised in current designation and funding policies. The option value generated by corridor protection can be assessed using tools like real options analysis. See Infrastructure Australia. Guide to Risk and Uncertainty Analysis: Technical Guide of the Assessment Framework, July 2021 https://www.infrastructureaustralia.gov.au/sites/default/files/2021-07/ Assessment%20Framework%202021%20Guide%20to%20risk%20and%20uncertainty%20 analysis.pdf
- New Zealand Productivity Commission. Better Urban Planning. Accessed September 14, 2021. 186. https://www.productivity.govt.nz/inguiries/better-urban-planning/
- For instance, a process to reclassify Department of Conservation stewardship land has 187. been initiated. Department of Conservation. "Government Speeds up Stewardship Land Reclassification." Accessed on February 24, 2022. https://www.doc.govt.nz/news/mediareleases/2021-media-releases/government-speeds-up-stewardship-land-reclassification/
- Ministry of the Environment, National Policy Statement on Urban Development Capacity 188. 2016 - Further Evaluation Report. https://environment.govt.nz/publications/proposed-national-policy-statement-on-urban-development-capacity-consultation-document/
- 189. PwC NZ and Sense Partners. Cost Benefit Analysis of Proposed Medium Density Residential Standards, Wellington: Ministry for the Environment, January 28, 2022. Accessed on February 14, 2022 https://environment.govt.nz/publications/this-report-provides-a-cost-benefit-analysis-including-the-estimated-number-of-dwellings-enabled-by-medium-density-residential-standards-over-58-years-as-part-of-proposals-to-enable-more-housing-supply-in-our-main-urban-areas/
- 190. This approach is used successfully by Japan, where residential and business zone rules are set by central government and applied by local governments. This is part of the reason why Tokyo has achieved much higher rates of housing growth, and more affordable housing prices, than other large cities in the developed world.

Ministry of Land, Infrastructure and Transport – Japan. Urban Land Use Planning System in Japan.: City Planning Division - City and Regional Development Bureau. Tokyo, Japan, 2003. https://www.mlit.go.jp/en/ or https://www.mlit.go.jp/common/001050453.pdf

Greater London Authority. Housing Research Notes. Housing Research Note 3 - Housing in Four World Cities: London, New York, Paris and Tokyo. London: Greater London Authority, April 2019. Accessed, August 30, 2021. https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/housing-research-notes

- 191.
- mance-of-oecd-tl2-regions_5jrxqs60st5h-en
- 193. estimates have the same sign as in the OECD study.
- 194 doi.org/10.1007/BF00166218

Duranton, Gilles, and Matthew A. Turner. 2011. "The Fundamental Law of Road Congestion: Evidence from US Cities." American Economic Review. 101 (6): 2616-52. DOI: 10.1257/aer.101.6.2616. https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/aer.101.6.2616 Dunkerley F., Laird J., Whittaker B. Rand Corporation. "Induced Travel Demand – An Evidence Review." UK Department of Transport. November 28, 2018. https://www.rand.org/pubs/external publications/EP67749.html

Garcia-López, M.À., Yazidis, I. and Viladecans-Marsal, E. "Congestion in Highways When Tolls and Railroads Matter: Evidence from European Cities." November 2020. https://dialnet.unirioja.es/ servlet/articulo?codigo=7792005

Downs, Anthony. Stuck in Traffic: Coping with Peak-Hour Traffic Congestion. Brookings Institution Press, 2000.

Cervero Robert. "Are Induced-Travel Studies Inducing Bad Investments?" ACCESS Magazine, 1(22). April 2003. https://escholarship.org/content/gt5r5798jt/gt5r5798jt.pdf This critiques some earlier induced traffic studies as flawed, for instance due to the fact that they do not adequately address causality between road expansion and increased travel demand. Studies by Duranton and Turner (2011) and Garcia-López et al (2020) contain extensive controls to allow them to identify the causal link from road investment to traffic volumes.

- pricing are modest and manageable with complementary measures.
- 196 science/article/abs/pii/S0967070X16304061?via%3Dihub
- 197 September 14, 2021. https://toolsofchange.com/en/case-studies/detail/670
- 198. assets/Uploads/Report/ReviewofInternationalRoadPricingSchemes.pdf
- 199. Studies; Stockholm. 7 (2015). https://transportportal.se/swopec/cts2014-7.pdf.
- costs on low-income people who may end up foregoing important trips.

In addition to coordination between adjacent councils, this includes coordination between regional councils and territorial authorities, as both have transport system responsibilities.

192. Bartolini, D. Municipal Fragmentation and Economic Performance of OECD TL2 Regions. 2015. Accessed August 29, 2021 https://doi.org/10.1787/20737009. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/urban-rural-and-regional-development/mupublic suppornicipal-fragmentation-and-economic-perfor-

Te Waihanga replicated the OECD study's OLS regression models using regional GDP data for 16 New Zealand regions over the 2000-2020 period. Council fragmentation was defined as the number of territorial authorities and regional councils per 100,000 population, in the starting year of each time period. Regions with unitary councils were counted as only having one council. Rural share was defined as the share of regional population in SA2s with a population density of less than 150 people per square kilometre in the starting year of each time period. Models also controlled for other determinants of economic growth (population density, starting GDP per capita levels and the agriculture share of output). This analysis found a statistically significant relationship between council fragmentation that is similar to the OECD study finding over the 2010-2020 period - i.e., council fragmentation is negatively correlated with growth in urbanised councils, but positively correlated in rural councils. Over the full period, a statistically significant relationship is not observed between council fragmentation, rural share and GDP growth, although the point

Goodwin, P.B. "Empirical Evidence on Induced Traffic." Transportation. 23 (1996): 35–54 https://

195. Ministry of Transport. The Congestion Question: Main Findings. Wellington: Ministry of Transport. https://www.transport.govt.nz//assets/Uploads/Report/TheCongestionQuestionMainFindings.pdf. This analysis shows that applying a modest peak-time charge will significantly improve road network performance and the quality of travel for users, and that the equity impacts of congestion

Cavallaro F., Giarette F., and Nocera S. "The Potential of Road Pricing Schemes to Reduce Carbon Emissions" Transport Policy. 2018. Accessed September 17, 2021. https://www.sciencedirect.com/

Kassirer J. and Boddy, S. "Stockholm Congestion Pricing." Tools of Change. 2014. Accessed

D'Artagnan Consulting. 2018. Review of International Road Pricing Schemes, Previous Reports and Technologies. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Transport. https://www.transport.govt.nz/

Eliasson, Jonas. "The Stockholm Congestion Charges: An Overview," Centre for Transport

200. In the extreme case where no non-car travel modes are available, tolls would have to be set high enough to discourage a significant number of people from making trips. This would impose social

- 201. Ministry of Transport. The Congestion Question: Main Findings. Wellington, New Zealand. 2020. https://www.transport.govt.nz//assets/Uploads/Report/TheCongestionQuestionMainFindings.pdf
- 202. Waka Kotahi New Zealand Transport Agency. Arataki Version 2. Accessed August 23, 2021. https://www.nzta.govt.nz/planning-and-investment/planning/arataki/arataki-version-2/.c
- 203. Tian, Guang, Reid Ewing, Alex White, Shima Hamidi, Jerry Walters, J. P. Goates, and Alex Joyce. "Traffic Generated by Mixed-Use Developments: Thirteen-Region Study Using Consistent Measures of Built Environment." Transportation Research Record 2500, no. 1 (2015): 116-124.
- 204. Institute for Transportation & Development Policy. TOD Standard. June 2017. (Replacing Versions 1.0, 2.0, and 2.1.) https://www.itdp.org/publication/tod-standard/
- UN-Habitat. Streets as Public Spaces and Drivers of Urban Prosperity. Nairobi, Kenya: United 205. Nations Human Settlements Programme. 2013. https://unhabitat.org/streets-as-public-spacesand-drivers-of-urban-prosperity
- 206. Reducing the guantity of residential and on-street parking required in new developments has been shown to reduce vehicle ownership and therefore reduce the traffic impacts of new development. On average, providing one additional residential carpark causes households to acquire around 0.5 additional cars, with a flow-on effect to additional driving. International evidence is provided by Guo, Zhan. "Residential Street Parking and Car Ownership: A Study of Households With Off-Street Parking in the New York City Region." Journal of the American Planning Association 79, no. 1 (2013): 32-48.

Weinberger, Rachel, Mark Seaman, and Carolyn Johnson. "Residential Off-Street Parking Impacts on Car Ownership, Vehicle Miles Traveled, and Related Carbon Emissions: New York City Case Study." Transportation Research Record 2118, no. 1 (2009): 24-30.

Christiansen, Petter, Øystein Engebretsen, Nils Fearnley, and Jan Ushered Hanssen. "Parking Facilities and the Built Environment: Impacts on Travel Behaviour." Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice 95 (2017): 198-206.

De Groote, Jesper, Jos Van Ommeren, and Hans RA Koster, "Car Ownership and Residential Parking Subsidies: Evidence from Amsterdam." Economics of Transportation 6 (2016): 25-37. Seya, Hajime, Kumiko Nakamichi, and Yoshiki Yamagata. "The Residential Parking Rent Price Elasticity of Car Ownership in Japan." Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice 85 (2016): 123-134.

Khazaeian, 2021, demonstrates that the same dynamics apply in Wellington. As a result, countries like Singapore and Japan tax or restrict the supply of residential carparks to reduce traffic congestion impacts of new development.

Khazaeian, Omid. "Estimating the Impact of Parking on Car Ownership and Commute Mode Choices." PhD diss., Open Access Victoria University of Wellington: Te Herenga Waka. Wellington. 2021. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Omid-Khazaeian

- 207. Donnell, Hayden. "Dispelling the City Rail Link myths." OurAuckland -Tō Tātou Tāmaki Makarau, January 30, 2019. Accessed August 23, 2021. https://ourauckland.aucklandcouncil.govt.nz/ news/2019/01/dispelling-city-rail-link-myths/
- 208. City Rail Link. "Key Facts about CRL City Rail Link." Auckland, New Zealand. Accessed August 23, 2021. https://www.cityraillink.co.nz/key-facts
- 209. City Rail Link "Benefits Incl Travel Times — City Rail Link." Auckland New Zealand. Accessed August 23, 2021. https://www.cityraillink.co.nz/crls-benefits
- 210. By comparison, Hobsonville Point is 167 hectares and is planned to provide 4,500 new homes (26 dwellings/ha) for 11,000 people (65 people/ha). https://www.beehive.govt.nz/sites/default/ files/1.Fact-sheet-Hobsonville-Point.pdf
- City Rail Link Limited. Blueprint Report for Mount Eden and Karangahape. 2020. PwC. 211 Leveraging the CRL for a Compact City. 2020.
- Statistics New Zealand. 2020. "Four in 10 Employed New Zealanders Work From Home During 212. Lockdown." Accessed September 15, 2021. https://www.stats.govt.nz/news/four-in-10-employednew-zealanders-work-from-home-during-lockdown

nearby suburbs.

Wellington Water Limited. WCC's Spatial Plan – Preferred Growth Scenario – Three Waters Assessment. 2019. https://planningforgrowth.wellington.govt.nz/__data/assets/pdf_ file/0016/13516/WCC-Spatial-Planning-Three-Waters-Project-Final-29-10-2019.pdf

- hase
- 215.
- more closely aligned to best practice funding and financing principles than others.
- 217. cal-government-funding-and-financing.pdf
- 218. of this topic.
- 220. Ministry of Transport. Te Urupounamu mo Te Pokenga o Nga Rori: The Congestion Question. aestion-question/
- 221. pine-fault-earthquake-likelihood-increases/
- GeoNet is a collaboration between the Earthquake Commission and GNS Science. 3.0 New Zealand License.
- 224. Stock, Rob. "Lloyds' Report Ranks New Zealand Second for Natural Disaster Costs."
- 225. 2021. https://www.icnz.org.nz/natural-disasters/cost-of-natural-disasters
- Combined-20191009.pdf.

213. For instance, a recent analysis for Wellington City found that almost every suburb in the city is currently facing water-storage or pipe-capacity constraints or will be facing constraints in the near future. A subsequent pre-feasibility analysis estimated that the total cost of water upgrades to service growth may be as high as \$5 billion, with per-household costs that range from \$50,000 per added household in the central city, to a high of more than \$300,000 per household in some

214. Te Tari Taiwhenua – Department of Internal Affairs. National Evidence Base. 2019. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www.dia.govt.nz/three-waters-reform-programme-national-evidence-

Sutherland, Douglas, et al. "Public Policies and Investment in Network Infrastructure." OECD Journal: Economic Studies 2011/1. (2011). http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/eco_studies-2011-5kg51mlvk6r6

216. Different water providers fund infrastructure and service provision in different ways, using varying combinations of infrastructure growth charges/development contributions (charges levied on new households that are connecting to the network), annual fixed charges for water services and volumetric charges that vary according to how much water is used. Some pricing approaches are

New Zealand Productivity Commission. Local Government Funding and Financing. November 2019: 83. https://www.productivity.govt.nz/assets/Documents/a40d80048d/Final-report_Lo-

Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources Australia. Water Sensitive Cities. Realising the Vision of a Water Sensitive City. https://watersensitivecities.org.au/ for an overview

219. A building consent is needed to install a rainwater tank over 2000L in size. Level New Zealand. "Mains or Rainwater?" https://www.level.org.nz/water/water-supply/mains-or-rainwater/ (Level. org.nz has been developed for the construction industry by BRANZ Ltd, the independent research, testing, consulting and information company). In addition, some councils impose additional resource consent requirements that restrict the design and location of rainwater tanks, for instance https://www.aucklandcouncil.govt.nz/environment/looking-after-aucklands-water/ rainwater-tanks/Pages/rainwater-tank-installation-maintenance.aspx (Auckland City Council).

Accessed February 22, 2022. https://www.transport.govt.nz/area-of-interest/auckland/the-con-

Alpine Fault Magnitude 8. "Likelihood of an Alpine Fault Earthquake Increases." In AF8 Science, How to Prepare, News. April 20, 2021. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://af8.org.nz/al-

222. GeoNet. "Geological Hazard Information for New Zealand." https://guakesearch.geonet.org.nz/ GeoNet content is copyright GNS Science and is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution

223. Te Tai Ōhanga – The Treasury. "Budget Policy Statement 2013." December 18, 2012. https://www. treasury.govt.nz/publications/budget-policy-statement/budget-policy-statement-2013-html.

Stuff, October 24, 2018. Accessed September 16, 2021. https://www.stuff.co.nz/business/ money/108064804/lloyds-report-ranks-new-zealand-second-for-natural-disaster-costs

Insurance Council of New Zealand. "The cost of natural disasters." Accessed September 22,

226. Wellington Region Emergency Management. Wellington Lifelines Project: Protecting Wellington's Economy Through Accelerated Infrastructure Investment Programme Business Case. October 4, 2019: 4. https://www.wremo.nz/assets/Uploads/Wellington-Lifelines-PBC-MAIN-

227. AON. Local Government: How to Survive and Thrive in a World of Evolving Risk. 2021. Accessed on September 22, 2021. https://www.aon.co.nz/About-Aon/Aon-Blog/Local-Government

- 228. New Zealand Productivity Commission. Local Government Funding and Financing Draft Report" July 2019: 224. https://www.productivity.govt.nz/assets/Documents/21e9d8fde3/ ProdCom_Draft-report_Local-government-funding-and-financing-v5.pdf
- 229. Controller and Auditor-General. Insuring Public Assets: Discussion Paper. Wellington, New Zealand. June 2013. https://oag.parliament.nz/2013/insuring-public-assets/docs/insuring-publicassets.pdf.
- 230. AON. Local Government: How to Survive and Thrive in a World of Evolving Risk. 2021. Accessed on September 22, 2021. https://www.aon.co.nz/About-Aon/Aon-Blog/Local-Government
- Ministry of Civil Defence and Emergency Management. National Disaster Resilience Strategy. 231. Wellington, New Zealand: 7 https://www.civildefence.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/publications/National-Disaster-Resilience-Strategy/National-Disaster-Resilience-Strategy-10-April-2019.pdf
- 232. Ministry of Civil Defence and Emergency Management. National Disaster Resilience Strategy. Wellington, New Zealand: 31. https://www.civildefence.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/publications/National-Disaster-Resilience-Strategy/National-Disaster-Resilience-Strategy-10-April-2019.pdf
- 233. Australian Business Roundtable for Disaster Resilience and Safer Communities. The Economic Cost of the Social Impact of Natural Disasters. 2016. http://australianbusinessroundtable.com.au/ our-research/social-costs-report
- 234. For example, the Telecommunications (Interception Capability and Security) Act for the telecommunications sector, and the Electricity Industry Act 2010 for the electricity sector.
- 235. Civil Defence Emergency Management Act 2002. https://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/public/2002/0033/51.0/DLM149789.htm
- 236. Government Communications and Security Bureau. "NZ Information Security Manual." 2022. https://www.gcsb.govt.nz/publications/the-nz-information-security-manual/
- OECD. Good Governance for Critical Infrastructure Resilience. Paris: OECD Publishing, 2019. 237 https://doi.org/10.1787/02f0e5a0-en
- 238. National Cyber Security Centre. Cyber Threat Report 2019/2020. 2020: 3. https://www.ncsc.govt. nz/assets/NCSC-Documents/NCSC-Cyber-Threat-Report-2020.pdf
- EBoss. Construction Supply Chain Report. New Zealand. 2021: 7. https://www.eboss.co.nz/assets/ 239 marketing/supply-chain-survey/EBOSS-Construction-Supply-Chain-Report-2021.pdf
- 240. New Zealand Infrastructure Commission – Te Waihanga. He Tuāpapa ki te Ora. Wellington, New Zealand, 2021. https://infracom.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Infrastructure-Strategy-Consultation-Document-May-2021.pdf.
- 241. Ministry for the Environment, National Climate Change Risk Assessment for New Zealand. Wellington: New Zealand Government, August 2020. https://www.mfe.govt.nz/sites/default/files/ media/Climate%20Change/national-climate-change-risk-assessment-new-zealand-snapshot.pdf
- 242. International Plant Protection Convention. "Climate Change Widespread, Rapid, and Intensifying." IPCC. August 9, 2021. Accessed September 15, 2021. https://www.ipcc.ch/2021/08/09/ar6-wg1-20210809-pr
- 243. Simonson, Tom, and Grace Hall. Vulnerable: The Quantum of Local Government Infrastructure Exposed to Seg Level Rise. Local Government New Zealand, 2019: 12. https://www.lgnz.co.nz/assets/Uploads/d566cc5291/47716-LGNZ-Sea-Level-Rise-Report-3-Proof-FINAL-compressed.pdf
- 244. Ministry for the Environment. "Adapting to Climate Change". Wellington, New Zealand. https://environment.govt.nz/what-government-is-doing/areas-of-work/climate-change/adapting-to-climatechange/
- 245. Infrastructure Australia. A Pathway to Infrastructure Resilience Advisory Paper 1: Opportunities for Systemic Change. NSW, August 2021. https://www.infrastructureaustralia.gov.au/sites/default/ files/2021-08/Advisory%20Paper%201%20-%20A%20pathway%20to%20Infrastructure%20Resilience%20FINAL.pdf
- 246. Physical Oceanography Distributed Active Archive Center. "Global Mean Sea Level Trend from Integrated Multi-Mission Ocean Altimeters TOPEX/Poseidon, Jason-1, OSTM/Jason-2, and Jason-3 Version 5.0 Ver. 5.0 PO.DAAC, CA, USA". 2020. Accessed September 12, 2021. http:// dx.doi.org/10.5067/GMSLM-TJ150.

- mate-plan/Documents/auckland-climate-plan.pdf
- 249. 019-09102-3
- ings-against-tsunamis-dot-iapans-coastline-180956448/
- 251. warnings-disaster-risk-management
- edges-with-geomorphology
- 253. ience%20FINAL.pdf
- ience-and-Research-Publications-/EQC-Resilience-Strategy-2019-2029.pdf
- Outputs from the current NSHM revision work (2020-22).
- 256. New Zealand Forward Works Viewer. "Common Good Technology to Build a Better New Zealand." Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www.forwardworks.org.nz/uploads/1/3/6/5/136502434/nfwv_product_offering_v3.pdf.
- 257 https://www.merit.org.nz/merit/
- 258. OECD iLibrary. "Municipal Waste," Accessed November 10, 2020.
- 259. tions-of-waste-disposed-of-at-levied-disposal-facilities/
- 260. Wilson, Duncan, Tanzir Chowdhury, Tim Elliott, and Laurence Elliott, Dominic Hogg. The New structure/
- house-gas-inventory-1990-2018/
- co.nz/sustainable-building/reducing-building-waste/.
- and-structure/

247. Auckland Council. Te Tāruke-ā-Tāwhiri: Auckland's Climate Plan. Auckland, New Zealand: 36. December 2020. https://www.aucklandcouncil.govt.nz/plans-projects-policies-reports-bylaws/ our-plans-strategies/topic-based-plans-strategies/environmental-plans-strategies/aucklands-cli-

248. Alpine Fault Magnitude 8. "Likelihood of an Alpine Fault earthquake increases." April 20, 2021. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://af8.org.nz/alpine-fault-earthquake-likelihood-increases/

Fanta, V., Šálek, M. & Sklenicka, P. "How Long Do Floods Throughout the Millennium Remain in the Collective Memory?" Nat Commun 10, (2019): 1105. https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-

250. Lewis Danny, "These Century-Old Stone "Tsunami Stones" Dot Japan's Coastline. Smithsonian Magazine, August 31, 2015. https://www.smithsonianmag.com/smart-news/century-old-warn-

Ko Takeuchi. "Are we listening to our ancestors' warnings?" World Bank Blogs. Accessed September 16, 2021. https://blogs.worldbank.org/sustainablecities/are-we-listening-our-ancestors-

252. Evans, K. "The River's Lizard Tail: Braiding Indigenous Knowledges with Geomorphology." Eos 101, (September 14, 2020). https://eos.org/features/the-rivers-lizard-tail-braiding-indigenous-knowl-

Infrastructure Australia. A Pathway to Infrastructure Resilience Advisory Paper 1: Opportunities for systemic change. NSW, August 2021. https://www.infrastructureaustralia.gov.au/sites/default/ files/2021-08/Advisory%20Paper%201%20-%20A%20pathway%20to%20Infrastructure%20Resil-

254. Earthquake Commission New Zealand. Resilience Strategy for Natural Hazard Risk Reduction. 2019-2029. November 2019: 10. https://www.eqc.govt.nz/assets/Publications-Resources/Resil-

255. GNS Science. "The New Zealand National Seismic Hazard Model." https://www.gns.cri.nz/Home/ Our-Science/Natural-Hazards-and-Risks/Earthquakes/National-Seismic-Hazard-Model-Programme

MERIT. "Measuring the Economics of Resilient Infrastructure." Accessed September 16, 2021.

https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/municipal-waste/indicator/english_89d5679a-en

Ministry for the Environment. "Waste Disposed of at Levied Disposal Facilities." July 2021 Accessed November 10, 2020. https://environment.govt.nz/facts-and-science/waste/calcula-

Zealand Waste Disposal Levy: Potential Impacts of Adjustments to the Current Levy Rate and Structure. Eunomia Research & Consulting, 2017. https://www.eunomia.co.uk/reports-tools/thenew-zealand-waste-disposal-levy-potential-impacts-of-adjustments-to-the-current-levy-rate-and-

261. Ministry for the Environment. New Zealand's Greenhouse Gas Inventory 1990–2018. Wellington, New Zealand, April 2020: 349. https://environment.govt.nz/publications/new-zealands-green-

262. BRANZ. "Reducing Building Material Waste." Accessed November 19, 2020. https://www.branz.

263. Wilson, Duncan, Tanzir Chowdhury, Tim Elliott, and Laurence Elliott, Dominic Hogg. The New Zealand Waste Disposal Levy: Potential Impacts of Adjustments to the Current Levy Rate and Structure. Eunomia Research & Consulting. 2017: 79 https://www.eunomia.co.uk/reports-tools/ the-new-zealand-waste-disposal-levy-potential-impacts-of-adjustments-to-the-current-levy-rate-

- 264. OECD iLibrary. Global Material Resources Outlook to 2060: Economic Drivers and Environmental Consequences. Paris: OECD Publishing. 2019. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/global-material-resources-outlook-to-2060_9789264307452-en
- 265. Access Economics. Employment in Waste Management and Recycling, Report for the Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts. Australia: Department of Agriculture, Water and the Environment, 2009. https://www.awe.gov.au/environment/protection/ waste/publications/employment-waste-management-and-recycling
- 266. Godfrey, R, J Trinh, B Grant, and C Wardle. Victorian Waste Flows. Victoria, Australia: Infrastructure Victoria, October 11, 2019. Accessed 24 February 2022. https://www. infrastructurevictoria.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Victorian-Waste-Flows-Blue-Environment-October-2019-FINAL-REPORT.pdf
- 267. New Zealand Infrastructure Commission Te Waihanga. Sector State of Play: Resource Recovery and Waste. 2021. https://infracom.govt.nz/assets/State-of-Play-Resource-Recovery-and-Waste-Discussion-Document-March-2021.pdf
- 268. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2021. Municipal Waste, Generation and Treatment. Paris, France: Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development. https:// stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=MUNW
- 269. Infrastructure Victoria. Victoria's Infrastructure Strategy 2021-2051: Section 1.5 Build a Circular Economy for Waste and Recycling. 2021. Accessed September 21, 2021. https://www.infrastructurevictoria.com.au/report/1-5-build-a-circular-economy-for-waste-and-recycling/
- 270. Climate Change Commission - He Pou a Rangi. Ināia Tonu Nei: A Low-Emissions Future For Aotearoa. 2021. Accessed September 21, 2021. https://ccc-production-media.s3.ap-southeast-2. amazonaws.com/public/Inaia-tonu-nei-a-low-emissions-future-for-Aotearoa/Inaia-tonu-nei-a-lowemissions-future-for-Aotearoa.pdf
- WasteMINZ. National Waste Data Framework Project. 2017. Accessed September 21, 2021. 271 https://www.wasteminz.org.nz/projects/national-waste-data-framework-project/
- 272. Densley Tingley D., J Giesekam, and S Cooper-Searle. "Applying Circular Economic Principles to Reduce Embodied Carbon." In Embodied Carbon in Buildings edited by F Pomponi, C De Wolf, and A Moncaster A., 265-285 (Cham:Springer, 2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-72796-7 12.
- 273. Office of the Prime Minister's Chief Science Advisor. 2019. Rethinking Plastics in Aotearoa New Zealand: Full Report. Accessed September 21, 2021. https://cpb-ap-se2.wpmucdn.com/blogs. auckland.ac.nz/dist/f/688/files/2020/02/Rethinking-Plastics-in-Aotearoa-New-Zealand Full-Report 8-Dec-2019-PDF-1.pdf.
- 274. Ministry for the Environment. Review of the Effectiveness of the Waste Disposal Levy, 2014 in Accordance with Section 39 of the Waste Minimisation Act 2008. Wellington: Ministry for the Environment. 2014. Accessed September 21, 2021. https://environment.govt.nz/publications/ review-of-the-effectiveness-of-the-waste-disposal-levy-2014/
- 275. For instance, in 2014, the Ministry for the Environment proposed increasing the levy to \$100 or more.
- The additional funding from the increase in the waste disposal levy will also be used to expand 276. data collection and management systems, as well as strengthen compliance and monitoring activities and increasing education campaigns and promotions.
- 277. Tax Working Group. Future of Tax: Final Report. 2019. Accessed September 21, 2021. https://taxworkinggroup.govt.nz/resources/future-tax-final-report.html.
- 278. Grant Thornton. 2020. Report on Waste Disposal Levy Investment Options: A Report for the Ministry for the Environment. Accessed 21 September 2021. https://environment.govt.nz/assets/ publications/waste-levy-investment-options.pdf.
- Ministry for the Environment, Regulatory Impact Statement: Increase and Expansion of Waste 279. Disposal Levy. Ministry for the Environment, 2020: 22.
- 280. Duncan W, L Eve, and A Grant. National Resource Recovery Project Situational Analysis Report. Ministry for the Environment. 2018. https://environment.govt.nz/assets/Publications/Files/national-resource-recovery-project-redacted.pdf

- waste-infrastructure-in-victoria/
- Resource-Recovery-and-Waste-Discussion-Document-March-2021.pdf
- roads-out-of-plastic.html
- downer-begins-large-scale-trial-of-shredded-plastic-in-asphalt/
- co.nz/sustainable-building/reducing-building-waste/
- co.nz/sustainable-building/reducing-building-waste/
- 287. Major Infrastructure Resource Optimisation Group. The Case for a Resource Exchange Paper 3-The-Case-for-a-REM Oct2019.pdf
- 288 online at http://civilshare.co.nz/
- duce-waste-construction-and-demolition
- 291. Ministry for the Environment. Factsheet: A Waste to Energy Guide for New Zealand. 2020. energy-guide-for-new-zealand.pdf
- 292. New South Wales Government. Energy from Waste Infrastructure Plan. 2021. Accessed proposes to include reducing emissions from organic waste as a key priority area.
- 293. into-cement-at-whangrei-plant
- Released-22July2020-with-disclaimer.pdf
- 296 sation-fund/waste-minimisation-fund-funded-projects/
- 297. New Zealand Government. Wellbeing Budget 2021: Budget at a Glance. 2021. Accessed

281. Infrastructure Victoria, Advice on Recycling and Resource Recovery Infrastructure. Melbourne: Infrastructure Victoria, 2020: 26. https://www.infrastructurevictoria.com.au/project/advice-on-

282. New Zealand Infrastructure Commission – Te Waihanga. Sector State of Play: Resource Recovery and Waste. 2021: 21. Accessed 24 February 2022. https://infracom.govt.nz/assets/State-of-Play-

283. Satherley, Dan. "The Kiwi Town Making Roads Out of Plastic." Newshub, June 6, 2019. Accessed March 20, 2021. https://www.newshub.co.nz/home/new-zealand/2019/06/the-kiwi-town-making-

284. Jones, Lauren. "Downer Begins Large Scale Trial of Shredded Plastic in Asphalt." Roads and Infrastructure Australia, June 7, 2019. Accessed March 25, 2021. https://www.roadsonline.com.au/

285. BRANZ. "Reducing Building Material Waste." Accessed November 19, 2020. https://www.branz.

286. BRANZ. "Reducing Building Material Waste." Accessed November 19, 2020. https://www.branz.

Mechanism. 2019. https://aecom.com/content/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/MI-ROG-White-

CivilShare is an application to connect civil contractors to trade excess resources. It is available

289. Parker, D. "Funding for Projects to Reduce Waste from Construction and Demolition." 2021. Accessed September 20, 2021. https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/funding-projects-re-

290. Firstgas Group. Biogas and Biomethane in NZ: Unlocking New Zealand's Renewable Natural Gas Potential. July 1, 2021. Accessed February 14, 2022. https://gasischanging.co.nz/assets/uploads/ Biogas-and-Biomethane-in-NZ-Unlocking-New-Zealands-Renewable-Natural-Gas-Potential.pdf

Accessed September 20, 2021. https://environment.govt.nz/assets/Publications/Files/waste-to-

September 20, 2021. https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/ waste/21p3261-energy-from-waste-infrastructure-plan.pdf The government's new waste strategy

Nadkarni, A. 2021. "Fletcher Building to Convert Tyres into Cement at Whangarei Plant." Stuff. March 30, 2021. https://www.stuff.co.nz/business/124694868/fletcher-building-to-convert-tyres-

294. Tyrewise Advisory Group. Regulated Product Stewardship for End of Life Tyres "Tyrewise 2.0": Updated Report. July 22, 2020. Accessed September 20, 2021. https://iloppppax8b3fccwh3zobtws-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Tyrewise-2.0-Master-Report-Final-

295. Based on an average tyre weight of around 12kg, 3 million tyres would equate to around 36,000 tonnes of waste. A total of around 3.5 million tonnes of waste is landfilled every year. Ministry for the Environment. Waste Disposed of at Levied Disposal Facilities. 2021. Accessed September 20, 2021. https://environment.govt.nz/what-government-is-doing/areas-of-work/ waste/waste-disposal-levy/calculations-of-waste-disposed-of-at-levied-disposal-facilities/

Ministry of Environment, "Te Pūtea Whakamauru Para Waste Minimisation Fund" June 4, 2021. Accessed February 27, 2021. https://environment.govt.nz/what-you-can-do/funding/waste-minimi-

September 20, 2021. https://www.treasury.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2021-05/b21-at-a-glance.pdf

- 298. NZ Infrastructure Commission Te Waihanga. "Investment Gap or Efficiency Gap? Benchmarking New Zealand's Investment in Infrastructure." Te Waihanga Research Insights Series. December 2021. Accessed February 24, 2022. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/strategy/reports/tewaihanga-research-insights-december-2021/ International Monetary Fund. "Investment and Capital Stock Dataset (ICSD)." 2015. Accessed September 20, 2021. https://data.imf.org/?sk=1CE8A55F-CFA7-4BC0-BCE2-256EE65AC0E4
- 299. World Economic Forum. 2019. The Global Competitiveness Report 2019: Insight Report. Accessed September 20, 2021. http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_ TheGlobalCompetitivenessReport2019.pdf
- 300. NZ Infrastructure Commission Te Waihanga. "Investment Gap or Efficiency Gap? Benchmarking New Zealand's Investment in Infrastructure." Te Waihanga Research Insights Series. December 2021. Accessed February 24, 2022. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/strategy/reports/te-waihanga-research-insights-december-2021/
- 301. International Monetary Fund. Making Public Investment More Efficient: Staff Report. 2015. Accessed September 20, 2021. https://www.imf.org/external/np/pp/eng/2015/061115.pdf
- 302. Some analysis suggests that most public investment is 'wasted' in the worst-performing countries. Pritchett, L. "The Tyranny of Concepts: CUDIE (Cumulated, Depreciated, Investment Effort) is not Capital." Journal of Economic Growth, 5(4), 2000: 361-384.
- 303. Te Tai Ōhanga The Treasury. Treasury Report Capital Panel Advice Budget 2021. Report No: T2021/465. File Number: ST-4-8-4-11-2. Wellington, New Zealand: The Treasury. August 2021:9. https://budget.govt.nz/information-release/2021/pdf/b21-t2021-465-4423983.pdf
- 304. These 30 projects comprised 80% of the value of all capital initiatives in the Budget, March 5, 2021
- NineSquared. Interim Project Review of Transmission Gully PPP Project: Report Prepared for the 305. New Zealand Infrastructure Commission/Te Waihanga, 2021. Accessed September 20, 2021. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/major-projects/reviews/transmission-gully/
- 306. Merrow, E.W., Industrial Megaprojects: Concepts, Strategies, and Practices for Success. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons. 2011.
- 307. Terrill, M., O Emslie, and G Moran. The Rise of Megaprojects: Counting the Costs. Grattan Institute Report No 2020-15. 2020. Accessed September 20, 2021. https://grattan.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/The-Rise-of-Megaprojects-Grattan-Report.pdf
- 308. Flyvbjerg, Bent. "Survival of the Unfittest: Why the Worst Infrastructure Gets Built-and What We Can Do About It." Oxford Review of Economic Policy, 25, no. 3, 2009: 344-367. Cantarelli, Chantal C., Bent Flyvbjerg, and Søren L. Buhl. "Geographical Variation in Project Cost Performance: The Netherlands Versus Worldwide." Journal of Transport Geography, 24, 2012: 324-331. Sovacool, Benjamin K., Alex Gilbert, and Daniel Nugent. "An International Comparative Assessment of Construction Cost Overruns for Electricity Infrastructure." Energy Research & Social Science, 3, 2014: 152-160.
- 309. Cadot, Olivier, Lars-Hendrik Röller, and Andreas Stephan. "Contribution to Productivity or Pork Barrel? The Two Faces of Infrastructure Investment." Journal of Public Economics, 90. no. 6-7, 2006: 1133-1153. Eliasson, Jonas, Maria Börjesson, James Odeck, and Morten Welde. "Does Benefit–Cost Efficiency Influence Transport Investment Decisions?" Journal of Transport Economics and Policy, 49, no. 3, 2015: 377-396. Coyle, Diane, and Marianne Sensier. "The Imperial Treasury: Appraisal Methodology and Regional Economic Performance in the UK." Regional Studies, 2019.
- Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development. Getting Infrastructure Right: The Ten 310 Key Governance Challenges and Policy Options. Paris, France: Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development. 2017. https://www.oecd.org/gov/getting-infrastructure-right.pdf Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development. OECD Recommendation on the Governance of Infrastructure. Paris, France: Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development. 2020. https://www.oecd.org/gov/infrastructure-governance/recommendation/ Infrastructure Australia. Infrastructure Decision-Making Principles. Canberra, Australia: Infrastructure Australia. 2018. https://www.infrastructureaustralia.gov.au/publications/ infrastructure-decision-making-principles

- sites/default/files/pubfiles/economic-regulation-of-utility-infrastructure_0.pdf.
- 312 Analysis, Action. Oxford University Press. 2017: 288.
- 313.
- ing-and-financing.pdf
- ga-research-insights-december-2021/
- 316
- 318 https://www.worldenergy.org/transition-toolkit/world-energy-trilemma-index
- 319. quality-path/2022-2027-gas-default-price-quality-path
- recommendation
- lic/2002/0084/latest/DLM172344.html
- treasury.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2021-07/icr-results-analysis-jul21.pdf investor-confidence-rating-quality-long-term-investment-plans review-investment-reviews/investment-intensive-agencies

311. Sutherland, D, S Araújo, B Égert, . and T Kozluk. "Public Policies and Investment in Network Infrastructure." OECD Journal: Economic Studies, 2011(1): 1-23. https://www.oecd.org/economy/ growth/public%20policies%20and%20investment%20in%20network%20infrastructure.pdf Beecher, J.A. "Economic Regulation of Utility Infrastructure." In Infrastructure and Land Policies. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy. 2013. https://www.lincolninst.edu/

See chapter 2 in Andrews, M, L Pritchett, and M Woolcock. Building State Capability: Evidence,

Sutherland, D, S Araújo, B Égert,. and T Kozluk. "Public Policies and Investment in Network Infrastructure." OECD Journal: Economic Studies, 2011(1): 1-23. https://www.oecd.org/economy/ growth/public%20policies%20and%20investment%20in%20network%20infrastructure.pdf

314. For further discussion, see Chapter 5 in Productivity Commission, Local Government Funding and Financina: Final report. Wellington, New Zealand: Productivity Commission. 2019. https:// www.productivity.govt.nz/assets/Documents/a40d80048d/Final-report_Local-government-fund-

315. NZ Infrastructure Commission - Te Waihanga. Investment Gap or Efficiency Gap? Benchmarking New Zealand's Investment in Infrastructure. Te Waihanga Research Insights Series. December 2021. Accessed 24 February 2022. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/strategy/reports/te-waihan-

International Transport Forum. Strategic Infrastructure Planning: International Best Practice. Paris, France: International Transport Forum. 2017. https://www.itf-oecd.org/strategic-infrastructure-plan-

317. See Section 5.7 in Productivity Commission. Local Government Funding and Financing: Final report. Wellington, New Zealand: Productivity Commission. 2019. https://www.productivity.govt. nz/assets/Documents/a40d80048d/Final-report_Local-government-funding-and-financing.pdf

World Energy Council. World Energy Trilemma Index. London, UK: World Energy Council. 2020.

Some electricity distributors are subject to price-quality regulation and some are subject to information disclosure requirements. Four gas distribution and transmission businesses are subject to price-quality regulation. Commerce Commission. Electricity Lines Default Price-Quality Path: 2020-2025 Default Price-Quality Path. Wellington, New Zealand: Commerce Commission. 2020. https://comcom.govt.nz/regulated-industries/electricity-lines/electricity-lines-price-qualitypaths/electricity-lines-default-price-guality-path/2020-2025-default-price-guality-path

Commerce Commission. Gas Pipelines Default Price-Quality Path: 2022 Gas Default Price-Quality Path. Wellington, New Zealand: Commerce Commission. 2021. https://comcom.govt.nz/ regulated-industries/gas-pipelines/gas-pipelines-price-quality-paths/gas-pipelines-default-price-

320. The OECD Recommendation of the Council on the Governance of Infrastructure recommends that countries develop a long-term strategic vision for infrastructure which is fiscally sustainable, linked with budget allocations and other sources of financing, and aligned with the mediumterm expenditure framework. This provides assurance to the relevant stakeholders of the stable, multi-year availability of resources. https://www.oecd.org/gov/infrastructure-governance/

321. See Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2002. https://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/pub-

322. Treasury reviews Long Term Investment Plans as part of its Investor Confidence Rating scores. On average, agencies rank lower for quality of Long-Term Investment Plans than any other component of the Investor Confidence Rating, although there have been signs of improvement. Treasury. Investor Confidence Rating (ICR). Wellington, New Zealand: Treasury. 2021. https://www.

Treasury. Investor Confidence Rating - Quality of Long-Term Investment Plans. Wellington, New Zealand: Treasury. 2017. https://www.treasury.govt.nz/information-and-services/state-sectorleadership/investment-management/review-investment-reviews/investor-confidence-rating-icr/

Treasury. Investment Intensive Agencies. Wellington, New Zealand: Treasury. 2020. https://www. treasury.govt.nz/information-and-services/state-sector-leadership/investment-management/

- 323. For example, agencies that have projects in the Te Waihanga pipeline starting in 2023 or later are Watercare, Wellington Airport, Transpower and Kainga Ora, all of which have long term funding sources.
- 324. A potential model is the New South Wales Capital Planning Process, a cyclical process that takes place annually alongside the annual State Budget process. https://www.treasury.nsw.gov.au/information-public-entities/capital-planning
- 325. See Asset Management Plan scores across agencies as part of Results Analysis: Round 1 and Round 2 in The Treasury. Investor Confidence Rating. Wellington, New Zealand: The Treasury. 2021. https://www.treasury.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2021-07/icr-results-analysis-jul21.pdf
- 326. OECD. OECD Compendium of Policy Good Practices for Quality Infrastructure Investment. 2020. www.oecd.org/finance/oecd-compendium-of-policy-good-practices-for-quality-infrastructure-investment.htm
- 327. The Office of the Auditor-General has previously highlighted the need for decision-makers to understand the risks in managing physical assets and ensure that these risks are actively managed.

Office of the Auditor-General. Reflections From Our Audits: Investment and Asset Management. Wellington, New Zealand: Office of the Auditor-General. 2017. https://oag.parliament.nz/2017/ asset-reflections

Office of the Auditor-General. Managing Public Assets. Wellington, New Zealand: Office of the Auditor-General. 2013. https://oag.parliament.nz/2013/managing-public-assets

- 328 The Australian infrastructure priority list is available online here: Infrastructure Australia. Infrastructure Priority List. Canberra, Australia: Infrastructure Australia. 2021. https://www. infrastructureaustralia.gov.au/infrastructure-priority-list An infrastructure priority list could draw upon sector-specific long-term planning exercises, such as the Ministry of Transport's "Generational Investment Approach." https://www.transport.govt.nz/ area-of-interest/infrastructure-and-investment/generational-investment-approach-gia/
- 329. Infrastructure New South Wales. Timely Information on Infrastructure Projects. Sydney, Australia: Infrastructure New South Wales. 2020. https://www.infrastructure.nsw.gov.au/expert-advice/timely-information-on-infrastructure-projects/
- 330. Terrill, M, O Emslie, and G Moran. The Rise of Megaprojects: Counting the Costs. Grattan Institute Report No 2020-15. 2020. Accessed September 20, 2021. https://grattan.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/The-Rise-of-Megaprojects-Grattan-Report.pdf
- 331. Te Waihanga Sector State of Plays review current evidence on the performance of different infrastructure sectors. NZ Infrastructure Commission / Te Waihanga. "Sector State of Plays." 2021. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/strategy/state-of-plays/
- 332. Infrastructure and Projects Authority. Principles for Project Success. London, United Kingdom. 2020. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_ data/file/901126/IPA_Principles_for_Project_Success.pdf
- Infrastructure and Projects Authority. Annual Report on Major Projects 2020-21: Reporting to Cab-333 inet Office and HM Treasury. London, United Kingdom. 2021. https://assets.publishing.service. gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1002310/IPA_AR2021_final_ 14Jul.pdf
- 334. Of the 89 current projects at the end of the 2020/2021 financial year that have been on the GMPP for at least a year, 36% (32 projects) have improved their DCA since the last Annual Report, while 12% (12 projects) have moved to a worse DCA than in 2019. Of those that improved DCA, 10 projects improved by 2 or more DCA ratings.
- 335. This was also highlighted in Australian Productivity Commission. Public Infrastructure Inquiry. Canberra, Australia: Productivity Commission. 2014. https://www.pc.gov.au/inquiries/completed/ infrastructure/report
- 336. The Deep South Challenge. "Changing with our climate." Accessed on February 14, 2022. https://deepsouthchallenge.co.nz/resource/from-theory-to-practice-a-timeline-of-interventionsby-a-change-agent-with-the-developers-and-users-of-dynamic-adaptive-policy-pathwaysdapp/ Infrastructure Australia. Guide to Risk and Uncertainty Analysis: Technical Guide of the Assessment Framework. July 2021. https://www.infrastructureaustralia.gov.au/sites/default/ files/2021-07/Assessment % 20 Framework % 202021% 20 Guide % 20 to % 20 risk % 20 and % 20 risk % 2uncertainty%20analysis.pdf

- 2020. https://www.nzta.govt.nz/resources/monetised-benefits-and-costs-manual/
- comcom.govt.nz/regulated-industries/input-methodologies/transpower-ims
- Analysis: Concepts and Practice. Cambridge University Press, 2017.
- sis-including-public-sector-discount-rates/treasurys-cbax-tool
- uploads/attachment_data/file/1017060/carbon-values-lit-review.pdf
- 344. UK House of Commons Public Accounts Committee. Lessons From Major Projects and https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/4491/documents/45207/default/ pdf
- 345. Office of the Auditor-General. Using "Functional Leadership" to Improve Government parliament.nz/2019/functional-leadership
- com.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Lifting-our-gaze-EY-Infracom.pdf
- 347. Office of Government Commerce. Lessons Learnt Programme and Projects Board. Guide.pdf
 - files/2012-05/p3m-kpmg-mar12.pdf

337. The Treasury. Guide to Social Cost Benefit Analysis. Wellington, New Zealand: The Treasury. 2015. https://www.treasury.govt.nz/publications/guide/guide-social-cost-benefit-analysis

338. Waka Kotahi. Monetised Benefits and Costs Manual. Wellington, New Zealand: Waka Kotahi.

339. Commerce Commission. Transpower Input Methodologies: Transpower Capital Expenditure Input Methodology Determination. Wellington, New Zealand: Commerce Commission. 2020. https://

340. Boardman, Anthony E., David H. Greenberg, Aidan R. Vining, and David L. Weimer. Cost-Benefit

341. The Treasury's CBAx tool is an existing method for publishing and reviewing key parameters. The Treasury. "The Treasury's CBAx Tool." https://www.treasury.govt.nz/information-and-services/ state-sector-leadership/investment-management/plan-investment-choices/cost-benefit-analy-

342. The public sector discount rate encapsulates trade-offs between present and future outcomes. There are several different approaches to selecting a discount rate, which have different implications for how we value the future. For Treasury guidance, see: The Treasury. Discount Rates. Wellington, New Zealand: The Treasury. 2020. https://www.treasury.govt.nz/informationand-services/state-sector-leadership/guidance/financial-reporting-policies-and-guidance/ discount-rates For a recent discussion of the importance of discount rates for valuing environmental impacts from carbon emissions, see: Vivid Economics. Carbon Values Literature Review. BEIS research paper number 2021/049. London, UK: Department for Business, Energy, & Industrial Strategy. 2021. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/

343. Waka Kotahi is one of the few agencies to regularly publish post-implementation reviews. Between 2016 and 2020 it conducted and published 20 benefit realisation reviews for projects. This comprises a small share of its overall investment portfolio. Waka Kotahi. Benefit Realisation Reviews Superseded August 2020. 2020. Accessed 21 September 2021. https://nzta.govt. nz/planning-and-investment/planning-and-investment-knowledge-base/archive/201821-nltp/ monitoring-and-reporting-on-investments/investment-audits/benefit-realisation-reviews/

Programmes: Thirty-Ninth Report of Session 2019-2021. London, UK: House of Commons. 2021. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. Compendium of Policy Good Practices for Quality Infrastructure Investment. Paris, France: Organization for Economic Co-

operation and Development. 2020. https://www.oecd.org/mcm/Compendium-CMIN-2020-3-EN.

Procurement. Wellington, New Zealand: Office of the Auditor-General. 2019. https://oag.

346. EY. Lifting Our Gaze: Making Broader Outcomes a Reality in the Delivery of Major Infrastructure Projects. Wellington: Te Waihanga New Zealand Infrastructure Commission. 2020. https://infra-

Programmes & Projects, Bulletin 2. OGC: London. March 2009. https://www.finance-ni.gov.uk/ sites/default/files/publications/dfp/ogc-lessons-learned-programme-and-project-boards.pdf Office of Government Commerce. Policy to Successful Delivery. OGC: London. 2010. Office of Government Commerce. Portfolio, Programme and Project Management Maturity Model (P3M3) Introduction and Guide to P3M3. London: Office of Government Commerce. 2010. https:// miroslawdabrowski.com/downloads/P3M3/OGC%20branded/P3M3_v2.1_Introduction_and_

Office of Government Commerce. Lessons Learned - Communications in Major Government Programmes. Programmes & Projects. Bulletin 6. OCG: London. August 2010. Government Programme & Project Management Profession Recommended Methodology Standards. 2009. KPMG. Portfolio, Programme and Project Management (P3M) Capabilities in Government -Increasing Success Rates and Reducing Costs. 2011. https://www.treasury.govt.nz/sites/default/

- 348. See Figures 6 and 7 in Commerce Commission. Annual Telecommunications Monitoring Report 2020 Key Facts. Wellington, New Zealand: Commerce Commission. 2020. https://comcom. govt.nz/__data/assets/pdf_file/0030/247377/2020-Annual-Telecommunications-Monitoring-Report-Revised-version-16-March-2021.pdf
- 349. NZ Infrastructure Commission Te Waihanga. Investment Gap or Efficiency Gap? Benchmarking New Zealand's Investment in Infrastructure. Te Waihanga Research Insights Series. December 2021. Accessed 24 February 2022. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/strategy/reports/te-waihanga-research-insights-december-2021/ International Monetary Fund. 2015. Investment and Capital Stock Dataset (ICSD). Accessed 20 September 2021. https://data.imf.org/?sk=1CE8A55F-CFA7-4BC0-BCE2-256EE65AC0E4
- 350. Global Infrastructure Hub. Infrastructure Monitor 2020 Report. 2020. Accessed September 21, 2021. https://www.gihub.org/infrastructure-monitor/
- Department for Internal Affairs. Three Waters Reform Programme: National Evidence Base. 351. Wellington, New Zealand: Department for Internal Affairs. 2021. Accessed September 21, 2021. https://www.dia.govt.nz/three-waters-reform-programme-national-evidence-base
- 352. Transpower. Whakamana I Te Mauri Hiko Empowering Our Energy Future. Transpower, March 2020: 33. https://www.transpower.co.nz/sites/default/files/publications/resources/TP%20Whakamana%20i%20Te%20Mauri%20Hiko.pdf
- 353. These principles are higher level, but consistent with principles the Productivity Commission discusses for efficient pricing, investment and funding of infrastructure. See New Zealand Productivity Commission. Better Urban Planning: Final Report. 2017: 307-312. https://www. productivity.govt.nz/assets/Documents/0a784a22e2/Final-report.pdf Ramsay, K. 2022. Financing and Funding of Infrastructure in New Zealand, https://www. tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Financing-and-funding-of-infrastructure-in-New-Zealand.pdf
- 354. Because infrastructure services are often shared services, capacity expansions can affect service levels for existing users. For example, if capacity expansion fails to keep pace with population growth, existing users experience deteriorating service levels, such as increased traffic congestion or crowded hospitals. Other funding complications arise when infrastructure networks are interconnected and interdependent. In these cases, capacity expansions in one part of the network affect service levels elsewhere on the network.
- 355. The electricity sector also has a spot electricity market, where prices are highly dynamic as they change every 30 minutes at over 200 locations around the country. This approach has been adopted because supply and demand are highly dependent on weather conditions and must be kept in close balance to keep the transmission system stable. Very few residential or small business consumers choose to pay spot market prices, but most large industrial consumers do so because they can cut their demand quickly when prices increase beyond what they're willing to pay. The electricity sector will be moving to real-time pricing in 2022, which is where prices are set every 5 minutes rather than every 30 minutes. Dynamic pricing is also used in the gas sector. It is not used much in telecommunications as supply and demand do not need to be kept closely in balance.
- 356. Ministry of Transport. Briefing to the Incoming Minister: Your Guide to the Opportunities and Challenges in the Transport System. 2020. https://www.beehive.govt.nz/sites/default/ files/2020-12/Transport%20-%20Strategic.pdf
- Ministry of Transport. Land Transport Funding and the Myth of the Declining Revenue Stream. 357. 2019. https://www.knowledgehub.transport.govt.nz/assets/TKH-Uploads/TKC-2019/Transportfunding-and-the-myth-of-the-declining-revenue-stream_McGlinchy.pdf
- 358. Further details about service-based and cost-reflective pricing are provided in C Hansen, How Funding and Financing Affects Productivity: Implications for Three- Waters Reform and for Local Government Funding and Financing. New Zealand Productivity Commission, 2019: 41-47 and Appendix B. https://www.productivity.govt.nz/assets/Documents/659d4a291a/CSA_Implications-of-3W-reforms.pdf A more academic treatment is provided in F.A Wolak, Public Utility Pricing and Finance. New Palgrave Dictionary of Economics 2nd Edition, 2008:2.
- 359. As previously recommended by Local Government Rates Inquiry, Funding Local Government ("Shand Report") 2007 https://www.dia.govt.nz/Decommissioned-websites---Rates-Inquiry and New Zealand Productivity Commission. Local Government Funding and Financing. 2019.

- ty-values-oct-2018.pdf
- charge as a tax on the unrealised capital gain on a property.
- 363. Targeted rates are not a pure value capture charge as they cannot be applied to value uplift between two points in time.
- a40d80048d/Final-report_Local-government-funding-and-financing.pdf
- 365. One perceived challenge of using targeted rates to fund infrastructure is that they can be elected members through various legislation.
- transport provision helps reduce road congestion. For empirical evidence, see: Netherlands: Tinberg Institute. 2015. https://papers.tinbergen.nl/15011.pdf pers/w18757

Ministry of Transport. The Transport Impacts of the 20 June 2013 Storm. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Transport. 2013. Accessed September 21, 2021. https://web.archive.org/ web/20180202160530/https://www.transport.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/News/Documents/Transport-impacts-in-Wellington-storm-June-2013.pdf

- 368. handle.net/10419/89941
- https://ssrn.com/abstract=1080294 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1080294
- ies-2011-5kg0vswgt240
- hive.govt.nz/release/govt-delivers-1b-broadband-commitment
- beehive.govt.nz/release/govt-launches-next-stage-broadband-rollout
- broadband-and-mobile-programmes/
- broadband-and-mobile-programmes/

360. Truebridge, Nick. "An Ungodly Law: New Zealand's Rich Churches Should Pay Rates." Stuff, New Zealand. November 28, 2018. Accessed September 20, 2021. https://www.stuff.co.nz/auckland/108928409/an-ungodly-law-new-zealands-rich-churches-should-pay-rates.

361. See for instance, how rapid transit affects property values. Auckland Council. Insights: Topical Commentary on the Auckland Economy. October 2018. https://www.aucklandcouncil.govt.nz/ about-auckland-council/business-in-auckland/docsoccasionalpapers/rapid-transit-access-proper-

362. There is also the contentious issue that some opponents would characterise a value-capture

364. The New Zealand Productivity Commission. Local Government Funding and Financing, Final Report. NZ Productivity Commission. 2019: 4. https://www.productivity.govt.nz/assets/Documents/

reversed by future decision-makers. However, this is true of infrastructure funding across all sectors. Decision-makers are always required to carefully consider the implications of any change from original intentions. This is dictated through the obligations placed on board directors and

366. Public transport is partly subsidised from rates and fuel taxes. This reflects the fact that public Adler, Martin, and Jos N. van Ommeren. Does Public Transit Reduce Car Travel Externalities?

Anderson, Michael L. "Subways, Strikes, and Slowdowns: The Impacts of Public Transit on Traffic Congestion." American Economic Review, 104, no. 9. 2014: 2763-96. https://www.nber.org/pa-

367. Work and Income New Zealand. Winter Energy Payment. 2019. Accessed September 22, 2021. https://www.workandincome.govt.nz/products/a-z-benefits/winter-energy-payment.html

Kline P. and E Moretti. "People, Places and Public Policy: Some Simple Welfare Economics of Local Economic Development Programs." IZA Discussion Papers No. 7735. 2013. http://hdl.

369. Glaeser, Edward L., "The Economic Approach to Cities." Harvard Institute of Economic Research Discussion Paper No. 2149, KSG Working Paper No. RWP08-003. January 2008. Available at

370. PwC. Cost-Benefit Analysis for a National Policy Statement on Urban Development: Final Report for the Ministry for the Environment. July, 2020: 12. NPS-UD-CBA-final.pdf (environment.govt.nz)

371. Caldera Sánchez, Aida and Dan Andrews "Residential Mobility and Public Policy in OECD Countries." OECD Journal: Economic Studies, Vol. 2011/1. 2011: 199. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/eco_stud-

372. Joyce, S. "Government Delivers 1b for Broadband Commitment." May 20, 2011. https://www.bee-

373. Adams, A "Government Launches Next Stage Broadband Rollout." March 13, 2015. https://www.

374. Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment. "Broadband and Mobile Programmes." https:// www.mbie.govt.nz/science-and-technology/it-communications-and-broadband/fast-broadband/

375. Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment. "Broadband and Mobile Programmes." https:// www.mbie.govt.nz/science-and-technology/it-communications-and-broadband/fast-broadband/

- 376. Brownlee, G. New Zealand Government Release. "100 Million for cycleways." February 19, 2014. https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/100-million-urban-cycleways
- 377. Carter, D. "Lifting Investment in Irrigation." New Zealand Government Release: Budget 2011. May 10, 2015. https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/budget-2011-lifting-investment-irrigation
- Christchurch City Council. Christchurch Regeneration Acceleration Facility: Roading and 378. Transport Improvements Investment Case. October 31, 2019. https://www.ccc.govt.nz/assets/ Documents/The-Council/Plans-Strategies-Policies-Bylaws/Policies/Cost-Sharing/Christchurch-Regeneration-Acceleration-Facility-Roading-and-Transport-Investment-Case.pdf
- 379. Ministry of Housing and Urban Development. "Housing Infrastructure Fund." https://www.hud. govt.nz/urban-development/housing-infrastructure-fund/
- 380. Smith P. and B English. "New Zealand Government Release. 1b Fund Accelerate Housing Infrastructure." July 3, 2016. https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/1b-fund-accelerate-housinginfrastructure
- 381. Hon Shane Jones. "The Provincial Growth Fund." New Zealand Government Release. December 2017. https://www.beehive.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2018-02/December%202017%20PGF%20 Cabinet%20Paper_0.pdf Only some of the total fund is used for infrastructure investment. As of 31 March 2020, \$533.4 million was committed to rail; \$376.5 million to tourism and \$244.9 million to roads.
- 382. Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment. "Tourism Infrastructure Fund." https://www. mbie.govt.nz/immigration-and-tourism/tourism/tourism-funding/tourism-infrastructure-fund/. This fund is expected to provide up to \$25 million per year.
- 383. New Zealand Government Release. "The New Zealand Upgrade Programme." January 29, 2020. https://www.beehive.govt.nz/feature/new-zealand-upgrade-programn
- New Zealand Government Release "New Zealand Upgrade Programme Kept on Track." 2021, 384. June 4, 2021. https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/nz-upgrade-programme-kept-track
- 385. New Zealand Government Release. "Major Investment Infrastructure Projects. May 14, 2020. https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/major-investment-infrastructure-projects.
- 386. New Zealand Government Release. "Government Announces Allocation of Three Water Funds for Councils." August 4, 2020. https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/government-announces-allocation-three-waters-funds-councils
- Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment. "Maori and Public Housing Renewable Energy 387 Fund." August 2020. https://www.mbie.govt.nz/building-and-energy/energy-and-natural-resources/low-emissions-economy/energy-efficiency-in-new-zealand/maori-and-public-housing-renewable-energy-fund/
- 388. Ministry of Housing and Urban Development. "Housing Acceleration Fund". https://www.hud. govt.nz/urban-development/the-housing-acceleration-fund
- Including \$1bn Infrastructure Acceleration Fund, \$350m Maori Infrastructure Fund. Ministry of 389 Housing and Urban Development. "Whai Kāinga Whai Oranga." https://www.hud.govt.nz/maihi-and-maori-housing/whai-kainga-whai-oranga/
- 390. The Treasury. "Wellbeing Budget 2021: Securing Our Recovery – Water." https://budget.govt.nz/ budget/2021/wellbeing/budget-investments/reforms-intergenerational-wellbeing/water.htm.
- Rt Hon Jacinda Ardern and Hon Nanaia Mahuta. "Government to Provide Support for Water 391 Reforms, Jobs and Growth." New Zealand Government Release. July 15, 2021. https://www. beehive.govt.nz/release/government-provide-support-water-reforms-jobs-and-growth
- 392. Hon James Shaw. "Foundations Laid for Strong Climate Action." Press release. May 20, 2021. https://budget.govt.nz/budget/pdfs/releases/r9-shaw-foundations-laid-for-strong-climate-action. pdf

The \$3 billion figure is an estimate of funds allocated by the fund over 5 years, from 2022. The actual size of the fund may differ in practice.

- 393. Waka Kotahi. "Allocation of Funds to Activity Class" https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/government-provide-support-water-reforms-jobs-and-growth
- Infrastructure New South Wales. "Restart NSW." https://www.infrastructure.nsw.gov.au/restart-nsw/ 394.

- 395. Canada Infrastructure Bank. "About Us." https://cib-bic.ca/en/about-us/
- 396 ments/a40d80048d/Final-report Local-government-funding-and-financing.pdf
- 397. strength and plans and actions to return to acceptable financial conditions.
- ments/a40d80048d/Final-report_Local-government-funding-and-financing.pdf
- property owners, rather than negotiated on a voluntary basis.
- lic_Private_Partnership_Model_Review.pdf
- 402. This includes three Ministry of Education projects, delivering 11 new primary and secondary Transmission Gully and Pūhoi to Warkworth, delivering c.45km of Motorway.
- 403. Uploads/Social_Infrastructure_PPPs_Report.pdf
- Kaikoura earthquake.
- projects, and potentially also reduce environmental outcomes due to delays. trol_and_Adversarial_Legalism_in_American_Environmental_Regulation
- 406. Association 55, no. 2. 1989: 205-206.

Productivity Commission. Local Government Funding and Financing: Final Report. Wellington, New Zealand: Productivity Commission. 2019. https://www.productivity.govt.nz/assets/Docu-

Lenders and credit-rating agencies place various debt limits on councils, the most common one being a requirement that their ratio of total debt to income must stay under 270%. Generally, if a council exceeds 270% the agencies will downgrade the council's credit rating, forcing it to pay higher interest rates. Although COVID-19 has significantly affected debt ratios for many councils, many have retained their credit ratings. This is because agencies recognise serious shocks can occur and in these circumstances, they pay considerable attention to a council's governance

398. Even if a council is well within its debt ceiling, it can struggle to increase debt levels to fund more infrastructure due to public opposition to incurring debt that might result in future rates increases.

399. Productivity Commission. Local Government Funding and Financing: Final Report. Wellington, New Zealand: Productivity Commission. 2019. https://www.productivity.govt.nz/assets/Docu-

400. To date, the Milldale development in Auckland is the only SPV that has been completed. This involved Auckland Council, together with Crown Infrastructure Partners, Treasury and developer Fulton Hogan, establishing an SPV that raised nearly \$50 million in long term finance to fund five bulk roading and wastewater infrastructure projects for a new housing subdivision. The SPV is responsible for building infrastructure to the specifications of Auckland Transport and Watercare, who become the owners once the infrastructure is completed. In principle, SPVs could also be used for infrastructure upgrades needed to service new development in existing urban areas. To work in those situations, the loan-servicing charges would need to be compulsory for existing

401. NZ Infrastructure Commission - Te Waihanga. New Zealand Public Private Partnership Model Review. 2021. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/TeWaihanga_New_Zealand_Pub-

schools in Auckland, Christchurch, Hamilton and Queenstown; three Department of Corrections projects, delivering 2060 additional prison beds at Auckland Prison, the Auckland South Correctional Facility and Waikeria Prison; and two Waka Kotahi, NZ Transport Agency projects,

Infrastructure Partnerships Australia. Measuring the Value and Service Outcomes of Social Infrastructure PPPs in Australia and New Zealand. 2020. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/

404. While significant issues have occurred on Waka Kotahi's Transmission Gully and Puhoi to Warkworth projects, these have been driven by a range of factors including those not specific to the procurement model such as COVID 19, site conditions, several storm events, and the 2016

405. Adversarial consenting processes have been shown to increase costs to review and consent

See for instance Kagan, R.A. "Trying to Have it Both Ways: Local Discretion, Central Control, and Adversarial Legalism in American Environmental Regulation." Ecology LQ, 25, 1999: 718. https:// www.academia.edu/45494033/Trying_to_Have_It_Both_Ways_Local_Discretion_Central_Con-

This is sometimes called the 'double veto' effect. The overall impact is to delay or stop projects. This is well documented in the case of housing development, for instance Fischel, William A. "Centralized Control, Do We Want a Double-Veto System?" Journal of the American Planning

407. The consent decisions are for wind farms that became operational since 1 January 2010 or the consent decision was made since 1 January 2010. The ten decisions are Lammermoor (630 MW, 5.4 years), Hauauru Ma Raki (540 MW, 2.9 years), Kaiwera (240 MW, 3.8 years) and Turitea (222 MW, 3.1 years). The six smaller ones are Waipipi (133 MW, 1.2 years), Te Uku (64.4 MW, 1.9 years), Mill Creek (59.8 MW, 1.0 years), Mahinerangi (36 MW, 3.3 years) Mt Stuart (7.65 MW, 1.9 years) and Flat Hill (6.8 MW, 1.2 years). Note, the timeframe for Lammermoor is conservative as it only includes the process to January 2012, which is when Meridian withdrew its consent application after opponents appealed a High Court decision to the Court of Appeal. Meridian has since re-commenced the consent process.

408. Data on consenting timeframes for offshore windfarms is from Salvador, Santiago, Luis Gimeno, and F. Javier Sanz Larruga. "Streamlining the Consent Process for the Implementation of Offshore Wind Farms in Spain, Considering Existing Regulations in Leading European Countries." Ocean & Coastal Management, 157. 2018: 68-85.

A 2010 review found that best-practice European countries averaged less than 1.5 years to consent a wind farm. Average processing timeframes were longer for onshore windfarms than for offshore windfarms. The European Wind Energy Association. Wind Barriers: Administrative and Grid Access Barriers to Wind Power. July 2010. http://www.ewea.org/fileadmin/files/library/publications/reports/WindBarriers report.pdf

- 409. The Royal Commission. Report of the Royal Commission on Auckland Governance. Volume 1. March 2009. https://www.parliament.nz/en/pb/papers-presented/current-papers/document/49D-BHOH_PAP17934_1/auckland-governance-report-of-the-royal-commission-on#RelatedAnchor
- Auckland City Council. "Auckland-Manukau Eastern Transport Initiative (AMETI)." 2002. https:// 410 web.archive.org/web/20070220084136/http://www.aucklandcity.govt.nz/auckland/transport/eastern/default.asp https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/politics/local-overnment/12555558/fundingsqueeze-slows-aucklands-14b-eastern-busway
- Tanko, Michael, and Matthew Burke. "Why Busways? Styles of Planning and Mode-Choice 411 Decision-Making in Brisbane's Transport Networks." Australian Planner, 52 (3). 2015. https://www. tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07293682.2015.1047873?journalCode=rapI20
- 412. Global BRT Data. Accessed February 14, 2022. https://brtdata.org/location/oceania/australia/brisbane
- 413. Moore David, Jeff Loan, Sally Wyatt, Kelvin Woock, Sally Carrick, and Zabard Hartmann. "The-Cost of Consenting Infrastructure Projects in NZ: A Report for The New Zealand Infrastructure Commission/Te Waihanga." Sapere. July 2021. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/The-costof-consenting-infrastructure-projects-in-NZ-final-report.pdf
- 414. This is based on an average capital cost of around \$2.4 million per megawatt of wind farm capacity, based on wind farm projects completed over the last decade. Wind farm costs are expected to fall in the future due to technology and manufacturing improvements, so this represents a conservative estimate. Transpower estimates that an additional 14.8 gigawatts of new electricity generation are needed over the next 30 years. Note these forecast additions include additional wind, solar and geothermal generation plus added firming generation of an unspecified type. The 14.8-gigawatt figure was derived from data in Figure 4 tab in spreadsheet Whakamana i te Mauri Hiko Data Report Table, by adding to the net increase in generation capacity, the capacity of plant expected to be decommissioned over the next 30 years. The spreadsheet is available at "Whakamana I Te Mauri Hiko - Empowering Our Energy Future," n.d. Accessed September 1, 2021. https://www.transpower.co.nz/resources/whakamana-i-te-maurihiko-empowering-our-energy-future
- Electricity Act 1992, Telecommunications Act 2001, Land Transport Management Act 2003, 415 Defence Act 1990, Corrections Act 2004, Health Act 1956, Education and Training Act 2020, Water Services Bill (as at 27 Aug 2021)
- As part of Te Ara Tupua Project in Wellington. Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency. "Te Ara 416. Tupua." Wellington. https://www.nzta.govt.nz/projects/te-ara-tupua.
- 417. As part of the Northern Corridor Improvements Project in Auckland. Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency. "Auckland Northern Corridor." https://www.nzta.govt.nz/projects/the-western-ring-route/ auckland-northern-corridor/
- 418. Environmental Protection Authority. "NZ Waterview Connection: Resource Consent Application." 2011. https://www.epa.govt.nz/database-search/rma-applications/view/NSP000012

- one-week-on-one-project-traffic-management-in-wellington
- from_heights_cost_benefit_analysis_of_scaffolding_for_single_storey.pdf
- Governance%20Report.pdf
- projects/kaikoura-earthquake-response/
- webuildvalue.com/en/infrastructure/the-highway-of-the-fjords.html Tunnelling International, 35, no. 3. 2003. https://trid.trb.org/view/644566 Tunnelling Society: Subsea Tunnels, no 18. 2009. https://nff.no/wp-content/uploads/ sites/2/2020/04/Publication-18.pdf
- brookings.edu/research/technology-and-the-innovation-economy/
- 2014. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3079844
- 426. Ministry of Business, Innovation & Employment. Business Information and Communication
- 427. Doran B. and A Trotman. "Preserving Our Heritage: New Zealand Made Computers." The Technology. http://www.rutherfordjournal.org/article050106.html.
- gy-Snapshot.pdf

Digital Transformation Agency. Vision 2025, Digital Transformation Agency. 2018. https://www. dta.gov.au/sites/default/files/files/digital-transformation-strategy/digital-transformation-strategy.

Infrastructure Australia. Australian Infrastructure Plan. February 2019. https://www.infrastructureaustralia.gov.au/sites/default/files/2019-06/Australian_Infrastructure_Plan.pdf Government of Canada. "Canada's Digital Charter: Trust in a Digital World." https://www.ic.gc.ca/ eic/site/062.nsf/eng/h_00108.html

Infrastructure Canada. Investing in Canada, Canada's Long-Term Infrastructure Plan. https://www. infrastructure.gc.ca/site/alt-format/pdf/plan/icp-pic/IC-InvestingInCanadaPlan-ENG.pdf Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment of Finland. Digital Framework Finland. https://www. businessfinland.fi/496a6f/globalassets/julkaisut/digital-finland-framework.pdf Ministry of Transport and Communications. Turning Finland into the World Leader In Communications Networks - Digital Strategy 2025. 2019. https://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/161434/LVM_7_19_Digital_Infrastructure_WEB.pdf?sequence=1

Department of Communications, Energy, and Natural Resources. Doing More With Digital -National Strategy for Ireland. July 2013. https://assets.gov.ie/27518/7081cec170e34c39b75cbec799401b82.pdf

Government of Ireland. Project Ireland 2040 - National Development Plan. 2018. https://www.gov. ie/pdf/?file=https://assets.gov.ie/37937/12baa8fe0dcb43a78122fb316dc51277.pdf#page=47

419. Tilton, D. "Temporary Traffic Management – Auckland is Awash with Cones." 2019. https://www. greaterauckland.org.nz/2019/04/16/temporary-traffic-management-auckland-is-awash-with-cones/ One recent pipe repair in Wellington incurred traffic management costs that averaged \$10,000 a week. Tom Hunt. "\$31,000 for One Week on One Project: Traffic Management in Wellington." Stuff, June 5, 2021. https://www.stuff.co.nz/dominion-post/news/wellington/125346383/31000-for-

420. Bealing, Michael. Falling from Heights – Cost Benefit Analysis of Scaffolding for Single Storey Houses." Branz. 2017. https://d39d3mj7gio96p.cloudfront.net/media/documents/ER24_Falling_

421. Infrastructure New Zealand. "Building Regions." August 2019. https://www.infrastructure.org.nz/ resources/Documents/Reports/Infrastructure%20NZ%20Reforming%20New%20Zealands%20

422. Waka Kotahi – NZ Transport Agency. "Kaikōura Earthquake Response." https://www.nzta.govt.nz/

423. For instance, Norway has built tunnels at a relatively lower cost from opportunities to learn and improve technology and methods. This includes practices around maximum allowable gradients, minimum required rock cover, and rock mass quality to address leakage issues. We Digital Magazine. "The Highway of the Fjords." 2018. Accessed 22 September 2021. https://www. Bergh-Christensen, Jan, and Morten Knudsmoen. "Norwegian Sub Sea tunnels." Tunnels &

Østlid, Håvard, and Karl Melby. "Road Tunnels in Norway: A Fifty Year Experience." Norwegian

424. West D. Technology and the Innovation Economy. Brookings. October 19, 2011. https://www.

425. Miller, Ben, and Robert D. Atkinson. "Raising European Productivity Growth Through ICT." June 2,

Technology (ICT) Use and Productivity Growth in New Zealand. Wellington. October 2017. https:// www.mbie.govt.nz/dmsdocument/3338-business-ict-use-and-productivity-growth-pdf

Rutherford Journal. The New Zealand Journal for the History and Philosophy of Science and

428. Infrastructure South Australia. 20 Year State Infrastructure Strategy. May 2020. https://www. infrastructure.sa.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/197512/20-Year-State-Infrastructure-Strate-

- 429. NZTeach. "NZTech Inform Digital Skills Aotearoa Report 2021." February 9, 2021. https://nztech. org.nz/2021/02/09/nztech-inform-digital-skills-for-our-digital-future/
- 430. City of Boston. "Street Bump." Accessed February 14, 2022. https://www.boston.gov/transportation/street-bump
- 431. National Infrastructure Commission. *Data for the Public Good*. London, UK: National Infrastructure Commission. 2018. https://nic.org.uk/app/uploads/Data-for-the-Public-Good-NIC-Report.pdf
- Deloitte. Developing the Freight Sector Elements. Wellington, New Zealand: Infrastructure Commission Te Waihanga. 2020. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Freight-Sector-Review.pdf.
- 433. National Infrastructure Commission. *Data for the Public Good*. London, UK: National Infrastructure Commission. 2018: 19. https://nic.org.uk/app/uploads/Data-for-the-Public-Good-NIC-Report.pdf
- 434. Beca/Polis Consulting Group. "Preparing for Technological Change in the Infrastructure Sector." Prepared for Te Waihanga. May 2021: 6. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Preparing-for-Technological-Change-in-the-Infrastructure-Sector.pdf
- 435. KiwiRail. "Digital Shields." Accessed February 14, 2022. https://www.kiwirail.co.nz/what-we-do/ projects/wellington/hutt-valley-line/digital-shields/
- 436. EY. Strategic Outline Business Case for the Delivery of Digital Built Britain Programme Level 3. Digital Built Britain. 2015: 3. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/ uploads/attachment_data/file/810351/18.1139_141_SOBC_Digital_Built_Britain.pdf
- 437. McKinsey Global Institute. Infrastructure Productivity: How to Save \$1 trillion a Year. January 2013:
 61. https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/business%20functions/operations/our%20in-sights/infrastructure%20productivity/mgi%20infrastructure_full%20report_jan%202013.pdf
- 438. Australian Renewable Energy Agency. "National Map Datasets National ARENA Datasets." Accessed September 22, 2021. https://data.gov.au/dataset/ds-dga-9bac2ca8-94f7-47aa-93aae9315f683237/details
- 439. New Zealand Infrastructure Commission Te Waihanga. *Infrastructure Quarterly: Quarter 1, 2021.* 2021. Accessed September 21, 2021. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/projects/infrastructure-quarterly/
- 440. Sense Partners. *New Zealand's Infrastructure Deficit: Quantifying the Gap and Path to Close It?* 2021. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Infrastructure-Challenge-Report.pdf
- 441. Ministry of Business, Innovation & Employment. *National Construction Pipeline Report*. 2019. https://wip.org.nz/
- 442. Anthony John. "Why Wages are Higher in Australia and What it Says About New Zealand's Economy." *Stuff.* July 24, 2021. Accessed September 12, 2021. https://www.stuff.co.nz/business/industries/125827143/why-wages-are-higher-in-australia-and-what-it-says-about-new-zealands-economy.
- 443. WIP. "Workforce Supply and Demand Model." 2021. Accessed February 14, 2022.https://wip.org. nz/supply-and-demand/.
- 444. Forbes Stephen. "Skilled Labour Shortages Hit Auckland Infrastructure Projects." Stuff. July 28, 2021. Accessed September 20, 2021. https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/politics/local-democracy-reporting/300368479/skilled-labour-shortages-hit-auckland-infrastructure-projects. Report available here: Michael Webster. Central Interceptor Report for June 2021. Auckland: Watercare. July 29, 2021:90 99. https://wslpwstoreprd.blob.core.windows.net/kentico-media-libraries-prod/watercarepublicweb/media/watercare-media-library/board-meetings/combined_public_board_papers_29_july_2021.pdf
- 445. New Zealand Immigration. Construction and Infrastructure Skill Shortage List. May 27, 2019. https://skillshortages.immigration.govt.nz/assets/uploads/canterbury-skill-shortage-list.pdf
- 446. Te Tai Ōhanga The Treasury. Treasury Report Capital Panel Advice Budget 2021. Report No: T2021/465. File Number: ST-4-8-4-11-2. August 2021. https://budget.govt.nz/information-release/2021/pdf/b21-t2021-465-4423983.pdf
- 447. See Asset Management Plan scores across agencies as part of the Treasury. *Investor Confidence Rating*. Wellington, New Zealand: The Treasury. 2021. https://www.treasury.govt.nz/sites/default/ files/2021-07/icr-results-analysis-jul21.pdf

- 448. Worksafe New Zealand. "Work Related Fatalities." https://data.worksafe.govt.nz/graph/detail/fatalities?industry=Construction&startDate=2011-01&endDate=2021-05
- 449. Statistics New Zealand. "Work Related Injury Targets at a Glance 2008-2019." https://www.stats. govt.nz/reports/work-related-injury-targets-at-a-glance-2008-19
- 450. Bryson, Kate, Janette Doblas, Christopher Stachowski, and Andy Walmsley. *Suicide in New Zealand's Construction Industry Workforce: Factors Identified in Coronial Reports.* BRANZ, 2019. https://www.branz.co.nz/pubs/research-reports/er40/
- 451. Submissions from Construction Health and Safety New Zealand Trust. https://www.chasnz.org/
- 452. Manatū Whāhini Ministry for Woman. *Trades Industries Beyond Construction*. 2021. Accessed September 15, 2021. https://women.govt.nz/sites/public_files/Trades%20industries%20be-yond%20construction%202021.pdf
- 453. The Institution of Professional Engineers New Zealand (IPENZ). *Women in the Engineering Workplace Snapshot 2015.* IPENZ, 2015. https://www.engineeringnz.org/resources/women-engineering/
- 454. Brockbank, T, E Archer, S Pole, S Cotter Tait, and H Columbus. "Building Equity into the Infrastructure-Led Recovery for Māori and Pasifika." *The Spinoff*. May 31, 2020. https://thespinoff. co.nz/atea/01-06-2020/building-equity-into-the-infrastructure-led-recovery-for-Māori-and-pasifika/
- 455. Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment. "Māori in the Labour Market December 2020. Quarter (Unadjusted)." Accessed September 10, 2021. https://www.mbie.govt.nz/dmsdocument/13559-maori-in-the-labour-market-december-2020-quarter-unadjusted
- 456. HM Treasury. *National Infrastructure Plan for Skills*. September 2015. Accessed September 15, 2021.https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-infrastructure-plan-for-skills.
- 457. See Section 4.4 in Infrastructure Australia. *An Assessment of Australia's Future Infrastructure Needs.*" June 2019. https://www.infrastructureaustralia.gov.au/sites/default/files/2020-10/ Audit%202019_Full%20pdf_Updates%20September%202020.pdf
- 458. McKinsey Global Institute. *Infrastructure Productivity: How to Save \$1 trillion a Year*. January 2013. https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/business%20functions/operations/our%20insights/ infrastructure%20productivity/mgi%20infrastructure_full%20report_jan%202013.pdf
- 459. This allows for increasing diversity because traditional career pathways, such as engineering degrees, tend to have a lack of gender and racial diversity.
- 460. Construction Sector Accord. "People Development." https://www.constructionaccord.nz/transformation-plan/people-development/
- 461. Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment, BRANZ and Pacifecon (NZ) Ltd. *National Construction Pipeline Report 2020: A Forecast of Building and Construction Activity.* Wellington. 2020. https://www.mbie.govt.nz/dmsdocument/12380-national-construction-pipeline-report-2020
- 462. Government Project Delivery Profession. Project Delivery Capability Framework. Version 2. November 2018. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ attachment_data/file/755783/PDCF.pdf
- 463. Institute of Public Works Engineering Australasia. "IPWEA Asset Management Pathway" https:// www.ipwea.org/education/ipwea-am-pathway
- 464. House of Commons Public Accounts Committee. Lessons From Major Projects and Programmes. Thirty-Ninth Report of Session 2019–21. 2019. https://committees.parliament.uk/work/762/lessons-from-major-projects-and-programmes/publications/
- 465. University of Oxford. "Major Projects Leadership Academy." https://www.sbs.ox.ac.uk/programmes/executive-education/custom-executive-education/major-projects-leadership-academy
- 466. Government Project Delivery Profession. Project Delivery Capability Framework. Version 2. November 2018. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ attachment_data/file/755783/PDCF.pdf
- 467. Spencer, Fiona. "Infrastructure and Projects Authority and Project Delivery Profession in Government." In Government Project Delivery Profession. *Major Projects Leadership Academy*. May 20, 2020. https://assets.crowncommercial.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/FINAL-MPLA-Supplier-Engagement-Event-Slides-version-for-publication-21052020.pdf

- 468. Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment, BRANZ and Pacifecon (NZ) Ltd. National Construction Pipeline Report 2020: A Forecast of Building and Construction Activity. Wellington. 2020. https://www.mbie.govt.nz/dmsdocument/12380-national-construction-pipeline-report-2020
- 469. Workforce Information Platform. "Labour Forecast." New Zealand. https://wip.org.nz/labour-forecast/
- 470. New Zealand Infrastructure Commission/Te Waihanga. "Pipeline." Wellington, New Zealand. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/projects/
- 471. Construction Sector Accord. "People Development." https://www.constructionaccord.nz/transformation-plan/people-development/
- New Zealand Infrastructure Commision Te Waihanga. "Investment Gap or Efficiency Gap? 472. Benchmarking New Zealand's Investment in Infrastructure". Te Waihanga Research Insights Series. December 2021. https://www.tewaihanga.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Research-Insights-December-2021.pdf
- 473. International Monetary Fund. Making Public Investment More Efficient: Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund. June 2015. https://www.imf.org/external/np/pp/eng/2015/061115.pdf
- 474. Glaeser Edward L. and James M Poterba. "Introduction to Economic Analysis and Infrastructure Investment". In Economic Analysis and Infrastructure Investment, edited by Edward L Glaeser. and James M Poterba, 39-100, National Bureau of Economic Research, November 15-16, 2019. https://www.nber.org/books-and-chapters/economic-analysis-and-infrastructure-investment/introduction-economic-analysis-and-infrastructure-investment
- 475. Glaeser Edward L. and James M Poterba. "Introduction to Economic Analysis and Infrastructure Investment". In Economic Analysis and Infrastructure Investment, edited by Edward L Glaeser. and James M Poterba, 39-100, National Bureau of Economic Research, November 15-16, 2019. https://www.nber.org/books-and-chapters/economic-analysis-and-infrastructure-investment/introduction-economic-analysis-and-infrastructure-investment
- 476. Tafferd Kylie, Mark Williams, and Loretta Garrow. Women in Trades: "Part 2: How Women Have Succeeded in Trades Where They Are Traditionally Under-Represented." 2011. https://ako.ac.nz/ assets/Knowledge-centre/What-are-the-characteristics-of-an-effective-learning-journey-for-women-entering-trades/Part-2-How-women-have-succeeded-in-the-trades-where-they-have-traditionally-been-under-represented.pdf
- Manatū Whāhine Ministry of Women. "Women in Trades: Interviews with Employers and 477 Tradeswomen (2011)." November 2011. https://women.govt.nz/documents/women-tradesinterviews-employers-and-tradeswomen-2011
- 478. Catalyst. "Why Diversity and Inclusion Matters". 2020. https://www.catalyst.org/research/why-diversity-and-inclusion-matter/.
- 479. For example, initiatives by the Institute of Professional Engineers, the Diversity Agenda, Engineering New Zealand, and Industry Training Organisations such as Connexis.
- Construction Sector Accord. "People Development Progress." https://www.constructionaccord.nz/ 480. progress/people-development-progress/
- 481. Maori and Pasifika Trades Training. "Our Trainees are Building Auckland's Future." https://www. maoripasifikatrades.co.nz/
- 482. He Toki. "The Next Generation of Maori Training." http://hetoki.co.nz/
- 483. Fernando, Achela. "Perception of Barriers to Career Progression by Women Engineers and Engineering Students." 2011. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Perception-of-barriers-to-career-progression-by-and-Fernando/2d5aa3e6050513e3f166ae0aed6d526a366b5748

Image source

Page	Credit	Source
Cover	Left, top right (Chris Sisarich), Bottom right (Auckland Council)	New Zealand Story (cover, left), New Zealand Story (cover top right), Auckland Council (cover bottom rig
1	Aaron Birch	Unsplash Inc.
18	Georgeclerk	iStock by Getty Images
26	Ernest Kung	iStock by Getty Images
30	AsianDream	iStock by Getty Images
38	Dmitri Ogleznev	iStock by Getty Images
40	Sara Orme	New Zealand Story
45	Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency	Te Ahu a Turanga, Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency
47	New Zealand Story	New Zealand Story
48	Isthmus	Isthmus
59	VioNettaStock	iStock by Getty Images
60	Crofty136	iStock by Getty Images
70	Port of Tauranga	Port of Tauranga
72	Geber86	iStock by Getty Images
81	Holger Ellgaard	commons.wikimedia.org
96	Т.КІЅНІМОТО	commons.wikimedia.org
102	RecycleMan	iStock by Getty Images
103	Tofotografie	iStock by Getty Images
106	Chris Sisarich	New Zealand Story
130	Maxiphoto	iStock by Getty Images
140	Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency	Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency
148	KiwiRail	KiwiRail
150	Buildmedia	Wellington City Council
159	Sturti	iStock by Getty Images
160	City Rail Link	City Rail Link
163	Lakeview_Images	iStock by Getty Images
164	Tim Marshall	Unsplash Inc.
171	Nazar_ab	iStock by Getty Images
172	Josh Withers	Unsplash Inc.
191	Jamie Fraser	iStock by Getty Images
End page	brackish_nz	iStock by Getty Images



Te Āpiti wind farm in the Manawatū can generate up to 90.75 megawatts of electricity.



Rautaki Hanganga o Aotearoa New Zealand Infrastructure Strategy

strategy.tewaihanga.govt.nz